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Places People Prefer

We create



There are four 1

. | The scale, bulunce
Comp elllr'g . “und quality of our
reasons to mvoest portfolio underpinned
. .. ® | by our resilient
m BmtlSh Larld "balance sheet and

'financial strength
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Our ability to generate
robust and predictable
income to support
sustainable sharcholder
returns and fund
investiment

3

Our operational expertise |

and customer insight
helping us understand
evolving needs and
" driving enduring
- deinand for our space

|
|

4

A development pipeline
which positions us to

i capitalise on market

opportunities and

generate future income



At British Land we create Places People Prefer.

By understanding the evolving needs of the
businesses, people and communities who use

our places, we help them to thrive. Sustainability
and long term thinking are central to our purpose
— to deliver outstanding places and positive
outcomes for all of our stakeholders, through

our placemaking expertise.

$18.2bn

assets owned or under
management (our share
of which is £13.7bu} with
exposure to a broad

mix of uses

809%

of our assets, including our
three London campuses and
our nitlti-let retail portfolio,
are in environments where
we catt put our placenaking
skills to work

10m sq ft

development pipeline. focused
on London including 3m sq ft
at Camada Water
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Overview

BRITISH LAND AT A GLANCE

We are focused on creating
Places People Prefer, curating
the environment inside and out

Total portfolio in 2018

80% of our assetis are within our campuses or

multi-let environments, where we can curate wanaged environmenyg 509,

the buiidings and the spaces between them

&lS 2bn

24 8m sq ft

974% N 13760
nooapar.yrda s British Land owned
rivi years

wei g red cvmiage e ot

Ve have proactively repositioned our portfolio

Retail: more multi-let assets Office: more West ind exposure
2018 R ¢ con 2018 3% i e
2010 AV L5 6bi 2010 _ 2% £2 b
| M-t B WesoLnd
W Other celal | Ciy

M Nen Lenden
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1,200 different customers
occupy our space, generating
£5385m of rental income

London Offices

All of our offices are in London, of which
78% are located on our three central London
campuses These provide a diverse rmix of
space, with a broadening range of uses This
makes them attraclive and engaging places
to work and spend time, designed o help
our custorners attract the best talert

:%9.01)11

Tiha L T

54.00

- MTTA

Regent’s Place

Our 310,000 sq ft pre-let
to Dentsu Aegis Network
at 1 Triton Square 15 the

largest West End pre-let
inover 20 years

Retail

Multi-let retail centres account for 81%
of our Retail portfolio Our space reflects
consumers demands for experience

. and convenience-led shopping as well

as the changing way retalers use phyaical
stores to engage with custormers

§87 bn
60%

be o2 _

Ealing

A convenient, local retail
destination benefitting
from access to Crossrail
In 2019

British Land

Canada Water

A urnigue 53 acre raixed use oppertunity
In central London. one stop on the Jubilee
line from Canary Wharf Our masterplan
envisages a genume rox of uses inctuding
offices, retait, leisure, residental and
cCommunity space

53 acre
3500

O LiEhs L. g

Canada Water

In May 2018 we signed
a Master Development
Agreement with
Southwark Council and
submitted an outline
planning application
for our masterplan

@ACanadaWaterMasterplan

www canadawatermasterplan com
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Another year of progress
for British Land

We wre increasingly
seeing our campus
strategy confirnied as a

clear and differentiated
attraction.”

4 BritishLand  Annual Repoi | and Accounts 2018

© This has been ancther year of progress for British Land, despite
the ongoing political and economic volatility we have seen since the
EU reterendurn Business and consumer uncertainty was further
compounded by the snap Generat Election in June 2017, which
delivered a hung Parliament Also of note was the decision by the
Bank of England to Increase interest rates for the first ime in over
a decade, with the prospect of more rises to come Encouragingly,

. UK economic growth has remamed relatively resilient, albert at
levels lower than other major econemies, and one thing that remains
_unchanged 1 London s status as a global city in which the world s

" leading organisations want to do business

~Inthis context British Land has performed well The value of our

- portfolio was up 2 2% with EPRA NAV up 5 7% to %67 pence as

- eccupiar and nvestor demand continued through the year,
particularly in the London office market Underlying earnings per
share was however down ! 1% 10 37 4 pence, driven primanty by
reductions due to the significant asset disposals we have undertaken
over the last couple of years and lease expiries on properties that we
have freed up for development The Board has recornmended a
fourth interim dwvidend of 7 52 pence per share, making a total of

30 08 pence for the year which, together wath the movement in NAV,
brings total accounting return to 8 9% for 2018

In London Offices, we are increasingly seeing our campus strategy
conhirmed as a clear and ditferentiated attraction to potential
occupiers Sophisticated businesses today understand that the way
thetr people want to Live therr Livesis changing and that the worlds

of work and leisure are blurring. They also understand that n order
to attract the best talent they need to provide hugh quality, well
connected officesin places peopie want to spend ime belere, during
] and after the working day This is exactly what our mmixed use London
" campuses deliver

Evidence of the success of this strategy this year included the iargest
pre-let i the traditional West End for over 20 years at 1 Triton Square
in Regent s Place, to the media company Dentsu Aegis Elsewhere,
Suritomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, Europe (SMBCE] signed a
pre-let for the tower three floors of 100 Liverpool Street, where we

I are developing what we helieve to be one of the best connected and
smartest new bulldings in London, right next deor to a new Crossrail
station This development 15 part of our broader transformation at
Broadgate where progress this year has been significant - you can
read more aboul this on page 18 Overall, this has been an excellent
year for teasing, our London Office portfolio 1s §7% accupied and
valuations improved 4,3% - evidence that we contihue to provide

our custorners with the space they need
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There s no doubt the retail sector continues to go through a period
of challenge and rapid change The structural reaseons for this are
complex and well documenied, not teast the rapid growth of online
shopping This year though, these challenges have ceme inte sharper
focus as @ number of operators have entered into company voluntary
arrangements In many cases, retallers have seen the chatlenges
caused by long term structural changes compeunded by shorter
term operational Issues such as cost inflation, business rates
increases and more fragite consumer confidence As an owner

of physical retail space, British Land has beentocused on
understanding these long term changes for several years We help
our customers to respond to changes and seek to provide the space
that helps them succeed, and this year we continued to be proactive
For example, we comipleted the substantial refurbishment of
Meadowhall, enhancing its status as a regional retail destination
centre whichis fit for the future, and disposed of €419 miltion of retail
properties that we did not feel could play a role in the future shape
of our portfolic The overalt shape and size of the Retail portfolio
15 something we remain focused on going forward as this market
continues to evolve

Despite these challenges, leasing activity in our Retail business Uns
year has been good, with 1 2 million sq ft of space let or renewed,

at rates well ahead of estimated rentat value {ERV) In additiory, our
Retall portfolio remains virtuatly full with $8% cccupancy These
impressive rental and cccupancy levels are testament to the quality
of our offer and our belief that the best physical retarl space continues
to play an important rale in enabling retailers to succeed Weare not
complacent however, and remain focused on how we continue to
respoend to the ongoing evolution of the retall market

We continually assess how best te deploy our capital based on
the conditions prevailing at the ime We do thisin the context of
shareholder value and the need to fund our development pipeline,
manage leverage and undertake appropriate acquisition and
disposal activity

The NAV discount that emerged in our share price in the period after
the Bt referendum has persisted This was a key factor influencing
our decision to undertake a £200 mithon share buyback following

the sale of The Leadenhalt Building The buyback was completed in
February This disciplined approach to shareholder returns and the |
use of capital will remnain a focus for the Board going forward |

in these more velatile imes, this level of thoughtful activity, the
resilience of our strategy and our diverse, high quality portfolio set
British Land apart We are mindful of cur short term cperating
environment, but our strategy s aligned to long term trends Cur
experienced management team, the expertise of our people and the

‘ in¢creasingly complexinsights we collect about how people use our

places allow us to continually evolve our approach to meet customer
needs and work to position British Land to thrive in the future

As aresult of our confidence in our strategic direction and outlook
we have proposed a first quarter dividend of 775 pence per share

and 3100 pence for the year ending 31 March 2019, representing &
further 3% increase on cur 2018 dividend

. We continue to be recognised for our leading stance on sustainability,

awarded five stars in the Global Real Estate Sustainabiity Benchmark
for the second year and ranked in the MSCI ESG Leaders Index for

| the 11th year We have a 2020 sustainability strategy whichis aligned

to our corporate strategy. outlined both in thus Report lon page 24}

_and inour separately published Sustainability Accounts As part

of our core purpose, we proactively design and enhance buildings
and spaces for the health, wellbeing and productivity of everyone
who uses them, inctuding our employees, customers and

tocal communtties

We support the recommendations of the Task Force on Curnate-
related Financial Disclosures and manage our portfolio for climate
resilience Carbon intensity across our portfolio has reduced by 54%
versus our 2009 baseline, through the National Grid’s decarbeonisation

" and our own efficiency tmprovements With this 2020 target almost

achieved, we have also gone further, committing to source all our
electricity from renewable sources and partnering with RE100

Throughout the year Board members visited a number of key assets
and held a strategy offsite with key members of the executive team
focused on opportunities which will drive our business in the future
We welcomed three new Non-Executive Directors who bring a
wealth of varied experience to our Board, they are profiled on pages
58 to 91 atong with more detail about the structure and activity of our
Board and Commmittees During the year, Lucinda Bell stepped down
from the Board and frem her rote as Chief Financial Otficer Lucinda
had been with British Land for over 23 years, and her achievements
and centribution to our business over that time are significant She
will be missed and i and the Board wish her well in the future We are
delighted to welcome Simon Carter back to British Land as our Chief
Financial Officer Simeon bas a wealth of experience in property and
will make a real contribution to our business

Fimaity, | would Like to extend my thanks to the people at British Land,
our partners and evervone who contributes to the success of our
business They have all played a role in our progress this year, much

, of which s covered n this Report ~ | hope you find 1t useful

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Chairman

[ B L (A Y T § toWE W, el
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Strategic Report

CHIEF EXECUTWE'S REVIEW

Our good results demonstrate the
consistent strategic progress we
have made across the business

This has been aneother good year across our business We let four
times as much Londen office space as last year - a clear demonstration
of the attractiveness of our unique campuses In Retail, we let or
renewed over 1 mitlion sq ft of space, well ahead of ERV and at 98%
occupancy our portfolio 15 eftectively full All of this helped drive

NAV up 5 7% with values up ? 2%

Our financial performance was robust with profits down 2 6%
following £1 5 billion net sales of income producing assets over the
last two years, of which £0 8 billion completed this year We have
maintamned our capital discipline, completing a £300 mullion share
buyback and increasing our dividend again by 3% while reducing
LTV to 28%, further strengtherung our financial position At the
same time, we have completed our super-pnme Clarges Mayfair
residential development and the £40 rmitlion refurtishment of
Meadowhatl, while doubling our commutted development pipeline
All of this was done on a carefully risk managed basis, with 55%
of commutted developments already pre-let or under offer This s
2 great achievernent at an early stage and gives us confidence in
both our strategy and in the quality of the space we are delivering

Future British Land: continuing to evolve our business
The current strength of British Land 1s underpinned by the consistent
strategic acttans we have pursued over several years We identify
and invest behind the attractive long term trends which are driving
our core busimess Inrecent years this has included the development
of our campus strategy, investments into locations which benefit
from Crossrail, and most recently the launch of Storey, our flexible
workspace oftering

Going forward, we are tocused on building an increasingly mixed use
business and continuing to evolve sur model and respond to changing
customer needs Indicatively, future British Land will comprise

- A campus-fecused London Office business with a blend of core
and flexible space, including the further build out of Storey,
integrated alongside a strong retait and lersure offering at
our campuses,

- Afurther refined Retart business- ncludimg hugh quality, well
located Regianal and Local assets but focused on a smaller
number of larger, multi-let places with mixed use potential;

- Residential, primarily Build to Rent will play an increasingly
important role i our mixed use business it (s a structural
growth market which s complermentary to our core model
We will progress existing opportunities within our portfolio
such as Canada Water and explore ways to build further
meaningfut exposure

As we do this, we will rermain disciplined regarding our use of capital,
investing 1n our businéss and progressing development, whila
remaining mindful of the impertance of sharehotder returns

5
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Outlook

Businesses remain cautious but continue to commut to London and
the supply of high quality new office space is relatively constramed,
so we expect demand for our space to remain firm In Retall, the
market 1s more challenging with many cccuplers facing short term
headwinds Pelanisation 1s accelerating but we are conhident that the
guality and range of our space meets retailers’ evolving needs in the
omnt-channet retaill world

We are mindful of the current market environment, but the strengths
of our business, iIncluding the scale, balance and quality of our
portfolio, the spportunities we have created and our strong balance
sheet mean we look to the future with confidence

London Offices

Our Difices business had a strong year with values up 4 5% Leasing
achvity covered more than 1 2 million sq ft, delivering €40 million of
future rent - a strong endorsement of our campus strategy



Our priorities in buiiding the furure
of British Land

Further refine the shape of aur portfolio and retative mix
of exposures including expansion of Storey and our flex
office offering, further refining our Retail assets and
explore optrons i attractive market segments which are
complementary to our existing model, such as residential,
principally build to rent

Continue to invest i technology innovations and insights
and builld our operational expertise to understand and
respond to changing customer needs and identify the key
trends m our ndustry

Further enhance the resibience of our Retall business,
ensuring the future shape of our portfolio s optimised and
tocused on assets which we believe will be successfulin
an omni-channel retail world and meet the changing
needs of our customers

Continue to progress our development projects, focusing
on our London campuses, and further increase the mix

of uses and occupiers across our assets, reflecting the
evalving demands of custoemers to drive enduring demand
for our space

Continue to enhance the diversity within our business,
promeoling inclusien across our operatiohs and our assets,
and embed cur new corporate values

We secured several major lettings at Broadgate. including SMBCE
at 100 Liverpootl Street, demonstrating the continued appeal of
London to globat financial institutions Mimecast, the technoloay
business, took space at 1 Finsbury Avenue H1FA| and Eataly, the
italian marketptace, will open thair first UK site at 135 Bishopsgate
This broad range of activity demonsirates our focus on enhancing
the mix of uses and occupiers on the campus to create a seven-day-
a-week destination for London Elsewhere, we signed the largest
West End pre-let in 22 years at Regent s Place and our developrment
at Paddington, 4 Kingdom Street was nearly 90% (et ahead of launch
in June 2017, significantly ahead of ERY

We are also pleased with the progress of Storey, our flexible
workspace offer taunched in June 2017 It now covers 114,000 sq ft,
with space at each of our three campuyses and 1s now 77% let We
have aliccated additicnal space at IFA 4 ¥ingdom Street and Wells
Street, so total space will reach maore than 230,000 sg ft in the short
term with further tong term plans for expansion

Retail

In Retail, values were up 0 3%, with positive ERV growth offsetting
yield expansion Ourieasing activity covered 1 2 million sq f
generating £7 mullion in additional rent, with ncentives unchanged
At 8% occupancy. our portlelio ts effectively full and s
cutperforming benchmarks on both footfall and sales

We delivered this strong operating performance in the context of
ongoing, tong term structural changes ny the market As online
retail grows, many operators are evolving therr models to focus on
the optimal size, shape and nature of their physical store network
This year, these challenges were compounded by short term trading
headwinds, and several highly leveraged operators with challenged
models apphied for cornpany volurary arrangements [CYAs)

We recognise these trends, and so for a nurmber of years we have
been activety repositioring our portfolio to focus on well tocated,
high guality space that reflects people s changing lifestyles and
drives enduring demand for pur assets We have sold £2 2 billon of
retail assets over the last four years, including £41% milthion this year,
primartly simgle use assets but also mutti-let space that does not fit

This year, we updated our vatues to reflect the way our
business is changing

Listen and
understund

Brinsg yvour
whole sell |
!

| ‘

J— *7

Be smarter Build for
together the future
Y- =0 e o www britishland com/values

} our strategy However, Retail remains a core part of our business
This year we made acquisitions in Woglwich, south east London

-~ andin Ealing, adjacent to our existing Eating Broadway shopping
centre, both are well-connected mixed use assets with developrment
potential In addition, we completed the £60 million refurbishment
of Meadowhall to ensure it 1s well positioned to meet the changing
demands ot consumers into the future

Development activity

Development is an important part of how we deliver value This year we
made strong progress on our pipeline of opportunities, with committed
developments more than deubling to 1 6 muliton sq ft, and risks carefully
managed 55% of the future rent frem these developments, estimated

- at £63 million, 15 pre-let or under offer and our speculative exposurse

remains low at & 5% of the portfolio value Comrmitted construction
costs of £427 mullion are substantially covered by £373 mitlion of
i Clarges Mayfair residential receipts to come post year end

Looking further ahead, we have created a range of opportunitiesin
our near and medium term pipelines, which we have the flexibility
to progress when the time 1s right This inctudes Canada Water,
where our masterplanwill create a new urban centre for London
We signed the Master Development Agreement with Southwark
Council and submitted our outline planning application for the
masterptan in May 2018

Sustainability

This was our second year holding the Queen s Award for Enterprise,
the UK s highest business accolade recognising our economic,
social and environmental achievernents Our activity this year has
supported 228 people into work, through Bright Lights, our skilts
and employment programme 35 of our retail and leisure occupiers
participated i Starting out in Retail, helping 100 young people find
employment, and buiiding on this, we will be introdacmg Starfing Qut
in Construction in 2019 in support of the Living Wage Foundation,
we pay all Group employees at least the voluntary lving wage rate
and encourage our suppliers to do the same This year, our three
London campuses becarne Living Wage Accredited Employers,
with everyone we employ to manage and maintain the campuses,
including contractors, paid ot least the London Living Wage

| Chris Grigg
. Chief Executive

www britishland com/CEOblog

LI R U
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Strategic Report

OUR BUSINESS MODEL

We apply our placemaking expertise
to create Places People Prefer

Inputs: what makes our model work

Our relationships Our operational expertise Our finances

- Our custemers and partners -

- The local commurnities inand around -
our places

- The suppliers and contractors who build, -
manage and maintain our assets

- Leverage managed tor our current
needs and future plans

- Oiwverse and flexble finances with a nux
of maturities

- Partnerships to ritigate nisks, bring

expertise and help finance projects

Our expert people

Our broad range of insights and
information

The people, systems and insights to
interpret information and inform actions

Invest and
develop

~ Sourcing new opportunities

- Creating opportunities
within our portfolio

- Allocating our-capital to
deliver growth and returns

Places
People
Prefer

~y Managing our
- CLHVITODICICS

Applving onr
I placemaking
expertise

18N

- Conne raging

inthe
commuties
icient and eff

Enhanc

creating lasting,
impressions

QOutputs:

Shareholders
Sustamnable long term

mcome and value creation

Creabant bowwe engay s

10

Connruities

Inclusive places which foster
opportunities and contribute
positively to therr neighbourhoeod

with 2takchoider o, gotr »age 6
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Custorers

High quality enwironments
which help our custorners
succeed today and in the future

Partners

Access to tugh quality projects
and British Land expertise,
while managing risk



What sets
us apart

Invest and develop

- Qur unigue office-led campuses,
each benefitting from excelient
transport connections

- Our 1mition sg ft develepment pipeline,
focused on London, including 5 million
sg ft at Canada Water

- The optigns we have created within our
portfolio for future development,
focusing on mixed vse space

- Our strong and flexible balance sheet,
enabling us to fund developments when
the time is right on a ek managed basts

Applving our placemaking expertise

- Relabionships across the business we

can leverage to support our mixed use
ptans, which this year helped us sign
glebal retail brand Eataty at our
Broadgate offices campus

Enlivenment activities which drive footfall,
mnctuding Villa Walala at Broadgate, and the
Craig Dawid concert at Meadowhail
Forging links with local communities,
working with suppliers and other partners
through Bright Lights, to support 95
apprenticeships at our ptaces and In our
local communities

Our placemaking framework

Our practicat approach to creating
Places People Prefer

= We = = We —
Connect Enhance

= We = — We —

Design Enliven

Managing our environments

- Abroader mix of uses at our campuses
with 15% of the space bemg developed
at Broadoate to be retait and leisure

- Sterey, our flexible workspace business
launched last year, providing addiional
flexitility to our customers

- Abroader mix of uses at our Retail assets
with 778,000 sq ft leisure extenstons in our
development pipeline

British Land | Annast Report and Aceonnts 2018
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Strategic Report

MARKET TRENDS AND HOW WE ARE RESPONDING

We recognise the short term
backdrop while our strategy
is focused on long term trends

UK market backdrop

Continued political uncertainty

The June 2017 generat election delivered a hung Parlament
As aresult, analready volatile potitical backdrop was further
destabilised, heighterung uncertainty particularly with respect
to Brexit

Resilience of London

The most recent estimates for Brewt-related job losses in the
financial sector are lower than imually feared Technology and
media sectors have been particularly resilient, with Geogle and
Facebook commutting to London, while overseas investment
has remained strong

Consumer anc business contidence

Consurner confidence remains fragile with real wages sgueezed
by inflation, althouah there are tentative signs that the outlook 15
improving GOP forecasts reduced over the year. and are below
leading global economies reflecting Brexit-retated uncertainty

Retailer and restaurant operator challenges

This year has seen a number of operators apply for company
voluntary arrangement [CVAs] as a result of chalienges in their
markets, These include theimpact of online and cost pressure
as a result of higher Input prices as well as lower consumer
confidence Casual dining operations have been similarly affected

Iitterest rate expectations

The Bank of England increased base rates for the first ime

in 10 years in November 2017, from all-time record low levels,
and has indicated that the pace of interest rate increases could
accelerate if ugh rates of inflation persist

12 British Land ' Annual Kepor t and Accounts 2018

' Long term trends driving our strategy

London's changing role in global markets

The ease of doing business and access to a diverse mix of talent and
culture have established London as a leading global city Its proven
abibity to adapt and prosper means 15 wetl-placed to withstand
today s Brexit-related headwinds, and continue to sttract inward
business investment

Population change and urbanisation

London s population continues to change, for example more than
20% of Londoners are expected to be over 60 by 2040, changing the
type of space reguired Theress more demand for higher density
development with excellent connections as well as a focus on
promoting weilbeing with green and open spaces and a mix of uses

Accelerating technology-driven change

Technology 15 disrupting conventional ways of doing business,
changmng how people and organisations interact with physical
space, but providing opportunities for these quick to leverage new
capabiliies In certam sectors such as retail change is fundamental
and businesses are having to respond to remain successful

Evolving worker amd consumer expectations
People expect more from the places where they spend ime
They want to move seamlessly between work and leisure, they
want mere flexibility and value added services and they want
space to be well connected

Wellbeing and sustainability

There 1 3 broad consensus that growth and development should
be sustainable, with the benefits shared more equally across
society, promoting a mere nctusive culture with the surrounding
communities There s a growing recogrution of the role that places
can play in promoting mentat and physical wellbeing




We have four
strategic priorities

Right Places

(reating great envirommnents

- Invest in well-connected places, where there
15 potential for growth and regeneration

- Broaden the mix of uses to appeal to a wider
range of occuplers and local communities

- Enbance and enliven our spaces through
placemakmg

- Understand and respond to the changing needs
of the peaple who use cur spaces

Commusity

- Make 5 positive contribution tocally and behave
50 our places are considered part of their
local commuruty

- Promote social inctusion, interaction and
accessibility, embedding our places in their
neighbourhosds and lecal commurnity netwerks

Expert People

The knowledge and skills to deliver

- Enhance key skill sets, including in mere
operational areas

- Share expertise through collaborative working

- Promote a diverse and inclusive culture

Skills and opportunity

- Helplocal people and businesses to grow

- Further develop traiming and developrnent
schemes for people at all levels of our orgamsation

Customer Orientation

Responding to changing lifestyles

- Customer msight based on a range of
infarmation helps us to deliver Places
People Prefer

= Expand the use of technology to reflect
its role in the way people work and shop

Wellbeing

- Create places that promote health,
productivity and enjoyment, enabling
our customers to be more successful

Capital Efficiency

Disciplined use of capital

- Actively recycle capitat to maximise
risk-adjusted returns

- Maintain an appropriate balance of risk in both
development exposure and financiat leverage

Futureproofing

- Protect and enhance asset value through
environmental stewardship, including energy
generation and efficiency, materials innovation
and flood risk reduction

British Land | Anrnial Beport and Acconmts 2018
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Serategic Report

OUR STRATEGY
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Customer Orientation — . How we shop

- . - The retait sector continues to see significant
resp()’rld’tng tO Cha"’lglf’lg I’I:fest")yles structurat change, with the impact of online

fundamentatly changing the way people

shop Despite this, cur insights demonstrate
that physical retail remains core to the retail
proposition, with physical stores playing a
role n B7% of retail sales This may be at the
discovery phase of the consumer journey,
where stores act as a showroom, the
transaction’ phase, when the goods are
Delivering space which reflecis the way actually purchased, or the fulfilment
people want to work also helps employers phase, when they change hands
attract and retamn talent and promote
productivity The types of businesses The role ot the physical store 15 changing,
demanding space are also changing to support and enhance these phases of the
We are meeting the need for greater ! customer experience We are responding by
evolving the nature of our spaces to perform
the showreormng role as effectively as
possible By improving the food, beverage
and leisure offer at our centres, shoppers

Dur customers are the organisations
located at our assets Tomake our places
successful and sustamable however, we
also tocus on the needs of 3 broader range
of people, including the peopte who shop or
wark in them and the commumities who
live inand around therm We are focused flexibility, particularly from the growing

on understanding and responding to thew srmall and medium sized business segment,
changing needs To do this we have developed ! by proviging space on mare flexible terms,
a deep understanding of how people use our : through Storey, our flexible workspace

space, based onwhat our customers tell us offer Launched thisyear, Storeyts an are encouraged to stay longer and spend
This informs our approach to managing our important and growng part of our campus rore Jur surveys show that when custamers
assets and guides our investment activity, to proposition {tis complementary to our core engage with our catering offer, retail spend
ensure we are always focused on the customer  offering. providing our customers with increases by an average of 27% Our Retait
flexible space for short term requirements centres also play an important role in the

How we work After a positive start, we have plans to grow fulfitment of online purchases, with 27%
Technology 1s changing the way businesses this business further of shoppers having used click and collect,
and their people use office space, enabling up from 19% tnree years ago
people to work more flexibly or remotely and
providing the infrastructure for smaller
companies ta compete with larger, wetl
established businesses

|
There s 3 growing focus on places that ‘
foster collaboration and networking and |
reflect the overlap between work and leisure
time, with a diverse retail, letsure and food
and beverage offering close by, and regular
social events and activities

Wellbeing
ke 0L B Lo oie dene e

frie dywe - & ol agoatain e
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Right Places — creating great
environments inside and out

Regiona
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Right Places s about identifying places with
the potential to evolve in tine with chanaing
Lifestyles Increasingly we are focused on
places with a broad mix of uses, allowing
people to integrate their work and leisure
time within attractive and engaging
environments We use our placemaking
framework to achieve this, and it supports
growth and returns across our business

Focusing on London

Qur entire Office portfolio and nearly 20%
ot our develcpment pipeline is focused on
Lendon, including our three office-led
campuses and Canada Water, our 33 acre
mixed use regeneration project London
consistently ranks amongst the world &
leading cities as a place to live, work and
do business, reflecting its diverse poot

of Internaticnal talent, culture and
entertamment as well as its legal and
fimancial infrastructure Decpile the '

" Places which are curated to respond to
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Canada Water 15 the strongest example of
this, but our plans at Eden Watk, Ealing and
The Woolwich Estate will alsc regenerate
significant areas of London

i Foeusing on omni-channel retail

Our Retail portfolic s focused on centres

. which support retailers’ omni-channel

Brexit-related uncertainties, London s
proven ability to adapt and prosper has
ensuredits continued attraction to
international business and capitat

Our London campuses each benefit from
excellent transport infrastructure,
Broadgate and Paddington Central wall
have Crossrall stations immediately
adjacent to the campuses and Regent 5
Place has convenient access to six London
underground lines as well as King's Cross
and Euston mainline stations

changing bfestyles have the potential to
deliver growth and returns long term
This underpins our growing focus on
mixed use development which prioritises
placemaking from the start

British Land

approach Qur Regional assets are
destinations, which attract visitors from
a wide catchment who come to shop,
relax and be entertained, and our Local
assets provide convenience shopping
for local communtties

Our placemaking framework provides

a structure to deliver these different
experiences Ourinvestment in our Regional
assets has focused on attractive, well-
designed leisure extensions, enabling us

to expand our leisure and catering offer,
providing people with more reasons to visit
and to stay tonger We are enhancing this
space with events and activities and
improved customer service

" Abour Local assets, our activity has focused

on connecting more with local cormmurmities,
forging strong links which encourage repeat
visits, for example through our work with
the Matonal Literacy Programme, helping
young children to read, and our Bright
Lights Ctarting Out in Retail course,
supporting local skitls and employment

w
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Seraegic Report

OUR STRATEGY

Capital Efficiency —
disciplined use of capital

8.5bn

e tal vivinthc 550
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Capital allocation

We have a disciplined approach to capital
allocation Our activity covers a range of
options including funding acquisitions,
investing in our development pipeline to
drive future growth and shareholder returns
We rigorously evaluate the relative merits of
each based on thewr riek-adjusted returns
and prevathng market conditions

The starting point is our annual IRR process,
which forecasts the prospective returns of
each of our assets We sell assets with the
lowest prospective returns, reallocating
capital to higher growth opportunities In
recent years, disposal activity has focused
on mature and off strategy assets, including
supermarkets and solus retail, or offices
which are fully tet with lower prospective
returns Acquisitions have focused on
properties with significant growth or
placemaling potential which, in many
cases, are adjacent 1o existing assets,
generating washover benetits across the
combined space

Developments have delivered some of
our strongest returns, but are inherently
hugher risk, particularly when pursued on
a speculative basis We seek Lo limit our
development exposure to 15% of the total
mvestment portiolio by value, with a
rnaximurn of 8% to be developed
speculatively i e without a pre-let or
agreed sale} at any time The current
level s 4 5%, well wathin this Limit

Through this approach we have created
attractive development opportunities within
our portfolio, and our batance sheet provides
the flexibility to progress these, with costs on
our cornmuitted pipeline substantially covered
by residential receipts Thisis animportant
advantage, which we balance against the
benefits to shareholders of a more iImmediate
capital return This year we have completed

16

a £300 millien share buyback whilst doubling
the size of our development pipeline and
further reducing leverage

Debt and equity

We manage our debt and equity financing
to balance the benefits of leverage,
including fugher returns to shareholders,
aganst the risks of a more highly geared
portfolio Our primary measure of
leverage s loan to value [(LTV]on a
proportionally consolidated basis which
we aim to manage through the property
cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust in the event of a significant
fallin property values The scale of our
business, quality of cur assets and
security of our rental streams enable

us to access a broad range of debt finance
on attrachive terms At a Group level, our
approachis to raise funds predominantly
on an unsecured basis, with a diversified

British Land | Annual Rupoi tand Aceounts 2018
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mix of funding, phased matunty, adequate
flexibility and Liguidity and strong balance
sheet metrics

Strategic partnerships

We have a strong track record of working
with partners to achieve benefits of scale
while managing nsk 36% of our owned
assets are held injoint ventures and funds,
including Broadgate and Meadowhail Within
these structures we typically earn fees by
providing asset management, development,
corporate and finance services These
experiences, and the relationships we have
developed, position us well to progress
some of our targer opportunmities, including
Canada Water

rorinotean'ornation cnoaent and eevorage
Jutsour Friarcaltovew on pags 41 and
Froaew nbpeloes o enne ont-5 3> page 4y




Expert People — the
knowledge and skills to deliver

[nvesting in our people

Our people strategy focuses on creating a
tearn which can deliver Places People Prefer
To do this we will continue to enhance the
diversity of our business, further benetitting
from a broad range of skills, backgrounds
and experience

We support all employees with career
progression through personal development
plans and by providing opportunities for
everyone to develop and excel This year,

we invested more than £530,000 1n staff
development and professional qualifications,
including a range of online resources avallable
to all emnployees, customer focused sales
training which has been rolled out acress
British Land, and our residential Leadership in
Real Estate programme which has benefitted
57 of our team since launch in 2014

In view of our increasing focus on mixed
use property and development, we encourage
cross-tearn collaboration so that expertise
in one part of the business benefits cther
areas We are also buillding our marketing
capabilities to help ensure customer
orientation s at the core of what we do and
investing in technology, upgrading our core
operational systems and processes, whilst
enhancing our cyber and data

SeCurity processes

Supporting wellbeing and inclusion
To support the weltbeing of sur team and

as part of our commutment to building an
inclusive culture, this year we established

our Ethnic Diversity Network and our
Parents and Carers Network, alengside

our successful Wermen s Network, BL Pride,
our LGBT and Allies Network and our
Wellbeing Committee To help people
balance their working lives with the interests
and responsibilities they have outside work,
we provide everyone with the technology
they need to work flexibly, with circa 20%
doing so on a formal basis

We encourage all of our people to support
local communities through velunteering and
are pleased that 16% of the British Land team
was involved in skills-based volunteering this
year, including roles as charity trustees and
school governors 5ince autumn 2017,

20 emiployees have signed up te the Step

on Board pregramme, an external service
that supporls employeesto volunteer as
non-executive directors and trustees of
chartties and votuntary organisations

Thus year British Land was awarded our first
Two Staraccreditationin the Best Companies
survey published by The Sunday Times, with
particular progress in flexible working and
personal growth Broadgate Estates four
property management subsidiary] also
achieved its second One Star accreditation
Management engages regularly with
employees, including through twice monthty
staff meetings and specific results and
strategy updates Cotlleagues at all leveis
can participate in our all-employee share
schermes, aligning their interests with those
of shareholders with 95% of employees
participating in cur Share incentive Plan

Tomorrow’s tcam

We recognise the importance of investing
intomoreow s workforce, both for British
Land and cur customers and partners
Alongside our long-standing internship
scheme, our graduate scheme s now Inits
second year with six graduates recruited
Three are joining this year, of whom one
came through Pathways to Property, an
intiative led by the University of Reading
to promote property in UK state schools,
which we have supported for five years
Anotherthree are joining next year
Acrossour portfolio, 20,114 people
pepefitted from our skills, employment
and educationalimitiatives in the year

Slkills and opportunity
I BN TR LS I |
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Sirategic Report

CASE STUDY - BROADGATE

Broadgate —
where innovation
and finance play

Broadgate is the largest asset by value
within the British Land portfolio.ltisa
mixed use campus comprising offices,
restaurants, retail and leisure setacross
four landscaped squares.

Covering 32 acres it 1s ceniral Londons i
largest pedestrianised area Broadgate !
Is adjacent to Liverpool Street Station, a '
Crossrail station trom 2019, and connects .
the creative, tech-focused cornmunities !
of Spitathelds, Shoreditch and Dld Street i
with the City

19m

e ap e vt Rroaans -

Lol YVoarf

Investing in our places

75(%) 64(%) ‘ We have more than 1 miilion sq fl of space

0 cempus waks s Lot Pl WS K A Lt under development at Broadgate, across
srgag weh ona. REERE T AR 100 Liverpool Street, 1 Finsbury Avenue
k= gs elt=rwesky pEE=dAr T Su vays and 135 Bishopsgate, of which 32%: s
ten-doncar zurvys tet or under offer, signficantly reducing
our development risk

Our plans enhance our builldings and

the shared spaces between them to appeal
10 a broader range of customers and better
connect Broadgate to1ts surrounding
netghbourhoods

www broadgate.co.uk

Sustainability
in action

£3. dm

socia valuz odoud by ge tna
286 Las | onaone: 3 intnjebs
Aumapprentizes doswith o
seapiarsandustenens s
Zuoadgate, growing lozal 2k s
acd omsluyreent Sec uage 2
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Alifestyle neighbourhood

15%
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A place for innovation
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Enhanced connectivity

Crossrail launches in 2019, transforming London s
connectity, and bringing our customers to within
10 minutes of the West End and 30 munutes of Heathrow

Our partncers

Our joint venture partners 6I1C

are fully commutted to our vision
for Broadgate, enabling us to
progress our development pipeline
In addition to the buldings we are
already delivering, our medium
term pipeline covers a further

1 million sq ft

Sharing experience

Construction workers who
helped buitd sorne of the first
Broadgate buildings worked
alongside new recruits to the
industry on the construction
of 100 Liverpool Street

Introducing Storey

During the year we introduced our flexible
workspace brand, Storey, to Broadgate
at Appold Studios and 2 Finsbury Avenue

Storey has attracted a new, different type

of occupter to the campus, mcluding smaller,
innovative businesses and divisions of larger,
established occupiers This s additive to the overall
campus offer and environment, benefits larger
occuplers and further diversifies our customer mix

RN VRS IURS

69000(ﬂt

ety " Y

www.sterey.couk

British Land have delivered a
Sforward thinking, creative and
flexible product with digital
connectivity that aligns well
with our business needs.”

William Newton
President & EMEAMD WiredScore

British Land  Annual Heparnband Ao ounts J018 19



Serategic Report

CASE STUDY - MEADOWHALL

Meadowhall -

a vitbrant destination
for today and tomorrow

Meadowhall, located on the outskirts of
Sheffield, is Yorkshire's premier shopping
destination and one of only six out-of-town
super-regional shopping centres in the UK.

It provides 1 5 mullion sq ft of high guality
retail and leisure space to around 280
occuplers Cur planned leicure extension witl
transform the leisure offer, which currently
comprises an 11-screen Vue cinema and
more than 50 restaurants and cafes

3m 24m

Mo canwhion < ey, oot

This year our surveys showed-

4% 12%

S boddwell - "
REITR RN IEUE ’

0, 50 ’
4% %
1 = N oW e N MRt )
fLe Ly the-arberel o TE T e fetny |
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www.meadawhall co uk ( Attracting new occupiers

82,000 sq ft

9 lerll gs 10 e Telaler L s LA we wa ed oar et hishment

Improving the experience

£60m

refurp s rert cempleted wils o tanifer €48 e
rvezted v -rare apar wles by rearly 80 beands,
srrengthering anpeslic rew tuston=re, wilb JH new
cetallers s gnad, dovipgamproved pe farrean ¢ airos:
theranre

Thewo kwas carred out ave nichtw thaat avy oo
i Ladrghodrs Dus mastomerswes s asradinly
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contimgsdioo oy thed via 1w

20 British Land  Annual Repoi tand Accaunt= 2018




Supporting fulfilment as retail evolves

Our most recent survey found that 7% of visitors had used
click and collect facilities on the day of their visit, more than
double the proportion from the same period In 2016

Broadening our target market

Following the successful completion of the redevetopment,
and having attracted a breader range of aspirational brands,
the shopper profile has becorne more atfluent, with 15 3%

row from the three most wealthy consumer groups las per S“pp()rti]]g local
the Acorn classification], compared to 13 3% a year ago N

cmplovment
Strengthening community links 2 4
7% increase in routine top up shopping missions demonstrabing el Al 5Pl Lo ul §
Meadowhall s role as a town and community centre moerenar 00 LE reaneats

Joovot o pelgrh anmne e

Experiential shopping

60%
Ol L s Meartw oalor pree na o

R A LI LI {3

Enlivening our space

¢15,000

raised for charty by Christmas concert
Craie Nawd

Sustainability
in action

£36m

ra g lhowr

Chrn -t
ITHETT o htnape T
Tris b s N e

LETE I U e

The areu is lighter, brighter and
more aspirational. Sales at Yo! Sushi
have fumped, we're up 20% since

the refurbishiment and it’s growing.”

Richard Hodgson
CEO Yot Sushi

British Land  Annual Repoi tand A counts 20T



Strategic Report

DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE

Our significant development pipeline
positions us well to capitalise on
Sfuture market opportunities in a risk
managed way

Committed W Medium term

Five developments covering 1 6 mitlion sq ft J 10 developments, totalling nearly 3 mutlion
with a current vatlue of £572 pullion and an sq ft in addition to our plans at Canada Water,
ERV of £63 multion 55% of this space1s let a 3 million sg ft London regeneration project
or under offer, signtficantly reducing our ‘

specultative risk which stands at 4 5% of the

portfolio value Costs associated with our 135 BiSll()pSgﬂte

comrmitted developments total £427 mullion, (

which are substantially covered by residential Ditice-led development on our

receipts {0 come at our recently completed Broadgate campus, at Bishopsgate,

Clarges development of £373 million whers footfall 1s amaongst the highest
[ in London ltatian marketplace Eataly

Near term W ' aretaking 42,000 sq ft for their first

Four developments which we expect to start 1 ever UK store, and we are under

in the corming year covering 578,060 sqftof  *  offer or in negotiations on a further

space with an ERV of £30 million [ 269,000 sq ft

328000 sq ft

Calendar year* l

| 2019

[an Taz laa as
1 Finsbury Avenue Plvmouth Leisure
Office-led returbishment, at our Letsure extension at Drake Circus
Broadgate campus, with significant including a 12-screen Cineworld,
retail and teisure eflement on lower 12 restaurants and 8 412-space
floors and flexible workspace on car park

upper floors 22% let to technology

company Mimecast 1()7000 sq ft
291000 sq 1t

T Tire repasedoapractal cowlensn

Fororars nioimatian soodevae'vpment - oo
www.britishtand cam/development

[\
o
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Meadowhall Leisure

Leisure extension which will add
a new cinema, café court, gym,
open-air terrace and space for
lersure, event and community
use at cur Meadowhall centre
We have received a resolution
to grant planning

330.000 s fe

2020

5 Kingdom Street

Office (ed development, at the
western end of Paddington Central,
with potential for a broader mix of
uses, Including retail and restaurants

332000 sq st

1 Triton Square

Office-led development at Regent <
Ptace which is fully pre-let to
Dentsu Aegis Network, an existing
accupler on the campus, on 3 20
year lease At 310,000 sqg ft. thisis
the largest pre-let in the West End
for 20 years and 15 3 strong
endorsement of the campus

366000 s it

2021 & bevond...

G1

Qz

100 Liverpool Street

Ditice-led development, with
90,000 5q ft of retail and leisure space

Adjacent to Liverpool Street Station,

at the gateway to our Broadgate
campus 37% of office space let to
SMBCE, who are taking the lower
three floors of the building on a
20 year lease

522000 s it

Qa3 Q4

Canada Water

Phase 1 of our mixed use regeneration scheme
at Canada Water covers 1 8millionsq ft, ofa
total of 5 mullion sq ft This phase envisages

1 mithion sg ft of commerciat space, 250,000

sg ft of letsure and retail space and 630 new
hormes, with 25% affordable housing provision
Our cutline planming application for the overall
masterplan was subrmitted in May 2018

8 wiltion s fr

@CanadaWaterMasierplan

www canadawatermasterplan com
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Strategic Report

HOW SUSTAINABILITY CREATES VALUE

We continue to deliver strong economic,
social and environmental performance

Aligned to the corperate strategy, our 2020 sustainability strategy
is built around four focus areas, which address major social,
econcmic and environmental trends to create value for our

stakeholders and the business,

We provide clear guidance on the high socsal, environmental and
ethical standards we expect of employees and suppliers through
policies such as our Supplier Code of Conduct, Local Charter and
Sustainability Briet for Developments The effectiveness of our strategy
and policies can be seen in our strong social and environmental

performance, which reduces risks and creales posibive outcomes

Customer Orientation

Welibeing

ca At gl
mLoprodr he oy
R TEI |

?'7 L

At rean

Customers

2018 highlights inchude

We design for wellbeing in
everything we do This includes
collaborating with suppliers to
promote a culture of wellbeing
at our places New facilities
launched at Broadgate support
the wellbeing of construction
workers, designed by local
students at the University of
East London

(193

There's real enthusiasm
fron the team for their new
Jacilities. which have the feel
of a high street restaurant.”

Jeff Tidmarsh

Broadgate Framework Design
Manager at Sir Robert McAlpine

24

Right Places

Community

he e

g -
1

{CComnnmities
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7.580 children participated in our
Young Readers Pregramme with
the Nationat Literacy Trust and
customears, across Zaretal centres
and three London campuses

(113

Ve know that when children
enjoy reading cnd have Hooks
of their own at home. they do
better at school. atwork and in
life: vet u third of chililyen left
primary school lust year unable
to rewd well, Guy parenership
witl British Land tekes us to
the very heart of this issue.”

Jonathan Douglas
Directar of the National
Literacy Trust

British Land  Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Capital Efficiency

Futureproofing

Frot. arue e
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Shareholders
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Expert People

Skills and opportunity

Partners

P O

RN

17% increase In renewable
energy generated by solar
panels at our places this year
to B00,000 kWh, with more
installations planned We also
procured 97% of all electricity
from certified renewable
sources, as an RE100 partner

13

It is enconruging to see large
commercial real estate
investors like Britisht Land
seeking to reduce their carbon
footprints and futureproof
their assets.”

John Macdopald-Brown
CEQ ot Syzygy Renewables

742 loc al people progressed
into jobs and 139 employers
recruited through Fort Kinnaird
Recrutment & Skiils Centre,
including our customers We
support this as part of Bright
Lights our skills and
employrent prograrmme

[19

Excellent service. We are able
to turn recruitment arotd
very guickly due to filling our
interview slots immediately

Jfollowing udvertising our

vacancies.”

IR Manager
Marks & Spencer, Fort Kinnaird



Case studies: sustainability in action
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Serategic Report

OUR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

How we performed over
the past year against

our strategy

Links to remuncration

an

| reeEptve CTEOLVL 3Wa ©

Customer Orientation

Responding to changing lifestyles

We recognise and respond to our
customers’ changing needs, based

oh our insights about how people use
our spaces and our operationat expertise

Juroperational priorities in the year

~ Further devetop customer insights
~ Detiver technology driven innovations

KPI

Total accounting return (TAR)
Delivering sustainable long termvalue
Total accounting return s our overall
measure of performance it 1sthe
dividend paid plus the growth in EFRA
NAV per share

Insights

43,000 surveys were conducted across
our Retail portfolic including 12,000 online
surveys completed at 14 of our Retait
centres, 3,000 surveys were completed
on GuUr campuses

Our data shows that consumers who
engage with our caterng offer spend 27%
more on retall than those using retail
alone and the addition of lersure, food
and beverage offerings increases dwell
time to 20 minutes versus 34 minutes

for a retail-only user

Jur campus surveys showed that more
retail was the most requested area of
improvement with more green spaces
also animportant priority

Our response

15% of space under development at
Broadgate will be retail, leisure or food
and beverage including a cinema at

1 Finsbury Avenue and ltatian
marketplace Eataly at 135 Bishopsgate
Public realm improvements inctuding a
woodland walk completed al Paddington
Central and six independent cafes signed
Successiul year at Pergola, an 830 cover
pop up dining concept at Paddington with
179,000 vizitors in 2017

130,000 sq ft of food, beverage and leisure
lettings at our Retail centres

- Our 100 Liverpool Street developrnent will

benetit from smart technologies, including
brometric screening, environmental
optimisatian of lighting, temperature and
air quality and people flow analysis
Technical solutions implemented at Storey
include super-fast and resilient internet
connectivity, tailored to occuprer
requirernents and & Storey customer
portat to assist in day-to-day management
of the space

Wellbeing

- Progresstowards our WELL Gold
target at 100 Liverpool Street,
designing for wellbeing and
productivity

83% shopper score for perception
of wellbeing at our Retall assets
(2017 84%]

Embedding wellbeing improvements,
including greenery, social spaces,
games areas, improved walkways
and training

|

fut of 10

2018 8.1

Risk indicators we monitor

~ Consumer conhidence

- Employment forecasts for relevant
sectors

- Market letting risk lvacancies, expiries,
speculative development)

Customer satistaction
We extensively survey our customers
and other users of our places to assess
our performance and identify
opportunities for improvement
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Tatal accounting return (TAR)

8.9%

2018

Right Places

2018 performance

This year we generated a TAR of 8 7%
comprising a dividend increase of 3 0% to
30 08 pence per share and a EPRANAVY
growth of 5 7% to 947 pence per share

Risk indicators we maonitor

- Forecast GDP

- The margin between property yields
and long term borrowing costs

- Property capital growth and ERV
growth forecasts

Creating great environments
inside and out

We invest in places with potential and use
our placemaking framework to deliver
growth and returns

Qur operational prierities in the year
Deliver next steps of the Broadgate
asterplan
- Submlt Canada Water planning
- Deliver flexible workspace offer

RPI

Investmg in potential
Commutied devetopment pipeline more
than doubled to 1 6 mutlion sq ft,
development risk well managed with
35% of the ERV pre-let or under offer

- On site on more than 1 mithien sq ft of
developments at Broadgate, with 32%
pre-let or under offer

- Onsite at 1 Triton Square, tully pre-let
on the office space covering 310,000 =q ft

- Planring achieved at the Gateway
Buiiding, for & hotel at Paddingten Central,
covering 102 000 sq ft

- £60 millien refurbishment of Meadowhali
completed, with a further £46 mitlion
invested by nearly 80 customers

- Resotution to grant ptanning achieved on
320,000 sg ft lersure hall at Meadowhall,
intotal planming approvals on nearly
800,000 sg *t across the Retail portfolio

- Master development agreement with
Southwark Council at Canada Water,
outline planning application submutted
on the overall masterplan in May 2018

- 180,000 people have attended events,
at the Printworks, our events space at
Canada Water, which was named the
Best New Venue 2017 in the London
Venue Award

- Storey, our branded flexible workspace
offer, launched and now aclive across
114 000 =q ft, with space at each of our
campuses, now 77% let

Community

- £21 mitben community pregramme
benefitting 39 798 pecple throuagh
our Local Charter activity (2017
£17 mulhon and 33.600)

- British Land employee volunteering
79% and skiils-based volunteering
16%, with a new programme
launched to Increase more impactfut
skills-based volunteering frem 2019
12017 90% and 16%, 2020 targets
Q0% and 20%]

Total property returns
We have underpertormed the {PD
. benchmark this year by -310bps,
reflecting our lack of exposure
to Industrial, the strongest
performing category

Speculative development commitment
Development supports value and future
income growth, but adds risk We keep our
committed developrment exposure at less
than 13% of our investment portfolio, with a
maximurm of 8% developed specuiatively

e of slandirug inveshinents,

2018 £0.6bn A
§ W 37%
38%

Risk indicators we monitor

- Property capital return and ERV
growth forecasts

- Total development exposure

- Prooress of developments against plan

- Speculative development exposure
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Strategic Report

OUR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATCORS

. Links to remuneration
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Capital Efticiency

Sustainability performance

We usendustry-recognised indices to

track our sustainabibity performance

and bink this to remuneration

- Dow Jonas Sustainabibity index
World and Europe 2217 91st
percentile

- FTSE4Good 2016 96th percentile

- Global Real Estate Suslainability
Benchmark 2017 Five Star rating

Disciplined use of capital Robust financiat performance
- Marginal decline in profits, down 2 6% to
£388 mullion, despite net sales of income
producing assets of £1 3 bitlion over the
past two years and properties moving
into development
Qur operational priorities in the year - Dwidend increase of 3% proposed for
- Beat budget and achieve leasing targets 2018/19, supported by our actiens to
- Recycle capital to iImprove returns increase cover, despite asset sales
- 24 ruthion sq ft of leasing across Retail
and Offices, 8 2% ahead of ERV
- 5b% let or under offer on commutted
development pipeline with committed
costs substantially covered by
residential receipts
- Further diversifying sources of finance
with £300 mitlion Sterling bond ssued
— LTVreduced to 28 4% despite £206 million
of acquisttions and a £300 rmullion share
buyback
- Senor unsecured credit rating upgraded
to A by Fitch
- Weighted average interest rate reduced
to an all time low of 2 8%

We make risk-adjusted decisions to invest
in acquisttions and development whilst
preserving our balance sheet strength

Capital recycling

- £419 mullion of retait sales, making good
progress against target of £500 million
by November 2018 and bringing totat
disposals te £2 3 billion over four years

KP1

Loan to value {I'FV)

— proportionally consolidated

We manage our LTV through the property
cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust inthe event of a significant
fall in property values

Weighted average interest rute
— proportionally consolidated
We have reduced our cost of finance te
an all time low supporting our finanaal
perfermance

2018

2018 2B.4%

- £103 mithion acquisition of The Woolwich

Estate, a 4 9 acre retail-anchored
schieme in south east London benefitting
from Crossrail

Commutment to develep 1 Finsbury
Avenue and 135 Bishopsgate triggering
£117 mullion investment into our
Broadgate campus

£300 million returned to shareholders via
a buyback, completed ahead of scheduie

Futureproofing

- 2% of developments an track
to actieve BREEAM Excellent
for cffices and Excellent or
Very Good for retait {2017 100%,
2020 target 100%)

- 54% reductionin carbon intensity
and 40% reduction in landlord
energy intensity versus 2009,
index scored (2017 44% and 35%
respectively, 2020 target Ho%)

Risk indicatsrs we monitor

- Fiancial covenant headreom

- Perod until refinancing 1s required
- Percentage of debt with interest

rate hedging

- Execution of debt financings

(]
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Expert Pcople

2018 performance

We continued to perform strongly on
sustamability indices have almost achieved
our 2020 carbon reduction target, and
launched a Supplier Code of Conduct for
ethical, social and environmental i1ssues

Risk indicators we monitor
- Health and safety
- Energy Performance Certificates

Flood risk
Public trustin business

The knowledge and skills to deliver

Our team has the expertise to deliver
Places People Prefer

Qur operational priarities in the year

- Promote an inclusive, performance
driven culture

- Create a more customer focused
arganisation

KPt

An open culture

Ranked in the top 10 of FTSE 100
companies in the 2017 Hampton-
Alexander Review with 40% female
representation across the Executive
Comnmuttee and direct repaorts

Circa 20% of employees now formatly
work flexibly with technology available
to everyone to do so

Successful years for BL Pride, our LGBT
and Allies network, our Wemen s
Committee and Wellbeing Commitiee,
with a Parents and Carers network
and Ethmic Diversity netwerk formed
in the year

Policy on enhanced shared parental
leave well received

Enhancing customer focus

Customer-focused sales traiming rolled
out to everyone in client-facing roles
Further cross-team collaboratien
between British Land and Broadgate
Estates with common platforms
established for messaaing, calendar,
docurment management, customer
relations and HR systems

Significant investment (in techricat
security measures and Group wide
employee training and awareness
on cyber security and GDPR

- WorldHost customer service training

rolled out to 21 of 25 of our major centres,
with 18 centres receiving tramning Iin
dementia awareness and a range of site
appropriate tratning across the portfolio
Including Autism Awareness, Mental
Health First Aud Training and Supported
Guide tramning, helping people with
sightloss

Further investrment in our data and
analytics capabilities including improved
technology at cur centres, a data and
analytics platferm and a central Insights
teamn operating across Retail and Offices
ensures that data and mrsights are an
important factor in our decision making

Shills and opportunity

- 228 people supported into jobs
through Bright Lights, cur =kills
and employment programme,
working with suppliers, customers
andlocal pariners

- 100% of employees and 70% of
supplier worktorce at managed
properties paid the Living Wage
Foundation rate (2017 100% and
72% respectively)

Best Companics survey
The Best Companies survey published
by The Sunday Times provides
an exiensive and objective measure
of employee engagement

2018 Two star
2017 One towatch
Rt : One star

Risk Indicators we manitor
- Unplanned executive departures

RIS RS TS TR B BT N W 1%}
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Styategic Report

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING

Building a supportive and
inclusive culture for our people
and our key stakeholders

Diversity and equality

We are focused on creating diverse and inclusive places and
recognise that to deliver this strategy successfully, we need a
business and culture which promote these values By creaiing an
erwironment where our people feel fully supported, we empower
the whole organisation to be more productive

Our Inclusive Culture Steering Committee, headed by a member
af our Executive Commuttee, promotes diversity and iclusion
al all tevels of the business

Imntiatives include

- Diversity and unconscious bias training completed and is now
implemented for all new siarters

- Internship and graduate schemes targeting young people
from diverse backgrounds |see page 23)

- Ensuring that potential employee shortlists reflect the Group s
diversity eniteria

- Dwersity networks empowering people to drive change
[see page t7)

- Shared parental pay providing equal enhanced benetits
to all parents

- Dwersity and inclusion ferum for key suppliers to discuss
challenges and share best practice

- Diversity and inclusion survey, which we have also shared
with key suppliers to support their activibies

- Updating our values to reflect the changing way we work
together as a business isee page 9)

We are signatarias to

- People in Property’s guidelines on diversity and inclusion
i recruttment

- The 30% Ciub, which targets a mimimum 30% female
representabion on FTSE 100 Boards

-~ EW Group’s Inclusive Culture Piedge to develop diversity
across leadership, peopls, brand, data and future

~ Real Estate Balance s CEO Commitments for Diversity

Qur performance

~ 49% of Group employees are female, including three Directors
on the Board and three of our Executive Committee [as at
March 2018}

~ Ranked sixth in the Hampton-Alexander Review Report, with 40%
temale representation across the Executive Committee and their
direct reports [as at November 2017)

- Chris Grigg ranked in the top 20 Atly Executives by OUTstanding
and the Financial Times for the third year running lrank 11)

- Frst listed property company to achieve National Equality
Standard accreditation

Civer=ty and ralusion www.britishland.com/inclusive-culture

30

BritishLand  Arnual Report and Accounts 20318

f Gender pay gap and balance
As at 5 April 2017 British Land had 237 ernployees and 322 employees
1 in Broadgate Estates Currently the mean difference in gender pay at
" British Land 1s 39 4% whuch 15 in ine with the average for our peer
| group, reflecting the legacy structure of the real estate industry The
‘ average gap for bonuses s 66 8% Our workforce 1s made up almost
equaily of men ang wernen andg men and wormen doing the same job
i are paid the same, so we look at this as a difference in opportunuty,
rather than pay The British Land Board is commitied to achieving
petter gender balance across all posttions in the Company and has
in place recruitment and developrent practices that it believes will
lead to a matenial change to this position over time

fi-oor .,

ot~ www.britishland.com/gender-pay-gap

2018 St
| M F \Y
. Brtish Land 116.20 124.70 11920 10853
(F whirc i are Hoard 2.00 3.60 1000 3060
(M which e Semon Manayers 646,200 32.90 0420 2820
1 Broadgate Estates 24350 213.41 22729 20418
! Group total 38870 33BN 34649 3127
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Supply chain

" We ask suppliers to work mt a way we believe 1s best practice to achieve
our social, environmental and ethicat standards The effectiveness of
our policies in this area can be seen in our sustainability performance
rmeasures on pages 175to 176 This year, we launched our Supplier

- Code of Conduct, where we set out supplier obligations in areas

such as health and satety, human rights, tair working conditions,
anti-bribery and corruption, community engagement,
apprenticeships and environmental management

' —upp'y Jnan www.britishtand.com/suppliers

Human rights
Our respect for human rights 1s embedded in how we do business

| We are a signatory to the UN Giobal Cornpact which supports a core
set of values, including human rights, and have made appropriate
disclosures in respect of the Modern Stavery Act We are also a member
of APRES, an action programme on responsible and ethical sourcing
across the constructior industry For our performance on aspects
including fair wages and diversity, see pages 172t0 176

Madern Slovary At d - lasers www britishland com/MSA

Anti-bribery and corruption

We are committed to the highest legal and ethical standards in every
aspect of our business Itis our policy to conduct business in a fair,

i honest and openway, without the use of bribery or corrupt practices
{ to obtain an unfair advantage We provide clear guidance for suppliers
! and employees, including policies on anti-bribery and corruption,

| anti-fraud and code of conduct All employees receive training on
these 1ssues appropriate to their roles and responsibiitties

r Anti-brmacyand oriogt 1 www britishland com/antibribery



Carbon reporting

Carbon intensity across our portfolio has reduced by 54% versus
our 200% baseline, through the National Gnid s decarbonrsation
and our own efficiency mproverents With this 2020 target almost |
achieved, we have al2o gone further, comritting to source all our
electricity from renewable sources and partnering with RE100,
supporting further decarbenisation of the National Grid \

Absolute emissions Scope | and 2

208 34,269

e s
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Scope 1 and 2 emissions intensity (tonnes CO-e)!

Yearended 31 March 2018 20 A

Per m - Offices [net lettable areal 0.055 0 069 ona

Per m- - Retall enclosed 0.056 0067 0174

Per parking space - Rstail open ar 0.062 0064 0106

Per £m - Gross rental and related

income from managed portfolio: 58.03 6739 -
i
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Dur environmental impacts include carbon emissions across our
portfolic This year, combustion of fuel ermssions reduced by 6%,
largely due to charges in our portfolic Operation of facilities
emissions reduced by 73%. largely due to fluctuations in air
conditioning plant 1ssues Location based emiscions from purchased
energy decreased by 20%, largely due to Grid decarbomisation and
changes inour portfolio Market based ermussions decreased by 72%,
largely due to more electrieity purchased from renewable sources !
and changes in aur portfoiio I

Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions (tonnes COhe)

Year ended 31 March 2018 20 L

Combustion of fuel: Mgnaged portfohio
gas use and fuel use N British Land

owned vehcies 4,901 7348 5136
Operation of facilities: Managed portfolio
refrigerant loss from air conditionmng 66 261 -

Purchase of electricity, heat, steam
and cooling: Managed portfolio
electricity use
o ation Bosed 27,301 32414% 41186

Mearkot based 1,875 6,630 -

Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFL)

We support the recommendations of the Task Force
and continue to actively manage climate issues,

Governance

Qur Risk Commuttee, which reports to the Board, monitors and
oversees ciimate 1ssues Climate risks are identified through a
process involving trend analysis and stakeholder engagement
They are then incorporated into our risk framewerk and
managed by the appropriate business areas

Strategy
We actively manage climate 1ssues across our business
This includes

- Upgrading assetswith EPC ratings of F and G

- improving flood risk assessrent and protection

- Procuring electricity from REGO certified renewable
sources, as an RE1G0 partner [2018 97%)

- Installing low carbon energy generation sources, where viable

Risks
We reviewed climate risks 1 2018 as part of gur wider
materiality review They include

- Rising energy costs

~ Erergyand carbon taxation, such as the CRC Energy
Effictency Scheme

- Cumate and energy regutation, such as Mimimum Energy
Efficiency Standards {2018 3% of porttolio at risk]

— Flood risks, impacting on asset vatue and insurance
costs (2018 of the 3% of portfolio at hugh risk, 100%
has llood rmanagement plans)

- Costincreases linked with carbon-intensive
constructicn matenals

Opportunities
- Anticipating occupter demand for climate resilient properties
- Delivering energy and carbon cost savings for us and our
customers (2018 £14 mullion gross and £6 mitlion net
since 2012)
- Generating cnsite energy (2018 1,664 MWh]
- Qutperforrming Building Regulations {2018 26% better
on average)

Mare information
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www britishland co<m/5ustainabllltyreport

mar_ -teat e ST S uee www britishland.com/sustainabilityreport
Mot a oy eoview www britishland com/materiatity
el s rn Gode T Sendt L wwwobriishland.com/policies

Brit:ish Land 1 Annual lteport and Aceounts 2018 31



Strategic Report

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Against an uncertain backdrop
we remain focused on our strategy

£13.7bn 77 years
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Market backdrop

The econcrnic environment remained uncertam across the year,
with consumer spending more subdued, as inflation (measured by
CPlireached a high of 3 1% in Novernber The impact of political and
economic uncertainty relating to the ongoing Brexit negotiations
weighed on investment decisiens for UK businesces and in
November 2017, we saw the first interest rate rise in 10 years
However, at 4 2%, unemployment I1s at its lowest in more than

40 years and inflation s slowing, as the impact of Sterting weakness
moderates So while UK GDP growth torecasts remain below other
major economies, the relative strength of the global economy I1s
supportive for UK businesses

The investment market

The Londan investment market proved resilient, with real estate
continuing to offer good relative returns, and the unique attractions
of London remaiming persuasive, particularly for overseas mvestors
However, buyers have become more selective, with well-let,
best-in-class assets still generating good interest while pricing on
other assets has softened, driving further polarisation The picture
rs stmilar in retail, where tugher gquatity ass
continue to see demand, although the market remains cautious with
ivestors generally demanding a higher yield ta compensate for a
perceved (ncrease 1N RISk

British Land f Annuat Report and Accounts 2018

ets, both targe and small,

The Office occupational market

Demand for the best quaiity space has remained firm, with
businesses continding te make tong term commitments to London
despite wider uncertainty Initial estimates for Brexit-related job
losces in the financial sector have been substantially lowered and
financial services companies have continued to take space, although
media and technology companies are now a more significant source
of demand Flexible workspace was another important driver, with
its share of take up Increased from an average of 7% 2012-16 to
21% 0 2617 This represents a shift towards more collabaorative
workplaces on more flexible terms This s largely driven by the
growth of srali and medium sized bustnesses, but also many larger
corporates, who increasingly require flexible werkspace in addition
to their core office space

' The supply pipetine has moderated substantially since the

referendum, and nearty 50% of all space under construction 1s
currently pre-iet, including nearty 60% of space due for completion n
2018 As aresull, occupiers with relatively large space reguirements
have limited options in the coming years, which should support rents
on the best quality space

The Retail occupational market

In Retait, the occupational market became more challenging as the
year progressed The long term structural impact of online continues
to affect operators, and these wsauer have been exacerbated by short
termi factors, notably rising costs and subdued consumer confidence
Retailers continue to rauonanse their store networks, ang several
rughly teveraged operators with chalienged models have applied for
CVAs {company voluntary arrangements] However, this negative
sentiment obscures healthy performances from operators with
strong and differentiated offerings, who are evolving the role of

their stores to reflect the changing way people shop

In the casuat dining sector, operators who over-expanded in recent
years have been similarly impacted by short term cost pressures,
although the overall leisure market remains strong Spending on
tersure has continued to grow and this year 1s expected to reach
nearly £130 bithon, a 17% increase compared to five years ago

As aresult, polarisation 1s accelerating rapidly The best quality retail
schemes, which meet a much broader mux of uses, including leisure
and entertainrment, and which support the important role physical
retail can play in an omni-channet strateay are still generating good
rental tension and delivering income growth



Our strategy

Our strategy is o create outstanding places, which reflect the
changing Lifestyles of the people whe work, live or spend time in

our space - we call this creating Places People Prefer We do this by
understanding and responding to the evolving needs and expectations
of cur customers Increasingly people want to combine working,
shopping, sociabising and entertainment in a single place Across our
business we are responding to this trend by curating the environment
inside and outside our buitdings to create more of these opportunities,
which include 3 mix of activities As our markets evelve, we will
continue to position our business te benefit from the long term
trends to drive enduring demand for our space

London Offices

Our campus approach enables us te successfutly differentiate our
space by creating neighbourhoods we can enhance and enliven
through placemaking 78% of our offices are located on our three
central London campuses at Broadgate, Paddington Central and
Regent s Place Ateach, we are delivering a growing rmux of uses
alongside our offices, including diming, shopping, lersure and
enfertainment as well as events and activities people can enjoy seven
days a week Dur newest butldings reflect the changing ways people
are working, with more collaborative space, distinctive features such
as reof terraces and smart technolegy, and sustainable charactenstics,
all of which1s driving good demand from a wide range of occupiers

Storey, our flexible workspace business, 1s an integral part of that
approach, helping to attract new occuplers to our campuses and
allowing us to meet the evolving needs of existing customers
Importantly, our campuses benefit from excellent connectivity and
transport mfrastructure, which will be further enhanced by Crossrait
at Broadgate and Paddington Central This makes them accessible
and convenient, and will drive footfall, providing a strong rationale
tor extending the retail and leisure offer

Retail

We telieve that physical slores have a key role as a part of

a successful omni-channel retail strategy, but that the market 1s
polarising towards the best locations Size should be appropriate
to the catchment and quality of space and services are key
Placemaking 15 an important part of how we can add value as
owners and managers of property by curating our space to meet
the needs of our customers, we can support the way the rote of
the store1s changing This 1s where our investment is focused

There are typically three phases to a modern censumer Journey
discovery, transaction and fulfilment Our Regional centres
typically support the discovery phase, they attract visitors from

a wide catchment so we are enhancaing the nature of this space to
encourage people to stay longer and spend more by enlivening cur
space with more leisure and entertainmert Qur data shows that
when custormners engage with our catering offer, their retall spend
15 typically 27% higher

The second stageis the actual transaction, which may take
place in store oronline Forretallers, transactions which are
made lor fulfiled) in store are preferred, as thay do not incur the
cost of last mule delivery, reducing pressure on margms

The therd stage s fulfilment Retailers are focused on rightsizing
their store netwerks, but are committed to maintaiming good
coverage, with stores increasmagly playing a role in logistics and
distribution Across our portfolio 27% of shoppers now use click and
collect, up from 19% three years ago, and here, our Local centres,
which provide convenient shepping for locat communities, have a
particutar role to play

Broadgate Estates

In May 2018, we announced the sale of the third-party portfolio

of Broadgate Estates, our property managernent business, to
nternational real estate adviser Savills This transaction enables
us to focus exclusively on our own assets and enhance the service
we provide to our customers as our business becomes increasingly
mixed use

Portfolio performance

Wa et b=y Yeod opoyon
Year ended Valozhior ol a0 B r- r
3t March 2018 tn, b . bis .
Oftices 6,705 45 21 i7) Q0
Retail 6,5% 032 16 6 27
Residential 132 14 n/a nfa 46
Canada Water 283 {7 0) nfa n/a 29)
Total 13,716 27 18 1 70

The portfolio value was up 2 2%, driven primarily by our leasing

. activity, 1 particular the pre-letiing of our developments which saw

avaluation gain of 2 6% ERV growth was positive in Retatl and Difices,
but was stronger in the first half. particelarly in Retall Office yields

! contracted 7 bps mostly inthe first half reflecting our leasing

. success, whilst Retail saw yield expansion of 6 bps, which was more

pronounced in our Local centres Dverall, the portfolio equivalent
yield was broadly flat at 4 8%

i The portfolio underperformed the IPD all property total return index

by 310 bps over the year, largely retlecting the continued strength of
the industrial sector within the index, where we have no exposure
Offices outperformed the sector benchrmark by 70 bps on a total
returns basis while Retail underperformed by 50 bps

We have completed the first phase of our valuer appointment policy,
which restricts the engagement of valuers on individual assets to
t0years As aresult, this year 45% of the portfolio was subject to a

- change invaluer Despite some variations on individual assets, there

was no matenal impact at a subsector level, and therefore overall
All of these changes were reported at haif year and full details on

* our policy can be found in the Governance section of our website

Investment and development

Jeda

D e Re-asahia W ter afcl
From 1 Apnil 2017 Lo Lo - (atl T
Purchases 1929 - - 7 206
Sales'- fa1el 377} (312 - D308
Development spend 31 82 54 23 190
Capital spend 37 5 - - 62
Net investment (132)  14%0] (258} 30 1850
Gross investment 706 b4 366 30 1,766
[ 5 R I P e E R B LI B | 501 Pare ot Lot
WAt Tag shd bonas
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Strategic Report

FPERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED
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The gross value of our mvestment activity since 1 Apnit 2017, as
measured by our share of acquisitions, disposals, capital spend
on developments and other capital projects, was £1 8 billion This
includes our share from the sale of The Leadenhatll Building of
€275 mullion [100% €115 billion] which completed in the year,
£419 mulbion retail sales in ine with book value and more than
£200 mutlion of asset purchases

We exchanged or completed residential sates of £119 million i the
year, on average 16% ahead of most recent valuations Inaddition,
we have completed on £193 million of Clarges sales which exchanged
prior to 1 Aprit 2017, of which £168 million completed post year end
This brings total completed and exchanged sales at Clarges to

£344 mitlion to date

This year, development spend has totalled £190 muilion, with the
majyerity relabing to Broadgate developments and Clarges Capital
expenditure of £62 millton relates to income enhancing investment
and more general asset enhancement initiatives including at
Meadowhall, Glasgow Fort, Peterborough and Teesside

Development activity
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Across our portfolio, we have created attractive development
opporturities in line with cur strategy, giving us the optionality
to progress when the tirme 1s right This 1s a unique advantage in
the current environment, where we see limited opportunity to
make accretive acquisitions, given the continuing strength of
investment markets

We believe that space which meets a broader range of needs
will be most successful long term, so our development pipeline
focuses on our London campuses where we see the potential to
further enhance the mix of uses, with retait and residentiai in
addition to our core office space

In kine with our disciplined approach to caputal allocation, we
carefully manage our development risk, and pre-letting our space

is animportant part of that approach 55% of the £63 million ERVin
our commutted pipeline is already pre-let or under offer and our total
speculative exposure 15 Just 4 5% of portfolio gross asset vatue (GAV],
well betow our internal risk threshold for speculative development

of 8% In addition, costs to come on our committed pipeline of

£427 mullion are substantially covered by recidential receipts to
corne of £373 mullion from our Clarges Mayfair development

Looking forward, cur medium term pipetine comprises a broad rmix
of opportumties including mixed use schemes at Eden Walk, Kingston
and Ealing where we see potentjal to deliver sizeable residentiat
scheres alongside an improved retail offer At Canada Water, we are
creating a new urban centre for London which will comprise offices,
retail and leisure as well as residential We signed a Master
Development Agreerment with Southwark Council and submitted our
outline planning application for the masterplanin May 2018 In total,
our medium term pipeline covers 4 8 muilien sq ft, with the majority

b of projects currently income producing or held at low cost

Construction cost forecasts continue to suggest that the rate of
growth has moderated from the level in recent years However,
pressure on labour costs and linited capacity in the industry indicate
the rate of cost inflation will Increase 1n 2019/20 back to ctoser to
3-4% per annum To manage this, 89% of the costs on our
committed development programme have been fixed
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LONDON OFFICES

Strong leasing activity driven
by our campus strategy and
good market demand

Highlights

- Portfolic value up & 5%, with the West End up 5 8% and the
Cityup 2 8%

Yield contraction of 7 bps overall. with 13 bps contraction
inthe West End, weighted towards the first half, and 2 bps
expansion in the City

ERV growth of 2 1%, with the West End up 2 5% and the Csty
up 13%

70 bps ahead of IPD on a total return basis, 100 bps abead
on a capital basis, with ERY growth 100 bps ahead

Leasing actmty covered 12 mullion sq ft, four times the area
achieved last year, adding £40 million to future rents, under
offer or in negotiations on a further 548,000 sg ft

Rent reviews covered 226,000 sq it, 10% ahead of passing rent
Activity generating like-for-like income growth of 2 4%

£o64 milbion lexcluding residential sales at Clarges) of gross
capital activity, iIncluding our share of The Leadenhall
Buitding [£375 mihion)

Tiin Roberts
Head of Offices

Campus review

78% of our offices are located on our three central London
campuses, Broadgate, Regent 5 Place and Paddington Centrat
£ach benefit from excellent transport links, as well as vibrant local
nelghbourhoods, which supperts our placemaking Intiatives and
makes them more dynarmic and interesting places to work and visit

' Broadgate

At Broadgate, our leasing activity covered nearly 590,000 sq ft,
including 100,260 s3 ft at 100 Liverpool Street, to SMBCE, the
Furopean subsidiary of SMBC {Surmitorno Mitsu Banking
Corporation) Having commmutted to this buitding on a specutative
basis at the end of 2016, we are now 37% let on the office space by
area, and are seeing good levels of interest on the remaining space
A key focus remains increasing the mix of uses al our campuses, and
this year we signed a major deal with Eataly, the ltalian marketplace
at 135 Bishopsgate, where they will open their first UK locaticn
covenng 42.000 sqg ft Thisis animportant letting for the campus,

in tine with our abjective to make Broadgate an internationally
recegnised centre for new food, retail and culture We are under
offer or in negotiations on a further 269,000 sq ft of office space at
this development, together accounting for around 80% of the space
At 1and 2 Finsbury Avenue {1FA and 2FA), we are building
Broadgate s reputation as a centre for innovation and finance

We have let 79,000 sq ft to Mimecast at 1FA and are under offer on

a anema (11,000 sq ftl. together representing mare than one third
of the bultding At 2FA, we have let 14,500 sq ft on 3 short term basis
to Starling Bank, as well as a host of tettmgs in the technology and
creative sectors through Storey, our flexible workspace business
which covers 60,000 <g ft at Broadgate at 2ZFA and Appold Street

This year, we were pleased that Broadgate was the winner of two
Revo Opal Awards The hirst recegnised how our commercialisation

" strategy had helped transform and positively enhance the

enwvirenment at Broadaate, and the second recognising our Winter
Forest as a bestin class build, execution and visitor experience

Regent’s Place

At Regent s Place, our leasing activity covered 411,000 sq ft, with

our pre-let to Dentsu Aegis of all the office space at 1 Triten Sguare
accounting for 210,000 sq ft, the largest pre-let in the West End for
2Zyears As part of this ietting, Dentsu Aegis have an option to return
their existing space at 10 Triton Street in 2021, which if exercised,
would have a compensating adjustment covering the rent free

period of the letting at 1 Triton Square
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LONDON OFFICES CONTINUED

Our Offices portfolio in London
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Facebook reaffirmed thewr commitment to the campus, taking

a further 39,400 <q ft at 10 Brock Street, bringing their total
occupation 16 213,000 q ft across two builldings, doubling their
intal requirement This s a good example of how we have been
able to accommodate the needs of our cccuplers as their business
expands or needs change, so we are pleased that Storey 1 now
operational across 23,000 sq ft at 338 Euston Road We also signed
Ftykick, a new kick-boxing gym at 350 Euston Road, which opened
n March 2018, in line with our focus on enbivening our spaces and
diversifying the mix

The Regent s Place Community Fund 1s also entering its second year,
bringing together occupiers to support local chanties and make a
positive local difference Inits first year, over 2,600 people benefitted
trom projects addressing employability, social cohesion and health
and welibeing

Paddington Central

Paddington was cur best perferming campus, up in value

more than 7% in the year as we benehitted from the placemaking
activities we have undertaken across our five years ot ownership
This has delivered a total unievered return of 12% per annum

4 Kingdom Street [147.000 sq ft), reached practical completionn
April 2017 and was nearly ?0% let ahead of launch in June 2017,
to occupiers including Vertex, Sasol and Mars, whose activities
span pharmaceuticals, energy and food products Storeyis now
operational across 15,000 sg ft and a further 25,600 sg ft has
been allocated

Pergola, an outdoor drinking and dining experience which welcomed
179,000 people in 2017, reopened for the summer season at the end
of Aprit We are continuing to improve the food, beverage and leisure
offering at Paddington with six operaters, including 2 gym, barbers
and a number of Independent cafés, together covering 12,500 sq ft,
signed in the period We completed stage one of our public realm
improvement programeme and are now underway with stage two,
which will enhiance and enliven the canal-side space

Storey

Since its launchain June 2017, Storey, our flexible workspace brand,
has made good progress We introduced the concept in response to
changing customer needs, and to broaden the range of services we

' offer campus accupiers It s now operational at all three of our

campuses, as well as International House, Esling, covering a total of
114,000 sq ft, of which 77% 15 now let We are differentiating our offer
to appeal to Innovative businesses that have outgrown conventional
co-working space, as well as larger orgariusations seeking additional
space on more flexible terms in addition to their core requirement
Marketing and fit out are tallored accordingly, 5o our occupiers are
abie to create their own brand within our space, but benefit from
shared facilities in the building as well as the advantages that our
campuses provide

The average size of occupier s 52 employees and the average lease
length 1s 27 months (21 monihs term certainl, with existing occupiers
from our canmpuses accounting for mere than hall of the space taken

- AIM-listed robotic software company Blue Prism have taken space

at 338 Euston Road and at Broadgate our activity 1s supporting the
campus s emergence as a centre of technology and innovation,
with lettings to Wipro s strategic and digdal arm, Digital +Designit,
Tantalumn, an automoetive technology mnovater, and Rotageek,
which offers data-driven employee scheduling services

The premium to ERY we are achieving is at or above target, and
we have atlocated a further 119,000 =g ft to Storey from within the
portfolio, of which 73,000 sq ft will be at 1FA 10,000 sq ftwill be
club space at 4 Kungdom Street, where customers will be able

to host events and meetings and benefit from collaboration with
fellow Storey and other campus occupters This brings total space
committed to Storey to more than 230,000 sq ft

Residential

Clarges Mayfair, our super prime residential development, reached
practical completion in December 2017 To date we have completed
or exchanged an 24 residential units totalling £344 million and wilt
commence marketing of the remaining 10 valued at £141 rmillion,
this summer This scheme, which has delivered profits of more
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than £200 mullion to date, [of which residential accounts for over
£150 miltion} demenstrates our expertise in residential The offices
element of this scheme reached practical completion in June 2018
and 15 nearly Y0% let

Offices development

Over the year, we have comrittad to nearly 1 mithion sq ft of
development opportumties onour London campuses, more than
doubling our development commutments, but without a material
increase in our speculative exposure 56% of the ERV In our
committed office developments s pre-tet or under offer

We achieved ptanning consents covening more than ¥ million sq ft
across our three campuses. and are atready on site on more than
20% of this space

Committed pipeline
Our committed pipeline covers 1 5 milhon sg ft This inctudes 366,000
sq ft at 1 Triton Square, Regent s Place, but the majority s at Broadgate

We are making good progress at 100 Liverpool Street, our 322,000 sg ft
developrent adjacent to the Crossrail station at Liverpool Street
Station The building targets the Platinum WiredScore certification
for connectivity, a BREEAM Excellent ratine for sustainability and the
WELL Gold certificatian for wellbeing, our ptans include 20,000 <q ft
of outdoor terraces on five levels providing outside spaces for office
workers to came together We have pre-let 37% of the office space to
SMBCE and are seeing good interest on the 90,000 sq ft of retal cpace
here Also at Breadgate, we are on site at 1FA {291,000 sg ft], which
will include a cnema and roof terrace, and 135 Bishopsgate (328,600
sq ft], with 42,000 sg ft ot retait pre-let to ltalian marketplace Eataly
In total we are delivering more than 1 million sg ft at Broadgate, of
which 15% of the space will be retail or leisure, with 22% cof the total
ERV pre-iet or under offer

Near term pipeline

Looking ahead, our near term pipeline covers 443 000 sg ft of
apportunities we would look to progress in the next 12 months
It includes the Gateway Building at Paddington Central, and our
option at Blossom Street in Shoreditch

In line with our strategic focus on expanding the mix of uses at aur
campuses, we were pleased to achieve planning consent for the
Gateway. 2 105,000 sq ft prernium hotel at Paddington Central

At Blossorn Street, Shorediich, we have an option over two acres

of land which expires in February 2019 We have consent for a
340,000 sg ft mixed use devetopment, integrating 258,000 sq ft o
character office space, with retail and residential, to create a mixed
use development that builds on the tustoric fabric of the area Our
plans envisage a mix of tloorplates, to appeal tc small and growing
businesses, particularly in the technolegy and creative sectors, with
the potential for some space to be allocated to Storey We will make
a gecisien on this develcpment before the end of this calendar year

Medium term pipeline

Looking further ahead, we have created options across our portfolio,
which provide opporiunities to grow and develop our business well
into the future Our medium term ofhice pipeline covers 14 million sg ft,
of which three-gquarters s at Broadgate

At 2-3 Finsbury Avenue |2FA and 3FA}, we have consent for

a 563,000 =g ft development, adding 374 000 sq ft to the existing
space, but would seek a signihcant pre-let before making any
commitment Inthe meantime, the space 15 geperating a good Income
through short term more flexible lets and s proving particularly
successiut amongst technology and creative occupiers 20,600 sq ft
has been let to TMT and creative occupiers through our core business
at 2FA, and a further 60,000 sq ft by Storey at 2FA and Appold Street
We recently achieved vacant possession at 3FA, and the space1s
enjoyIng similar success, with 44 D00 sq ft of short term lets agreed
aswellas 1,700 =q ft of events space which we expect te launch in
the coming months This short term activity provides us with options
over when we commence development We are progressing our
plans at 1-2 Broadgate, intotal covermg 507,000 sq ft. including a
significant retall, teisure and dining element Vacant possession is
not expected until the end of 2019 but we expect to make a planning
application towards the end of this year

At S Hingdom Street, at Paddingten Central, we have existing
consent for a 240,060 sqg ft office-led scheme, our plans witl increase
this to more than 322,000 sq ft and we expect to submit a revised
application later this year The site sits above the Box, a2 70,000 =g {1
site which will become redundant on the completion of Crossrall,

! when ownership reverts to British Land  This represents an

| iInteresting oppartunity to create an alternative use, potentiatly retail,
leisure, conference or events space, which wilt further differentiate
aur campus offering
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Strategic Report

RETAIL

Quality space driving

operational outperformance

in polarising markets

ITighlights

- Portfolio value up 0 3%, with the multi-let portfolio down G 3%
offset by positive movements on our solus and leisure assets

- Inthe mutti-let portfolio, Regionals were marginally up in
value whilst Locals were down 1 5%

- Yield expansion of 6 bps overall, with ¢ bps expansion in the
multi-let portfolio, more pronocunced i the Local portfolio

- ERVgrowth of ] 6%, with 1 9% growth in the multi-let
portfolio reflecting our successful leasing activity

- Underperformed IPD by 50 bps on a total return basis and
70 bps below on a capital basis, ERV growth was 70 bps
ahead of the index

- Leasing activity covered 1 2 million sg ft, adding £7 mutlion
to future rents

- Virtually full with occupancy at $8%

- Completed more than 100 rent reviews, 4 2% ahead of
passing rent

- Nearly 90% of leases reaching expiry were etther retained or
replaced on terms ahead of ERV, with a further 5% re-let in
the short term

- Activity generating Like-for-tike income growth of 1 2%

- Footfall up 0 3%, 340bps shead of benchmark, retailer sales
down 1 6%, 130bps ahead of benchmark

- Gross investment activity of £706 rillion, with sales of
£41% miltion, overall in Line with book value, £19% miilion
of acquisitions, mcluding £152 millicn of regeneration
opportuities in London, benehitting from Cressrail

BritishLand | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Charles Maudsley
Head of Retail, Leisure & Residential

Operational review

We have a focused leasing strategy, informed by our insights,

which keeps our offer relevant in today s market. this means we

are targeting growth subsectors and meeting customer needs
Compared with 2015, we have undertaken 8 8% more leasing to
health and beauty operators, and 5 6% more in outdoor and sports
ctothing At the same time, we have reduced leasing to sectors
where sales have dectined, notably general fashion (s down more
than 10%

We are also leveraging our Insights to demonstrate the attractions
of our assets to potential occuplers This year for example, we
signed Decathlon at Ealing after providing compelling research

on the strategic fit between its demographic profile and the (ocal
catchment, and at Broughton, Chester, Footasylum opened its
first out of town store, having demonstrated to the occupier that a
physical store was an opportunity to enhance their previcusly low
brand awareness to over one million residents in the catchment
Early indications are that 1t 1s trading well This approach s integral
to our leasing slrategy across the portfolio and :nstrumentat in
encouraging operators to open out of town stores, with recent
examples including Lush, Ann Summers, Disney and Joules all
opening at Glasgow Fort, and Hotel Chocolat at Teesside, Siockton
In addition, our rent to sales ratto remains attractive at 11%

I At Meadowhall, we have seen a strong response to our £60 million

refurbishment, with nearly 80 eccupiers investing £46 mullion
upgrading their stores We have signed 28 new occuplers, including
online retailer Joe Browns first physicat store, and Australian
homewares brand House, who opened one of therr first UK stores
here We have strengthened the prermium offering to reflect the
improving catchment, with Godiva, Michael Kors, Flannels,

Tag Heuer, Neal's Yard, Joules and Nespresso all signing We have
relocated or upsized a further 21 occupiers and renewed or re-geared
leases on another 14 Thes year, deals were signed 13% ahead of ERV,
and our activity has generated ERV growth of 2 8% We are also
pleased that our investment has benefitted the local community,
with 6%% of construction spend going to local businesses and

24 people supported into apprenticeships




Our Retail portfolio

£0.6bn
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Across the market, sales and footfall are down but our assets have
conttinued to outperform Footfall was up 0 3% across the multi-let
porticlio, outperforming the market by 340 bps with the scale of

our outperformance contmulng to grow A number of our centres
performed particularly well, including Stockton, Teesside, where we
are on site with g £30 mlll[on refurbishment, and SouthGate, Bath,
where the dining offer has been revitalised, introducing new brands
tike Comptoir Libanats, Thalkhun, France Manca and Absurd Bird
Retaller sales lwhich only capture in store sales] were down 1 6%

at our centres, but were ahead of market by 130 bps

Inwhat has been a more challenging occupier market, we are
confident in the relative strength of our portfolic The combined
impact of admiristrations and CVAs during the year was 0 6% of total
aross income or £3 7 million and the portfolio s virtually full with
occupancy of 98%

Capital activity

We are committed to reshaping our Retail portiolio te focus on
assets which best align with our strategy This has been ongonng
for some time tn the Llast four years, we have mnade £2 2 billion of
retail asset disposals This year, we sold £419 mullion of assets
l£662 million on a gross basisl, in bne with book value, of which
£122 rutlion were made in the second half, 7 6% ahead of bock
value, and we are now under offer on a further £72 million

Acguisttions ef £1%9 mithion in the period included a Tesco JV swap,
which resulted in a net £73 million of superstore disposals We also
acquired The Woolwich Estate and 10-40 The Broadway in Ealing for
atotal of £152 mullion These acquisitions are 0 line with our focus on
well-connected assets with mixed use potential, strong or improving
lecal demographics and where we can put our placemaking expertise
towork Both areas benafif from Croscrail, and have already seen
significant regeneration ahead of that This brings total gross actity,
includng development and capital spend, to more than £700 million

We have invested £88 million inte the portfolio, of which 70% 1s inceme
preducing capex, and the remainder focusing onimprovements to

- the public realm We have a strong track record of delivering value
with assets benefitting from material nvestment {more than 3% of
value} delivering a total return outperformance of ¢ 80 bps, over the
last three years, driven by ERV growth

Retail development
Across the Retall portfolio, we achieved 44 planning consents
covermg nearly 800,000 sq ft

We completed our 66,000 sq ft leisure extension at New Mersey,
Speke, which added an 11-screen cinema, pre-let to Cineworld, and
six restaurant units Overall, the scheme 15 80% et or under offer,

‘ and will open m surmmer 2018

Committed pipeline
| We are on site with a 107,000 sq ft leisure extension at Drake Circus,
" Plymouth which will add 2 1Z-screen cinema and 15 restaurants
. We expect to reach practical completion towards the end of 2019
I and are already 38% let or under offer

Near term pipeline

Our near term pipeline inctudes leisure extensions at Stockton,
Teesside |84,000 sq ftl and Forster Square, Bradford 149,000 sg ft)
At Teesside, we received a resolution to grant ptanning for our
masterplan, which mcludes a redevetopment of the existing
terrace, the introduction of smaller retail and restaurant units
and improvements to the public reatm. overall adding 51,000 sq ft,
but we will seek a significant pre-tet before comrmitting to this
development We expect to submit a planning application for our
plans at Bradiord this year
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RETAIL CONTINUED
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Medium term pipeline

Our medwum term pipetine mcludes our 330,000 sq ft leisure
extension at Meadowhall, where we secured a reselution to grant
planning consent Gur plans will transform the centre s teisure offer
with new dining and entertainment options, a new cinema, cafe
court, gym., open-air terrace and space for leisure, event and
commurity use We also submitted planming for a 208.000 sq ft
teisure extension at Serpentine Green, Peterborcugh, which wilt add
139,000 59 ft Our mixed use opporturities include a £400 million
redevelopment of Eden Walk, Kingston, where we have consent for
380 new hores, 28 new retail units, 12 restaurants and catés and
35,000 =g ft of flexible office space At Ealing. we are working up
plans for a wider mixed use development

Canacla Water

At Canada Water, we are working with the Londen Borough of
Southwark on ene of London s most significant develepmert projects
Qur long term vision for the area, spanring 22 acres, will deliver

a major new mixed use urban centre for this part of Londen,

just one stop on the Jubilee Line from Canary Whart, in Zone 2

In March 2018, we were delighted to receve Southwark Cabinet
approval to enter into a Master Development Agreement with
Southwark Council, which was signed in May 2018 Under the terms
of the agreement, we have negotiated a new headlease, which
consclidates our holdings (including the Printworks, the Surrey
Quays Shopping Centre and the Mast Leisure Centrel into a single
500 year headlease, with Southwark Council as the lessor This
structure effectively aligns the ownership of these assets, with
British Land owning 80% and Southwark Council owning the
remamning 20% Southwark Council will have the opportunity to
participate in the development of the individual plots, up to a
maximum of 20%, and returns wiil be pro-rated accordingly

40
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This agreement enabled us to subrut our planning application in

C May 2018, which included a detailed appucation for the project s
first three buildings, comprising workspace, retail, homes (ot which
35% wall be affordable] and a new leisure centre These buildings
are part of a major first phase of the development covering a total
of 1 8 mullion 55 ft of mixed use space Thisincludes one mitlion sq 1t
of workspace, 250,000 sq ft of retail and leisure space and 650

" homes The oversll masterplan, of which phase 1 forms part, 15

expected to deliver up to 3,000 new homes, two miltion sq ft of

workspace and one mullion sq ft of retail, leisure, entertainment

and community space

Subject to planrung approvals, construction of the first detailed ptots
coutd beginin spring 2019 Potential structures will be explored
when we have greater visibility on timing, but we are already seeing
interest in the space from a range of sectors and discussions are
underway on several buildings

In the meantime, the success of the Printworks, our award-winning
i entertamnment space in the old Daily Mait Printworks, 1s building
awareness of the area With capacity for 5,000, it has welcomed
more than 250,000 visttors since launch, and has hosted bands
" including So Solid Crew and Django Django as well as the
Beavertown Brewery Extravaganza, bringing over 70 of the
. world's best breweries together The space has proved to be such
a commercial success, as well as an effective driver of footfall,
that it has now been incorporated into oui development plans

White the gross valuation of Canada Water was marginally up to
£283 million, the net valuation was down 7%, reflecting feasibility
costs incurred over the year which were not recoverable through
the valuation, pending achievernent of planning




FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial performance
for the year was robust
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Overview

Financial performance for the year was robust with underlying
earnings per share down 11% at 37 4 pence and Underlying Profit
down 2 6% at £380 million, despite significant sales EPRA net asset
value per share INAV) increased by 5 7% reflecting a portfolio
valuation gain of 2 2% on a proportionally censolidated basis and
the impact of the £300 million share buyback programme

We have continued to reposition the portfolio with £1 8 taltion ot gross

capital actraity {£0 8 bilhion of niet capital activity] cince 1 April 2017
This comprises £1 0 billion of disposals of incame producing assets
representing 7% of the total portfolio, primarily single-let Retait
assets and our 50% interest in The Leadenhall Bultding which
exchanged In the previous financial year Sales were made at an
average yield of 4% We completed or exchanged on residential sales
of £0 1 bithon during the year and completed £0 2 bilthon of further
residential sales at Clarges post year end

The net proceeds from this activity provide capacity for reinvestment

intc our portiolio, particularly through the development opportunities

we are Now progressing with a forecast yield on cost of around 6%
We have mamntained a disciplined approach to capital and completed
our £300 millisn share buyback prograrmme in February 2018,
purchasing 47 6 milion ordinary shares at an average price of

&30 pence This has increased NAV by 15 pence and added

o4 pence to EPS this year During the period we have also reinvested

1 the capacity to progress cpporlunities

| €0 3 bltion 1n our developments and capital expenditure across

the portfolio, and rmade €0 Z bitlion of acquisitions

Underlying Profit was down 2 6% reflecting the impact of net sales
over the past twe years and lease expiries at properties going into
development This has been largely offset by ieasing success at our
devetopments, Lke-for-like rental growth and financing activity, as
well as one-off surrender premia received IFRS profit before tax
was £307 milhion, up from £195 million in the prior year, primarily
due to the positive property valuation movement in the period

Qur Binanctal metrics remain strong LTV has decreased 150 bps

to 28 4% from 29 9% at 21 March 2017 primarily through net sales,
offset by the share buyback Our weighted average interest rate 15
atits lowest levet at 2 8% Thisfinancial strength provides us with

L inctuding our development
pipeline, whilst retaining significant headroom to our covenants We
have been active in debt markets, iIncluding issuing our £300 rmillion
Sterling unsecured bond Our senior unsecured credit rating has
heen upgraded to A by Fitch

Shareholder returns remain a priority We increased the dividend

3% to 30 08 pence for the year ended 31 March 2018, resulting in a
dividend payout ratio of 80% The Board propose a further increase
of 3% next year to 31 G0 pence, a quarterly dividend of 775 pence

Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are prepared under IFRS where the
Group s interests in joint ventures and funds are shown as a single
line itermn on the incorme statement and balance sheet and all
subsidiaries are consolidated at 100%

Managerment considers the business principally on a proportionally
consolidated basis when setting the strategy. determining annual
priorities, making investment and financing decisions and reviewing
performance Thisincludes the Group s share of joint ventures and
funds on a line-by-line basis and excludes non-controlling mterests
inthe Group s substdiaries The financial key performance indicators

are also presented on this basis

. Asummary income statement and surmmary balance sheet which
" reconcile the Group ncome statements to British Land s interests on

a proportionally consolidated basis are included in Table & within the
supplementary disclosures

Management monitors Underlying Profit as this more accurately
reflects the Group s financial periormance and the undertlying
recurring performance of our core property rental activity, as
opposed to IFRS metrics which include the non-cash valuation
movement on the property portfolio It i« based on the Best
Practices Recommendations of the European Public Real Estate
Association {EPRA] which are widely used alternate metrics to ther
IFRS equivalents
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Srrategic Repore

FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Mapagement alsc moritors EPRA NAV as this provides a transparent -

and consistent basis to enable comparison between European
property companies Linkedto this, the use of Total Accounting
Return allows management to montar return to shareholders based
on movements In & consistently applied metric, being EPRA NAV, and
dividends paid

Loan to value [proportionally conselidated]is also monitored by
management as a key measure of the level of debt employed by the
Group to meet 11s strategic objectives, along with a measurement of
rick It also allows companison to other property companies who
simiiarly monitor and report this measure

Income statcment

1. Underlying Profit

Underlying Profitis the measure that 1s used internally 1o assess
income performance No company adjustments have been made in
the current or prior year and therefore this s the same as the pre-tax
EPRA earnings measure which inctudes a number of adjustments

to the IFRS reported profit before tax This is presented below on

a proportienatly consolidated basis

A 2018
R ] s £m
Gross rental income 643 613
Property operating expenses {331 {37]
Net rentat income T 610 576
Net fees and cther income 17 15
Administrative expenses 186) (83)
Net financing costs 13 a1l {128]
Underlying Profit 390 380
Non-controlling interests
in Underlying Profit 14 14
EPRA adjustments’ 1209} 107
IFRS profit before tax 2 193 501
Underlying £EPS Y4 378p 374p
IFRS basic EPS 2 18Bp 48.7p
Lividend per share 3 2920p 30.08p
STRA U -t en2 cors s Lh v - et and dovenoe abooopoiy
HVAILL LS, G0 ' of G8 T oweRTI Nt Na Tag kg prape fydispa--ls,
crongesiatretar vage ol TSP BN ] E R e Ll e S [T
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The £34 mullion decrease 1n net rental ncome during the year was
the result of divestment activity and development expiries partially
offset by surrender prermia, leasing of developments and Like-for-like
J rental growth

I

Net sales of iIncome producing assets of £1 5 bilbion over the tast two
years have reduced rents by £E44 mithion in the year

Lease expiries relating to properties in our development pipeline
j reduced net rents by £22 milion, including €6 ruthion at 100
i Liverpool Street where we are on site and progressing well with
development, £3 million at the substantiatly pre-let 1 Triton Square
scheme, £5 million at 1FA where we started on site in August 2017,
and £6 million at 135 Bishopsgate where we are now committed
having let 42,000 sg ft to Eataly These are partiatly offset by one
off surrender prermia received, the majerity being a £15 ritlion
surrender prerium receved from Royal Bank of Scofland in
June 2017

. Development lettings, notably at 4 Kingdom Street and Clarges,

© have contributed £ mitlion to rents in addition to like-for-like rental
growth of 1 8%, excluding the impact of surrender premua Retail

- growth was 1 2% driven by asset management activities, such as

splitting units, as well as teasing of vacant space In Offices,

Like-for-like growth was 2 4% driven by fixed uptifts at rent reviews

as well as leasing of completed developments that are now in

the Lke-for-like portfolio

1.2 Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by a further £3 mullion this year
as a result of lower variable pay Due to the impact of sales onrents,
the Group s operating cost ratio increased by 130 bps to 16 %

- {2016/17 15.6%)

1.3 Net financing costs
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‘ Financing costs have come down by £23 million this year

¢ Debt transactions undertaken over the last two years reduced

‘ financing costs by £19 million in the year This includes repayment of

. BLT debt following the net sales of five properties and exit Irom the
jont venture in April 2017, and early redemption of eur 6 75% and

© 9125% 2020 debentures In December 2017 we also successfully

| tendered and repald £84 million of our 5 357% 2028 and 5 0055%
2035 Debentures Prior year activity includes early repayment of the

" £295 million TBL Properties Limited secured loan and close-out
of related swaps



In September 2017, the 1 5% convertible bond was cash settled using
existing bank facitities This has proven to be hughly efficient financing
since its issue in September 2012 we estimate that it has saved

€40 muthion nfancing costs compared to a hixed rate Sterling bond
at the time

Also in Septemnber we 1ssued a £300 mutlion unsecured Sterling bond
for 12 years at a coupen of 2 375%. the lewest for a UK real estate
company in this market Aswell as diversifying both our sources of
funding and our maturity profite, it also established a benchmark for
us in the unsecured Sterling market

During the year we agreed a new £100 million bilateral bank revolving
unsecured credit facility | RCF ] and extended £225 mitlion of existing
facilities In May, following the year end, we completed an amendment
and extension of cur largest syndicated RCF at £733 mullion, with

12 banks, at aninitial margin of 90 bps and new maturity of five years,
which may be extended by a further twe years at our reguest and on
each bank s approval This facility, tegether with the bilaterals,

adds further liguidity and flexibility to our debt portfolio

Net divestment activity reduced casts by a further £15 million,
the impact of which ss partally offset by development spend

At 31 March 2018 we had interest rate hedging on 80% of our debt
Ispot), and on 0% of our projected debt on average over the next
five years

1.4 Underlying Earnings Per Share

Underlying EPS 1537 4 pence based on Underlying Profit after tax of
£380 milhion EPS decline of 1 1% against the Underlying Profit dectine
of 2 6% was driven by the 0 4 pence benefit of the share buyback
programme, which would be 1 4 pence on an annualised basis

2. IFRS profit before tax

The rmain difference between IFRS profit before tax and Undertying
Profit 1s that 1t includes the valuation movement on investment and
development properties and the fair vatue movernents on financiat
instruments naddition, the Group s investments i joint ventures
and funds are equity accounted in the IFRS income staternent but
are included on a proportionally consalidated basis within
Underlying Proiit

The IFRS profit betore tax for the year was £501 miltion, compared
with a prolit before tax for the prior year of £125 million Thus reflects
the positive valuation movermnent on the Group s properties which
was £346 million more than the prior year and the valuation
meovernent on the properties held i jont ventures and funds which
was £145 mitlion more than the prior year, resuliing from ERV
growth of 1 8% in the current year This was partislly offset by higher
capital financing costs of £176 million more than the prior year
primarily due to recycling of cumulative losses within the hedging
and transtation reserve inrelation to a hedging instrument which

ts no longer hedge accounted The recogrtion of these amounts in
capitat financing charges inthe income statement has a bmited
impact on EPRA NAY, with financing and debt management activity
undertaken in the year leading to a 3 pence reduction in EPRA NAY
per share

IFRS basic EPS was 48 7 pence per share, compared te 18 8 pence
per share i the prior year, driven principally by positive property
valuation movermnents The basic weighted average number of shares
inissue during the year was 1,013 mutlion [2016/17 1,029 mallion)

" 3. Dividends
The fourth interim dividend payment for the guarter ended 21 March
2018 will be 7 32 pence to give a full year dividend of 30 08 pence,

v anncrease of 3 0% Payment will be made on 3 August 2018 to
shareholders on the register at close of business on 29 June 2018

. The final dividend will be a Property Income Distribution and no

| SCRIP aiternative will be offered

j This results in an increase in the dividend pay-out ratio to 80% for

the year [2016/17 77%]

The Board proposes to increase ihe dividend by 3 0% 1n 2018/19 to
310 pence per share, with a quarterly dividend of 7 75 pence per
share The Board has taken into account future profit shape,

our preferred payout range and the external environment

Balance sheet

AT 2018
) R Ml £m
' Properties at valuation 13940 13,716
| Other non-current assets 126 185
: 14,096 13,901
! Other net current Liabilities [364) {348)
| Adjusted net debt & [4,223] (3,973)
. Other non-current habilities (11 -
* EPRA net assets %498 9,560
. EPRANAV per share 4 ?215p F67p
‘ Non-controtling interests 252 254
. Dther EPRAadjustments (2771 1308)
_ IFRS netassets 5 %47 9506
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4. EPRA net asset value per share
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" EPRANAV per share has increased 5 7%, reflecting a valuation
increase of 2 2% far the year [H1 -1 4%, H2 -0 9%) This is the resutt
of stable yields and ERV growth of 1 8% resutting from healthy
leasing activity and investor appetite for long term, secure income
streams In addition, property performance includes the benefit of
completing the sale of The Leadenhall Buitding ahead of book vatue,
which contributed £37 mullion to capital profit, and an uplift of

, £3% mullion following completion of Clarges
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Strategic Repore

FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Retail vatuations are up 0 3% with marginal sutward yield movement
of 6 bps and ERV growth of 1 6% the multi-let portiotio, which
accounts for 813 of our Retail assets, was down 0 5% but saw ERV
growth of 1 9% driven by leasing success

Office valuations were up 4 3% driven by inward yield mevement
of 7 bps and ERV growth of 2 1% Valuation increases are driven

by successful leasing, developments [up 10 6%) and strong sales
activity The campuses account for 78% of the Offices portfolio and
all delivered strong performance, reflecting the attractiveness of
our campus appreach

The 5 pence impact of financing and debt management costs
primarity relates o early repayment of debentures, term debt and
termination of interest rate swaps Our share buyback pregramme
has contributed 15 pence to EPRA NAV

5.1FRS net assets

IFRS net assets at 31 March 2018 were £9 506 mitlion, an increase
of £30 mulbion from 31 March 2017 This was prirmarily due to IFRS
profit before tax of £301 routlion and other compreheénsive ncome
of £141 mullion, partially otfset by £302 mulhion of dividends paid

as well as £300 million of share purchases under the share
buyback scherme

Cash flow. net debt and financing
6. Adjusted net debt®

1,015
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MNet sales reduced debt by £0 & tillion inthe year Completed
disposats during the year included the sale of The Leadenhall
Buitding for £575 million {BL sharel and, in Line with our strategy of
focusing oh mulli-tet assets, 28 supersteres totaling £302 mullion
IBL share] We completed purchases of £206 million during the year,
inctuding The Woolwich Estate

We ve also spent £122 mullion on developments and a further
£87 million an capitat expenditure related to asset management
on the standing portfolio The value of commytted devetopments
18 £572 mullion, with £427 mullion costs to come Speculative
development exposure is 4 2% of the porticlio after taking into
account residential pre-sates There are 578,000 sq ft of
developments in our near term pipetine with anticipated

costs of £436 mitlion

44 British Land , Annuai Repon tand Accounts 2018
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7. Financing
Coop Srope horE v 2ol da -
277 2018 2T 2018
Net debt/
adjusted net debt’ £3.0%m £3,046m £4.223m  £3,973m
Principal amount
of gross debt £3.069m  £3,007m £4.520m  £4,265m
L oanto value 22 6% 22.1% 299% 28.4%
Weighted average
interest rate 2 4% 2.0% 31% 2.8%
Interest cover 45 5.3 36 4.0
Weighted average
maturity of
drawn debt 6 9years  8.1years 77years 8.6years
B oonpdataasorsssciid ran s et the bng Licl wta cpets
To_wohrricrday 3mmmtat2 it cuies 1o g s aroup s et oart
wattars er o ds medeztare sxt Lo lhe mark 'a nerkston aar valive s
Lrot vt et Cdusin =l d gt Lt g it rests

Our balance sheet remains strong LTV and weighted average
interest on drawn debt have been reduced since 31 March 2017

At 31 March 2018, our propertionally consolidated LTV was 28 4%,
down 1530 bps from 22 9% at 31 March 2017 due to net drsposals,
offset by the chare buyback Thisis positioned te support investment
into our development pipeline as well as mammtain significant
headroom Note 17 of the financial statements sets out the
calcutation of the Group and proportionally consolidated LTV

The strength of our bustness 1s reflected in British Land s senior
unsecured credit rating which was upgraded by Fitch to A in
February 2018 The long term issuer detault rating was also
upgraded to A-

We maintained focus on ensuring our debt s cost effective Our
werghted average interest rate s at an all ime low of 2 8% driven
by proactive financing and debt management actions, together
with market rates Ourinterest cover has atsoimproved lo 4 Ox at

. 31 March 2018 from 3 6x at 31 March 2017

Our weighted average debt maturity 1s almost nine years following
1ssuance of the €300 rullion unsecured Sterling bond, and maturity
of the convertible

At 31 March 2018, 8nitish Land has £1 8 bithien of committed
unsecured revolving bank faciities, £1 2 billon undrawn These
facilities have maturities of more than two years Based on our
current commitments, these facilities and debt maturities, we have
no requirement to refinance untill early 2021

Further infermation on our approach to financing 1< provided in the
Financial policies and prin¢iples section of the audited Annuat Report
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive



FINANCIAL FOLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

We focus on having an appropriate
balance of debt and equity funding

which enables us to deliver our

property strategy

Leverage

We manage our use of debl and equity firance to balance the benefits
of leverage against the risks, inciuding magnification of property
valuation movements Aloanto valye ratio | LTV | measures our
leverage, primarily on a proportionally consolidated basis including
our share of joint ventures and funds and excluding non-controthng
interests At 31 March 2018, cur proportionally consolidated LTV
was 28 4% and the Group measure was 22 1% We manage our LTV
through the property cycle such that our financial pesition would
remain rebust in the event of a significant fall in property values
This means we do not adjust our approach to leverage based on
changes in property market yields Consequently, our LTV may be
tugher in the tow point in the ¢ycle and will trend downwards as
market yields highten

Debt finunce

The scale of our business combined with the quality of our assets
and rental Income means that we are able to approach a diverse
range of debt providers o arrange finance on atiractive terms

Goed access to the capital and debt markets 15 a competitive
advantage, allowing us to take advantage of opportunities when they
arise The Group s approach to debt financing for British Land is to
raise funds predominantly on an unsecured basis with our standard
financiat covenants lset out on page 47} This provides tlexibitity

and low operational cost Our jont ventures and funds which choose
to have external debt are each financed in ring-fenced structures
without recourse to British Land for repayment and are secured
ontherr retevant assets Presented on the following paoe are the
five guiding principies that govern the way we structure and
manage debt

Monitoring and controlling our debt

We monmitor cur debt requirernent by focusing principally on current
and projected borrowing levels, available facilities, debt matunty and
interest rate exposure We undertake sensiiivity analysis to assess
the impacts of proposed transactions, movements in interest rates
and changes in property values on key balance sheet, liquidity and
profitability ratios We also consider the risks of a reduction inthe
avaitability of finance, including a temporary disruption of the debt
markets Based onour current commitments and avallable facilities,
the Group has no requirement to refinance until early 2021 British
Land s comrmitted bank facilities tatal £1 8 billion, of which

£1 2 billion was undrawn at 31 March 2018

Managing interest rate exposure

We manage our interest rate profile separately from cur debt,
considering the sensitivity of underlying earnings to movements
in market rates of iInterest over a five-year period The Board sets
appropriate ranges of hedged debt over that period and the longer
term Our debt finance 1s raised at both fixed and variable rates

_ Derwvatives [primarily interest rate swaps and caps] are used to

achieve the desired interest rate profite across proportionally
consolidated net debt At 31 March we had interest rate hedging
on 80% of our debt {spot), and on 60% of our projected debt on
average over the next hve years, with a decreasing profile over
that period The use of derivatives s managed by a Dersvatives
Committee The interest rate management of joint ventures and
tunds 1s considered separately by each enhity s Board, taking into
account appropriate factors for s business

Counterparties

We monitor the credit standing of cur counterparties to minimise
risk exposure in placing cash deposits and arranging derivatives
Regular reviews are made of the external credit ratings of the
counterparties

Foreign currency

Our policy 1s to have no material unhedged net assets or Labitities
denominated inforeign currencies When attractive tarms are
avallabte, the Group may choose to borrow in currencies other
than Sterling, and will fully hedge the foreign currency exposure
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Strategic Repore

FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES CONTINUED

Our five guiding principles

Diversify
OUF SORFCRS
of finance

Phase
maturity
of debt
portfolio

Maintain
liquidity

Maintain
flexibility

Maintain
strong
Lalance
sheet
metrics

B

We rnonitor finance markets and seek to access ditferent sources of finance when the relevant market conditions are
favourable to meet the needs of our business and, where appropniate, those of our joint ventures and funds The scale and
quality of our business enables us to access a broad range of unsecured and secured, receurse and non-recourse debt
We develop and maintain long term retationships with banks and debt investors We anm to avoid reftance on particutar
sources of funds and borrow from a large number of lenders from different sectors inthe market across a range of
geegraphical areas, with a total of 30 debt providers i bank facilihes and private placernents alone We work to ensure
that debt providers understand our business, adopting a transparent appreach to provide sufficient disclosures o enable
them to evaluate thelr exposure within the overall context of the Group These factors increase our attractiveness to debt
providers, and in the last five years we have arranged £4 1 bition [Bribish Land share £3 6 billion) of new finance in
unsecured and secured bank Loan facilities, Sterling bonds, US Private Placements and convertible bends in addition we
have existing long dated debentures and securitisation bonds A European Medium Term Note programme has also been
maintamned to enable us to access Sterling/Euro unsecured bond markets when (tis appropriate for our business, this was
used for our £300 multion Sterting unsecured bond issuance in September 2017

4. 3bn

aral Jcaen ot farenrn ooy oo solde -

The maturity profile of our debt 1s managed with a spread of repayment dates, reducing our refinancing nisk in respect of
timing and market conditions As a result of cur financing activity, we are ahead of our preferred refinancing date horizon
of not less than two years The current range of debt maturities s within cne to 20 years Inaccordance with our usuat
practice, we expect to refinance facilities ahead of their maturities

8.6 vears
cveoal
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In addition to our drawn debt, we always ajm to have a good level of undrawn, committed, unsecured revolving bank
faciities These facilities provide financial Uguidity, reduce the need to hold rescurcesin cash and deposits, and mimimise
costs arising from the difference between borrowiing and deposit rates, while reducing ¢credit exposure We arrange thece
revolving credit facibities in excess of our commuitted and expected requirements to ensure we have adeguate financing
avaliability to support bustness requirerments and new opportunities An example of this is our recent amendment and
extension of the £735m revolving credit facility, in advance of its maturity, for a new tive-year term

¢1. 21)11
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Our facilities are structured to provide valuable flexibility for investment activity execution, whether sates, purchases,
developments or asset management imtiatives Qur unsecured revelving credit facilities provide full operational flexibility
of drawing and repayment (and cancellation if we require) at short notice without additional cost These are arranged with
standard terms and financial covenants and generally have matunities of five years Alongside this unsecured revolving
debt our secured term debt in debentures has good asset security substitution rights, where we have the ability to move
assets inand out of the secunity pool

£1.8bn

Yowal ravoler pored bra Les

We use both debt and equity financing We manage LTV through the property cycle such that our financial position would
remalin robust in the avent of a sigruficant fall in property values and we do not adjust our approach to leverage based

on changes in praperty market yieids We manage our interest rate profile separately from our debt, setting appropriate
ranges of hedged debt over a tive-year period and the tonger term

Qur senior unsecured credit rating (A and long term DR credit rating (A- Jwere upgraded by Fitch during the year

28.44% A 4.0x

LTV I epeicealiy conschicat oo’ SELICH LY sECUrRG L AN Tlerest o over prenetto al yoansy' cated,
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Group borrowings

Unsecured tinancing for the Group includes bitateral and syndicated
revolving bank facilities [with initial terms Usually of five years, often
extendable], US Private Placements with rmaturities up to 2027, the
Sterling unsecured bond maturing in 2029, and the convertible bond
maturing m 2020

Secured debt for the Group lexcluding debt in Hercules Unit Trust
which 1s covered under Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds |
15 provided by debentures with longer maturities up to 2035

Unsecured Borrowings and covenants

The same financial covenants apply across each of the Group s
unsecured facilities These covenants, which have been consistently
agreed with alt unsecured lenders since 2803, are

- Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital
and Reserves

- Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of
Unencumbered Assets

Noincome or interest cover ratios apply to these faciliies, and there
are no other unsecured debt financial covanants in the Group

The Unencumbered Assets of the Group, not subject to any security,
stood at £7 7 billion as at 31 March 2018

Although secured assets are excluded from Unencumbered Assets
tor the covenant calculations, unsecured tenders benefit from the
surplus value of these assets above the related debt and the free
cash flow from them During the year ended 31 March 2018, these
assets generated £33 million of surplus cash after payment of
interest In addition, while iInvestments in joint ventures do not form
part of Unencumbered Assets, our share of free cash flows
generated by these ventures is regularly passed up to the Group

Unsecured financial covenants

L 5 s S 2018
At 31 March Y Yo
MNet borrowings to adjusted
capital and reserves 40 38 34 29 29
Net unsecured borrowings
to unencumbered assets 31 28 29 26 23

Secured borrowings

Secured debt with recourse to British Land s provided by debentures
at fixed interest rates with long maturities and limited amortisation
These are secured against a combined pool of assets with commeon
covenants, the value of those assets s required to cover the amount
of these debentures by a mirimum of 1 5 times and net rental income
must cover the interest at least once We use our rights under the
debentures to actively manage the assets in the secunty pool, in line
with these cover raties We have reduced our debenture debt by

£284 mullicn over the last three years as we continue to focus on
unsecured finance at a Group level, and have reduced the assels
held 1n the security peol accordingly

Borrowings in cur jeint ventures and funds
External debt for our joint ventures and funds has been arranged

- through long dated securitisations or secured bank debt, according

to the reguirements of the business of each venture

" Hercules Unit Trust and 1ts joint ventures have term toan facilities

maturing in 201% and 2020 arranged for their business and secured

. on property portfolios, without recourse to British Land These loans

mctude LTV ratio bwith maximum levels ranging from 40% to 65%]
and incorne based covenants

The securitisations of Broadgate [£1,365 mullion], Meadowhall
[£642 million) and the Sainsbury s Superstores portfolio

[£257 mittion), have weighted average maturities of 10 8 years,
%1yearsand 4 1 years respectively The key financial covenant

" applicable 15 to meet interest and scheduled amertisation [equivalent

to 1 times cover}, there are ne LTV covenants These securitisations
have guarterly amoriisation with the balance outstanding reducing
te approximately 15% to 30% of the original amount raised by
expected final matunty, thus mitigating refinancing risk

There Is no obtigation on British Land to remedy any breach of these

+ covenants in the debt arrangement of joint ventures and funds
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Strategie Report

MANAGING RISK iN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY

Effective risk management is integral
to our objective of delivering
sustainable long term value

British Land core strengths ‘

High guality commercial portfolio focused on Lendon
campuses and mutti-let retail centres around the UK
Long term strategy posihioning the business to benetit
from long term trends

Customer focused approach to respond to

changing lifestyles

Oiverse and high quality occuprer base

High occupancy and secure cash tlows

Well batanced and risk managed development pipeline
Execution of asset management and

develepment activity

Ability to seurce and execute attractive

investment deals

Efficient capital structure with good access

to capital and debt markets

Strong sustamnability performance

For British Land, effective risk management 1s a cornerstone

of delivering our strategy and integral to the achievernent of our ‘
objective of delivering sustainable tong term vatue We maintain a |
comprehensive risk management process which serves to identify,
assess and respoend to the full range of financial and non-financial
risks facing our business, including those risks that could threaten ’
solvency and Liquidity, as well as identifying emerging risks

Our appreach is not intended to elirminate risk entirely, but instead
to manage our risk exposures across the business, whilst at the
same time making the most of our opportunities f

Our risk management fromework

Qurintegrated approach combines a top down strategic view with

a complementary bottom up operational process autlined in the {
diagrarm on the right

The Board has overall responsibiity for risk management with a |
partcular tocus on deterrmiming the nature and extent of expasure to
principat risks it 1s willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives ‘
The arnount of risk we are willing to take 15 assessed in the context of
the core strengths of cur busimess {as summarised above) and the !
external environment in which we operate — this is our risk appetite J
|

The Audit Cornmittee takes responsibility for cverseeing the
etfectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
on behalf of the Board, and also adwises the Board onthe principal |
risks facing the business including those that would threaten its
solvency or liquidity ‘
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The Executive Directors sre responsible for delivering the Company s
strategy, as set by the Board, and managing risk OQur risk rnanagement
framework categorises our risks inte external, strategic and
operational risks The Risk Cornmittee [comprising the Executive
Directors and semor management across the business) s responsible
for managing the principal risks in each category in order fo achieve
our performance goals

Whilst ultimate responsibility for oversight of risk management
rests with the Board, the effective day-to-day management of risk
1s ermnbedded within our operational business units and forms an
integrat part of how we work This bottorn up appreach ensures
potential risks are identified at an early stage and escalated as
appropriate, with mitigations put in place to manage such risks
Each business unit maintains a comprehensive nsk register
Changes to the register are rewiewed quarterly by the Risk
Commuittee, with significant and emerging risks escalated

to the Audit Committee

To read more about the Board and Audit Comnmitiee s risk oversighnt,

see pages 67, 72 and 73

Top down
Strategic risk management

Bottom up
Operational risk management

Review external
environment
Robust assessment
of principal risks

Assess effectiveness
of risk management
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Our risk appetite

Change i risk

Principal Key risk mndicators appetiteinthe
internal risks [including current optimat thresholds) year
,
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Our risk focus

The external environment remamns difficult, and the Board is
continuing to monitor the potential risks associated with the UK
leaving the European Union | Brexit | As exit negotiations are
angoing, the final outcome remains unclear and it 1s too early to
understand fully the impact Brexit will have on our business and
our markets The mainimpact of Brexitis the potential negative
impact on the macro-economic environrent, but it could also
impact our investment and occupier markets, our ability to execute
our investment strategy and our Income sustainability

During the year, the Risk Comnuttee has fecused on some Key
operational risk areas across the business and has undertaken
deep dive reviews into specific areas of risk including

- Data protection [GDPR] and implementing 2 project to manage
personal data appropriately

- Retailer tenant nisk and manamng our exposure to individual

customers or sectors in lght of a more challenging market

- Enhancing our crisis management strategy for both physical
and cyher risks inctuding a simulation exercise for senior

- Management of health and safety and environmental risks across
the portfolio In particular, fabric investigations were carried
out on our entire portfelio following the Grenfell Tower fire
Our Health and Safety management system was re-certified
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- ldentfying and managing key supplier relationships and the
launch of sur Supplier Code of Conduct

Our risk appetite 1s reviewed annually as part of the annual strateqy
review process and approved by the Board This evaluation quides

the actions we take in executing our strategy We have identified ‘
a suite of Key Risk Indicaters IKRls) to momitor the risk profile
las summarised abovel, which are reviewed quarterly by the Risk ‘
Comrruttee, to ensure that the activities of the business remain

within our risk appetite and that our risk exposure 1s well matched

to changes in our business and cur markets Thesenclude the

most significant judgements affecting our risk exposure, ncluding

our mvestment and development strategy, the level of eccupational
and developrnent exposure, and our financial leverage

The Board considers the risk appetite annually and has concluded it

15 broadly unchanged from last year and I1s appropriate to actueve our
strategic objectives Our strategy, which 1s based on long term trends, :
endures, and our financial capacity, flexibility and optionality enable
us o adjust to the evolwing political and econormic uncertainties |

During the year we have maintaned a balanced approach to risk

We ve had a strong focus on capital discipline, demonstrated by
selling £1 3 bithion of mature and off-strategy assets, reinvesting
partly 1n our share buyback programme, selective acquisitions and
profitable development, whilst reducing our LTV further to 28 4%

We have substantial headroom and operational optionality to continue
to pregrass our unigue development pipeline, including at Canada
Water, whilst at the same time carefully managing our risk profile

British Land ' Annual Repor b and Accounts 2018
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MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED

Our principal risks and assessment

Our nsk managemeant framewerk 15 structured around the
principal risks facing Briish Land The Audit Comrruttee on behalt
of the Board has underiaken a robust assessment of the principal
risks and uncertamties that the busmess 5 exposed to m hght of
the long term trends we are facing [see page 12), together with the
challenging backdrop of political and economic uncertainty Whilst
the nature and type of the principal risks are considered to be
unchanged from the previous year, several of our principal risks are
elevated fas shown by the risk heat map below), betng the political

and regulatory outlook, commercial property Investor demand,
occupter demand including tenant default and the risk to our inceme
sustatnability One risk, capital structure, 15 considered to have
reduced reflecting our lower teverage

The principal risks are summarised below (and detated on pages 52
to 551, including an assessment of the potential impact and tiketthood
and how the risks have changed in the year, together with how they
relate to our strategic priorities

Our risk assessment

Change i

Key strategic inrisk '
priorities assessment

affected In year I

Principal
risks

External risks
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Other group risks

Inaddition to cur principal Tisks, there are also a number of other
risks that are largely operational in nature and are managed
centrally with appropriate processes and rutigation plans inptace
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Viability statcuient ;
Assessment of prospects

The Group s annual corporate planming process includes the |
compietion of a strategic review, reassecsing the Group's risk \
appetite and updating the Group s forecasts ‘

The Group s strategy provides the focus for our annual prionities
and is formally reviewed annually This process s led by the Chief
Executive through the Executive Cormnmittee and includes the active
engagement of the Board Part of the Board s role 15 to consider
whether the strategy takes appropriate account of the Group's
principal risks The latest updates to the strategic plan and

Greup s risk appetite were approved by the Board in March 2618

The strategy and risk appetite drive the Group s forecasts These
cover a five-year period and consist ot a base case forecast which
includes commuitted transactions only, and a forecast which also
includes non-commitied transactions the Board expects the
Group to make in line with the Group = strategy Afive-year
forecast 1s considered to be the optirnal halance between the
Group < long term business model to create Places People Prefer
and the fact that property investment 1= a long term business
fwith weighted average lease lengths and debt maturities in
excess of five years}, offset by the progressively unreiiable nature
of forecasting in later years, particularly given the historically
cyclical nature of the UK property industry

Assessment of viability

For the reasons outlined above, the period over which the
Directors consider it feasible and appropriate to report on
the Group s wiability is the five-year period lo 31 March 2023

The assumptions underpintung these forecast cash flows and
covenant compliance forecasts were sensitised to explore the
resilience of the Group to the potential irnpact of the Group s
sigrificant risks, or a cembination of those risks

The principal risks table which follows on pages 32 to 29
summarises those matters that could prevent the Group from
delivering onits strategy A number of these principal risks,
because of their nature or potential impact, could also threaten
the Group s ability to continue in business N its current form if
they were to occur

The Directors paid particular attention to the risk of a downiurn
in economic cutlook which could impact property fundamentats,
including investor and occupier demand which wouid have 3
negative iImpact on valuations, and give rise te a reduchion in the i
avatlability of finance The remaining principal risks, whitst having
anmpact on the Greup s business mode!, are not considered by
the Directors to have a reasonable likelihood of impacting the
Group s viability over the five-year pertod to 31 March 2023

The sensitivities performed were designed to be severe but
plausible, and to take full account of the availability of rmitigating
actions that could be taken to avoid or reduce the impact or
occurrence of the underlying nsks relating to a downturn scenaric’

. — Downturn in econemic outlook key assumptions including

occupancy, void periods, rental growth and yields were

sensitised in the ‘downturn scenano 1o reflect reasonably

Likety levels associated with an economic dewnturn, including

- areductionin cccupler demand, with a fall in occupancy rate
of 3% and ERV declines of 6%

- areduction ininvestment property demand to the level seen
in the last severe downturn 1 2008/2009, with cutward yield
shift to 8% net imtial yield

- Restricted availability of finance based on the Group s current
commitments and available facitities there 1s no requirement
torefinance until early 2021 In the normal course of business,
financing 1s arranged 10 advance of expected requirements
and the Directors have reasonable confidence that additiona!
or replacement debt facilities will be put in place Inthe

downturn scenario’, the following sensitivity of this

assumption was conducted

- areduction in the availlability of finance, for the final two
vears of the five-year assessment period from early 2021
alongside the Group s refinancing date

The outcome of the downturn scenario was that the Group's
covenant headroom based on existing debt [s e the levet by which
investment property values would have to fall before a financial
covenant breach occurs) decreases from the current 60% 1o, atits
lowest level, 22%, indicating covenants on existing facilities would
not be breached

Inthe downturn scenario, mitigating actions would be required
1o enable the Group to meet its future iabiities, including through
asset sales, which would asllow the Group to contimue to meet its
liabiities over the assessment period

' Viability staternent

Having concidered the forecast cash flows and covenant
comphiance and the impact of the sensitivities in combination
inthe downturn scenario, the Directors cenfirm that they have

- areasonabie expectation that the Group vill be able to continue

in operation and meet its Labilities as they tali due over the period
10 31 March 2023

Going concern
The Directors also considered it appropriate to prepare the

" financial statements on the going concern basis, as explamned

in the Governance review
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Strategic Repors

PRINCIPAL RISKS

External risks

Risks and impacts How we monitor and manage the ri Change in risk assessment in the year
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Risks and impacts

How we monitor and munage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the year

Oceupier
demand

and tenant
default
Responsible
executves

T o Mo iy,

HE FI R A

Availability
and cost
of finance

Responsible
execulives

_ fid =

I PV DA e
T L

Se A gy s I

Catastrophic
business
cvent
Responsible
executive

S g

Underlying income,
rental growth and capital
performance could be
adversely affected by
weakening occupter
demand and accupler
fallures resulting from
variations in the health
of the UK econemy and
corresponding weakening
of consurmner confidence,
business activity and
investment

Starang s me 204

Moma T rdT 1les

e

axir e

b Angtbe grow
IR P T
WotRl Optal cefatd
astaa oo ootray

L T« B B

TR T ISR UR

Reduced avaidability of
finance may adversely
impact abibty to refinance
debt and/or drive up cost
These factors may aiso
result in weaker investar
demand for real estate.

~mooLteo=d area

An external event such
as a civil emergency,
including a large-scale
terrorist attack, cyber
crime, extreme weather
occurrence,
environmentat disaster
or power shortage could
severely disrupt global
markets (including
property and finance) and
cause significant damage
and disruption to British
Land's partfolio and
operations,

Y Sl PR T TR WS L e T

T e 2L g ath iy
RIS A TN rtas
Soom oAt org-d e Ty i erext s ac Py bas be

e e Kooy = ane e

eler oy nman b

(%};\ R I A YI BTC L T Sl VAT B S|
N oA sater o cupoor 2 oroana s
3 (R U PIRLS B TR PO 1
ngecd, w

PR YR R P L

S

R P T B o e B

ulor-trading L . 740wy St M=oz oada TRY e can s
- Sgex ocotn afoo ea g nay vyt wat T r o an oy
We avenagr cua yodive st oo En R TN VLR
SN0 TN et s atevpnsg 2w ue B T L [T I RN T
TAner thi g L witat e reguren arta o

TVING B & 6T ST pant aleng Coc a0 waeslar oy Aoy
oA SO VS DT At G PRTEE R e Tt AT AP R R LI
SXDD Lt LT A ke =T AL R s Tk T LTI T tte e A
PR T PoITIEr Wt cachigem of s “bsl o ty-

CedTING ATE U oa E Y
Wil htr=we ' sho swan e

L= DL TUKE

by ST esmeng e

rorK e e A oot
foaetrarw felr U

the "zvavimy SET

Ca L bpartly
b e

Vs srritast s categvl Ko e o A I L A R
Cochan et g SR, en Ly il An.

AN g w0l C 0 Buines av L RTINS DR UL

B R T T TN iy chale g - 0 owder T pEbO Son Al FAIIesn

Wit wn g sl e LAt AW L 1 ed C 0 L Lt oG

ar e g Lt G WSt L v T et

oy et g et AU Y

Zoigepen ot

Wb e

' e G oy,
t ooy

ER RI RSN

- Wt oan
"~ LY W

A, by
oy

Mg &-Tnoam w3 L

R A AN FAaie AL F IR
LW . - RN
Lt Pl e

PP
Ayroe

GO R WO v s alR oty ;
A - B - ettt - B
R R ST Y A S i N
WL TR T -Te
PR R T N R E A
R T B 8 s 1 T DAL =Rt e yaly
MR CivT e Mtz o ih o taov-
. '
B i SR Wy ) e
ERE
Vel e
L B I Tl ML L L
=7

4 b

. SRS Uu i Boyes ol a=ewtarn .

v Fmjai ) 3 vian
' SlLdvs A itv N Cadnee o I S SR
' :‘l'h' IT‘ 1= DT | SO VL Vg

LB B R R
Véowrrkw i

Tra-raEtor e

[ i e | PP R LEE T  E A PL " -\‘\._,f‘\j h.\‘*

Sl ety e e

heerm s pan \) B R R S 1 N B VR ST Sy
RN N . I L FUR U Tyt
e e ] AU :
v T = howv
- - o
L T S LU T B TR T B R (YRR TR | “N” Ty
N - - lall

R 'j ~-»Tr1-hyn J - ERAEE " -

e e gt A
NAan e Ttk DEFE [UE
" R v r= Yh-t -ty
conmr etz gt O N R
EEEC I Y ol Bl O Y T R S N
B T T R T IR AT | It BT SO T AR
alboa deoa ty

W e e g e ot g

T L L I I SR N teed i e g

RO i BT N TS AT B T

T R | I VNP YRS T UL L LR
b Bt el b 0 te -
(RIS SR TR S 0 L R AR I O S IV AR U B I
W oty pnooo b I L

- I A A -

Brittsh Land . Annual Reportand Ace oot J018 53



Strategic Report

PRINCIPAL RISKS CONTINUED

Internal risk

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the rick

Change in risk assessment in the vear
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Risks and impacts

How we moaitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the vear
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Governanee

B0OARD OF DIRECTORS

Our Board develops strategy
and leads British Land to

achieve long term success

Non-Executive Chairman and Exccutive Directors

John Gildersleeve &

Non-Executive Chairman

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in Septernber 2008 and as
Chairman in January 2013

Skills and experience; Johnis deputy chairman of TaikTalk Telecom
Group PLC Johnialso serves as chairman of Noble Foods Ltd He
was formerty deputy chairman and senjor independent director of
Spire Healthcare Group ple, chairman of EMI Group and Gallaher
Group and chawrman of Carphone Warehouse Group [now Dixons,
Carphone ple) He was also a non-execulive director of Lloyds TSB
Bank PLC, Vodafone Group and Pick n Pay Stores [South Africal
and an executive diractor of Tesco plc

Charles Maudsley

Head of Retail, Leisure & Residential

Appointed to the Board in February 2010

Skills and experience: Charles joined Britsh Land in 2010 from
LaSalle Investment Management where he was Co-Head of Europe,
Managing Director of the UK business, a member of the Management
Board and an International Director Prior to joinimg LaSatle, he was
with AXA Real Estate Investment Management for seven years where
he was Head of Real Estate Fund Management in the UK
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~ Chris Grigg

Chief Executive

Appointed to the Board in January 2009

Skills and experience: Chris has more than 30 years expenence
" in the real estate and financial industries in a range of leadership
. rofes Until November 2008, Chris was chief executive of Barclays
Commercial Bank, having joined Barclays in 2005 Prior to that,
Chris spent over 20 years at Goldman Sachs, latterly as a partner
Chris 1 a noti-executive director of BAE Systems plc, a board
member of both the British Property Federation and the European
Public Real Estate Association and member of the 30% Club

Tim Roberts
I Head of Otfices

Appointed to the Board in July 2006

Skills and experience: Before joining British Land in 1997 Tim was

a partner at Drivers Jonas, in the Investment Agency team He was
| formerly a non-executive director of Songbird Estates Tim s alse
* a Trustee of LandAid, the property industry charity, and chair of their
Grants Commuttee and is a beard member of the Westrinster
Property Association

|
i
i
!



Non-Executive Directors

William Jackson &

Senior Independent Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in April 2011 and Semor
Independent Director in July 2017

Skills and experience: William is managing partner of Bridgepoint,
one of Europe s leading private equity groups, which he has led since
2001 He also serves as chairman of the board of Pret A Manger and
president of Dorna Sports SL [the rights holder to the Moto GP world
motereyeling championships) He has served on a range of boards
during hus career, including Hamptons Group Limited and Alliance
Medical Holdings Limited, and has extensive operational and
transachion expenence

Alastair Hughes ~

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in January 2018

Skills and experience: Alastair1s a fellow of the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors He s a non-executive director of Schroders
Real Estate Investrnent Trust Limited and has over 25 years of
experience In global real estate markets He s a former directer of
Jones Lang LaSalle Inc [JLL] having served as managing director
of JLL nthe UK, as chief executive for Europe, Middle East and
Asia and then as regional CEG for Asia Pacific

Lynn Gladden ~

, Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in March 2615

- Skills and experience: Lynn is Shell Professor of Chemical

Engineering at the University of Cambridge and will take up the
role of Executive Chair of the Engimeering and Physical Sciences
Research Council in October 2018 Lynnis also a comrmussioner
of the Royal Commission for the Exhibition of 1851, & fellow of
both the Royal Society and the Royal Academy of Engineering,
and a non-executive director of IP Group plc Lynnwas pro-vice-
chancellor for research at Cambridge until the end of 2010

Nicholas Macpherson A

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in December 2016

Skills and experience: Nicholas s chairman of C Hoeare & Co and

a director of The Scottish American nvestment Company PLC

He also serves as a crossbencher in the Heuse of Lords, a visiting
Professor at King's College Londen and a Trustee of the Royal Mint
Museum Nicholas was the Permanent Secretary to the Treasury far
over 10years from 2005 to March 2016, leading the department through
the financial crisic and the subsequent period of hanking reform

He joined the Treasuryin 1985 and held a number of roles prior to
his appointment as Permanent Secretary Nicholas trained as an
econcmist and has worked at the CBl and Peat Marwick Consulting
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Governance

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

Non-Exeeuative Directors

Preben Prebensen ¥

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in September 2017

Skills and experience: Preben 1s group chief executive of Close
Brothers Group plc He spent over 23 yearsin a number of senior
positions at JP Morgan Preben was previously chief executive

of Wellington Underwriting plc from 2004 to 2006, and then

chief investment officer ang a member of the group executive
committee at Catlin Group Lirmted

Laura Wade-Gery ©

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in May 2015

Skills and experience: Laura 1s a non-executive director of John Lews
Partnership ple, a non-executive director and chair of the remuneration
cornmittee of iImrmunoccore Limited, a trustee of the Royal Opera
House, a director of Snape Malungs Trading Limited and a member
of the Government Digital Strategy Advisory Board Between July
2011 and Septermber 2016, Laura was executive director Mult
Channel at Marks and Spencer Group plc Previously, Laura
servedin a humber of semor posttions at Tesco PLC and was

a non-executive director of Trimity Mirror ple

6O British Land ' Annual Reporf and Accounts 2018

Tim Score @

Non-Executive Director

Appownted as a Non-Executive Director in March 2014

Skills and experience: Tim 1s a non-executive directer of Pearson pic
and HM Treasury, wits on the board of trustees of the Foyal National
Theatre, and is chairman of the Football Association ¢ audit
committee He was formerly chief financial efficer of ARM Holdings
PLC and held semior financial positions at Rebus Group Limited,
william Baird plc, LucasVarity plc and BTR plc From 2003 to 2014,
he was a non-executive director of National Express Group PLC,
including tme asinterim chawrman and six years as sentor
independent director

Rebecea Worthington A

Non-Executive Director

Appeinted as a Non-Executive Director in January 2018

Skills and experience: Rebecca 1s group chief financizl officer of
Countryside Properties PLC She spent 15 years at Quintain Estates
and Develepment PLC, first as finance director and latterly as deputy
chief executive Rebecca was a non-executive director and chair of
the audit committee at Hansteen Holdings plc until 20 March 2018,
and a non-executive director of Aga Rangemaster Group plc to
Septemnber 2015 Rebecca qualified as a chartered accountant

with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP



Incoming Executive Dircetor Company Secretary

Simon Carter Brona MceKeown

Chief Financial Officer General Counsel and Company Secretary

Appointment date 2} May 2018 Appointed as General Counset and Company Secretary in

Skills and experience: Simon joins British Land from Logicor, the January 2018

awner and operator of European logistics real estate, where he has Skills and experience: Before joining British Land, Brona was
served as chief financial officer since Janvary 2017 Prior to joining General Counsel and Company Secretary of The Co-operative
Logicor, from 2015 to 2017 Simen was finance director at Quintain Bank plc tor four years as part of the restructuring executive team

Estates & Development Plc Simon previously spent over 10 years with  immediately prior to that she was Interim General Counsel and
British Land, working in a varely of financial and strategic roles, andwas | Secretary at the Coventry Burlding Society Until Detober 2011,

a rmember of our Executive Commuttee from 2012 until hus departure  Brona was Global General Counsel of the Corporate division of
1n January 2015 Simon alse previcusly worked for UBS in fixed ncome  Barclays Bank ple, having joined Barclays in 1998 Brona trained
and qualified as a chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen Simon  and spent @ nurnber of years at a large City law firm

holds a degree in economics from the University of Cambridge

Changes to the Board Dircetors’ core areas of expertise?

Lucinda Bell Stood down as Executive Director and Property
Chigf Financial Otficer on 19 January 2018 Finance

Aubrey Adams Retired as Non-Executive Director Retail and consumer
on 31 Decernber 2017 Academic
Simon Borrows Retired as Non-Executive Direcior Public sector
on 18 July 2017 '

on 18 July 2017

Lord Turnbull Retired as Non-Executive Director : ol e NGE e Tepr e oL v ofe L o= 4l Gy
I
1

Board Committee membership key
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Governance

CHAIRMAN'S GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Welcome to the Corporate
Governance and Remuneration
sections of our Annual Report

| am pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

The Board s responsibitity for leading the Company and overseeing
the governance of the Group continues to be supported by a rohust
structure which allows tor constructive debate and challenge by its
members This approach enables the Otrectors to make effective
decistons, at the right ime and based on the rnight information

As | mention in my statement on pages 4 and 5, our level of
thoughtiul activity and the resilience of cur strategy set British Landg
apart We take thus thoughttulness and constderation into our
governance structure and | recently asked that a review of our
governance policies be undertaken to ensure that they remain
appropriate for our business and in tne with best market practice

Governance underpms the way in which the business of the Group
is managed, our behaviour and our corporate culture Ths year,
we are reporting against the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Cede
{the Codel avalable at www.frc.org.uk {am pleased te report that
the Board has continued to apply geod governance and considers
that the Company has complied with the provisions of the Code
throughout the year

The following Corporate Governance Report, including the reports
of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees, outlines
how the Company has applied the Code s principies and provisions

Board changes

As mentioned on page 5, the Board has continued to evolve during
the year with a number of changes toits membership Lucinda Bell
stepped down as an Executive Director and as Chief Financial Officer
on 19 January 2018, and left British Land on 4 April 2018

62 British Land ' Annual Repor tand Accounts 2018

*bwould ke to thank Lucinda for her commitment to British Land

for over 25 years, six years of which were as an Executive Director,
and wish her all the very best for the future We took forward to
welcoming Simon Carter as an Executive Director and Chief
Financial Gificer when ke joins the Group on 21 May 2018

| should alse like to take this opportunity to thank our Non-Executive
Directors who retired during this year The diligence and commitment
shown by Aubrey Adams, Simon Borrows and Lord Turnbull durning

' therr long tenure have been exernplary and have contributed to the

good governance of the Group

During the year we also welcomed three new Non-Executive

. Directors Preben Prebensen, Alastair Hughes and Rebecca

Worthingtan and | look forward to working clocely with them
over the coming years All Directors i role at 31 March 2018 will

 stand for etection or re-election at the 2018 AGM

This year, we appointed Independent Board Evaluation [IBE] to
undertake the trienruat externally facilitated Beard evaluation
Details of the process undertaken and a sumrnary of the outcomes
are set out on page 66 However, | am pleased to report here that the
review concluded that your Beard, its Commitees and its indwidual
members continue to operate eftectively and with due diligence

We fully intend to implement the recommendations made by IBE
and we will report on progress in the 2019 Annuat Report

The Board also reviewed and approved a new Diversity and Inclusion
Policy this year Further detai on this 1s given in the Nomunation
Comrittee Report an pages 74 to 73 and in the Social and
environmental reparting section on page 30

Alt Directors will attend this year s AGM which will again provide
an opportunity for all shareholders to hear more about our
performance during the year and 1o ask questions of the Board

I look forward to welcorming you on 17 July 2018

<

Johin Gildersiceve
Nori-Executive Chajrman

AL e



COVERNANCE REVIEW

Our governance structure is
an integral part of the way we
design and deliver our strategy

Leadership

The Board

As at 31 March 2018 the Board comprised the Chairman, aight
independent Noen-Executive Directors and three Executive Directors

Role of the Beard

The Board has reserved key decisions and matters for its own
‘ approval, including its core responsibilities of setting the Group s
| strateqic direction, overseeing the delivery of the agreed sirategy,

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 58 1o 61 and inctude | managing risk and establishing the culture, values and standards

details of the skills and experience each brings to the Board

Currigorous and transparent procedures for appointing new
Directors are led by the Namination Committee Non-Executive
Directors are appointed for specified terms and all continuing
Directors offer themselves tor election or re-election by shareholders
at the AGM each year provided the Board, on the recommendation of
the Nomunation Commitiee, deems it apprepriate that they do so

The compasition of the Board 1< fundamental to its success in
providing streng and etfective leaderstup The Normination Coemmittee
15 responsible for reviewing the composition of the Board and its
Comniitees and assessing whether the balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversily is appropriate to enable

ther to operate effectively

Board of Direetors (as at 31 March 2018}

=1/

W e
]
| T

X~

We continue to have a strong mix of experienced individuals on the
Board The majority are independent Non-Executive Directors who
are not only able to offer an external perspective on the business, but
also constructively chatlenge the Executive Directors, particularly
when developmng the Company s strategy The Non-Executive
Directors scrutinise the perfermance of management in meeting
their agreed goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of

that performance

The high calibre of debate and the participation of all Directors,
Executive and Non-Executive, i itz meetings atlows the Board to
utilise the experience and skitls of the indridual Directors to their
maximum potential and make decisions that are in the best
interests of the Company

| of the Group as a whele Matters below the financial Umit set by the
, Board are delegated to a committee of any two Executive Directors
with all decisions taken reported to the next following Board meeting

The Board culture 1s one of openness and constructive debate, the
Directors are able to voice ther opinions in a relaxed and respectful
environment, allowing coherent discussion When runming Board
meetings, the Chawrman maintains a collaborative atmosphere and
ensures that all Directors contribute to the debate The Chairman
also arranges informal meetings and events throughout the year to
help build constructive relationships between the Board members
and the senior management team

The Chamrman meests with individual Directors outside formal
Board meetings to allow for open, two-way discussion about the
etfectiveness of the Board, its Commuttees and its members
The Chairman i1s therefore able to remain mindful of the views
of the individual Directors

. Division of responsibilities

. There s a clear written division of responsibilities between the
Chairman [who 1s responsible for the leadership and effectiveness of
the Board] and the Chief Executive lwho 15 responsible for managing
the Company s business)

The Board has delegated authority for the day-to-day management
of the business to the Chief Executive, with specific areas of the
business being managed by the other Executive Directors The
Executive Directors are invelved in, or aware of, all major actwities
and are therefore extremnely wetl placed to ensure that any decisions
align with the Group s agreed strategy

The Executive Directors make decisions within predefined

. parameters delegated by the Board, although any proposal may still
be laken to the full Board for consideration and approval where this
15 consldered appropriate, even i they fall within those parameters

Three standing Committees have been estabtished the Audit,
Noemination and Remuneration Committees, to which certain powers
have been delegated Membership of each of these Commitiees is
comprised solely of independent Non-Executive Directors, The reports
of these three standing Committess are set out on pages 69 to 91

Management Committees have also been established to make
recormmendations on matters delegated to them by the Beoard,
s standing Cormmittees or the Executive Birectors

This governance structure iset out on the following pagel ensures
that the Board ic able to focus on strategic proposals, major
transactions and governance matters which affect the long term
success of the business

British Land ' Annual Repor b amd A connts 2018 63



Governamnee

GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Governance structure

Board of Directors
Develops strategy and leads British Land to achieve long term success, determines the risks British Land faces, the level of risk 1t
15 prepared to take to achieve its strategy and ensures that systems of risk management and control are in place 1t also provides
leagershup and governance for the Company as a whole, having regard o the views of shareholders
and other stakehotders

The Board has reserved certain matters to its own approval {see www.britishland.com/governance) with others being delegated
to Beard or Management Cormnmittees as appropriate

Audit Committee
Oversees financial and narrative
reporting, pravides assurance on the
effectiveness of internal contral, risk
management systems and audit
processes, reviews the effectiveness
and obrectivity of externat and
internat auditors

Nomination Committee
Leads process for Board
appointments and successon
planming, ensures that Board and
sermigr management have appropriate
skills, knowledge and experience to and tong term performance
operate effectively and deliver objectives and awards

strategy, reports on diversity S a0 4

LT (IO AR INT. DR T8 [ g tepn cofan. - A 70

Remuneration Committee
Sets the Executive Directors
Remuneration Policy and the
remuneration of the Chairman and
Executive Directars, approves annual

Chief Executive and Exceutive Directors
Overall responsibility for day-to-day management of the business and implementation of approved strategy
lies with the Cluef Executive with speciiic areas of the business managed by the other Executive Directors

Executive Commniittee
An agvisory committee that operates under the direction and leadership of the Chuet Executive Membership comprises
all Executive Directors and serior management from across the business Considers day-to-day operational and
iinancial performance, performance of the Group s assets and overall development programme

tnvestment Committee

Reviews, approves or recormmends
significant transactions including
acquisitions, dispesals and

Risk Committee

Oversees management and reporting

of strategic and operationat risks.
recommends appropriate risk

Health, Safety and
Environment Committee
Drives actions in pursuwit of the
Company s heatth and safety and

developments of assets up to
an agreed financial Limit

appetite levels and monitors risk
exposure, reviews operation of risk
management processes

enviranmental stewardship goats and
reviews performance agamst actions

Sustainability Committee
Monitors performance and progress
against sustainability targets and key

inttiatives, assessing emerging
social, ethical and environmental
1ssues, associated risks and
rifigating actions

Community Investment Committee
Oversees the strateqgic management
of the Commmunuty Investment Fund
and approves and momitors all
related spend

64 British Land  Annual Repoi t and Accounts 2018



Strategy days

The Beard held its annual offsite strategy event during March 2018
The strategy days are structured to provide the Directors, and the
Non-Executive Directors i particular, with an epporturity to focus on
the developrment of, and chatlenge to, the Group s corporate strategy

The format of the 2018 event was different from prior years with one
entire session given over to the consideration of key guestions on
future direction To stimulate this conversation, a number of externat
speakers were mwited to the session held earlier in the day and to the
following dinner 1n order to give a wider social and ecenomic context
to discussions

Board meetings

Regutar Board and Committee meetings are scheduled throughout
the year and the Directors ensure that they allocate sufficient time to
discharge thair duties effectively Occasionally, Board meetings may
be held at short notice when Board-tevel decisions of a ime-critical
nature need to be made

The table below sets cut the changes that have taken place to the
Board, together with detaits of each Director s attendance at Board
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2018

Director == T ADe L [ R
John Gildersleeve 7/8
Chris Grigg 8/8
Chartes Maudsley 8/8
Tim Roberts 8/8
Lynn Gladden 8/8
Alastair Hughes 41 Jan 2018 3/3
Wiliam Jackson 8/8
Nicholas Macpherson 7/8
Preben Prebensen 01 Sep 2017 5/5
Tirn Score 8/8
Laura Wade-Gery 8/8
Rebecca Worthington D1 Jan 2018 2/3
Former Directors

Lucinda Bell 19 Jan 2018 5/6
Aubrey Adams 31 Dec 2017 5/5
Siman Borrows 18 Jul 2017 2/3
Lord Turnbull 18 Jul 2017 2/3

Absences at Board meetings were due to commmitrnents predating
Jaining the Board, illness ar unavailability for meetings held at
short notice

The Board agenda 1s set by the Chairman, in conpunction with the
Chief Executive and Company Secretary Each scheduled meeting
inctudes a Management Report delivered by the Chief Executive and
regular updates on the activities of various standing and management
Committees Discussions also take place on strategic proposals,
major acquisitions, disposals and developments and legal and
governance matters

During the year ended 31 March 2018 particular areas considered
by the Board, either directly or foltowmng receipt of reports from its
standing Comrnittees, include

- Outcomes of the annual strategy days and progress towards
agreed outcomes

- Consideration and approval of risk appetite and the principal

risks faced by the Comopany

Use of capitat and the implementation of a £300 million share

buykack programme

- Launch of the Fiexible Workspace brand [Storey!

- Review of the outcome of a multi-agency crisis management
exercise at one of British Land s assets

- Results of the externally facilitated Board performance evaluation

- Approval of full year and half year financial results, the Annual
Report and the Notice of AGM

- Declaration of quarterly interim dividends

- Diversity and genger pay

- Cyber security and information technology

- Preparations for the General Data Protection Regulation
fwhich comes into force in May 2018]

- Health and safety compliance

- Governance review

- Sustamnabiity

Care s taken to ensure that information 1s circulated in good time
before Board and Committee meetings, and that papers are
presented clearly and with the appropriate level of detail to enable
the Board to discharge its duties All papers are circulated one week
prior to meetings and clearly marked as being For Decision or
‘For Infermatien To enhance the delivery of Board and Committee
papers the Board uses 3 Board portal and tablets which provide a
secure and efficient process tor meeting pack distribution Under
the direction of the Chairman, the Company Secretary facilitates
effective information ftows between the Board and ts Commuttees,
and between senicr management and Non-Executive Directors

In March 2018 the Board undertook a site visit to Meadowhati in
Sheffietd, a joint venture asset with Norges Bank Investment
Management Since the Board last visited 1n 2013, a £60 mullion
refurbishment had been undertaken, creating a go-to space
providing outstanding custorner experiences As well as reviewing
the resulis of the refurbishment, the Board considered the next
phase of the Meadowhall development programme including the
delivery of the Lersure Hall where we have secured a resolution to
grant planning censent from Sheffretd City Council

Effectivencss

Board induction

On appointment, all Directors whether Executive or Non-Executive
recelve 3 comprehensive induction Each new Director 1s invited to
meet the General Counsel and Company Secretary or Head of
Secretariat to discuss their induction in detait, foliowing which the
programme 1s tailored specifically to their requirements and adapted
toreflect their existing knowledge and experience

Eachinduction programme would erdinardy inciude

- Meetings with the Chairman, Executive Directors, Commitiee
Chairmen, external auditor or remuneration consultants
las appropriate)

- Information on the corporate strategy, the investment stratagy,
the financial position and tax matters [including detais of the
Company s REIT status)

- Anoverview of both Retail and Offices portfolios provided
by members of the semior management team

- Visitsto key assets During 2017 and 2018 these included visits
to Broadgate, Canada Water, Meadowhall and Paddington

- Detaiis of Board and Cornmmittee procedures and Directors

responsibilities

Details on the mvestor retations programme

- Intormation on the Company s approach to sustainability

All induction documents are made avallable on our secure electronic
Board portal and are therefore availlable to Directors both during and
sfter therr induction
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Training and development |
The Charrman and Company Secretary agree what Board wide ;
training or development may be appropriate During the year ended
31 March 2018, the Board considered papers and presentations on
legal and regulatory developments, technotogy opportunities or
challenges and sustainability-related developments as well as
receiving regular briefings on the views of stakeholders and the
external environment

Directors are alse entitled to seek iIndependent advice in relation to
the perfermance of their duties at the Company s expense, subject
to having first notified the Chairman or the Company Secretary |

Commitment

Non-Executive Directors (etters of appointment set out the time
commitments expected from them Following consideration, the
Nornination Committee has concluded that all the Non-Executive |
Directors continue 1o devote suffictent ime to discharging their {‘
duties to the required high standard |

British Land’s policy 1S to allew Executive Directors to take one :
non-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject te
Board approval External appointments of the Executive Directors '
are disctosed in their biographies Any fees garned by the Executive |
Directors are disciosed on page 87 of the Remuneration Report

Conflicts of interest

The Dhrectors are required to avoid a situation in which he or she
has, or can have, a direct or indirect contlict with the interests of
the Company The Beard has established a procedure whereby
the Directors are required to notify the Chairman and the Company |
Secretary of all new outside interests and actual or percewved

conflicts of Interest that may aifect them in their roles as Directors

of Brtish Land All potential conflicts of interest are authorised by I
the Board at the earliest opportunity and the register of Directors
interests is reviewed by the tull Board at least annually

The Board atso reviews the Directors Interests Policy on an annuat
basis Following the last review in November 2017, the Beard
conciuded that the policy continued to operate effectively

Re-election
The Board has reviewed the Nomination Commuttee s assessment |
of whether each Non-Executive Director remains independent in
character and judgement and whether there are relationships or |
circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect,
that Judgement As a result, the Board as a whole considers that
each of the Non-Executive Direciors is ndependent, 1s of the stature
and has the required experience to perform his or her role as an
independent Director The results of the externatly facilitated Board
evaluation also confirm the Board's belief that each Non-Executive
Orrector standing for election ar re-etection at the 2018 AGM
remains committed to their rele within British Land and continues
to perform effectively
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Board evaluation
During the year. the effectiveness of the Board and its Committees
was conducted by Independent Board Evaluation {IBE)

Stage 1
October 2017
IBE met wath the Chairman to discuss and agree
the focus of the evaluation

\/

Stage 2
Navember 2017
|IBE attended Board and Commitiee meetings

\/

Stage 3
February 2018
Individual interviews held with each Board Director,
the Company Secretary and the Head of Secretariat

\/

Stage 4
March 2018
1BE attended further Board and Committee meetings

S~

Stage 5
March 2018
Draft report discussed with Chairman prioer to finalisation
and presentation to the whoie Board

\/

Stage &
March/April 2018 - post Board presentation
IBE provided feedback to the Chairmen of the Audit, Nomination
and Remuneration Committees on the performance of each
Committee The performance of the Chairman was also
discussed with the Senior Independent Director who
subsegquently met with the cther Non-Executive Directers to
further consider the Chairman’s performance, taking into
account the views of the Executive Directors

Inaddition to the formal Board evaluation, the Board Chairman
met each Non-Executive Director individually during the year to
discuss their contribution to the Board

Qutcomes

Overall, the evaluation report from IBE reftected well on the
Board its members are seen as engaged and commtted while
the Board's culture remains open, respectful and constructive

IBE made a number of recornmendations to the Roard, based
on the Board s own suggestions, including

- Increasing the Board s interaction with the wider
management team

- Working to define Board values in conjunction with the
Company values and take forward the Board's work on
culture and employee engagement

- Using informal Board sesstons to enable alignment around
complex or evolving 1ssues

The Board intends to implement the recommendations made
by IBE and will report on progress in the 2619 Annual Report

IBE has no other connection with British Land



Aceountability

Financial and business reporting

The Board 1s responsible for preparing the Annual Report ang
confirms in the Directors responsibility statement set out on page 95
that they believe thal the Annual Report, taken as a whole, 15 farr,
balanced and understandable, and prowvides the information
necessary to assess British Land < position, performance, business
model and strategy The basis on which the Company creates

and preserves value over the long term is described in the

Strategic Report

The Audit Commuttee reviewed the procedure undertaken to enable the
Board to provide the fair, batanced and understandable confirmation
to sharehotders Meelihgs were held between the Group Financial
Controller, Head of Investor Relations and cther senior employees to
review and document the key considerations undertzken and a
detailed report was then presented to the Audit Commitiee

Risk management and internal control

The Board determines the extent and nature of the risks 1t s prepared
to take in order to achueve the Company s strategic objectives The
Board has responsibitity for the Company s overall approach to risk
rnanagemnent and internal control which includes ensuring the
design and implementation of appropriate risk management and
internal control systems Ovarsight of the etfectiveness of these
systems |5 delegated to the Audit Committee which undertakes
regular reviews to ensure that the Group 1s19entifying, considering
and mitigating as far as praclicable, the most appropriate risks for
the business

The Board confirms that, through the Audit Committee, a robust
assessment of the principal risks tacing the Company, including
those that would threaten its business model, tuture performance,
solvency or iquidity, was carniad out during the year

Brihsh Land s approach te risk, including the roles of the Board,
and the Audit Commiites in setting risk appetite and monitoring risk
exposure, 15 detailed inthe "Managing risk in delivering our strategy
section on pages 48 to 31

Aswell as complying with the Code, the Group has adopted the
best practice recommendations in the FRC Guidance onrisk
management, internal control and related financial and business
reperting and the Company s internat control framework operates
i line with the recommendations <et out in the Internationally
recognised COSO internal Control Integrated Framework

The Company I1s commitied to conducting its business inan
ethical manner, with integrity and in line vath all retevant laws
and regulations The Group has adopted 2 number of policies ang
procedures including policies and traiming on anti-bribery and
corruption and fraud awareness, information security and GOPR
All ernployees are made aware of the Group s policies through the
employee handbook, regular bulletins and receive training
appropriate to their roles and responsibilities

The Audit Commattee reviews the effectiveness of the Group s
systemn of internal control annuatly, Including the systermns of control
for material joint ventures and funds The Group s internal control
system 15 built on the feliowmg fundamental principles, and 15
subject to review by internal audit

- Adefined schedule of matters reserved for approval by the Board

- Adetailed authorisation process no material commitments are
entered mto without thorough review and approval by more than
one authorised person

- Format documentation of all significant transactions

~ Arobust systemn of business and financial ptanning 1including
cash flows and profitability forecasting, with scenanio analysis
performed on major corporate, property and financing proposals

- Arobust process for property investment appraisals

- Menitoring of key cutcormes, particularly expenditure and
performance of significantinvestments, against budget
and forecast

- Clearly defined policies and review of actual performance
against policies

~ Benchmarking of property performance against external
sources such as Investment Property Databank

- Key controls testing

- Acomprehensive property and corporate iInsurance programime
and a formal whistle-blowing policy

During the course of its review for the year ended 31 March 2018,
and to the date of this Report, the Audit Commuttee has not identified,
nor bean advised of, a failling or weakness which it has deterrmined

to be significant

Going concern and viability statements

During the year the Board assessed the appropriateness of usaing
the going concern basis of accounting In the financial staterments
The assessment considered future cash flows and debt facilities

{to assess the hquidity risk of the Company! and the availability of
finance [to assess the sclvency risk] The assessment covered the
12-month pertod required by the going concern basis of accounting

In accordance with the Code, the Board has also assessed the
prospects of the Group over a five-year period which1s deemed
appropriate for the viability statement In preparing the viability
statement the Board considered the principal risks set out on pages
32 to 55 and the sensitivities of cash flow and debt covenant
forecasts, all of which are considered to have a reasonable Likelihoad
of impacting the viabitity of the Company Full details of this
assessment are sel out on page 51

Following these assessments the Directors believe that the Group
15 well ptaced te manage its financing and other business risks
satisfacterily and have a reascnable expectation that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operation
for at least 12 months from the date of the Annual Report They
therefore consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing the financial statements

The Board atso considers that the Company and the Group will be
able to continue in operation and meet its Liabilities as they fall due
over the period ending 31 March 2023

Taxation

Qur principies of good governance extend te our responsible
approach totax Ourtax strategy | Our Approach to Tax }, available
on our website www.britishland com/governance. 15 approved by
the Board and 1s i lne with the Group s long term values, culture
and strategy

Remuneration
The Directors’ Remuneration Report 1< set out on pages 76 to 71

The Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders at the 20146
AGM andis summarised on page 78 We are not making any changes
to the Remuneration Policy this year
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Relations with stakeholders
The Board 1s commutted to mamntatimg spen channels of
communication with all of the Company < stakeholders Animportant

part of this 1s prowding a clear explanation of the Company s strategy |

and oijectives, and ensuring that feedback s acknowledged,
considered and, where appropriate, acted upon Stakeholder
feedback 1s essential to the success of our business, so we ensure
the Chairman, Sentor Independent Director. Chief Executive and
other Executive Directors are avalable to address any concerns
our stakeholders maywishtoraise

British Land aims te be informative and accessible to all
sharehotders Announcements relating to the Group s financial
results and key events are provided in a tirmely manner and are easily
accessible via our website and secial media The Group website also
provides detailed information on our assets, as well as case studies
Illustrating our strategy, including our sustainability activites

British Land has a dedicated Investor Relations team which 1
available to respond to any questions or concerns iNvestors may
have on an ad hoc basis

All stakeholders are able to contact the Company directiy via
the contacts page on our website www.britishland.com/contacts

Annual General Meeting

All Directors attend the AGM, which provides retail sharehoiders

in particutar with an opportunity to hear directly from the Board on
the Company s performance over the past year, its strategy and the
objectives for the year ahead The AGM also provides shareholders
with the opportunity to ask guestions and a number of the Directors,
including the Chairman, make themnseives available for informat
discussion after the meeting has concluded

The 2017 AGM was attended by approximately 125 shareholders
All resolutions were voted on by way of a poll and passed by

the required majority The re<ults of the AGM voting are announced
to the London Stock Exchange as soon as practicable foltowing the
AGM and also made avatlable on the Company s website

Retail shareholders

Qur ‘Shareholders Centre on our website www, britishland.com/
shareholders-centre includes information on the AGM, dividends,
shareholder communication, how to contact our registrar, Equinit,
and other useful resources for shareholders

Institutional investors

Institutional Investors and analysts receive regular communications
from the Company. including detail s of Investor Relations events

[see the chart to the right), one-te-one and group meetings with
Executive Directors, and tours of our major assets This year, our
mvestor relations activity included a presentation and asset tour at
Paddington Central, following the completion of our 4 Kingdom Street
development Intotal, the Chiet Executive, former Chief Financial
Otficer and Investor Relations team met with representatives from over
205 msttutions during the year ended 31 March 2018 We periodicatly

commission an ndependent investor perception study, which provides |

teedback on our strategy and hughlights matenial concerns from key
investors and 1s presented to the Board

The Executive team is committed to ensuring that shareholder views,
hoth positive and negative, are relayed back to the Board The Chiel
Executive provides a written report at each scheduled meeting which
includes direct market feedback on activity during the period
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Lenders and bondholders

The Board recognises the contribution made by cur lenders and
bondholders Through our Treasury team, the Group mamntains
an open dialogue with our debt providers which helps the Board
understand their investment appetite and critenia

Community

British Land recognises that the people who live 1n and around our
assets are essential to creating Places People Preter, and therefore
1o the success of our business Investing in these communiiies is

" animportant part of our appreach, and our Local Charter detalls

how we buitd trust by making positive contributions locally Our
Commurity Funding Guidelines set out how we allocate funding,
with a particular focus onmtiatives close to our assets that provide
opportunities to tocal people through education, employrment and
training Both documents can be found on our website at
www.britishtand com/policies



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We monitor the quality and

integrity of the financial

reporting and valuation process

I am pleased te present the report of the Audit Committee for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

In Line with the focus on improved governance and clear, relevant
and concise reporting, this report of the Audit Committee
highlights the main issues which arase during the year and

how they were addressed

Key areas of focus

Ulimatedy, the Committee continues to play a key role in overseeing
the integrity of the Group s financial statemerts, ncluding assessing
whether the Annual Report 1s fair, balanced and understandable,
aswell as ensuring that a sound system of risk management and
internal control 1sin place

During the year the Committee has reviewed the process for
identif:ication and mitigation of key business risks, chatienging
management actions where appropriate The Committee has also
reviewed the appropniateness of the accounting treatment of
significant transactions, including asset acquisiions and disposals
Tegether with the ongoing scrutiny of the process for valuing
investment and development assets, the Cormnuttee atso reviewed
the cutcomes and effectiveness of the tender of valuation services
undertaken during the first half of the financial year

This year saw the implementation of the first phase ot the new valuer
appointrment policy [see page 73 for further details] with ¢ 45% of the
portfolio subject to new valuers at 20 September 2017 Further
transitions witl take place over the next two years with the initial
imptementation of the valuer appointment policy due to be completed
1n 2019 The Committee has appreciated the continued professionalism
of allits valuers during the tender process

Committee composition and governauce

- Theyear to 31 March 2018 has seen significant change to the

membership of the Cornmittee As mentioned in the 2017 Annual
Report, Simon Borrows retired from the Commuttee at the conclusion
of the 2017 AGM In addition, having served on the Board and this
Commuttee for nine years, ncluding @ pentod as Commitiee
Chatrman, Aubrey Adams retired at the end of the 2017 calendar
year | would like to thank them both for the diligence and insight

they provided during their tenure and Aubrey, in particular, for fus
knowledge and experience of the UK property market

We also welcomed three new members to the Comimittee during
the financial year Nicholas Macpherson, who has served for a full
year, Rebecca Werthington and Alastair Hughes Detatls of the

. knowledge, experience and skiils each brings to the Committee are

set out below

' The Committee continues to be composed solely of Independent

Non-Executive Directors with sufficient tinanciat experience,
commercial acumen and sector knowladge to fulhif thewr
responsibilities The changes inmembership, together with
attendance at Cemmittee meetings during the vear, are set out
n the foltowing table

Date of
Committee Date of

Director Position appointment resignation  Attendance
Tim Score Chairman 20 Mar 2014 3/3
Alastar Hughes  Member 1 Jan 2018 11
Nicholas

Macpherson Member 1 Apr 2017 3/3
Rebecca

Worthington Member 1 Jan 2018 111
Aubrey Adams Member 1Sep 2068 31 Dec 2017 2/2
Simon Borrows  Member  12Apr 2011 18 Jul 2017 1M1

Nicholas was the Permanent Secretary to the Treasury for over
10years from 2005 to March 201, leading the department through
the financial crisis and the subsequent period of banking reform

He joined the Treasuryin 1985 and held a number of roles prior to
his appaintment as Permanent Secretary Nicholas tramed as an
economist and has worked at the TBi and Peat Marwick Consulting
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Rebecca has worked in the real estate ndustry since 1998 and brings !

valuable msight into resdential real estate as weil as financial,
operational and governance experience as a result of her role as
group chief financial officer of Countryside Properties PLC, and
former roles as finance director of Guimtain and chaw of the audit
committee at Hansteen Holdings and Aga Rangemaster Group

Alastair has over 25 years of experience in real esiate markets
His experience as former Chief Executive of JLL for Europe,
Middle East and Africa and then regional CEO for Asia Pacific,
and hits non-executive directorshup of Schroders REIT, brings an
in-depth knowledge of glabal commercial real estate markets

The Board is satisfied that the Committee as a whole has
competence relevant to the real estate sector For the purposes
of the UK Corporate Governance Code, Rebecca and | are deermed
to meet the specific requirement of having significant, recent and
relevant financial experience

Members of the serwer managerment team, Including the former
Chuef Financial Officer, General Counsel ang Company Secretary.
Group Financial Controller, Head of Financial Reporting and
representatives of both external and internat auditors are invited to
attend each Committee meeting Inaddition. the Chairman of the
Baoard, Chief Executive Ofticer, Head of Investor Relations, Head of
Planning and Analysis and other key employees are invited to altend
part, or all, of specthic Committee meetings

The Committee meets privately with both externat and interpat
auditors after each scheduled meeting and continues to be satisfied

that neither 1= being unduly influenced by management As Committee

Charrman, { additionally hold regular meetinge with the Chuet
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other members of
management 1o obtain a good understanding of key issues affecting
the Broup and am thereby able to 1dentity those matters which
require meaningful discussion at Cormnmnttee meetings | also meet

the external audit partner, internal audit partner and representatives

from each of the valuers privately to discuss any matters they wish
to raise or concerns thay may have

Committee effectiveness

The Committee s effectiveness during the year to 31 March 2018
was assessed as part of the trienmial independently facilitated
Board evaluation process This review considered the structure,
membership and rele of the Committee as well a5 the Boardg s
perception of the quality and thoroughness of s work The review
concluded that the breadth of experience brought to the Committee
by its new members provided the Board with conhidence that it
would continue to aperate thoroughty and effectively and that the
financiat governance of the Company was conducted with
diligence and due process

The Committee also reviews its terms of reference onan
annual basis The current terms of reference were approved
by the Board in March 2018 and are available on our website
www.britishland.com/committees

The information below sets out In detail the achvity undertaken
by the Comrnittee during the year ended 31 March 2018 1hope
that you find 1t usetulin understanding our work

Tim Score
Chairrnan of the Audit Commuttee
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Role and responsibilities
The principal responsibilities of the Comrmiitee are

Financial reporting - Monitoring the integnity of the Company s
financial statements and any formal annouhcements relating
to financial perfermance, and considering significant fimancisl
reporting issues, Judgements and estimates

External Audit - Oversight and remuneration of the external
auditor, assessing effectiveness and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of and the policy for mon-audit
services provided by the externat auditor

Internal Audit - Monitoring and reviewing reports on the work
performed by the internal auditor and reviewing effectiveness,
including its plans and rescurcing

Risk management and internal controls — Reviewing the
system of internal control and risk management

lnvestment and development property valuations —
Considering the valuation process and outcome and the
effectiveness of the Company s valuers

Financial reporting

The Comimittes continues to review the content and tone of the
pretiminary results press retease, Annual Report and half year
results at the request of the Board Drafts of the Annual Report
are reviewed by the Committee Chairman and the Committee
as a whole prier 1o formal consideration by the Board, with

. sufficient ime provided for feedback

The Committee reviewed the key messaging included in the Annuat

- Report and half year results, paying particular attention to those
' matters constdered to be important to the Group by virtue of their

size, complexity, level of judgernent required and potential impact
on the financial statements and wider business model Any i1ssues
which were deemed to be significant were debated openly by the

. Committee members and other attendees, including management,

external and internal auditors

The Commuttee has satistied itself that the controls over the
accuracy and consistency of the information presented in the
Annual Report are robust The Commuttee therefore recommended
to the Board that the Annuat Report presented a fair, balanced and
understandable overview of the business of the Group and that it
provided stakeholders with the necessary information to assess
the Group's position, performance, business model and strategy

Buring the year, the Group receved a letter from the Financial
Reporting Counal confirming that the 2017 Annual Report had been
subject fo a review by its Conduct Committee, which 1= responsible
for overseeing the FRC s work 1in promoting high quality corporate
reporting and ensuring compliance with relevant accounting and
reporting requirements and rutes No guestions or queries were
raised as a result of this review, no response from the Company
was requested and no further action was undertaken

A number of minor matters were noted for improvement which, In
the view of the Conduct Comrmittee, would be of benefit to the users
of the Annual Report Consequently, we have made changes to the
Annual Report this year in line with these recommendations
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The significant 1ssues constdered by the Commuttee in relation to the financial statements during the year ended 31 March 2018, and the
actions takeri to address these issues, are set out in the following table

Significant issues considered

How these issues were addressed

Going concern
statement

Viability
statement

Accounting for
significant
trunsactions

REIT status

Valuation of
property
portfolio

Revenue
recognition

The appropriateness of
preparing the Group financiat
statements on a going
concern basis

Whether the assessment
undertaken by management
regarding the Group s long
term viability appropriately
reflects the prospects of
the Group and covers an
appropriate period of ime

The accounting treatment

ot sigrificant property
acquisitions, disposals and
financing transactions s 4
recurring risk for the Group
with non-standard accounting
entries required, and in some
cases management
Judgement applied

Maintenance of the Group s
REIT status through
comphiance with certam
conditions has a sigrificant
impact on the Group s results

The valuation of nvestment
and development properties
conducted by externat valuars
1smherently subjective as itis
undertaken onthe bas:s of
assumptions made by the
valuers which may not prove
to be accurate

The outcome of the vatuation
is signtficant to the Group
terms of investrent decisions,
results and remuneration

For certain transactions,
judgement 1S apphied by
management as to whether,
and to what extent, they should
be treated as revenue for the
financial y=ar

The Committee reviewed management s analysis supporting the going concern basis
ot preparation This included consideration of forecast cash fiows, availability of
cormrmitted debt tacilities and expected covenant headroom The Comrmittee also
received a report from the external auditor on the results of the testing undertaken
on managemernt s analysis

As aresult of the assessment undertaken, the Comimittee catisfied self that the
going concern basis of preparation remained appropriate

The going concern statement 1s set out on page 67

The Committee considered whether management s assessment adequately reflectad
the Group s risk appetite and principal risks as disclosed on pages 52 fo 53, whether
the period covered by the statement was reasonabte given the strategy of the Group
and the environment in which it operates, and whether the assumptions and
sensitivities identified, and stress tested, represented severe but plausible scenarios
in the context of solvency or Liquidity The Commuttee also considered a report from
the external auditor

The Commultee concurred with management s assessment and recammended the
viability statement to the Board

The viability statement, together with further details on the assessment undertaken.
1s set out on page 51

The Committee reviewed management papers on key jJudgements, including those for
sigrificant transactions, as well as the external auditor < findings on these matters

In particular, the Cornmittee considered the accounting treatment of The Leadenball
Building transaction, the share buyback programme, Storey [British Land s flexible
workspace offering launched in the year] and the acquisition of The Woolwich Estate

The external auditor confirmed that management’s judgements in relation to these
transactions were appropriate and reasonable and the Comnttee agreed with this
conclusion

The Comnutiee reviewed the Company s compliance with the REIT tests
Management presented detads of the methodalogy and results of their process
for REIT testing, with any change in long term trends, and the level of headraom,
highlighted The Commuttee also considered the external auditor = review of the
RE!T tests performed by management

The Committee conctuded that the Company s REIT status had been maintamed
in the year

The external valuers presented their reports to the Committee prior to the half year
and full year results, providing an overview of the UK property market and
summarising the performance of the Group s assets Sigrificant judgements are
also highlighted

The Committee analysed the reports and reviewed the valuation outcomes,
chatlenging assumptions made where thought fit in particular, with the
implementation of the first stages of the new valuer appointrment policy,
the Committee paid specific attention to those assets which were subject to
a new valuatton instruction during the year

The Committee was satisfied with the valuation process and the effectiveness ot the
Company s valuers The Committee also approved the relevant valuation discilosures
to be included in the Annual Report

The Commuittee and the external auditor considered the appropriateness of the
accounting treatment applied by management in relation to revenue recognition
In particular, the Comrttee considered the treatment of Clarges Residential unit
sales, taking inte account the timing of tegal complettons following practical
comipletion of the propertyinthe year

The Commuttee considered the ccope of the accounting standard and agreed with
the reasonableness of the judgement made
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External Audit

PricewaterhcuseCoopers |LLP [PwC] was appointed as the Group s
external auditar for the 2015 Annuat Report following a format
competitive tender The Committee witl consider the need for a
compettive tender for the role of external ayditor every five years
and, in accordance with legistation and its own taerms of reference,
will ensure that a competitive tender takes place at least every 10
vears There are no contractuat obligations in place which would
restrict the Committee’'s selection of a ditferent auditor The Group s
audit engagement partner is John Waters, who has beenm role since
Pw{ s appointment The Committee will ensure that the rotation of
audit pariner 1s undertaken as regquired by legislation to the extent
that this s not undertaken earlier by PwC

The Commuittee s responsible for overseeing the relationstip with
the external auditor and for considering their terms of engagement,
remuneration, effectiveness, independence and continued
objectivity The Committee annually reviews the audit requirements
of the Group, for the business and in the context of the external
environment, placing great importance on ensuring a high quality,
effective External Audit process

Fees and non-audit services

The Cornmittee discussed the audit fee for the 2018 Annual Report
with the external auditor and approved the proposed fee on behalf
of the Board

In addition, the Group has adopted a policy for the provision of
non-audit services by the external auditor The policy helps to
safequard the external auditor’s independence and objectivity The
policy allows the external auditor to provide the following non-audit
services to Briish Land where they are considered to be the most
appropriate provider

- Audit related services inctuding format reporting relating to
borrowings, shareholder and other ¢irculars and work in respect
of acquisttions and disposals I some circumstances, the
external auditor is required to carry out the work because of their
office In other arcumstances, selection would depend on which
firm was best suited to provide the services required

- Sustainability assurance PwC currently provides an assurance
opinion to the Company over selected sustainability data This
appointment 1s reviewed annually

iriaddition, the following protocols apply to non-audit fees

- Total non-audif fees are imited to 70% of the audit fees in any
one year Additionally, the ratio of suait io non-audit fees 1s
calculated in ine with the methodology set sut inthe 2014
EU Regulations

- Committee approval is required where there might be guestions
as 1o whether the external auditor had a conflict of Interest

- The Audit Committee Chairman s required to approve in advance
each additienal project or incremental fee between £25,0800 and
£100,000 and Committee approval 1s required for any additional
projects over £ 160,600

During the year two engagernents relating to sustainability
assurance and financial model assurance required approval
These engagements were approved by the Audit Comrmittee
Chairman on the basis that PwC were best placed to provide these
services and that they created no conflict of interest with their role
as external auditor

Total fees for non-audit services amounted to £0 2 million, which
represents 20% of the total Group audit fees payable tor the year
ended 31 March 2018 Details of ali fees charged by the external
auditor during the year are set out on page 113
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The Committee 1s satisfied that the Cornpany has complied with
the provisions of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies
Market Investigation (Mandatery Use of Competitive Processes and
Audit Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014, published by the
Competition & Markets Authonity on 26 September 2014

Effectiveness

Assessment of the annual evatuation of the external auditor's
performance was undertaken by way of a questionnaire completed
by key stakeholders across the Group, including senior members
of the Finance team The review took into account the gquality of
planming, delivery and execution of the audit including the audit

of subsidiary companies), the technical competence and sirategic
knowledge of the audit team and the effectiveness of reporting

and communication between the audit team and management

PwC also provide the Committee with an annual report on its
independence, objectivity and compliance with statutory. regulatory
and ethicat standards For the year ended 31 March 2018, as for

the prior year, the external auditor confirmed that it continued to
maintain appropriate internal safequards to ensure s independence

~and objectivity

The Committee concluded that the quality of the external auditor s
wark, and the knowledge and competence of the audit team, had

" been maintained at an appropriate standard during the year

The Commitiee therefore recommended to the Board that a
resolution to reappoint PwC as external auditor to the Group be

" putto sharehclders at the 2018 AGM

|
|

Internal Audit

The role of Internal Audit is to act as anindependent and objective
assurance function, designed to improve the effectiveness of the
governance, risk management and internal controls framework
in mitigating the key risks of British Land Ernst & Young LLP [EY)
continue to provide intérnal audit services to British Land and
attended all Committee meetings to present their sudit findings
and the status of managernent actions

During the year, the Commuttee reviewed and approved the annual
internal audit plan, iIncluding consideration of the plan’s alignment to
the principal risks of the Group and its joint ventures Internal audits
completed during the year inctuded those in relation te 17, third party
management, fraud resilience, insurance, company secretariat,
procurement, human resources, accounts payable and payrolt
(phase 21 Overall, no sigrsficant control 1ssues were identified
although several process and control improvements were proposed,
with follow up audits scheduled where necessary

Effectiveness

The annual effectiveness review of the internal auditor included
consideration of the Internal Audit charter which defines EY s role
and responsibilities, review of the quality of the audit work undertaken
and the skills and competence of the audit teams The Committee
concluded that EY continued to discharge its duties as internal
guditor effectively and should continue 1n the role for the year
commencing T April 2018

Risk management and internal controls

The Board has delegated responsibility for overseeing the
effectiveness of the Group s risk management and internal control
systems to the Commuttee The Committee has oversight of the
activities of the executive Risk Commuttee, receiving minutes of
all Risk Committee meetings and discussing any significant
matters raised



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

Atthe fult and half year, the Committee reviewed the Group s
principal risks includimg consideration of how risk exposures have
changed during the period and any emerging risks inthe Cempany s
risk register Both external and internal ricks are reviewed and their
effect on the Company's strategic aims considered The Cornmittee
constderad the Group s risk appetite, concluding that t remains

set 3t an appropriate tevel to achieve the Group s strategic goals
witheout taking undue risk The Board accepted the Committee s
recommendation that no changes were required to the Group < risk
appetite for the forthcoming year The Committee also reviewed the
status of key risk indicators throughout the year aganst the risk
appetite set, focusing on any which were outside optimal ranges

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Commuttee gave particular |

attention to therisk retating to catastrophic operational events
including ensuring that safety investigations were undertaken on the
British Land portfolio following the Grenfell Tower fire and that crisis
response plans were in place for both physical and cyber nisks The
Committee also undertakes annual reviews of the Group s Treasury
Policy lwhich includes policies on iquidity, interest rate and foreign
currency managernentj and the Group s insurance programme

Halt yearly, the internal auditor reports to the Committee on the
effectiveness of internal controls, including an analysis of control
issues identified by management through the exceptions reporting
grocess Careistaken to ensure that identfied risk areas are
considered for incorporation in the internat Audit plan and that the
findings of internal audits are taken into acceunt when tdentifying and
evaluating risks within the business Key observations are reporied
to, and debated by, the Committee During the year, it was agreed
that exceptions reporting should include operational matters as well
as financial For the year ended 31 March 2018, the internal auditor
confirmed that the system of risk management and internat control
had been effective

At the reguest of the Remuneration Cornmittee, the Committee
constders annually the level of risk taken by management and
whether this afiects the performance of the Company and thereby
incentive awards granted to the Executive Directors and senior
rmanagement Taking intc account the reports received on internal
key controls and risk management, and the results of the internal
audit reviews, the Committee concluded that for the year ended

31 March 2018 they were not aware of excessive risk taking by
rmanagerment which cught to be taken into account when
determining incentive awards

The Group ¢ whistleblowing arrangements, which enable all staff,
inctuding termporary and agency staff, suppliers and occupiers to
report any suspected wrongdoing, remamed unchanged during the
year These arrangements, which are monitered by the General
Counsel and Company Secretary and reviewed by the Comrmuttee
annually, include an independent and conhidential whistleblowing
service provided by a thurd party The Commuttee recerved a
surmmary of all whistleblowing reports received during the year
and concluded that each had been deatt with appropriatety

The Commutiee also reviewed the Group s tax strategy which sets
cut the Group ¢ approach to risk managament and governance In
relation to UK taxation, its attitude towards tax planning, the level
of risk the Group 15 prepared to accept in relation to tax and i1ts
relationship with HM Revenue & Customs The resulting document
i Qur Approach to Tax | was approved by the Board in March 2018
and 15 avaltable on the Company s website [www.britishland.com/
governance)

Additicnal imformation on the Company s internal controls systems
1 set out inthe Maraging risk in delivering our strategy section
on pages 48 to 49

Investment and development property valuations

The externat valuation of British Land s property portfolio 15 a key
determinant of the Group's balance sheet, its performance and the
remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior managermeant
The Comruttee 1s committed to the rigorous monitering and
review of the effectiveness of its valuers as well as the valuatien
process itself

As set cutin the 2017 Annual Report, a new policy has been adopted
regarding the appaintment of external valuers The key elements of
this policy are

- The duration of any valuer s appointment to a specific asset s
lirited to 10 years lexcept where that asset has been market
tested in the pericd)

- Anagreed panel of valuers with the required tevel of market
knowledge and service provision wilt be maintained

i - Incumbents cannot be re-appointed to an asset
" - There will be a mimimum of two valuers on each of cur main

sectors, with each valuer covering 3 meanmgful proportion
of both the overall portfolio and relevant saector

To ensure a manageable transition of assets to new valuers, the
Committee agreed that the imitial implementaticn process would

. be spread over three years, running 2017-2019 The hrst phase of

tendering lc 43% of the portfolio] was completed during the first
half of the current inancial year with a further ¢ 20% scheduted to
transttion in both 2018 ang 2012 The Group s valuers are now CBRE,

. Krught Frank, Jones Lang LaSalle [JLL) and Cushman & Wakeheld

The Commuttee reviews the effectiveness of the external valuers

~ br-annually. focusing on a quantitative analysis of capital values,

. yield benchmarking, availability of comparable market evidence

and majer outliers to subsector movements, with an annuat
gualitative review of the level of service receved from each valuer

The valuers attend Committee meetings at which the fut{ and half
year valuations are discussed, presenting their reports which mciude
details of the valuation process, market conditrens and any significant
judgerments made The external auditor reviews the valuations and
valuation process, having had full access to the valuers to deternune
that due process had been followed and appropriate information
used, before separatety reporting its findings to the Commuittee The
valuation process s also subject to regular review by Internal Audit

British Land has fixed fee arrangements in place with the valuers
i relation to the valuation of wholly-owned assets, in line with

" the recommendations of the Carsberg Committee Report

Copies of ihe valuation certificates of CBRE, Kright Frank, JLL
and Cushman & Wakefield can be found 6n our websie
at www.pritishland.com/reports

Focus for the coming year

During the year ending 31 March 201 the Committee will continue
to focus on the processes by which the Board identifies, assesses,
monitors, ranages and mitigates risk particularly in bight of the
continued uncertamty arising from the UK's decision 1o leave the EU
The Commrttee will also continue to monitor key risk areas for the

. business, particularly those scheduled for review by internal audit

inctuding, but net imited to General Data Privacy Regulation
compliance, cyber security and crisis management
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REFPGRT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Committee leads
the process for Board
appointments

Welcome to the report of the Nomination Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

Role and responsibilitics
The Commsttee s principal responstbilities remain

- Reviewing the structure size and composition including the
skills, knowledge and experience and diversityl of the Board
and its Committees and recornmending changes to the Board

- Considering succession planning for Directors and other
seniGr executives

~ Reviawing the independence and time comrmitment requirermnents
of Nan-Executive Directors and

- Making recommendations as to the Directors standing for
election or re-election at the AGM

Full details of the Committee s role and responsibilities are set
out inits terms of reference available on cur website at
www.britishtand.com/committees

Committee composition and governance

Following Lord Turnbutl s retirement, the Committee has three
members Willam Jackson and Tim Score, both independent
Non-Executive Directors, while | continue to Char the Commuttee,

I would lLike to thank Lord Turnbull for the support and advice he has
provided to the Comrmittee during his tenure

Detatls of the Committee’s membership and attendance at meetings
are set out In the following table

Oate of

Committee Date of
Director Positi PP it resignation  Attendance
John Gildersleeve Charrman 1 Jan 2013 3/4*
Willam Jackson Member 11 Apr 2011 4Lf4
Tirn Score Member 1 Apr 2017 414
Lord Turnbull Member 1 Apr 2006 18 Jul 2017 11
Tolene Cres slieve was nableto cterdone roscting dus o e as
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Chris Grigg, Chef Executive, was invited to attend alt Cormmitiee
meetings during the year

L uke Meynell of Russell Reynolds [and formerly of The Zygos
Partnership) was invited to attend one Committee meeting during
the year

Diversity

The Committee, the Board of Directors and British Land as a whole
continue to pay full regard to the benefits of diversity, inciuding
gender diversity, both when searching for candidates for Board
appointments and when the Company 1s searching for candidates
for other appointments

The Committee recommended an updated Board Diversity and
inclusion Policy to the Board during the year The revised Policy
aspires for wornen to represent 30% of Board membershup by 2020,
as well as having regard to other aspects of diversity when making
recrurtment decisions at both Board and senior management level

British Land currently has three female Board members Lynn
Gladden, Laura Wade-Gery and Rebecca Werthington, all of whom
are Non-Executive Dhrectors This represents 25% female Board
membership as at 31 March 2018 (2017 23%)

The Board Diversity and Inclusion Policy also sefs out Brinsh Land =
commitment to strengthen the gender balance on British Land’s
teadership and senior management teams The Board recogrises
that successiul delivery of our strategy s underpinned by creating

i an environment where all our people feel fully supported We have

established an inclusive Culture Steering Cormittee, headed by a
rmember of cur Executive Committee, te promote diversity and
nclusion at atl levels of the busimess The Steering Committee has
imptemented a number of initiatives such as diversity traiming for
all new oiners and the establishment of support networks Further
information on diversity within British Land 15 set out on page 30

We also recently published our gender pay gap repart. The report
15 avatlable on our website lwww.britishland.com/governance] and
sumrmarised on page 30

Board membership

The Comrnittee regularly reviews the structure, size and composition
of the Board i order to ensure it 1s made up of the right people with
the requisite skills and experience, including diversity of thought and
approach, who can provide strong and elfective leadership to the
business and support delivery of the Company's strategy



Aswas anticipated inlast year s Annual Report, Simon Borrows
and Lord Turnbull retired from the Board at the conclusion of the
2017 AGM In addition, Aubrey Adams retired from the Beard at the
end of the 2017 calendar year and Lucinda Bell stood down as an
Executive Directer and Chief Financial Officer on 19 January 2018

The process undertaken by the Commuttee to identify, select and
make recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment
of three Non-Executive Directors and a new Chiet Financial Gfficer
15 set out below

Appointment process for Board Directors

Role requirements
The Cornmittee prepared detailed role specifications
setting out the slills, knowledge, experience and
attributes required for the role(s)
The Chief Executive was also nwolved in preparing
the role specification for the Chief Financial Officer

\/

Search process
Under the direction of the Commuittee, Russell Reynolds
[previously The Zygos Partnarshipl, an external search
consuttancy was engaged to facilitate the search process

\/

Review
Details of preferreg candidates were presented tc, and
considered by, the Committee and, in the case of the
Chief Financial Officer, the other Executive Directors
Shorthisted candidates were invited to interview by the
Cornrnittee, Chief Executive and other Directors as appropriate

\/

Recruitment
The Cormmttee considered the feedback from interviews and
made recommendations 1o the Board as te the appointments of
Preben Prebensen, Alastar Hughes and Rebecca Worthington
as Non-Executive Directors and Simon Carter as Executive
Director and Chief Financial Ofticer

The appeintments were formally announced following
approval by the Board

Other than the provision of recruitment consultancy services neither
Russell Reynolds nor. previously, The Zygos Partnership has any
connection with British Land

Suceession planning

The Commuttee 1s responsible for reviewing the succession plans
for the Board. inctuding the Chief Executive The succession plans
for the Executive Directors are prapared on immediate, medium and
longterm basis while thoSe for Nen-Executive Directers reflect the
need to regularly refresh the Board Such plans take account of the
tenure of individual members The Committee s review of Executive
Director succession plans include consideration of the process for
talent development within the orgarisation to create a pipeline te
the Board

The Chief Executive, with the support of the HR Director, 1
responsible for developing succession plans for executives and
sentor management which are presented to and considered by
the Committee

Independence and re-election

Prior to recormnmending the re-appointment of any Non-Executive
Director to the Board, the Committee assesses their continued
independence, the time comrmitment required and whether the
re-appointrment woutd be in the best interests of the Company
Detailed consideration is given to each Non-Executive Director s
contributien to the Board and its Commuttees together with the
overall balance of knowledge. skills, experience and diversity

Non-Executive Directors” tenures (as at 31 March 2018)

Having served for more than sixyears, the Committee undertook

a particutarly rigorous review of Wilbam Jackson s contributions

to the Board and the Commitiees on which he serves, together with
his continued independence The Committee unarimously concluded
that Williem remained indegendent in character and judgerment and
continued to discharge his responsibilities as a Non-Executive
Director effectively Willam did not participate 1n the discussion

. relating to hus re-appomtment

~ Fellowing their review, the Committee 1s of the opinien that each

Non-Executive Director continues to demonstrate commitment to
his or her role as a member of the Board and its Committees,
discharges hus or her duties effectively and that each makes a

- valuable contribution to the [eadership of the Company for the benefit

of all stakeholders Accordingly, the Commttee recommended to
the Board that resolutions to elect or re-elect each Nen-Executive
Director be proposed as’appropriate to the AGM alongside the

. resolutions to re-elect the Executive Directors

Therefore, in accordance with the Code, each of the Directors inrole

" alyear end and the date of this Annual Report wall offer themselves
" for election [in the case of Alastair Hughes, Preben Prebensen and

Rebecca Worthington) or re-election in the case of all other
Directors) tnaddition, Simon Carter will take up his appointment on
21 May 2018 and offer humself for election at the AGM Biographues
for each Director can be found on pages 58 1o 61

lommittee effectiveness
This year the review into the Committee s effectiveness was
undertaken as part of the triennial externally facilitated Board
evaluation tam pleased to report that the evaluation concluded that
the Committee had handled the various succession 1scues well over
the past year and continued to operate effectively

Focus for the coming vear

Having overseen major changes to membership of the Board over
the last 12 months, the Committee intends to forus its attention for
the coming year on improving the gender balance of the leadership
tearn and undertaking a formal structured review of the succession
plans for senior rnanagement

John Gildersleeve
Chawman of the Nornination Cormnmittee
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Our Remuneration Policy
aligns management incentives

with our strategy

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, 1 am pleased to present the Directors
Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2018, which
includes an At A Glance summary and the Company s Apnual
Report on Remuneration

The Annual Report on Remuneration, which describes both how the
Commuttee has implemented the Remuneration Policy during the
year and our intentions for the coming year, 1= set out on pages 79
to 81 As usual, the Report on Remuneration will be subject to an
advisory vote at this year's AGM and | hepe to continue 1o have

YOUF support

Dur Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders in July 2016
with over 7% supportand a summary 1s set out on page 78 The full
Policy s available in the 2016 Annual Report and on our website at
www britishland com/committees

Our current Remuneration Policy will remain in force until the 2019
AGM During the latter part of 2018, the Commuttee will theretore
consider what, 1f any, changes are required o the Remuneration
Policy to suppert the Company s strategy We will fully engage with

shareholders, employees and other stakeholders to ensure that their

views are taken inte consideration In recommending any changes to
our Remuneration Policy, we will also take account of the outcome of
the current review ot the UK Corporate Governance Code

lommittee membership
As disclosed intast year s Annual Report, Lord Turnbull retired
from the Board, and this Comimittee, at the conclusion of the
2017 AGM [ would ke to thank Lord Turnbull for bis commitment
to the Commuttee during his term of office and wish him well
in his retirerment
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Lynn Gladden and Laura Wade-Gery were members throughout
the year and we were pleased io welcome Preben Prebensen to
the Commuttee on 1 September 2017

Board changes

As previously mentioned by the Company s Chairman, there

have been a number of Board changes this year Lucinda Bell stood
down from the Board on 19 January 2018 and left British Land on

4 April 2018 During this period, Lucinda continued to receve her
salary and employment benefits in full

Luctnda 15 eligible for an annual bonus for the 2017/18 financial year,
subject to the satisfaction of 3 combination of corperate and personal
objectives After over 25 years of service to British Land, Lucinda 1s
considered to be a good leaver and, as such, her outstanding
executive share plan awards will be treated in line with the good

. leaver provisions in the respective plan rules Full detalls are

" provided on page 86

‘ As announced in January 2018, Simon Carter will join British Lang
as an Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer on 21 May 2018
On appointment, Simon Carter s basic salary will be set at £485,000

o In bine with the approved Remuneration Policy, Simon s pension
contribution will be set at 15% of salary and fue maximum annual
bonus plan and LTIP opportumties for the year will be set at
150% and 250% of salary respectively, consistent with the other
Executive Durectors Toreplace a deferred payment forfeited on
joining British Land, Simon will be awarded shares worth €4675,000,
which have 1o be held for at least one year

Remuneration in respect of the vear ended 3 March 2018
As noted by the Company Chairman, in the context of the economic
ang polihical uncertamty that we have seen since the EU referendum,
. and over the lastyear in particuelar, British Land has performed well
l Over the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company delivered good

' financial results and took iImportant steps for long term value creation

The total returns from our property iInvestments are expected to
outperform the market modestly As a result, paysuts from cur
annual incentive plan are expected to be between 35% and 57 5%
of maxirnurm for the Executive Directors This shows that the
Company s remuneraiion policles have worked as criginatly
intended when the annual incentive policy was set and approved
by shareholders

For our long term incentives, with our three-year performance
relative to the original benchmarks underperforming the medan of
these benchmarks, we expect the LTIP maturing this June 2018 to

| lapse in tull along with half of the MSP awards vesting this year



Remumneration in respect of the year commencing

I April 2018

Salary and fees

The Committee has discussed and reviewed the Company s annual
salary review framework for all employees it has also reviewed the
salaries of the Executive Directors and concluded that these should
be increased by 2% in ine with the average increase for the wider
emnployee population This s the first increase since 2015

The Committee reviewed the annual fee payable to the Chairman,
which has also not increased since 2015, and concluded that this
should be increased to £385,000 frepresenting a 4 2% Increase,
equating to an average increase of 1 4% over the three-year period]
for the year commencing 1 April 2018

The Board alsc reviewed the fees payable to the Non-Executive
Directors and concluded that the base fee should be increased to
£62,500 from £61,000 which represents a 2 5% increase

Annual incentives

Inrespect of the annuat incentive awards for Executive Directors,
the Commuttee has set strict weightings and targets for each
performance measure Forthe corning year, we will continue with
70% of any potential award being dependent on successfully
achieving financial targets, with 20% based on achieving qualitative
crieria and 10% onindividual targets Further information is
provided on page 79

Long termincentives

The Commuttee proposes to grant long term incentive awards during
this coming year at 250% of salary, the same level as {ast year
Details on the proposed grants, including performance conditions,
are set out on page 80

We will be using the same thres performance measures as
previcusly, but have refined the way we will be assessing the Total
Property Return component to make 1t more relevant to the assets
the Company owns

Below Board-level incentives

The Commuttee s rermut also includes oversight of the Group s
reryneration policy for the wider employee poputation in this
respect the Committee has approved a chainge to the tong term

Gender pay gap

We have recently published our first gender pay gap report
Iwww.britishland.com/gender-pay-gap] As required by legislation,
this information 1s based on data at a snapshot date of 5 April 2017
when British Land had 237 employees and Broadgate Estates
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, had 322 employees

Qur pay gap reflects an tndustry-wide picture where we have more
men than women in senior higher paid roles rather than unequal pay

- for similar work The British Land Board 1s commutted to achieving

better gender balance across all positions in the Company and has
in place recruitment and development practices that it believes will
lead to a material change in this position over time

Our workforce is made up almost equatly of men and women
We pay men and women who do the sanmie jobs egually, with each
role benchmarked annually against external data

We have made significant progress over recent years whilst
recognising that there is more work to be done to reduce the extent

" of the imbalance in the future In 2013 we were a founding supporter

of Pathways to Property, a programme set up to encourage young
people from a wide range of diverse backgrounds into the real estate
sector and i 2017 we welcomed a graduate trainee to British Land
from the first cohort to complete this programme

British Land was the hirst FTSE 100 property company to achieve
the National Equality Standard [August 2017} We are also one of a
handful of FTSE 100 compames who have introduced company-

, enhanced shared parental pay as well as introducing flexible working
, practices in many areas of the business. fernale mentoring
_ programmes and maternity coaching

share incentive arrangements for the senior management population

by approving the use of Restricied Share Awards

Previgusly the sentor rmanagement population had participated mn the
tong-Term incentrve Plan [LTIP) ona similar basis as the Executive
Directors However for 2018 for certain employees other than
Executive Directors, the Committee has approved the use of
Restricted Shares instead of, or {for the non-Board members of the
Executive Commitiee] in combination with, a lower level of LTIP The
lower level of LTIF award takes into account the increased certainty
of vatue of Restricted Shares

The ntroduction of Restricted Shares creates a stronger alignment
with the Interesis of ather shareholders from the date of grant,
together with beng a more valued and retentive remuneration
package for serior management

The Restricted Shares will vest after three years subject to
continued service

We will continue to measure cur gender pay very regularly to ceme
to understand if what we are doing 1s working and o identify areas
where there s further need for change

Committee effectiveness

As with the other Board Commiltees, this year s evaluation of the
effectiveness of the Remuneration Committee was undertaken

as part of the triennial independently facititated Board evaluation
process |am pleased toreport that the review concluded that the
Committee continued to operate diligently and effectively, that its
members had an appropriate balance of skills and experience and
carried out their duties in a sensible and pragmatic way

Recommendation

British Land continues to strive to apply best practice in tis
remnuneration policies and to Listen carefuily te shareholder
feedback We therefore hope that you show your suppart for our
approach to remuneration by voting for the Directors
Remuneration Report at the 2018 AGM

William Jackson

" Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT AT A GLANCE

Executive Directors’ remuneration

The tables below show the 2018 actual remuneration against potential opportunity for the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 actual
remuneration for each Executive Director Full disclosure of the single total figure of remuneration for each of the Directors 1s set out in the
tabie on page 8%

Chris Grigg Charles Maudsley

Chief Executive _ _ _ _ _ £000 HeadofRetal, Leiswre & Residenttal  £000

2018 actual £2244 2018 actual £1.081

2018 potential £4878 2018 potential! £2.477

2017 actual [ = £1938 2017 actuat £943
a 1000 2000 3,000 4000 5000 6,000 ¢} 506 1000 1500 2000 2560 3,000

Tim Roberts Lucinda Bell (to 19 January 2018)

Head of Offices L __ £000  Chief Financial Officer . Fbow

2018 actual £1125 2018 actual ] £94)

2018 potential’ £2535 2018 potential’ £2.060

2017 actual m £953 2017 actual £1.002
Q 500 1,000 1500 2000 2,500 3000 0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2500 3,000
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Summary of Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy summarised below was approved by shareholders on 12 July 2016 The Policy wall apply untit the AGM 1n July 2019
The Remuneration Policy s set out in full n the 2016 Annual Report and 1s avallable on our website www.britishland.com/committees

Element of remuneration Link to strategy Framework
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

How we intend to apply our
Remuneration Policy during the
year commencing 1 April 2018

—_—

The following pages set out how the Commuittee intends to apply the Remuneration Policy during the coming year
Exceutive Directors’ remuneration

% Basic salaries

Basic salaries for our current Directors have been set at the following levels for the year commencing 1 Aprit 2018
Basic salary
£

Director

Chris Grigy 856,800
Charles Maudstey LERRYE
Tim Roberts 438075
Simon Carter [frem 21 May 2018) A85,000

FE Annual iIncentive awards

The maximum bonus opportunity for Executive Directors remains at 150% of salary The performance measures for the Annual Incentive
awards have been celected to reflect a range of quantitative and qualitative goals that support the Company s key strategic objectives
The performance measures and weightings for the year commencing 1 April 2018 will be as follows

Proportion of Annual
Incentive as a percentage

Measure of maximum opportumty
Quantitative measures 70%
Total Property Return relative to IPD lsector reweighted) 42
Profit growth relative to budget 24w
Qualitative measures 20%
Right Places - Progress on key projects including developments Ik
Cuslomer Qrientation - Company reputation with all stakehoiders 0%
Capital etticiency - Execution of targeted acquisitions and disposals 5%
- Progress on strengthening the dividend
Expert People - Promoting aninclusive, performance driven culture 5
Individual objectives Performance agamnst indiwvidual success factors 10%

The Commuttee has set targets for the quantitative measures for the commg year and will disclose these in the 2019 Remuneration Report
as they are felt to be commercially sensitive In assessing how the Executive Directers performed during the year commencing 1 Aprit 2018,
the Cormmittee will take inte account their performance against all of the measures and make an assessment in the round to ensure that
performance warrants the level of award getermined by the table above

As disclosed in 2017, the Committee agreed that for Annuat Incentive awards, tha sector weighted {PD March Annual Universe benchmark
{which includes sales, acquisiticns and developments and so takes into account active asset management as wetl as a more representative
peer group) would be most surtable However, due to timing of publication of the March Universe benchimark, the Company ¢ actual
performance against IPD metrics s unlikely to be known when the 2019 Annual Reportis approved by the Board The 2019 Remuneration
Report will therefore include an estimate of the vesting value of Annual Incentive awards for that financial year, with the actual awards,
based on the final IPD March Annual Universe Dala. set out in the following Annual Report lfor the year ending 31 March 2020]
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@ Long termincentive awards

An LTIP award will be rade to Executive Directors during the year commencing } Apnl 2018 1t 1s anticipated that the grant size of LTIP
awards will be 250% of salary for each Executive Director This continues 1o be below the maximum avaitable under the policy of 200%
of salary approved by shareholders in July 2016

The performance measures that apply to thrs LTIP award will be as follows

Measure Link tg strategy Measured relative to Weighting
Total Property Return [TPR] The TPR measure is destgned TPR performance will be assessed against the A%
The change incapital value, less  to link reward te strong performance of an {PD benchmark

any capital expendiure ncurred,  performance at the gross

plus net incame TPR s property level

expressed as a percentage of

capital employed over the LTIP

performance period and s

calculated by IPD

Total Accounting Return [TAR) The TAR measure s designedto  TAR will be measured retative to a comparator group A%,
The grewth in British Land s link reward to performance at consisting of the 17 largest FTSE property companies

EPRANAV per share plus the net property levei that takes  that use EPRA accounting bincluding British Land}

dividends per share paid over the  account of gearing and our

LTIP perfarmance penod distributions to shareholders

Total Shareholder Return [TSR]  The TSR measure is designed Half of the TSR measure will be measured retative to 204

The growth in value of a British
Land shareholding over the LTIP
performance perod, assurning
dividends are reinvested to
purchase addihionat shares

to directly correlate reward
with the return delivered
to shareholders

the perforrmance of the FTSE 100 and the other hait
will be measured relative to the performance of a
comparator group consisting of the 17 largest FTSE
property companies that use EPRA accounting
lincluding Brivish L and)

Performance against the LTIP measures will be assessed over a period of three years 100% of the proportion of the TAR and TSR awards
attached to each measure will vestf British Land s performance is at an upper quartle tevel If performance agamnst a measure 15 equal
to the median, 20% of the proporhien attached to that measure will vest andif performance 1% below median the proportion attached to

that measure witl tapse There will be straight-tine vesting between median and upper quartile performance for each measure

For the TPR award. 20% of the award witl vest for matching a sector weighted (PD index reflecting the Company s property assets,
There will be siraighi-lme vesting between thrs index performance and the trgher of 1 1x the index performance and 100 basis points
per annum cutperformance The Committee retains the discretion to reduce the formutaic vesting amount if it feels that there 15 3
material inconsistency between the level of reward and relative performance detivered

Non-Exceutive Divectors’ fees

Fees paid to the Chairman and Mon-Executive Directors are posttioned around the mid-market of our comparator group of companies

[F TSE 100 companies with broadly similar market capitabisations to British Land) with the aim of attracting individuals with the appropriate
degree of expertise and experience The fee structure set out below was adopted at the 2016 AGM and icorporates a 2 5% ncrease to the
annuat fee for the Non-Executive Directors and a 4 2% increase to the Chawrman < fee for the year commencing 1 April 2018

Charrman s annual fee £ 385,000

Non-Executive Directors annual fee 42 500
Senior Independent Director ¢ annual fee L0000
Audit Committee or Remuneration Committee Chairman's annuat fee 20,000
Audit Committee or Remuneration Comrittee member s annual fee {8,000
Nomination Cornmitiee mernber s annual tee t 4,000
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How we applied our

Remuneration Policy during
the year ended 31 March 2018

The following pages set out how we imptemented the Directors Remuneration Policy during the year ended 31 March 2018 and the
rermuneration recewved by each of the Directors

Single total Agure of remuneration (audited)
The following tables detail atl elements of remuneration recesvable by British Land s Executive Directers in respect of the year ended
31 March 2018 and show comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2017

Other
items in the Pensionor
Taxable nature of pension Annual Long term

Salary/fees benefits remuneration allowance incentives? incentives Total
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
Executive Directors €000 £0900 £000 £000 £000 £000 £o00
Chnis Grigg 840 22 15 294 724 349 2,244
Charles Maudsley Lbb 22 12 &7 370 164 1,081
Timn Roberts 448 23 12 89 3sd 173 1125
Lucinda Bell {to 19 January 2018 398 18 12 24 337 152 941

" [ o [ IS R P It el UL B N P U T L TATA SR CRA U L I TR R T VRIS [
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2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
€000 £060 £000 £000 €600 €600 £040
Chris Grigg H40 723 14 794, At 349 1738
Charles Maudsley Ahb 23 13 o7 731 163 943
Tim Roberts 448 23 12 845 727 163 Y453
Lucinda Bell A3 2 13 Ve 245 120 1,002

Notes to the single total figure of remuneration table

g% Fixed pay

Taxable benefits: Taxable bensfils include car allowance [between £16,170 and £16,800}, private medical insurance and subsidised gym
membership The Company provides the tax gross-up on subsidised gym membership and the figures included above are the grossed
up vatues

Other items in the nature of remuneration include Life assurance, permanent health insurance, annual medical check-ups, professionat
subscriptions, the value of shares awarded under the all-employee Share Incentive Plan and any notional gain on exercise of Sharesave
options that matured during the year

Pensions: Neither Chris Grigg nor Charles Maudsley participate in any British Land penston plan and instead receive cash allowances of
35% and 15% of basic salary respectively, In ligu of pension For the year ended 31 March 2018, these payrnents armounted to £294,000 and
£66.938 respectively Lucinda Bell and Tim Roberts are both members of the British Land Defined Benefit Pension Scherne The table below
details the definad benehit pansions accrued at 21 March 2018 [or date of leawing the Board in the case of Lucinda Bell)

Defined benefit

pension accrued at Normal
31 March 20187 retirement
Executive Director £000 age
Tim Roberts L] al
Lucinda Bell {to 19 January 2018] 107 gt
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There are no additional benefits that will becorne receivable by a Director in the event that a Director retires early
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Variabie pay

Annual Incentive FY18

The level of Annuat Incentive award is determined by the Comimiltee based on British Land s performance and each individual Exacutive
Director s performance against their indivigual targets gunng the year For the year ended 31 March 2018 the Commutiee s assessment

and outcomes are set out below
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@eﬁ Long term incentives

The information in the tong term incentives colurmn in the single total figure of remuneration table [see page 81) relates to vesting of awards
granted under the following schemes, mcluding, where applicable, dividend equivalent payrnents on those awards and interest accrued on
those dividend equivalents

Leng-Term Incentive Plan

The awards granted to Executive Directors on 22 June 2015, and whichwill vest on 22 June 2018, were subject to two equally weighted pertormance
ccnditions over the three-year period to 31 March 2018 The first measured Bribish Land's TPR relative to the funds in the Decermnber IPD UK Annual
Property Index (the Index), while the second measured TAR relative to 3 comparator group of British Land and 16 or so other property companies

The TPR element 15 expected to lapse, based on Briish Land s adjusted TPR of 7% when compared to the funds in the Index The TAR
element 15 atso expected to lapse based on British Land s TAR of 27% The actual vesting rate of the TPR and TAR elements can only be
calculated once results have been published by IPD and all the companies within the comparater group respectively The actual percentage
vesting will be confirmed by the Committee in due course and details provided in the 2019 Remuneration Report

Estimated value Estimated dividend

Performance Number of performance of award on vesting equivatent and interest

Executive Direclor shares or aption shares/foption awarded £000 €000
Chris Grigg Performance shares 104,949 0 0
Market value options 206, 49 ] {

Lucinda Bell Perfermance shares 121234 1} 1
Charles Maudsley Performance shares 109 at ] 8
Tim Roberts Perforrnance shares 109736 1 0

2017 comparative As set outinthe 2017 Annual Report, the 2014 LTIP awards tapsed in full on 22 June 2017 as expected

Matching Share Plan

The performance cenditions for the MSP Matching awards granted on 29 June 2015 were i} TSR relative to a comparater group of British
Land and 16 other property compantes and ln) British Land s gross mcome growth IGIG) relative to the IPD Quarterty Universe [the Universe]
These perfoermanca conditions are equally weighted The MSP Matching awards will vest on 29 June 2018

Korn Ferry Hay Group Limited [Korn Ferryl has confirmed that the TSR element of the award will vest at 0% as British Land s TSR
performance over the penod was -9 8% compared to a median of 40 6% for the comparator group The GIG element 15 expected to vest at
100% as British Land s annualised GIG over the period of 4 7% is expected to exceed the expected growth of the Universe by more than the
upper hurdle As aresult, 30% of the MSP Matching awards granted in June 2015 are expected to vest As drsclosed for the 2015 LTIP above,
the actual percentage vesting witl be contirmed by the Commitiee and details provided in the 2019 Remuneration Report

Number of Estimated value Estimated dividend

Matchsng Shares of award on vesting’ equivalent

Executive Director awarded £000 £000
Chris Grigg ' §4,348 308 41
Lucinda Bell 40,9450 134 18
Charles Maudsley 44,276 14 1%
Tim Roberts 46,687 133 20

2017 comparative InJune 2017 the Commuittee confirmed that the 2014 MSP Matching awards would vest as te 20% on the vesting date
{being 30 June 2017} The long term incentives figures in the 2017 comparatives of the single total figure of remuneration tabte have iherefore
been updated to reflect the actual share price en vesting (601 10 pencel rather than the average for the 90-day period used in the 2017 Annual
Report of 608 D78 pence
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share scheme interests awarded during the vear (audited)

Leng-Term Incentive Plan

The total value of each Executive Director s LTIP award for the year ended 31 March 2018 was equivalent to 250% of basic salary at grant
At grant each Director is able to indicate a preference as to the proportion of the award that they wish to receive as erther performance
shares or market value optrions The share price used to determune the face value of performance shares and the fair value of oplions,
and thereby the number of performance shares or options awarded, 15 the average over the three dealing days immediately prior to the
day of award For the award granted 1n June 2017, no Executive Director elected to receive market value options and the share price for
determining the number of performance shares awarded was 017 167 pence The performance conditions attached to these awards are
set out 1n the Rernuneration Policy approved by shareholders in July 2216 and summanised on page 80

Performance shares
Percentage vesting on

Number of Face End of achievement of minimum

Grant  performance valye performance Vesting performance threshold

Executive Director date shares granted £000 period date %
Chris Gingg 28/06/17 340,264 2,100 31/03/20 28/06/20 20
Charles Maudsley 2806417 180,760 116 3103120 28620 20
Tim Roberts 78/06417 180,763 116 31/03/20 78106120 70
Lucinda Bell 2806/ 199,707 1,732 31/03420 28/06/70 20

Sharesave Scheme

The following options were granted to Executive Direclors during the year under the all-employee Sharesave Scheme The exercise price s
set at 3 20% discount to the average market price of the Company < shares over the three dealing days immediately preceding invitation to
the Scheme The cost of exercice s et entirely by the Director and 15 accurulated by deductions from salary from grant to vesting

Totalto be
deducted Number of Earliest
from salary options Face value Exercise exercise
Executive Oirector Grant date €006 granted £0a9¢ price date Expirydate
Lucinda Beli 21706117 v 1,771 9 208 0/0%/20 28/u2/n

Directors’ sharcholdings and share interests (audited)

Directors shareholdings at 31 March 2018

The tollowing table shows the Executive Directors interests in tully paid ordinary British Land shares, inciuding shares held by connected
persons, MSP Bonus Shares, Annual Incentive Shares and shares held in the Share Incentive Plan Allinterests are beneficial

Holding at 31 March 2018

lor date of departure from Helding at
Director the Board, if earlier] 31 March 2017
Chris Grigg 1,297,818 1,257 368
Charles Maudsley 251,194 230,383
Tirn Roberts 265,748 264714
Lucinda Bell [at 19 January 2018) 246,41 27261398

Shareholding guidelines

The rmurimurn shareholding gquidetines require Executive Directors to hold ordinary shares with a vatue equal to a set percentage of salary
There ts no set imescale for Execubive Directors to reach the preseribed target but they are expected to retain net shares received on

the vesting of long term incentive awards until the target :5 achieved Shares that count towards the holding guideling are unfettered

and beneficiaily owned by the Executive Directors and their coninected persons Deferred annuat incentive shares, MSP Bonus Shares,
locked-in SIP shares and all unvested awards do not count towards the reguirement

The guideline shareholdings for the year commencing 1 Apnl 2018 are shown betow

Unfettered

Guideline as holding as Total holding as

percentage Unfettered percentage of Total apercentage

ot hasic Guideline holdingat  basicsalaryat shareholdingat of basic salaryat

Executive Director salary holding’ 31 March2018 31 March 2018 31 March 20182 31 March 2018
Chris Grigg 775% 294,393 1,232,204 942 1,797,818 Y97
Charles Maudsley 150% 104,764 217,143 312 201194 361
Tim Roberts 0% 104,264 230,230 331 760,748 387

edangsharapr Lo af 4420 onecor 29 Marsh 2018

Lelor - zhates 216 g5 fanle above whirt rode MSH Banus Shares ang aff shares taie m the Stk

The guideline shareholding for Simon Carter has also been set at 130% of salary
The sharehoiding guidetines for Executive Direclors were last increased with effect from 1 Aprit 2015 when the holding requirement for

each Director was increased by 25% of basic salary The Committee regularty reviews the guigelines together with the Executive Directors’
shareholdings, but has not preposed any change for the year commencing 1 April 2018
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Acquisitions of ordinary shares after the year end

The Executive Directors have purchased or been granted the foltowing fully paid ordinary Brtish Land shares under the terms of the

partnership, matching and dividend elements of the Share Incentive Plan

Date of
purchase ar Purchase Partnership Matching Dividend
Executive Director award price shares shares shares
Chris Griga 16/H46118 AL 79 23 4ty
D408 &7h 77 e
14705418 66 464 21 (v
Charles Maudsley 16/04118 (50 7Y 23 hé
U4/05/18 679 77 87
14/05/18 b96 464 21 "7
Tim Roberts 16/04118 boll /Y 723 A
D4/05/18 67577 201
1470518 494 464 21 L7
Unvested share awards
Number Subject to End of
cutstanding at performance performance
Executive Director Date of grant 31 March 2018 measures period Vesting date
Chiris Grigg LTIP performance shares YVTILTAR' 104 949 Yeo 21/03418 22/06/18
LTIF performance shares 22106416 729579 Yeo, 316319 22/08/19
LTIP performance shares 28706/17 J40 7604 Yo, /0320 28/16/20
MSP Matching Shares’ FETIVOAR V4,348 Yes, /G318 7908118
MSP Matching Shares 2970616 96,718 Yoo RREIRTAY 2911619
Charles Maudsley LTIP performance shares Ao 109,726 Yes 10318 22/06/18
LTiIP performance shares 221066 122 174 Yo /031 V20619
LTIP performance shares 2RI06M7 180,760 Yeu RAFIIRTV 28R40
MSP Matching Shares 2906015 44,226 Yeu 3/03/18 29006118
MSP Matching Shares Veatian 47 206 Yoo 3170501 290619
Tim Roberts LTIP performance shares’ PG ETAN 09,756 Yo 31703418 2206418
LTIF performance shares 22106716 61,088 Yig, /01 22106119
LTI performance shares 286417 181,760 Yee, 31037720 28/06/20
MS5P Matching Shares AT 46,682 Yoo, 31034 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares 20816 Aty ODoh Yers 31703719 29/05/19
Lucinda Betl LTIP performance shares 22/06/14 121,254 Yoo 3/63N48 22/06/14
LTIP pertormance shares 2206116 124,976 Yo, 10319 P20/ 19
LTIP performance shares 28f06/17 1449742 Yes 2103770 2806420
MSP Matching Shares 2H0EM15 40,950 Yoot /0318 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares 2910614 47706 Yerg, N3 29006/19
e U A Y et N B T P R L I B T N L T R S I IS s PR A S R Bl ¥
T e e e T N N A LT (s Pl ¢ VI « S L N B (TR ] S A R L I R E*R IR N B PR
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Unvested option awards [not avaitable to be exercised]
Number Option Subjecita End of Date
outstanding at price performance performance becomes Exercisable
Executive Director Date of grant 31 March 2018 pence measures pericd exercisable until
Chris Grigg LTIP optigns' DA 2064599 B4 5 Yer, 038 22006010 220842,
T Roberts Sharesave opticns 00/ 2OAR S0 Mo n/a DY 2802019
Sharesave options 206714 3135 A No nfa D/0%TY 290
LTIP options P2L0A4 204,303 7305 Yirn SO 220601 22006426
Lucinda Bell Sharesave options: 27106015 1791 a7 Nu nda o QLU 2BAGZAY
Sharesave options 21/06/17 1 RN No o OIR0 2RIG A
[ R M ! [ B O AR (L R Gl T T Tt e
Lo o I L T S R L T L AT A N (LI L T R I 1 R B APRVI
ol
teo I K T VA 1) [ S| |
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Vested option awards {available to be exercised)

Number
outstanding Option
at 31 March price Exercisable
Executive Director Date of grant 2018 pence until
Chris Grigg LTIP options 29/06/04 771 387 29/06/19
LTIP options n/ua/1a 1,073,825 447 11/06f20
LTIP oplions 28/06/11 95 A2 D7h  28/06/N1
LTIP options 14/09712 T4 494 038 140927
Lucinda Bell LTIP options N0 7902 447 1H0s/0
las at 19 January 2018} | 1ip opyons 1443210 11764 Ao 1A
LTIP options 1470912 138,289 D38 1470920
LTIP options 09/68/13 #7119 H#01 UH/08/23
TE s awe Gvested ar ne love ot 0f Jioander e pertor o s coat ans

Qptions exercised during the year ended 31 March 2018
Market price
op date of
NMumber  Option price  Date became Cate exercise
Executive Director Date ofgrant  exercised pence exercisable  exercised pence
Liucinda Sell Sharesave options 230614 1067 ¥ZA M7 2600218 &l 20
LTIP options 11/06/18) A0,000) LAY 110613 2040407 [

Taviments to past Directors (audited)

During the period from 19 January 2018 to 31 March 2018, Lucinda Bell remained an employee of British Land and received salary of £94.808
and taxable benefits of £4.223 Luainda remamed a member of the SIP until her departure from British Land on 4 April 2018 Under the Rutes
of the SIP, Lucinda received matching shares in February and March 2018 with a total vaiue of €603 In addition, Lucinda will recerve an
additional £80,350 in relation to the Annual Incentive awards for the year ended 31 March 2018 which related to the penod after she had
stepped down from the Beard A contribution of £10,000 plus VAT was also made to Lucinda s legal fees

Payments to Lucinda Bell on leaving British Land (audited)

After over 25 years at British Land, Lucinda Bell infermed the Board in October 2017 of her intention to stand down from the Board and to
leave the Company Foliowing the completion of the search for a reptacement Chief Financial Officer, Lucinda Bett stood down from the
Board on 19 January 2018 and Left Bntish Land as planned on 4 Apnt 2018 Lucinda s remuneration terms on leaving were in line with the
Remuneration Policy approved by sharehotders at the 2016 AGM

Lucinda received her salary and employment benefits in full to the date of her departure and will receive payments in Lieu of notice for the
remainder of her 12-month notice period to 4 October 2018 The maximum armount payable for this period comprises base salary of £246,500,
car allowance of £8,250, pension contributions/allowance of £52,500 and the value of other benefits of £2 546 These payments may be
reduced by the value of any alternative paid ermnployment secured during this period Ac mentioned inthe Committee Chairman’s (etter on
page 76, Lucinda s eligible for an annual bonus for the 2017/18 hinancial year, subject to the satisiaction of a combination of corperate and
personal objectives. in line with the Rermuneration Policy, two-thirds of any annual bonus will be paid in cash and one-third wili be used to
purchase British Land shares which must be held for a further pericd of three years

Lucinda ceased to participate in the Company s ali-employee employee share plans on departure and any unvested Sharesave awards
lapsed at that ime Lucinda's vested executive share awards remain exercisable until 4 October 2018

The Committee determined that Lucinda be treated as a good leaver under the Company s executive share plans Consequently,
awards {including any dividend equivalents] will continue to vest on the normal vesting dates subject to the extent to which the applicable
performance criteria have been met and where relevant any time pro-rating reduction applied The vesting levels of these awards will be
confirmed m the Annual Reports for 2019 and 2020 respectively

Other disclosures

Service contracts

Al Executive Directors have [and in the case of Simen Carter, wall have] rolling service contracts with the Company which have notice periods
of 12 months on either side

Normal notice Normalhotice

Date of setvice period to be given periodteo be given

Director contrac! by Company by Pirectar
Chiis Grigg 19/12/7008 12 menths 17 months
Charles Maudsley 03/11/200% 17 manths 12 months
Tirn Roberts 14/11/2006 12 moenths 12 months
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in accordance with the Code, all contimuing Directors stand for election or re-election by the Company s shareholders on an annual basis
The Directors service contracts are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Company s registered office and at the
Annual General Meeting The Company may terminate an Executive Director s appointment with immediate effect without notice or payment
i lieu of notice under certain circumstances, prescnbed within the Executive Director s service contract

Executive Directors’ external appointments
Executive Directors may take up one non-executive directorship at ancther FTSE company, subject to British Land Board approval

Chris Grigg was appomted a non-executive director of BAE Systerns plc on 1 July 2012 During the year to 31 March 2018, Chris received
a fee of £83,845 lincluding £5.845 of overseas travel allowances and benetits deemed to be taxablel from BAE Systerns ple, whech he
retained in full {2017 £84.000) Lucinda Betl was appointed a non-executive director of Rotork ple on 10 July 2014 During the period from
1 April 2017 to 19 January 2618, when she stood down from the Board. Lucinda received a fee of £45125 from Rotork ple, which she
retained n full (2017 £47.910)

Relative importance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amount spent on remuneration of all emptoyees {including Executive Directors] relative to the amount spent on
distributions to shareholders for the years to 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 The remuneration of employees increased by 2 4% relative to
the prior year, while distributions to shareholders increased by 2% Distributions to sharehelders include ordinary and, where offered, scrip
dividends No scrip alternative was offered during the year ended 31 March 2018 The graph also shows the split between property income
distributions [PID} and non-property inceme distributions (non-PID)

Relative importance of spend on pay Rernuneration of employees Distributions to shareholders
inctuding Directors ® P10 cash dividends paid
_ £85m B Wages and salaries to shareholders
2017/18 . ;
w&@ £302m M Annual Incentives # PID tax withholding
B Socisi security costs Non-PID cash dividends
2016/17 _ £83m W Pencion costs paid to sharehelders

S £296m B cquity-settled share-based
payments

Total shareholder return and Chief Executive's remuneration

The graph balow shows British Land s total shareholder return for the mine years from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2018 against that of the FTSE
Reat Estate investmant Trusts (REIT) Total Return Index for the same period The graph shows how the total return on a £100 investrnent in
the Company made on 1 Apnil 2009 would have changed over the nine-year period measurad, compared with the total return ona £100
investment in the FTSE REIT Total Return Index The FTSE REIT Total Return Index has been selected a5 a surtable comparator becausetis
the index in which British Land s shares are classified

Total Sharecholder Return
Rebased to 102, 1 April 2009

| T S R T N -] SLAD - = e Te s
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The base point required by the regulations governing Remuneration Report disclosures was close to the bottorn of the property cycle
at TApri 2009 Since British Land < share price had not fallen as much as the average share price of the FTSE REITs sector at that tume,
a higher base point for subsequent growth was set
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The table below sets cut the total remuneration of Chris Grigyg, Chiet Executive, over the same period as the Total Shareholder Return graph
The quantur of Annual Incentive awards granted each year and long term incentive vesting rates are given as a percentage of the maximum

opportunity available

Chief Executive 2009/10 2010/ 2011/12 201213 201314

2014115 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Chief Executive 5 single total figure

of remuneration [£000) 287 2309 5,350 4,810 o 398

Annual Incentive awards against
maximum opportunity (%] 67 3

Long term incentive awards
vesting rate agamst maximum
opportunity (%) nfa n/a

IR Ta

o

79

70

98

6051 3623 19738 2244
R &7 33 a7
93 04 15 16

Chief Executive’s remuneration compared to remuneration of British Land employees
The table below shows the percentage changes i different elements of the Chief Executive s remuneration relative to the previous financial
year and the average percentage changes in those elements of remuneration for employees based at 8ritish Land s head office over the

same period Head office employees have been chosen as an appropriaie comparator group for this purpose as employees based at British
Land s head office carry out work of the most ssmilar nature to the Chief Executive

Average change

Value of Chief Executive Value of Chief Executive Change in Chief Executive 1 remuneration of
remuneration 2018 remuneration 2017 remuneration British Land employses
Remuneration element £000 £300 % Y%
Salary 8Le K41 0 68
Taxable benetits 22 23 IR 74
Annual incentive 724 418 81 218
Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration {audited)
The table below shows the fees paid Lo our Non-Executive Direclors for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017
Fees Taxab{e benefits' Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
John Gildersieeve [Chairman] 3869 RIS 43 A9 412 418
Lynn Bladden 69 69 1 1 70 il
Alastair Hughes lfrom 1 January 2018) 17 - 17
Willtam Jackson 100 §7 - 100 Y
Nicholas Macpherson lfrom 19 December 2016} 69 17 - 69 17
Preben Prebensen [from 1 Septernber 2017} 40 - 40
Tim Score 93 BY - 93 Ry
Laurz Wade-Gery 59 [ 1 70 he
Rebecca Worthington ffrom 1 January 2018) 17 - 17
Aubrey Adams [to 21 December 2017) 52 49 - 52 A9
Simon Borrows [to 18 July 2017) 21 69 - 21 oY
Lord Turnbull {to 18 July 2017) 25 8Y - 25 79
Coxable porett s Tl e UHa 0 3 NaNt L oS and exprensCR I U sGry her Neo Exeatve Pretare T o= Tennarvprovias the lax gross g or T e
Bolicl te o et e s st w e aE oy, ;l‘i’””;}ff)' ML e
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Shareholding (andited)

Although there are no shareholding guidelines for Non-Executive Directors, they are each encouraged to hold shares in British Land

The Company facilitates this by offering Non-Executive Directors the ability to purchase shares quarterly using their post-tax fees During
the year ended 31 March 2018, Lynn Gladden, William Jackson, Tim Score and Laura Wade-Gery have each received shares m full or part
satisfaction of their Non-Executive Directors fees

The table below shows the Non-Executive Directors sharehotdings s at year end or the date of retirement from the Beard if earlier

Holding at Holding at
Director 31 March 2018 31 March 2017
John Gildersleeve 5,220 5.27U
Lynn Gltadden 13,950 7837
Alastair Hughes 7,274 -
Witblarn Jackson 128,123 173804
Nicholas Macpherson 4,600 2300
Preben Prebensen - -
Tim Score 34,134 224800
Laura Wade-Gery B.05% 481
Rebecca Worthington 3,000 -
Aubrey Adams [as at 31 Decemnber 2017) 30,000 30,000
Simon Borrows las at 18 July 2017) 300,000 300,00
Lord Turnbull las at 18 July 2017) 23,258 21,208

Inaddition, on 11 Aprit 2018, the foliowing Non-Executive Directors were altotted shares at a price of 645 2675 pence per share in full or part
salisfaction of thair fees

Non-Executive Director Shares alletted
Lynn Gladden 1.aoll
Willlam Jackson 1.017
Tim Scere 281
Laura Wage-Gery E
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Letters of appointment (audited)
All Non-Executive Directors have a Letter of appointment with the Company The effective dates of appointment are shown below

Director Effective date of appointment

John Gildersteeve [Chairman) 1 September 2008 {Non Executive Directon], 1 lanuary 2013 1Chan manj
Lynn Gladden 20 March 2010

Alastair Hughes 1 January 7078

William Jackson T Apnl 2011

Nicholas Macpherson 19 December 7006

Preben Prebensen 1 September 2017

Timn Scare 20 Match 2014

Laura Wade-Gery 13 May 2010

Rebecca Worthingion i January 2018

All continuing Non-Executive Direclors stand for elechon or re-election on anannual basis The letlers of appaimtment are available for
nspection durtng normal business hours at the Company's registered office and at the AGM

The appoirtment of the Chairman or any Non-Executive Directors may be terminated immediately without notice if they are not reappointed
by shareholders or if they are removed from the Board under the Company s Articles of Association or if they resign and do not offer
themselves for re-election Inaddition, appointments may be terminated by either the individual or the Company giving three months writien
notice of terrmination or, for the Chairman, six months’ written notice of termination

Neither the Chairman nor the Non-Executive Directors are entitled to any compensation for loss of office for any reason other than accrued
and unpaid {ees and expenses for the period up to the termnation

Remuneration Commitiee membership

Membership of the Committee was changed during the year with the rettrement of Lord Turnbull and appointment of Preben Prebensen
As at 31 March 2018, and throughout the year under review, the Cormmuttee was comprised whelly of independent Non-Executive Directors
The members of the Commuttee, together with attendance at Commyttee meetings, are sel outinthe table below

Date of appointment

Director Posttion [to the Cemmittee] Date of resignation Attendance
William Jacksen Chairman 14 January 2013 66
Lynn Gladden Member 20 March 2015 6ib
Preben Prebensen Member September 2017 414
Laura Wade-Gery Member 13 May 2015 676
Lord Turnbull Member 1 Aprid 200 18 July 2017 202

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Comemuttee meetings were also part attended by John Gildersleeve {Company Chairman), hers Grigg
[Chief Executivel, Lucinda Bell {Chief Financiat Officer), Charles Maudsiey [Executive Director), Elatne Willams [Company Secretary and
General Counsel to 31 August 2017), Bruce James linterim Company Secretary from 1 September 2017 to 15 January 2018), Brona McKeown
[General Counsel and Company Secretary from 15 January 2018} and Ann Henshaw [HR Director] other than for any item relating to thewr own
remuneration Arepresentative from Korn Ferry also routinely attends Committee meetings

The Committee Chairman holds regular meetings wath the Chairman, Chief Executive and HR Director to discuss all aspects of ramuneration

within Britishi Land He also meets the Commitiee’s independent remuneration advisers, Korn Ferry, prior to each substantive meeting to
discuss matters of governance, remuneration policy and any concerns they may have

90 British Land ' Annudl Repoi t and Accounts 2018



How the Committee discharged its responsibilities during the year
The Committee s role and responsibilities have remained unchanged during the year and are set outin full inits terms of reference which
can be found on the Company s website www.britishland.com/committees The Committee s key areas of responsibility are

- Setting the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and the Company Chairman, reviewing the remuneration pelicy and strategy
for members of the Execuiive Committee and other members of executive management, whilst having regard to pay and employment
conditions across the Group

- Determining the total Indrvidual remuneration package of each Executive Director, Executive Committee member and other members
of management

- Monitoring performance agamnst conditions attached to all annual and tong term incentive awards to Executive Directors, Executive
Committee and other members of management and approving the vesting and payment outcomes of these arrangements

- Selecting, appointing and setting the terms of reference of any independent remuneration consultants

In addition to the Committee s key areas of responsibility, during the year ended 31 March 2018, the Comrmittee also considered the
following matters

- Rewviewing and recommending to the Board the Remuneration Report to be presented for shareholder approval

- Appraisal of the Chairman s annuat fee, remuneration of the Executive Directors including achievement of corporate and individual
performance, and pay and Annual fncentive awards below Board level

- Considering the extent to which performance measures have been met and, where appropriate, approving the vesting of Annual Incentive
and long term incentive awards

- Granting discretionary share awards, reviewing and setting performance measures tor Annual Incentive awards

- Constdering the impact of the share buyback on mcentive plans

- Reviewing the Commuttee s terms of reference

- Considering gender pay gap reporting reguirements

~ Departure terms for Lucinda Beli

- Recrutment terms for Simon Carter

- Recewing updates and traming ¢n corperate governance and remuneration matlers from the independent remuneration consuitant

Remuneration consultants

Korn Ferry was appointed as independent remuneration adviser by the Commuttee on 21 March 2017 foliowing a competitive tender process
Korn Ferry s a member of the Remuneration Consultants Greup and adheres to that group s Code of Conduct The Committee assesses the
advice given by its advisers to satisfy itself that 1t 1s ohjective and independent The advisers have private discussions with the Committee
Chairman at least once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct of the Remuneration Consultants Group Fees, which are charged on
a ime basis, were £129 246 lexcluding VAT) Korn Ferry also provided general remuneration advice to the Corpany during the year

Voting at the Annual General Meeting
The table below shows the voting cutcomes of the resolutions put to shareholders regarding the Directors’ Remuneration Report {at the AGM
in July 2017) and the Remuneration Pclicy [at the AGM i July 2014)

Votes Total votes Votes
Resolution Votes for % for against % against cast withheld
Directors’ Remuneration Report (2017) T2 R AGH 98 24 17 935,360 176 735.0733.878 10721061
Directors Remuneration Policy (2016} V2704 638 Y713 21,494 164 287 VAB.638 8U4 L B6Y.489

This Remuneration Report was approved by the Board on 16 May 2018

William Jackson
Charman of the Rermnuneration Commitiee
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Directors’ Report and additional disclosures

The Dsrectors present their Feport on the affairs of the Group,
together with the sudited hnancial statements and the report of the
audrtor for the year ended 31 March 2018 The Directors’ Reportis
also the Management Report for the vear ended 31 March 2018 for
the purpose of Disclosure and Transparency Rule 4 18R Information
that1s relevant to this Report, and which is incorporated by reference
and including information required in accordance with the UK
Companies Act 2006 and Listing Rule @ 8 4R, can be located in the
following sections-

Information Sectionin Annual Report Page
Future developments of the Strategic Report 8to 25
business of the Company

Risk factors and principal risks Strategic Report  48to 33
Firancial instruments — Strategic Report 45t 47
risk management objectives

and policies

Dividends Strategic Report 43
Sustamability governance Strategic Report N
Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 21
Viabitity and going concern Strategic Report 51 and 67
statements

Governance arrangements Governance 6210 71
Emplayment policies and Strategic Report 17 and 30
ermployee involvernent

Capitalised interest Financial statements 119 to 120
Additional unaudited Other information 164 to 176

financialintormation unaudited

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The 2018 AGM will be held at 11 00am on 17 July 2018 at

The Montcatm London Marble Arch, 2 Wallenberg Place, London
WiIH 77N

A separate circutar, comprising a letter from the Chairman of the
Board, Notice of Meeting and explanatory notes on the resotutions
being proposed, has been crculated to sharehotders and s available
on our website al www.britishland.com/agm

Articles of Assuciation

The Company s Articles of Association [Articles) may only be
amended by special resolution at a general meeting of shareholders
Subject to applicable law and the Company s Articles, the Directors
may exercise all powers of the Company

The Articles are available on the Company s website at
www.britishland.com/governance
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. Board of Directors

The names and brographical details of the Oirectors and detalls

of the Board Committees of which they are members are set out

" on pages 58to 61 and incorporated nto this Report by reference

. Changes to the Directors during the year and up to the date of this

' Reportare set out on page 6! The Company s current Articles

- reguire any new Director to stand for election at the next AGM
following their appointment The current Articles also require each

" Director to stand for re-election at the third AGM following their

. elaction However, i accordance with the Code and the Company s

| current practice, alt continuing Directors offer themselves for

. election of re-election, as required, at the AGM

Details of the Directors interests 1n the shares of the Company and

any awards granted to the Executive Directors under any of the
' Company s all-employee or executive share schemes are given In
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 21 The Service
Agreements of the Executive Directors and the Letters of Appomntrent
i of the Non-Executive Directors are also surnmanised in the Directors
Remuneration Report and are avallable for inspection at the Company s
registered office

The appointment and reptacernent of Directors 1s governed by the
Company s Articles, the Code, the Compamies Act 2006 and any
related legisiation The Board may appoint any personto be a
Director <o long as the total number of Directors does not exceed
the bmit prescribed in the Artictes Inaddition to any power of
rernoval conferred by the Companies Act 2006, the Company may

i by ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiry of therwr
periog of office

Directors’ interests in contracts and confliets

of interest

No contract existed during the year in relation to the Company s
business i which any Director was mateniatly interested

The Company s protedures for managing conflicts of interest by the
Directors are set out on pane 66 Prowvisions are also contained in the
Company s Articles which allow the Directors to authorise potential
confiicts of interest

i

Direetors’ Hability insurance and indemnity

The Company maintains apprapriate Directors & Officers liability
tnsurance cover wrespect of any potential legal action brought
againstits Directors

The Company has atso indemnified each Director to the extent
I permutted by law agamnst any bability incurred i relgtion to acts or
ornissions arising N the ordinary course of their duties The indemmnity
arrangements are qualifying \indemnity provisions under the
Compamies Act 2006 and were in force throughout the year



Share capital

The Company has one class of shares, being ordinary shares of

25 pence each, all of which are fulty paid The rights and obligations
attached to the Company s shares are set out in the Articles There
are ne restrictions on the transfer of shares except inrelation to
Real Estate Investment Trust restrictions

The Directors were granted authonity at the 2017 AGM te atlot
relevant securtttes up to a nominal amount of £85,817956 as well as
an additional authonity to allot shares to the sarme value on a rights
1ssue This authority will apply until the conclusion of the 2018 AGM
At this year's AGM, shareholders will be asked to renew the authority
to allot relevant securities

At the 2017 AGM, the Directors were also given power by the
shareholders to make market purchases of ordinary shares
representing up to 10% of #s 1ssued capital at that time, being
102.981.547 ordinary shares This authority will alse expire at the
2018 AGM and 1t 15 proposed that the renewal of that authority will
ke sought

In July 2017, the Board decided that the strength of the investment
market and the continuing discount in the Company s share price
meant that the best use of capital would be to undertake a share
buyback Asaresult, during the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Company repurchased 47.607.13% ardinary shares of 25 pence each
for en aggregate consideration of £200 mullion This represents

4 85% of the 1ssued share capital lexcluding shares held in Treasury!
at that date All shares repurchased during the year were cancelled

The Company continued to hold 11,266,245 ordinary sharesin
treasury during the whole of the year ended 21 March 2018 and
to the date of thus Report

Further detaiis refating to share capital, including movements during
the year, are set outin note 20 to the financial statements

Rights under an employvee share scheme

Employee Beneht Trusts [EBTs) operate in connection with some of
the Company's employee share plans The trustees of the EBTs may
exercise all rights attached to the Company s ardinary shares in
accordance with their fiduciary duties other than as specifically
restricted in the documents which govern the retevant employee
share plan

Waiver of dividends

Blest Limuted acts as trustee {Trustee) of the Comnpany 5
discretionary Empleyee Share Trust [EST) The EST holds and, from
time to time, purchases British Land ordinary shares in the market,
for the benefit of employees. Including to satisfy cutstanding awards
under the Company's varous executive employee share plans
Adividend walver 15 in place trom the Trustee nrespect of all
dividends payable by the Company on shares which if holds in trust

|
|
|
|
I
)

. Substantial interests

I All notifications made to Britich Land under the Disclosure and

" Transparency Rules [DTR 5] zre published on & Regulatory

" Information Service and made avatlable on the Investors section
of our website

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had been netified of the
following interests inits erdinary shares in accordance with DTR 5
The infermation prowided is correct at the date of notification

Interesis ia Percentage

ordmary holding

shares disclosed %

BlackRock, Inc 98113,953 298
MNorges Bank 51,439.043 499
GIC Private Limited 41121137 399

- APG Asset Management NV 39,851,884 400

Since year end, BlackRock, Inc has submitted a number of
notifications to the Comnpany, all of which have been disclosed to the
. market The latest notification dated 23 April 2018 advises that they

. indirectly hoid 98,224,793 ordinary shares, representing ¢ 9% of the
Company s 1ssued share capital

. Change of control

The Group s unsecured borrowing arrangements include provisiens
that may enable each of the lenders or bondholders to request
repayment or have a put at par within a certain period following a
change of control of the Company In the case of the Sterling bond
this arises it the change of control also results in a rating doewngrade
to below investment grade Inthe case of the convertible bond there
may alzo be an adjustment to the conversion price applicable for a
Limuted peniod following a change of controt

There are no agreements between the Company and its Directors
or employees providing for compensation for loss of office or
empioyment that occurs specifically because of a takeover, merger
or amalgamation with the exception of provisions in the Company s
share plans which could result i options and awards vesting or
becoming exercisable on a change of control

Pavments policy

We recognise the importance of good supplier relationships to the
overall success of our business We manage dealings with suppliers
n a fair, consaistent and transparent manner

Events after the balance sheet date
Details of subsequent events, if any, can be found 0 note 26 on page 146

Political donations
The Company made no political donations during the year (2017 nil)
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JOMmmunity investment
Cur financial donatiors to good causes during the year totailed

£1,687.000 12017 £1.331.000} Our Community lnvestment Committee

approves all expenditure from our Commurity Investment Fund and
reports to the Execulive Comprittee on an annual basis

In addition, the Company also supports fundraising and payroll giving

for causes that matter to staff This support includes

- 50% uplitt of statf payroll giving conteibutions [capped at £5,000
per person and £30,000 per annum for the whole organization)

- Astaff matched funding pledge, matching money raised tor
charity by statf up to £730 per person per year

We also support fundraising by the teams managing our retail and
office properties around the UK by

- Matching up to £1,000 for site fundraising initiatives per year,
per location

- Extending our staff matching funding pledge o on site employees
of Broadgate Eslates Limited. our wholly-owned subsidiary

Cur community investment s guided by our Local Charter, which
we updated in 2018 1o ncrease locus on five prionities around
our places

- Connecting with local cornmurmties

- Supporting educational inttiatives for local people

- Supportinglocal traiming and jobs

- Supporting local businesses

- Contributing to local people s wellbeing and enjoyment

Through our commuruty mvestment and Local Charter activity, we
connect with communities where we operate, make positive local

contributions, help people fulhi their potential, help businesses grow,
and promote wellbeing and enjoyment This all supports our strategy

to create Places People Prefer

Community
inyestrnent in
aetion

Yourg peop's takme
Pl one bt e
scrshie Sl e
Lz FoLeRen
L) Fpahs e

vt st

a
=il

94 British Land | Annual Report and Ace ounts 2018

Health and safety

We have retained formal recognition of our focus on health and
satety through a successiut audit of our OHSAS 18001 accredilation
We continue to improve our approach to health and safely
rmanagement to ensure that we cansistently achieve best practice
across all activities in the business {construction, managed portfotio
and head office] to deliver Places Peopte Prefer to our ernployees

and our customers

RIDDOR* for the vear ended 31 March 2018

Totat RIDDOR

incidents Ingury rate
2018 2017 2018 2047
Construction 3 2 0.13 0.08  per 100,000
hours waorked
Retall 30 22 0.01 oo per 100,600
footfall
DHices 4 8 12.88 2351 per 100,060
workers
Head Office 0 0 0 0 per 100000
futt time
eguivalents
R e L T L L e =a B uta eS0T

Auditor and disclosure of information
Each of the Directors at the date of approval of this Report
confirms that

- Sofarasthe Director 1s aware, there ts no relevant audit
information that has not been brought to the attention of the
auditor

- The Director has taken all cteps that he/she should have taken
to make himselifherself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company s atuditor was aware of
that information

PwC has indicated its witlingness to rernamn in office and, on the
recornrmendation of the Audit Comrmiitee, a resolution to reappoint
PwE€ as the Company s auditor will be proposed at the 2018 AGM

i
 The Directors Reportwas approved by the Board on 16 May 2018

!

i

and signed onts behatf by

Brona McKeown
Genearal Counsel and Company Secretary

| The Brinsh Land Company PLC

Company Mumber 621920



DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the financial statemnents in accordance with applicable taw
and regulation

Company law reguires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year Under that law the Directors have prepared
the Group financial staternents in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union and the parent Company financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
[United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101
Reduced Disclosure Framawork . and applicabla law]

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements uniess they are satisfied that they give a true and far

view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit |

or loss of the Group and Cemnpany for that period In preparmg the
financial statements, the Directors are required te

- Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently

- State whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union
have been followed for the Group financial statements and Urited
Kingdom Accounting Standards, compiising FRS 104, have been
followed for the parent Company financial statements, subject to
any materiat departures disclosed and explained in the financiat
statements

- Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent

- Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume thai the Group and Company
witl continue In business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company s transaciions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial pesition of the Group and Company and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors
Remuneration Report comply with the Cormnparies Act 2006 and, as
regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other wrregularities

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the Company's website Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissermination of financial statements may difter
from legrslation tn other jurisdictions

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and accounts, taken
as awhole 1s tar, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and the
Company s performance, business model and strategy

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the
Board of Directors on pages 58 to o0 confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge

- The Company financial staterments, which have been prepared in
accordance with Ursted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [Umited Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
10% Reduced Disclosure Framework , and applicable tawl, give
atrue and fair view of the assets, habilities, financial posttion
and profit of the Company

- The Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give
atrue and fair view of the assets, habilities, financial pesition
and profit of the Group

- The Strategic Report and the Directors Report inctude a far
review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the Group and Company, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces

By order of the Board

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive
16 May 2018
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Financial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC

Report on the audit of the inancial statements
Opinion
In our opmion

- The British Land Company PLC s Group financial statements and
Company financial statements {the " financial statements J qive a
true and fair view of the state of the Group s and of the Company s
affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of the Group s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended,

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,

- the Company financial statements have been groperly prepared in
accordance with Urnted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdemn Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 Reduced Disclosure framework , and applicable lawl, and

- the financral statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the {AS Regulation

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual
Report and Accounts 2018 [the Annuat Report }, which comprise

- the Consclidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018,

- the Consolidated Income Staternent for the year ended
31 March 2018,

- the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the
year ended 31 March 2018,

- the Consoclidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2008,

- the Consclidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year
ended 31 March 2018,

- the Company Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018,

- the Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018, and

- the notes to the financial statements, which include a description
of the ssanificant accounting policies

Our opinion 1s consistent wath our reporting te the Audit Commuittee

Basis for opimion

We conducted our audit inaccordance with International Standards
on Auditing [UK] [ 15As [UK] ) and applicable law Our responsibitities
under ISAs IUK) are further described in the Auditors responsibitities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained s sufficient

and apprepriate to provide a basis for cur opiion

Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant o our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC s Ethucal Standard, as
applicable to Usted public mterest entities, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accardance with these requirements

To the best of aur knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audst
sarvices prohibited by the FRC s Ethical Standard were not provided
to the Group or the Company

Other than those disclosed in note 5 to the fingncial statements, we
have provided no non-audit services to the Group or the Company in
the period from 1 Aprit 2017 10 31 March 2018

Our audit approach

Overview

- Our 2018 audit was planned and executed having regard to the fact
that the Group's operations were largety unchanged in nature
from the prewicus year Additionally, there have been no significant
changes to the valuation methodology and accounting standards
relevant to the Group In light of this, our approach to the audit in
terms of scoping and key audit matters was targely unchanged
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- We tarlored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed
encugh waork to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole The Group financial statements are
prepared on a consolidated basis, and the auditteam carries out
an audit over the consolidated Group balances in support of the
Group audit opinion The following joint ventures are also audited
to Group materislity Broadgate and Meadowhall

Materiality

~ Overall Group materiality €131 8 rmttlion 12017 £135 0 mullien),
based on 1% of total assets

- Specific Group mateniality, applied to underlying prohit, £12 6 rmillion
[2017 €19 4m)which represents 5% of underlying pre-tax profit

- Overali company matenality £2870 million (2017 £283 0 million),
based on 1% of total assets

Key audit matters

- Valughon of investment and development properhes
- Revenue recogmiition

- Accounting for fransactions

- Taxation

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and

. gssessed the risks of material misstatement inthe financial
H
statements In particular, we looked at where the directors made

subjective judgements, for example in respect of sigruficant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and
considering future events that are imherently uncertam

We gained an understanding of the legal and regutatory framework
applicabie to the Group and the industry in which it operates, and
considered the risk of acts by the Group which were contrary to
applicable taws and regulations, including fraud We designed audit
procedures to respond to the risk, recagnising that the risk of nat
detecting a3 material misstatement due to fraudis higher than the
risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may nvolve

" deliberate concealment by, tor example, forgery or intentional

misrepreseniations, or through cotlusion We focused on laws and
regulations that could give rise to a material misstaternent in the
finrancial statements, including, but not timited to, the Companies Act
2006 and the UK tax legislation as applicabte to a REIT

Our tests included, but were not imited to, review of the financial
statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation, and
enquiries of management and review of minutes of those charged
with governance

There are inherent innitations in the audit procedur es described
ahove and the further removed non-compliance with taws and
regulations s from the evenls and transactions reflected in the
financiat statements, the {ess bkely we would becorne aware of it

We did not identify any key audit matters relatinyg to irreqularites,
including fraud Asin all of our audits we also addressed the risk ot
management override of internal controls, including testing journats
and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors

i that represented a risk of material misstaternent due to fraud

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’
professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial staternents of the current period and inctuge the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement [whether or not
due to fraud) identified by the auditors, ncluding those which had
the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy; the allocation of
resources i the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement
team These matters, and any comments we make on the results of
our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financiel statements as a whole, and in formung our opimion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opimon on these mattars
This 1s not a comptlete Ust of all risks 1dentified by our audit



Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties — Group
Refer to pages 69 to 73 [Report of the Audit Comimuttee), pages 109 to
11 lAccounting pelicies] and pages 119 to 123 INotes to the Accounts)

The Group s investment property portfolio s split between otfice i
Central London, retail across the UK, the assets at the Canada Water
site in East Londen and other properties in Central London The
valuation in the Consolidated Balance Sheet 1s £8.997 mithion

The valuatton of the Group s investment property portfolio is
inherently subjective dyue to, among other factors, the individual
nature of each property, its location and the expected future reptals
for that particular property For developrnents, factors include
projected costs to complete and timing of practical completion

The valuations were carried out by third party vatuers, CB Richard
tllis, Jones Lang LaSalle, Cushman and Wakefield and Knight Frank
[the vaivers ) The valuers were engaged by the Directors, and
performed their work in accordance with the Royal Inshitute of
Chartered Surveyors | RICS ) Valuation - Professional Standards
The valuers used by the Group have considerabte expenience of the
markets i which the Group operates

In deterrmining a property s valuation the valuers take into account
property-specific mformation such as the current tenancy
agreements and rental income They apply assumptions for yields
and estimated market rent, which are inHuenced by prevailing
market yields and comparabie market transactions, to arrive at

the final valuation For developments, the residual appraisal method
s used, by estimating the fair value of the completed project using

a capitalisation method {ess estimated costs to completicnand a
ISk premium

The signthicance of the estimates and judgements ivolved. coupled
with the fact that only a smnall percentage difference in individual
property vatuations, when aggregated, could result in a mater:al
misstaternent, warrants specific audit focus 10 this area

There were also certain specific factors affecting the valuations in
the year Properties under development, completed developments
that are now valued as standing investment properties and standing
investment properties that have been reclassified to development
properttes continue to be a key audit matter

We read the valuation reports for all the properties and confirmed
that the vatuation approach for each was in accordance with RICS
standards and sw:itable for use in determining the carrying value for
the purpose of the financiat staterments

We assessed the valuers qualifications and expertise and read their
terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether there
were any matters that might have affected thewr objechivity or may
have imposed scope hmitations upon their work We also considerad
fee arrangements between the valuers and the Group and other
engangements which might exist between the Group and the valuers
We found no evidence to suggest that the objectivity of the valuers

in their performance of the valuations was compromised

We obtained details of every property held by the Group and set an
expected range for yield and capital value movement, deterrmined by
reference to published benchmarks and using our experience and
knowledge of the market We compared the investment yields used by
the valuers with the range of expected yields and the year on year
capital movement to our expected range We also considered the
reasonableness of other assumphions that are not so readily comparable
with published benchmarks, such as Estimated Rental Value

We attended meetings with rmanagement and the valuers, at which
the valuations and the key assumptions therein were discussed

Our work covered the valuation of every property in the Group, but
the discussions with management and the valuers focused on the
largest propertiesn the pertfolio, properties under development or
where the valuation basis has changed in the year, the Canada Water
site and those where the yields used and / or year on year capital
value movement suggested a possible outlier versus externally
published market data for the relevant sector

Where assumptions were outside the expected range or otherwise
appeared unusual, and/or valuations showed unexpected
movements, we undertook further investigatiens and, when
necessary, held further discussions wath the valuers and obtained
evidence to suppeort explanations receved The valuation
commentaries provided by the valuers and supporting evidence,
enabled us to consider the property specific factors that may have
had animpact on value, including recent coemparable transactions
where appropriate

We saw evidence that alternative assumptions had been considered
and evaluated by management and the valuers, before determining
the final vatuation We concluded that the assumptions usedin the
valuations were supportable in light of available and comparable
market evidence

We performed testing on the standing data in the Group & iformation
systems concerning the valuation process We carried out
procedures, on a sample baws, to satisty curselves of the accuracy
of the property information supplied to the valuers by management
For developments, capitaliced expenditure was tested on a sample
basis to Invoices, and budgeted costs to complete compared with
supporting evidence {for example construction contracts)

It was evident from our interachion with management and the
valuers, and from our review of the valuation reports, that close
attention had heen paid to each properiy s ndmdual characteristics
at a granular, tenant by tenant tevel, as well as considering the
overatl quality, gecgraphic location and desirability of the asset a5
awhcle Noissuesweredentifiedin our testing
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Financialt statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC CONTINUED

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recoghition - Group
Refer to pages 69 to 73 [Report of the Audit Committeel, page 109
1o 111 {Accounting policies) and page 113 [Notes to the Accounts)

Revenue for the Group consists primarily of rental income Rental
income (s based on tenancy agreements where there is a standard
process i place for recording revenue, which 1s system generated
There are certaintransactions within revenue that warrant additional
audit focus because of anin¢reased inherent risk of error due to thew
non-standard nature

These include spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent
Increases - these balances require adjustments made to rentat
tncome to ensure revenue 1s recorded on a straight line basis over
the course of the lease

We carried out tests of controls over the cash and accounts receivable
processes and the related T systermns to obtain evidence that postings
tothese accounts were reliable Forrental income balances, we then
used data-enabled audit techniques to identify all standard revenue
Journals posted using these systems and processes

The remaining journals related to non-standard transactions
These included reclassifications within revenue, accrued income,
and bad debt provisions For each category of non-standard
revenue summarised above, we understood the nature and
assessed the reasonableness of journals bemg generated, and
performed substantive testing over a sample of these items
There wera no excepticns arising from our testing over
non-standard revenue transactions

For balances not included wathin rental incorme, such as service
charge mncome, we performed suhstantive testing on a sample basis
Noissues were dentified inour testing

Accounting for transactions - Group and Company
Refer 1o pages 69 to 73 |Report of the Audit Commttee). pages 109
to 111 lAccounting policies} and pages 112 to 147 (Notes)

There have been a number of transactions during the year.
These warranted additional audit focus due to the rmagnitude of
the transactions and the potential for complex contractual terme
that introguce judgement into how they were accounted for Key
transactions subject to additional audit focus for the Group were

- Investment property acquisitions of £250 mitlion, including the
acquisition of The Woalwich Estate | Woolwich' | for £103 mutlion

- investment property disposals of £183 mitlion

- Share buyback of £300 milhion

- lssue of 2 375% £300m unsecured bond

- Partial close out of interest rate derivative 103 [1RD 103 ] for
£14 1 mitlion cash settlement

- Anamount of £15m [the Group s share) receved from RES In
relation to the surrender of their tease at 123 Bishopsgate,
within the Broadgate joint venture

Key transactions subject to additional audit focus for the
Cornpany were

~ Share buyback of £300 millicn

For each transaction, we understood the nature of the transaction
and assessed the accounting treatment In relation to the Group s
accounting policies and retevant IFRSs

For acquisitions and disposals, we obtained and read the key
supporting documentation such as Sale and Purchase Agreements
and completion statements Consideration recetved or paid was
agreed to hank statements

For the sites acquired at Woolwich which have been accounted for
as an asset acquisition, we assessed the accounting treatment in
relation to IFRS 3 Business combinations and 1AS 40, acquisition of
nvestment property We read the sale and purchase agreements
and agreed that the purchase met the criteria t¢ be recoghiced as
an asset acguisition We audited the acquisition accounting and the
subsegquent re-measurement to fair value at the halance sheet date
We agreed the proceeds paid {0 bank statements and checked the
transfer of legal title of the assets pascsed to British Land Noissues
were found as a result of these procedures

For the share buyback, we read the broker contracts and audited

the accounting for the buyback in accordance with |AS 32, For shares
repurchased by the Group, we tested the subsequent cancellation

of the shares acquired and checked the associated costs of the
transaction were correctly recegnised within reserves [retained
earnungs) From our auditt procedures performed, no exceptions
were noted in the accounting for the share buyback pregramme

A2 375% Sterling Unsecured Bond, maturing Septernber 2029, was
1ssued in September 2017 The new bend s held at amortised cost,
with a book value of £297 6 million We exarmined the bond 1ssue
documents and the accounting treatment applied in ine with IAS 39
and are satished that the treatment applied is appropriate

The group partially closed a long standing cash flow hedge derivative
during the year, breaking the hedge relationship This resulted mthe
recycling of £115 3m from the hedging and translation reserve and
£14 1 of closecut costs being recognised in the ncome statement
We tested the accounting treatment applied in line with A5 3% and
have no tssues toreport

For the £19m received frorn RBS, we read the surrender agreements
that detail the payment We agreed recept of the amount o bank
statements We concur with the treatment adopted
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Taxation
Refer to pages 69 to 72 [Report of the Audit Commuttee), page 111
fAaccounting policies) and pages 113 and 130 INoles to the Accounts)

The Group s status as a REIT underpins its business model and
shareholder returns Forthis reason, it warrants special audit focus
The sbligations of the REIT regime include requirements to comply
with balance of business, dividend and income cover tests The
Broadgate joint venture 15 also structured as a REIT and as such,
REIT compliance 15 also of relevance for this joint venture in addition
to the overall Group

Tax provisions are in place to account for the risk of chalienge of
certain of the Group s tax provisions Given the subjective nature of
these provisions, additionat audit focus was placed on tax provisions

We re-performed the Group s annuat REIT compliance tests, as wetl

as those tests for the Broadgate REIT Based on our work performed,
we agreed with managernent s assessment that all REIT compliance

tests had been met to ensure that the Group and Broadaate mamntain
thew REIT status

We evaluated the tax provisions and movements made within the
year We obtained sufficient supporting evidence for provisions
released during the year We discussed provisions raised and
increased during the year with management and cbtained evidence
to support the levels of provisions recorded We read relevant
correspondence between the Group and Her Majesty s Revenue and
Customs to obtain evidence over the completeness of provisions
Based on our work performed, we are satishied that the assumptions
and judgements used by the Group are reasonabie

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of oyr audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinton on the fimancial statements as a
whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting precesses and controls, and the industry in which

they operate

In establishing the overall approach to our audit, we assessed the risk of material misstatement, taking into account the nature, tikelihood
and potential magritude of any misstaternent Following this assessment, we applied professional judgment to deterrmine the extent of

testing required over each balance i the financial statements

The Group and Company financial statements are produced using a single consolidation systern that has a direct intertace with the general
ledger The Group sudit team performed all audit procedures cver the censolidation for the purposes of the Group audit, which included
testing over the general ledger systern and its interface wath the conselidation system The Group alsoe has investments in two joint ventures
[Broadgate and Meadowha!l), which were subject to audits of their complete financialinfermation by the Group audit team

This work gave us sufficient appropriate audit evidence for our opinion o

Materiality

n the Group financial statements as a whole

The scope of cur audit was influenced by our application of materiality We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality These, together
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the
individual iinancial statement line itemns and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and i aggregate on
the financial staternents as a whole

Based on our professional judgement, we deterrined materiality for the hinancial statements as a whole as follows

Company financial statements
£287 G rnullion (2017 £283 0 million}
1% of total assets

The parent company s main activity 1s the helding
of investrment s i subsidiartes Given thes, and
consistent with the prior year, we set an overall
parent company materiatity level based on total
assets For purpeses of the Group audit, we capped
the overall matenality for the cormpany to be 90% of
the Group overall materiality

Group financial statements
£131 8 mullion (2017 £135 0 mullion]
1% of total assets

A key determinant of the Group's value is direct
property nvestments Due to this, the key area
of facus in the audit 1s the vaiuation of
investment preperties On this basis, and
consistent with the prior year, we set an overall
Group matertality level based on total assets

Overall materiality

How we determined it

Rationale for benchmark
applied

in addition, for the Group we cet a specific materiality level of £19 6m 12017 €19 4m) for itemns withun underlying pre-tax profit This equates to
5% of profit before tax adjusted for capitat and other items Inarrving at this judgernent we had regard to the fact that the underlying pre-tax
profitis a secondary financial indicator of the Group [Refer to Note 2 of the financial statements page 112 where the term 15 defined in full)

For the Group and Company, we agreed with the Audit Commuttee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit
of undertying pre-taxitems above £1m (2017 £1m] aswell as misstatements below that ameount that, 1n our view, warranted reporting for
gualitative reasons We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would repeort to them, any other misstatements identified during our audit
above £6 >m 2017 £6 7m) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons
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Financial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC CONTINUED

Going concern
In accordance with ISAs [UK] we report as follows

Reporting chligation

Qutceime

We are required to repert if we have anything material toadd or
draw attention to in respect of the directors’ statement in the
financial statements about whether the directors considered it
appropriate tc adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the financial statements and the directors dentification
of any materiat uncertainties to the Group s and the Company s
ghitity to continue as a gomg cancern over a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approval of the financial
statements

We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to As not
all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement
s not a guarantee as to the Group s and Company s ability to
continue as a going concern

We are required to report if the directors statement relating ta
Going Concern in accordance with Listing Rule $ 8 4RI3)1s
maternally inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit

We have nothing to report

Reporting on other information

The other information compnises alt of the information in the Annual
Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon The directors are responsible for the other information
Cur opinion on the financial staternents does not cover the other
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opimicn or,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any
form of assurance thereon

Corporate Governance Statement

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the Information given in the Corporate Governance Statement
[on page 670 the Governance Review section) about internal
controls and risk management systerns in relation to financial
reporting processes and aboLt share capital structures in
cornpliance with rules 72 5and 72 6 of the Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules sourcebook of the FCAL DTR"] 1s consistent with

. the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibibity 1s to read the other information and, in doing se,
consider whether the other information 1s materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be matenially nusstated f we identify an
apparent material inconsistency or materiat misstatement, we are
required to perform praocedures to conclude whether there 1s a
material misstatermnent of the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there 1s a materiat misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact We have
nothing to report based on these responsibilities

With respect t¢ the Strateqic Report, Directors Report and
Additionat Disclosures and Corporate Governance Statement,
we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work
undertaken in the course of the audit, the Compantes Act 2006
[CADS], I1SAS [UK] and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authority [FCA] require us also to report certain opintons and
matters as described below {required by I1SAs [UK] unless
otherwise stated)

Strategic Report and Directers’ Report and Additional Disclosures

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’
Report and Additional Disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2018 |
1s consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirernents [CADS}

In light of the knowledge and understanding ot the Group and
Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identity any material misstatements in the Strategic
Report and Directors Report and Additional Disclosures {CAQ6)
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applicable legal requirements [CADS)

Inlight of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company
angd their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in this information [CAQ4)

In our opinton, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement
fon pages 63 and 44 in the Governance Review section} with respect
to the company s corporate governance code and practices and
about ts administrative, management and supervisory bodies and
thewr committees complies with rules 722,72 3and 72 7 of the
DTR [CADS)

We have nothing to repertarising from our responsibiiity to report
a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the

. company [CADé)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of
the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or Liquidity
of the Group

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding

- Thedirectors confirmation on page 30 of the Annual Repart that
they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal nisks
facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or Liquidity

- The disclosuresn the Annual Report that describe those risks
and explain how they are being managed or rmitigated

© - The directors explanation on page 51 of the Annual Report as to

how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
period they have done so and why they consider that period to be
appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have 3
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue In
cperation and meet 1ts liabilittes as they falt due over the peried
of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary quatifications or assumptions




We have nothing to report having performed a review of the
directors statement that they have carried out a robust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Group and statement in relation to
the longer-term wiabiiity of the Group Our review was substantially
less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making tnquirtes
and considering the directors process supporting their statements,
checking that the statements are in alignment with the relevant
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code ithe "Code |, and
considering whether the statemenits are consistent with the
knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and thew
environment ebtained in the course of the audit [Listing Rules]

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to reportin respect of our responsibility to
report when

- The statement given by the directors, on page 67 that they
consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced
and understandable, and provides the information necessary for
the members 1o assess the Group s and Company’s postlion and
performance, bustness model and strategy 1s materially
inconsistent with our kriowledge of the Group and Company
obtained i the course of performing our audst

- The section of the Annual Report on page 0% describing the werk
of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee

- The directors staternent relating to the company s compliance
with the Code does nol properly disclose a departure from a
retevant provision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules,
for review by the auditorg

Directors’ Remuneration

Inour opinion, the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be
audited has been property prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006 [CADp)

Responsitilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully inthe Directors Responsibilities Statement
set out on page 93, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view
The directors are alsc responsible for such internal controt as they
determine 1s necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material risstatement, whether
dueto fraud or error

in preparing the financial staterments, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group s and the Company s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing as appticable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basts of accounting unless the
directors either intend to hguidate the Group or the Company or to
cease operations, or have ho realistic alternative but to do so

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Qur ohiectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to traud or error, and to 1ssue an
auditors report that includes our opinton Reascnable assurance

1s a high level of assurance, but 1s not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with SAs [UK] will slways detect a material
misstatement when it exists Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to Influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements

Aturther description of our respsnsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements s located on the FRC s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities This description
forms part of our auditors report

Use of this report

This report, including the opinicns, has been prepared for and only
for the company s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 ot the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose

We do not, in giving these opinlons, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose o to any other person to whom this report

Is shown or into whose hands it may corne save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent inwriting

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exceptionreporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required fo report to you if,
IR OUr OPHION

- we have not receved all tha information and explanations we
require for our audit, or

- adequate accounting recerds have not been kept by the company,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been recerved from
branches not visited by us. or

- certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified by law
are not made, or

- the company financial statements and the part of the Directors
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility

Appointment

Following the recommendaticn of the audit committee, we were
appointed by the members on 18 July 2014 to audit the financial
statements for the year ended 21 March 2015 and subsequent
financial periods The period of total uninterrupted engagement 15
4years, covering the years ended 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2018

John Waters (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LILP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

| 16 May 2018
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Finaneial sttements

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 /07
Capital Val
Underlying'  and other Tatal D ying zracth Toi
Mo £m £m £€m s & t
Revenue 3 561 78 639 556 33 289
Costs 3 {136) (64) {200j {122 [26) 148)
3 425 14 439 434 7 441
Jomnt ventures and funds lsee also below) n 115 36 151 132 [80) 52
Administrative expenses 82} - 182} {84} - 184)
Valuation movement 4 - 202 202 - 1144} [144)
Profit lloss) on disposal of investrment properties
and investments - 18 18 - 15) 15)
Net financing costs
- financing incorme 1 - 1 2 42 44
- finanaing charges 6 {651 (1631 {228} {80j 129 {1091
(643 (163) (227} [78) 13 [65)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 394 107 501 404 (209} 195
Taxation 7 - b ] ] ]
Profit for the year after taxation 507 196
Attributable to non-controliing interests 14 - 14 14 1) 3
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 380 113 493 390 197] 193
Earnings per share
- basic 2 48.7p 18 8p
- diluted 2 48.5p 14 7p
All results derive from continuing operatiens
2018 ey
Capital Tatow
Underlying'  and other Total 1oy u ol
Nt £m £m £m [y
Resutts of joint ventures and funds accounted
for using the equity methed
Underlying Profit 115 - 115 132 - 132
Valuation movernernt 4 - 52 52 - (93} 93]
Capial financing costs - (13) {13] - 16] {6)
[Loss] profit on disposal of investment properties,
trading proper ties and tnvestments - 13 {3} - 8 18
Taxation - = - - 1 1
11 115 36 151 132 (80) 52

e it A e s
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 T
£m _'
Profit for the year after taxation 507 196
Other comprehensive income [loss):
Iters that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net actuanial gain (loss) on pension schermnes 9 (12
Valuation movements on owner-occupied properties (3) -
[ 2]
Items that may be reclassified subseguently to profit or loss:
Gains [lesses) on cash Hlow hedges
- Group 12 (21
- Joint ventures and funds 8 1
20 [20]
Transferred to the income statement [cash flow hedges]
- Interest rate derivatives 120 16
Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive income (51 -
Other comprehensive income {Loss] for the year 141 14}
Total comprehensive income for the year 648 180
Attributable to non-controlling interests 16 3
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 632 177
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Finsnetl statcaments

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018 PN
~ £m L
ASSETS
Nor-current assets
levestrnent and devetopment properties 0 9,507 2073
Owner-occupted properties 10 90 94
2,597 2167
Gther nen-current assets
Investments in joint ventures and funds 1 2,622 2766
Other investments iz 174 154
Deferred tax assets 16 A [
Interest rate and currency derivative assets 17 115 237
12,712 12,308
Current assets
Joint venture held for sale 1 - B4l
Trading propertras 10 328 334
Dehtors 13 35 VAl
Cash and short term deposits 17 105 114
468 1159
Tofal assels 13,180 13,467
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafts 17 27 1464}
Creditors 14 {az4) 1458}
Corporation tax 122 130)
1373) 1952]
Non-current babilities
Debentures and loans 17 {3,101) 12,817}
Other non-current habilities 15 62) {78}
fnterest rate and currency derivative habilihes 17 (138] 1144}
13,301) (3,039}
Total liabilities {3,674) 13,991)
Net assets 9,506 Q476
EQUTY
Share capital 248 260
Share premium 1,300 1.298
Merger reserve 213 213
Other reserves a3 197}
Retained earnings 7,458 7,547
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 9,252 9.221
Non-controlling imerests . 254 255
Total equity 9,506 9476
EPRA NAV per share’ 2 ¥67p 315p

[N IR SRS TE I

John Gildersleeve Chris Grigg

Chairman Chief Executive Officer

The financral statements on pages 104 to 147 were approved by the Board of Dreciors and signed on its behaif on 16 May 2018
Company number 621920
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 W7
N £m T
Rental income received from tenants 446 464
Fees and other income receved 78 64
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees (173} 1149]
Cash generated from operations ki 379
Interest paid (73 (92
Interest recetved 4 8
Corporation taxation [payrents) repayments {71 @
Oistributions and other receivables from joint ventures and funds 1 78 o7
Net cash inflow from operating activities 353 363
Cash flows from investing activities
Development and other capital expenditure {190} [223]
Purchase of investment properties (145} [87)
Sale of investment and trading properties 212 761
Payments received in respect of future trading property sales 8 8
Disposal of jomnt venture held-for-sale 11 548 -
Disposal of Tesco joint venture 68 -
Purchase of investments (9} 119)
Indirect taxes paid in respect of mvesting activities {7 {1
Investment in and icans to joint ventures and funds (175} [50]
Capital distributions and loan repayments from joint ventures and funds 36 83
Net cash inflow from investing activities 346 470
Cash ftows from financing activities
lssue of ordinary shares 2 3
Unit issues attributable to non-controlling interests 2 -
Purchase of own shares, {301) 18
Dividends paid 19 1384) [295]
Dividends paid to nen-controtling interests (15) 14}
Acquisition of units in Hercutes Unit Trust (4) 1
Payments on closeout of interest rate derivative Liabilities (18] [13]
Receipts on closeout of nterest rate derivative assets 27 -
Decrease in bank and other borrowings t626) 526])
Drawdowns on bank and other borrowings 529 31
Net cash outfiow from financing activities (708) (833
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 9 -
Cash and cash eguivalenis at 1 Aprit 114 114
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 105 114
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash and short term deposits 17 108 114
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Financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

. N
Srore R I W= 5 <3N0 IR WIS Total

I preoo Y —T=lve salrg- Total (LRSS equity

L 1 o i o 1 £m s £m
Balance at 1 April 2017 260 1,298 112) 15 213 7,547 9221 265 9,475
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 493 493 14 507
Revaluation of owner-occupied property - - - i3) - - 3} - {3}
Gains on cash tlow hedges - Group - - 10 - - - 10 2 12
Gains on cash flow hedges — joint ventures
and funds - - - 8 - - 8 - 8
Transferred to the iIncome statemert
lcash flow hedges)

- interest rate derivatives - - 120 - - - 120 - 120
Net actuanal gain on pension schemes - - - - - 9 9 - 9
Reserves transfer - - (2 2 - - - - -
Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive income - - (5! - - - (5) - {5)
Other comprehensive mcome - - 123 7 - g 139 2 141
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 123 7 - 502 632 16 648
Share (ssues - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Unit Issues attributable to non-controlling interests - - - - = - - 2 2
Purchase of own shares 112) - - - - {289}  [301) - (3011
Purchase of urits from non-controtling interests - - - - - - - (4] t4l
Diwidends payable in year |29 64p per sharel - - - - - (302)  {302) - {302)
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - (15) (15}
Balance at 21 March 2018 248 1,300 11 22 213 7,458 9,252 254 9,506
Balance at 1 April 2016 260 1.2%95 1107} 14 213 Je67 9342 277 9,619
Profit for the year akter taxation - - - - - 193 193 3 196
Losses on cash flow hedges - - 121 - - - {21) - 214
Exchange and hedging movements in jont ventures
and funds - - - 1 - - 1 - 1
Reclassification of gains on cash flow hedges

- Interest rate derivatives - - 16 - - - 16 - 16
Net actuarial loss on pension schemes - - - - - 112) (12} - 112)
Other comprehensive [loss] income - - {5 1 - 112) [14] - 114)
Total cemprehensive income for the year - - 13) } - 181 177 3 180
Share issues - 3 - - - - 3 - 3
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - - 2 2 - 2
Purchase of ¢wn shares - - - - - 18t 18 - {81
Purchase of units from non-controllmg interests - - - - - - - mj 1)
Gain on purchase of units from non-controtling
rwierests - - - _ _ 3 ] B ]
Dividends payable inyear {28 78p per share] - - - - - 1296} 1298) ~ 1296)
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - 114] [14)
Batance at 31 March 2017 260 1,298 {112} i3 213 7547 9221 255 7478

It paar cafhes g0 annethe e year i aes fIon e Santon e 3 oratd A anrens onto =g r o Allad T 19 ad ERATATHH
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NOTES TO THE ACCDUNTS

1 Basis of preparation, significant accounting
policies and accounting judgements

The financiat statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

have been prepared on the fustorical cost basis, except for the
revaluation of properties, investments held for trading and
derivatives The financial statements have also been prepared

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and interpretations
issued by the IFRS Interpretations Comrmmittee {IFR5 IC). and
therefore comply with article 4 of the EU 1AS regulation, and in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 In the current financial
year the Group has adopted 3 number of minor amendments to
standards eftective in the year issued by the IASE and endorsed
by the EU, none of which have had a materiat impact on the Group
The accounting policies used are otherwise consistent with those
contained (nthe Group's previous Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2017

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective for the
current accounting period None of these are expected to have a
material impact onthe congelidated financial statements of the Group

Certain standards which coutd be expected to have animpact onthe
consclidated financiat statements are discusced in further detail
below The Group conducted animpact assessment of the new
ctandards which are effective next year based onthe Group s current
activtties and have quantified the impact The results of the impact
assessment confirm that the new standards will lead to Limited
changes to presentation and disclosure and will have an immaterial
impact on the consolidated hinancial statements

IFRS ¢ - Financial instruments (effective year ending March 2019)

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets

- The alignment of the classification and measurement model
under [FRS ¢ will result in changes in the classification of all
financial assets excluding derivatives These changes will not
have a quantitative impact on the financial statements

- IFRS 9intreduces an expected credit loss modet, requiring an
expected credit loss to be recognised on all financial assets held
atamortised cost The quantitative iImpact based on balances as
at 31 March 2018 will result in the recognttion of an expected
credit loss of £5m, with 3 corresponding reduction in financial
assets hetd at amortised cost of £5m The Group has previcusly
provided tor a materially similar balance agamnst trade and other
recevables and therefore the resutting reclassification of
existing provisions will not have a material impact on the net
assets of the Group

- IFR5 ¢introduces changes to the gualifying criteria for hedge
accourting and expands the irancial and non-financial
instruments which may be designated as hedged items and
hedging instrumernts In order to align hedge accounting with
busmess strategy The changes to hedge accounting under IFRS Y
will result in qualitative enhancements to the interest rate and
foreign currency risk management disclosures The changes
introduced by IFRS 9 will not have a quantitative impact on the
consolidated financiat statements of the Group

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers [effective year

ending 31 March 2019)

- The new standard combines a number of previous standards,
setting out a five step model for the recognition of revenue and
establishing principles for reporting usefut infermation to users
of tmancial statements about the nature, tirming and uncertamty
of revenue and cash {lows arizing from an entity s contracts with
customers The new standard does not apply to rental incorne,
which 15 1n the scope of 1AS 17, but does apply Lo service charge
income, management and performance fees and trading property

disposals The changes intreduced by IFRS 15 will result
rminimal quatitative changes to the revenue disclosure and witl
not have a gquantitative impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group

IFRS 16 - Leases (effective year ending 31 March 2020]

- Forlessees, IFRS le will result in almost all operating leases
being brought on balance sheet, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases will be removed The accounting
tor lessors wilt however not significantly change As a result,
onadoption of the new standard, these changes will have
animmaterial impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis
as explained in the corporate governance Section on page 51

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates (including funds]

The consolidated accounts mclude the accounts of The British Land
Company PLC and all subsidiaries {entities controllad by British
L.and} Controlis zssumed where British Land 15 exposed, or has
the rights, to varable returns from s involverment with investees
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
those investees

The results of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates acquired or

© disposed of during the year are included from the effective date of

acguisition or up to the effective date of disposal Accounting policies
of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates which differ from Group
accounting policies are adjusted on consolidation

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition

© method Any excess of the purchase price of business cormbinations

over the fair vatue of the assets, lizbtlittes and contingent Labiiities
acquired and resulting deferred tax thereon 1s recognised as
goodwitl Any discount received is credited to the income statement
in the pericd of acguisition

Allintra-Group transactions, balances, Income and expenses
are eliminated on consohdation Joint ventures and asscciates,
including funds, are accounted for under the equity method,
whereby the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the Group s
share linvestor s share] of the net assets of its Joint ventures and

. associates The consalidated income statement incorporates the

Group s share of joint venture and associate protits after tax Their
profits include revaluation movements on ivestrnent properties

Distributions and other receivables from joint ventures and
associates including funds] are classed as cash flows from
operating actraties, except where they relate 1o a cash flow arising
from a capital transaction such as a property or investment
disposal Inthis case they are classed as cash flows from
investing activities

Properties

Properties are externally valued on the basis of fair value at the
balance sheet date Investment and owner-cccupied properties are
recorded at valuation whereas trading properties are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value

Any surplus or deficit arising on revaluing mvestment propertiesis
recogmised in the capitat and other column of the income statement

Any surplus arising on revaluing owner-occupied properties above
costis recogniced in other comprehensive income, and any deficit
arising in revaluation below cost for owner-cccupied and trading
properties s recogrnised in the capital and other coturnn of the
income statement
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

The cost of properties inthe course of developrnent includes
attributable interest and other associated outgoings including
atinbutable development personnel costs Interest s calculated on
the development expenditure by reference to specific borrowings,
where relevant, and ctherwrse on the werghted average inferest rate
of British Land Company PLC borrowings Interestis not capitalised
where no development activity 1s talang place Aproperty ceasesto
be treated as a developrment property on practical completion

investment property disposals are recognised on completion
Profits and losses arising are recognised through the capital and
other column of the income statement The profit on disposal 15
determined as the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset at the commencement of the
accounting period plus capital expenditure in the perod

Trading properties are imitially recogrised at cost less impairment,
and trading property disposals are recognised in line with the
revenue policies outlined below

Where investment properties are appropriated to trading properties,
they are transferred at market value If properties held for trading are
appropriated to investment properties, they are transferred at book
value Indetermining whether leases and related properties represent
operating or finance leases, consideration s grven to whether the
tenant or landlord bears the risks and rewards of ownership

Financial assets and liabilities

Trade debtors and creditors are inthally recognised at fair value
and subsaquently measured at amortised cost and discounted
as appropriate

Other investmenis include loans and recevables held at amortised
cost and investrments held for trading classifted ac fair value through
profit or loss Amortised cost of loans and recewvables 1s measured
using the effective interest method, less any impairment Interestis
recognised by applying the etfective interest rate Investments held
for trading are initiatly recorded at fair value and are subsequently
externally valued on the same basis at the balance sheet date Any
surplus or deficit artsing on revalumg investments held for trading (s
recognised in the caprtal and other column of the income statement

Where aninvestment property is held under a hiead lease, the head
lease is inttially recogrised as an assel, being the sum of the premium
paid on acquisttion plus the present value of mimimum ground rent
payments The corresponding rent liability to the head leaseholder

1s included tn the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation

Debt instruments are stated at their net progeeds onissue Finance
charges mcluding premia payable on settlement or redemption and
directissue costs are spread over the period to redemption, using
the effective interest method Exceptional finance charges incurred
due to early redemption iincluding premiums) are recogrused inthe
inceme statement when they occur

Converuble bonds are designated as fair value through profit or loss
and so are initially recognised at fair value with all subsequent gains
and toszes, including the write-off of 1ssue costs, recognised i the
capital and other column of the income statement as a component of
net financing cests The interest charge in respect of the coupon rate
on the bonds has been recognised within the undertying component
of net financing costs on an accruats basis
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As defined by FAS 39, cash flow and fair value hedges are initiatly
recognised at fair value at the date the dervative contracts are

" enteredinto, and subseguently remesasured at fair value Changes

in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
effective cash flow hedges are recognised directly threugh other
comprehensive income as a movement in the hedging and translation
reserve Changesin the fair value of derivatives that are designated
ang guabify as effective fair value hedges are recorded in the capital
and other column of the income statement, along with any changes
in the fair value of the hedged item that s attitbutable to the hedged
risk Any ineffective portion of all derivatives 1s recognised in the
capital ang other column of the tncome statement Changes in

the fair value of derivatives that are not in a designated hedging
relationship under 1AS 39 are recorded directly in the capital and
sther colymn of the income statement These derivatives are carrred
at fair value on the balance sheet

Cash eguvalents are imited to instruments with a maturity of tess

! than three months

Held for sale assets

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount 1s
expected to be recovered or settled principally through sate rather
than through continuing use The asset must be availlable for
immediate sale and the sale must bie lighly probable within one year
of the reporting date Held for sale assets are measured at the lower
of carrying value and fair value less costs 1o sell Impairment losses
on iritial classification as held for sale and gatns or losses on
subsequent re-measurements are included (in the capital and other
column of the income statement

Revenue

Revenue comprises reptal income and surrender premia, service
charge income, management and performance fees and proceeds
from the sale of trading properties

Rental income, mcluding fixed rental uplifts, from investrment
property leased out under an operating lease 1S recognised as
revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term Lease
incentives, such as rent-free periods and cash contributions to
tenant fit-out, are recognised on the same straight-tine basis being

, anntegral part of the net consideration for the use of the investment
' property Any rent adjustments based on open market estimated

rental values are recognised, based on management estimates, from
the rent review date n relation to unsettled rent reviews Contingent
rents, being those lease payments that are not fixed at the inception

i of the lease, including for example turnover rents, are recogrised in

the period in which they are earned

Surrender premma for the early determmation ot a lease are
recognised as revenue immediately upen receipt, net of dilapidations
and non-recoverable outgoings relating to the lease cencerned
Service charge income I1s recognised as revenue in the period to
which it relates

Management and performance fees receivahle are recognised as
revenue in the period to which they relate Performance fees are
recognised at the end of the perfarmance period when the tee
amount can be estimated reliably and it is virtually certain that the
fee will be received

Proceeds from the sale of trading proberties are recognised when
the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
purchaser This generally occurs on comipletion Proceeds irom the
sale of trading propertias are recognised as revenue in the capital
ang other column of the income statement All other revenue
described above I1s recognised In the underlying column of the
income statement



Taxation

Current tax 16 based on taxabte profit for the year and 15 calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantivety enacted

at the balance sheet date Taxable profit ditfers from net profit

as reported in the iIncome statement because it excludes items

of mcome or expense that are not taxable [or tax deductible]

Deferred tax 1s provided on items that may become taxable in the
future, ar which may be used to offset against taxable profits in the
future, on the temperary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and hiabilities for financiat reporting purposes, and the
amounts used for taxation purposes on an undiscounted basis

On busmess combinations, the deferred tax effect of fair value
adjustrments (s incorporated in the consolidated balance sheet

Employee costs

The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments to employees
15 determuned at the date of grant and 1s expensed on & straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group s estimate of
shares or options that will eventually vest Inthe case of options
granted, fair value 1s measured by a Black-Scholes pricing model

Defined benefit pension scheme assets are measured using fair
values Pension scheme liabilities are measured using the projected
unit ¢credit method and discounted at the rate of return of a high
quality corporate bond of equivalent term to the scheme Liabilities
The net surplus [where recoverable by the Groupl or deficits
recognised in full in the consclidated balance sheet Any asset
resulting from the calculation 1s limited teo the present vatue of
avallable refunds and reductions in future contrnibutions to the plan

The current service cost and gains and Llosses on settlement and
curtailments are charged to operating profit Actuarial gains and
losses are recogmsed in full in the period in which they occur and are
presenied in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Contributions to the Group s defined contribution schemes are
expensed on the basis of the contracted annual contribution

Accounting judgements and estimates

In applying the Group s accounting policies, the Directors are
reguired to make judgemnents and estimates that affect the
financial statements

Signficant areas of estimation are

Valuation of properties and investrents held for trading

The Group uses external professional valuers to determine the
relevant amounts The primary source of evidence for property
valuations should be recent, comparable market transactions on
an arms-length basis However, valuations of the Group s property
pertfolio and mvestrments held for trading are inherently subjective,
as they are made on the basis of assurnptions made by the valuers
which may not prove to be gccurate

Other less sigrficant areas of estimation nclude the valuation of
fixed rate delst and interest rate derivatives, the determination of
share-based payment expense, the actuanal assumptions used
N calculating the Group's retirement benefit obligations and
taxation provisions

The key areas of accounting judgement are

REIT status British Land is a Real Estate Investment Trust [REIT)
and does not pay tax onits property Income or gans on property
sales, provided that at least 90% of the Group's property iIncome is

. distributed as a divdend to shareholders, which becomes taxable

in ther hands i addition, the Group has te meet certain conditions
such as ensuring the property rental business represents more than
75% of total profits and assets Any potential or proposed changes

to the REIT legislaticn are monitored and discussed with HMRC

It1s management s intention that the Group will continue asa REIT

+ for the foreseeable future

Acceounting for joint ventures and funds In accordance with IFRS 10
Consolidated financial staternents, IFRS 13 Joint arrangements,
and IFRS 12 Chsclosures of interests in other entities an assessment
is reguired to determine the degree of control or influence the Group
exercises and the form of any control to ensure that the financiat
statement treatment i appropriate The assessment undertaken by
management includes a consideration of the structure, legal form,
contractual terms and other facts and circumstances in relation to
the entity in question, prior to reaching & conclusion This assessment
15 updated annuatly and there have been no changes inthe judgement
reached inrelation to the degree of control the Group exercises
within the current or prior year Group shares in joint ventures and
funds resulting from this process are disclosed innote 11 to the

« financial statements

Interest in the Group s joint ventures is commonly driven by the
terms of the partnership agreements which ensure that control ts
shared between the partners All significant joint venture arrangements
of the Group are heldin structures mwhich the Group has 50% of the
voting rights Joint ventures are accounted for under the equity
method, whereby the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the
Group s share of the net assets of its Jjount ventures and associates
The consolidated iIncome statement incorporates the Group s share
of joint venture and associate profits after tax

Accounting for transactions Property transactions are complex in
nature and can be material to the hinancial statements Judgements
made n relation to transactiens inctude whether an acquisition 15 a
business combination or an asset, whether held for sale criteria have
been met for transactions not yet completed. and accounting for
transaction costs and contingent consideration Management
consider each transaction separately i order to determine the most
appropriate accounting treatment, and, when considered necessary,
seek independent advice
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statcinents

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

2 Performance measures

Earnings per share

The Group measures financial performance with reference to underlying earnings per share, the Eurapzan Public Real Estate Association [EPRA]
earnings per share and IFRS earnings per share The retevant earnings and weighted average number of shares finctuding dilution adjustments)
for each performance measure are shown below, and a reconciliation between these 1s shown within the supplementary disclosures [Table B)

EPRA earnings per share (s calculated using EPRA sarrungs, which 1s the IFRS profit after taxation attributable to shareholders of the
Company excluding investment and development property revaluations, gains/losses on invesling and trading property disposals, changes
in the fair value of financial instruments and associated close-out costs and their related taxation The 2012 convertible bond was repaid in
the current year In the prior year diluted EPRA earrings per share did not mclude the dilutive impact of the 2012 convertible bond, as the
Group's share price was below the exchange price of 693 pence IFRS diluted earnings per share included the dilutive impact as JAS 33
ignores this hurdle to conversion In the current and prior year, both EPRA and [FRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015
convertible bond as the Company s share price had not exceeded the level required for the convertible conditions attached to the bond to
trigger conversion into shares

Underlying earmings per share s calculated using Underlying Profit adjusted for underlying taxation [see note 7} Underlying Profit is the pre-tax
EPRA earnings measure, with additional Company adjustments No Company adjustments were made in either the current or prior year

2018 2017
Relevant Rowva
Relevant number Earnings 3 . ekt
earnings of shares per share al=tae
Earnings per share £m mitlion pence il e il
Underlying
Underlying basic 380 1,013 375 380 1.029 379
Underlying diluted 380 1,016 37.4 3%0 1,033 378
EPRA
EPRADbasic 3so 1,013 375 390 1029 379
EPRA diluted 380 1,016 3.4 390 1033 378
IFRS
Basic 493 1,013 48.7 193 1.029 188
Diluted 493 1,016 48.5 160 1,091 147

Net asset value

The Group measures financal position with reference to EPRA net asset value INAV] per share and EPRA triple net asset value [INNNAV] per
share The net asset value and number of shares for each performance measure are shown below Areconciiation between IFRS net assets
and EPRA net assets, and the relevant number of shares for each performance measure, i& shown within the supplementary disciosures
[Table B] EPRA net assets s a proportionally consolidated measure thatis based on IFRS net assets excluding the mark-to-rnarket on
derivatives and related debt adjustments, the mark-to-market on the convertible bonds as well as deferred taxation on property and
dervative valuations They include the valuation surplus on trading properties and are adjusted for the dilutive rmpact of share aptrons

The 2012 convertible bond was repaid in the current year Inthe prior year EPRANAY and EPRA NNNAY did not include the dilutive impact of
the 2012 corwertible bond. as the Group s share price was below the exchange price of 693 pence Inthe current and prior year, both EPRA and
IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2013 convertible bond as the Company s share price had not exceeded the level required for
the convertibie conditions attached to the bond to trigger conversion into shares

2018
Retevant Net asset N2t em-tl
Relevant number value per Relovanl Vi opel
net assets of shares share rol asasis B
Net assetvalue per share £m mullion pence £ peeie
EPRA
EPRANAV 9,560 989 967 3498 1.038 915
EPRA NNNAY 9,044 989 914 8,538 1.028 8&l
IFRS
Basic 9,506 983 967 9,476 1,02% 721
Diluted 9,506 989 9561 9.876 1,096 01

Total accounting return
The Group also measures financial performance with reference to total accounting return This s calculated as the increase in EPRA net
asset value per share and dividend paid in the year as a percentage of the EPRA net asset value per share at the start of the year

2018 2w
Increase in  Dividend per Total Dwigenet pe- Tote
NAV per share share paid accounting R a share pad a7 cuning
pence pence return pence P refa o
Tatal accounting return 52 29.64 8.9% {4} 2878 2 7%
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3 Revenue ynd costs

2018 o
Capstal Tl

Underlying and other Total W Ria KR Tate

£m £m £m L L -t

Rent receivable 441 - 44 449 - 449
Spreading of tepant incentives and guaranteed rent increases {6} - (8] 9] - (9
Surrender premia -] - [ 2 - 2
Gross rental income 41 - L1 442 - 442
Trading property sales proceeds - 78 78 - 33 33
Service charge income 66 - L1 62 - 62
Management and performance fees lfrom Joint ventures and funds] & - ] 9 - g
Other fees ang commuissions 48 - 48 43 - 43
Revenue 541 78 639 556 33 589
Trading property cost of sales - {64) (64 - {26 12¢]
Service charge expenses (66) - (66 l62] - 162
Property operating expenses (29) - {291 {23) - {23
Other fees and commissions expenses (41) - [41) {33] - [35)
Costs [136) 64) [200) [122) {26] 1148}
425 14 439 434 7 441

The cash elemient of net rental income recogrised during the year ended 31 March 2018 from properties which were not subject to 3 security
interest was £301m [2016/17 £276m] Property operating expenses relating to investment properties that did not generate any rental income

were £2m (2016/17 £2m) Contingent rents of £4m [2016/17 £2m] were recegnised inthe year

4 Valuation movements on property

2018 z
£m -
Consolidated income statement
Revatuation of properties 202 [144]
Revaluation of properties held by joint ventures and funds accounted for using the equity method 52 193]
254 [237i
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Revaluation of owner-occupied properties 13 -
251 [237)
5 Auditors’ remmuneration - PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP o
2[::1:. W7
Fees payable to the Company s auditors for the audit of the Company s annual azcounts 0.3 02
Fees payable to the Company s suditors for the audit of the Company s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 0.4 04
Total audit fees 0.7 Os
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 01
Total audit and audit-related assurance services 0.8 07
Other fees
Other services, 0.2 01
Total 1.0 08

In additton to the above, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were remunerated for non-audit feesin PREF, an equity accounted property fund

[see note 11 The Group s share of fees totalied £0 1m [2016/17 £01m) PricewaterhouseCoopers LLF are not the external auditors to PREF
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Finmmeial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

6 Net finaneing costs

2018 £207
£Em L
Underlying
Financing charges
Bank loans and overdrafts (21} 126i
Derivatives 28 23
Other loans (76} 183)
Obligations under head leases {2} 12)
71} [88)
Development interest capitatised é 8
165) (80}
Financing income
Deposits, securiies and bquid investmentis 1 2
1 2
Net financing charges - underlying {64) 178}
Capital and other
Financing charges
Valuation movements on franslation of foreign currency net assets ) -
Hedaing reserve recycling (106} -
Valuation movements on fair value derwvatives (79) 51
Yaluation movements on tair value debt 80 (48]
Recycting of fair value moverment on close-out of derivatives [14) 1ol
Capital financing costs- 27 1B
Valuation movement on non-hedge accounted dernvatives 16] 7]
(163) 129]
Financing income
Farr value rnovement on convertible bonds - 42
~ 42
Net financing [charges} income - capital (163) 13
Net financing costs
Total hnancing thcome 1 44
Total inancing charges 1228) 11091
Net financing costs (227) 163]

Interest payable onunsecured bank loans and related intecest rate derivatives was £9m {2016/17 £13m) Interest on development expenditure
is capitalised at the Group s weighted average interest rate of 2 0% [2016/17 2 4% The weighted average interest rate on a proportionately
consolidated basis 3t 31 March 2018 was 2 8% {2016/17 3 1%)

St a0t e M3t LosRswiite dth eedGh gl ARGl 0 - W TD LG arehl gt Dan g Slaalu e Ly e 13 et TAWY T 3w
SN TRNET <1< [N C R S ERPN |
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7 Taxation

2018 A
Emn s
Taxatibn income lexpense)
Current taxation:
UK corporation taxation 19% [2016/17 20%) - )
Adjustments in respect of prior years 1 4
Total current taxation income 1 1
Deferred taxation on revatuations and derivatives 5 -
Group total taxation 6 1
Attributable to joint ventures and funds - 1
Total taxation income & 2
Taxation reconciliation
Proft on erdinary activities before taxation 501 155
Less profrt attributable te joint ventures and funds' (151] 152)
Group profit on ordinary activities before taxation 350 143
Taxation on profit on ordinary activilies at UK corporation taxation rate of 19% (2016/17 20%] {67 (22}
Effects pf
REIT exernpt income and gaing 71 28
Taxation losses (4] (2
Deferred taxation on revaluations and dervatives 5 -
Adjustrnents in respect of prior years 1 4
Group total taxation income [ 1

LT S A AT T B T [t N L P U VT L LI L L TP

Taxation expense attributable to Underlying Profit for the year ended 31 March 2018 was £ni [2016/17 £nil]l Corperation taxation payable at
31 March 2018 was £22m {2016/17 £30m) as shown on the batance sheet During the year to 31 March 2018 various tax provisions in respect
of historic taxation matters and current peints of uncertainty Iin the UK have been refeased and provisions made The net movernent, whichis
included within the tax credit above, 1s not matenal

8  Staff costs

2018 P
Staff costs (including Directors) £m T
Wages and salaries 70 64
Social security costs ? 8
Pension costs ’ !
Equity -settled share-based payments -
86 83

The average monthiy nurnber of emiployees of the Company during the year was 265 [2016/17 2611 The average menthly number of Group
employees, ncluding those employed directly at the Group's properties and their costs recharged to tenants, was 835 (2016/17 777)

The average monthiy number of employees of the Company within each category of persens employed was as foliows Retail 38, Offices 24,
Canada Water 13, Developments 33, Storey &, Support Functions 121

The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directars are the key management personnel Their emoturments are summarised below ang
further detail is disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91

2018 e

Directors' emoluments £m T
Short term employee benefits 5.5 a0
Service costinrelation to defined benefit pension schemes 0.2 nz
Equity -settled chare-based payments 11 19
6.8 71
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wneind statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

8 Staff costs continued

Staff costs

The Group < eguity-settled share-based payments comprise the Long-Term Incentive Plan [LTIP), the Matching Shara Plan IM5P) and
various savings related share option schemes

The Company expenses an estimate of how many shares are likety to vest based on the market price at the date of grant, taking account
of expected performance aganst the relevant performance targets and service perjods, which are discussed in further detail in the
Remuneration Report

Faor all schemes except the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan share options, the fair value of awards are equal to the market value at
grant date The key inputs used to value share options using a Black-Scholes model granted under the Company s Long-Term lncentive Plan

are shown below

FAARISEa

Long-Term Incentive Plan: Awards in the year ended 31 March 2018 a7
Share price and exercise price at grant date 817p
Expected option e n years &
Risk free rate 0.8%
Expected volatiity 24%
Expected dwidend yreld 5%,
Value per option 68p

Movements in shares and optiens are given in note 20

9 Pensions

The British Land Group of Companies Penston Scheme (the schemae | is the principat defined benefit pension scherne in the Group The
assets of the scheme are held in & trustee-adrmstered fund and kept separate from those of the Company 1115 not contracted out of SERPS
[State Earnings-Retated Pension Schemel and it 15 not planned to admit new employees to the scheme The Group has three other smail
defined benefit pension schemes There 1¢ also a Defined Contribution Pension Scheme Contributions to this scheme are at a flat rate of

13% of salary for non-Cirectors and are paid by the Carnpany

The total net pension cost charged for the year was £7m [2616/17 £7m}, of which £3m {2016/17 £4m] relates to defined contribution plans
and £2m {2016/17 £3mi relates to the current service cost of the defined benetit schemes

A full actuarrat vatuation of the scheme was carried out at 31 March 2015 by consulting actuaries, AON Hewitt Associates Ltd The employer s
contributions will be paid in the future at the rate recommended by the actuary of 72 9% per annur of basic salanes The best ectimate of
employer contributions expected to be paid during the year to 31 March 20192 15 £5m The major assumptions used for the actyaniat valuation were

2018 T A0E 200 22
% pa o pd Tt e
Discount rate 2.6 24 32 31 44
Salary nflation 5.9 49 48 48 5.2
Pensions increase 33 33 3.2 32 35
Price inflation 1.4 3.4 33 33 37

The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tabies which altow for future moriality improvements The assymptions are
that a member currently aged &0 will live on average for a further 28 8 years if they are male and for a further 20 Syears f they are temale
For a member who retires in Z038 af age 60, the assumplions are that they witl Uive on average for a further 30 4 years after retirementif
they are male and for a further 31 & years after retirement if they are female

Composition of scheme assets

2018 N7

£m n

Equmes 54 &0
Duversified growth funds 85 B4
Other assets 13 10
Total scheme assets 152 154

The vast majority of the scherme assets are quoted in an active market
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9 Pensions continued
The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group s obligations in respect of its defined benefit scheme s as fotlows

2018 T 14 At "

£m L L. ' Lo

Present value of defined scheme obligations (147 [147) (143 (143) 123}
Fair value of scheme assets 152 104 137 139 121
irrecoverable surplus {51 - - - l&)
Liability recognised in the balance sheet - (13} {6] (6] -

The sensitivities of the defined benefit obligation in relation to the major actuarial assumptions used to measure scheme lisbilities are as follows

DETR
Assumption ERE il
Discount rate -0 3%
Salaryinflation +0 5% 1 1
RPhinflation -05% 12 17
Assumed life expectancy -1year [ 5
History of experience gains and losses

2018 EN ERR EN 204

fm T [ t v z

Total actuarial gain loss) recognised in the conseolidated statement
of comprehensive income’
Amount g 12) 1) 15] (2
Percentage of present value on scheme liabilities 6.1% 72% 0 7% 3 6% 1 6%

Mowne ta s Hg 3t Dusta, TS L -

' ol R T T A U D A T
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

9 Pensions continued
Movements in the present valug of defined benefit obligations were as follows

2018 22
Em L.
At 1 April (167) 143
Current service cost 2] 13]
Interest cost (4) {5}
Actuarial gain (loss!
Gatt Unss) trom change ot b al assamplions . 7 [29)
Gay on «cheme Latnlibes anpsing from expenence 7 )
Benefits paid 12 7
At 31 March (147} 11671
Movernentsin the fair value of the scheme assets were as follows
2018 00
tm fm
At T April 154 137
Interest inceme an scheme assets 3 4
Contributions by employer 7 7
Actuarial lloss) gatn - 11
Benefits pad [12) ]
At 31 March 152 154

Through its defined benefit plans, the Group s exposed to a number of risks, the most sigmficant of whitch are detailed betow

Asset volatility

The liabitities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields, f assets underperform this yield, this wilt
create a deficit The scheme holds a significant portion of growlth assets Jeguities and diversitied growth fundsl which, although expected
to outpertorm corporate bonds in the long term, create volatility and risk in the short term The allocation to growth assets 1< monitored
fo ensure it remains appropriate given the scheme s long term otyectives

Changes in bond yields
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the vatue placed on the scheme’s Liabilities for accounting purposes, although this will
be partially offset by anincrease in the value of the scheme s bond holdings

Inflation risk

The majority of the scheme s benefit abligations are linked to inflation, and fegher nflation will lead to hugher babilities [although, 1n most
cases, caps on the level of infiationary Increases are in place to protect against extreme inflation} The majoriy of the assets are either
unaffected by or only loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that an increase in inflation will also increase the deficit

Life expectancy

The majority of the scheme s obligations are to provide benetits for the Life of the member, so increases in fe expectancy will result
it an increase inthe labibities
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10 Property
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2018

e roor
Investment
and
development
el properties asey
vl mned ] Level3 . so= ties Totat
Lo i e N £m o L £m
Carrying value at 1 April 2017 5,021 3,616 284 156 9,073 334 94 9,501
Additions
proper ty purchases 237 - g - 245 5 - 250
development expenditure 5 15 22 44 88 46 - 132
- capitalised ymeres) and staff costs - 1 3 1 5 5 - 10
capital expenditur e on assot
managemsnt inital ives 29 - - 1 30 - - 30
271 16 33 46 366 56 - 422
Depreciation - - - - ~ - i 1
Disposals {134) {2} - - (135} (62) - (198]
Reclassifications (4) 137) - 141 - - - -
Revaluations included inincome slatement 40 165 21) 18 202 - - 202
Revaluations included in OCI - - - - - - (3} 13
Movement in tenant incentives and contracted
rent uphbift balances 1 1 - - 2 - - 2
Carrying value at 31 March 2018 5,198 3,659 298 355 9,507 328 0 9,925
Head lease labilities [note 13) [62)
Valuation surplus ontrading properties 134
Group property portfotio valuation at 31 March 2018 9,997
Non-controlling interests (315!
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 attributable to shareholders 9,682
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

10 Property continued
Property reconcitiation for the year ended 31 March 2017

LRIt T

1, o A hr e
Fe te R TroGiy Lrod
o H LT s Cewal L
P t - m i L
Carrying vatue at 1 April 2016 5.617 3.436 256 334 9643 325 93 10,063
Additions
property potchases 80 - 8 - g8 - - 88
- development expenditurs 12 4 10 33 51 56 - 137
- vapitabsed e eol and stall costs - - 2 3 5 3 - 10
- coptal expenditure on asset
management imiliatives BZ 9 1 - 92 - - 9z
174 13 21 58 266 &1 - 327
Depreciation - - - - - - {1 i1
Oisposals {o24] 39 - 17] {670) 1261 - t%6)
Reclassifications - 271 27 (271} 27 127 - -
Revatuations inciuded in Incomne Statement 1103} 157 118l 36 1144] - - 44}
Movement in tenant incentives and contracted
rent uplift balances [41) (8) - - [49) 1 - [48)
Carrying value at 31 March 2017 3,021 3,616 286 150 9073 334 94 2501
Head lease habilities (note 15! {64}
Valuation surplus on trading properties 83
Group property portiolio valuation at 31 March 2017 2520
Non-controiling interests {310)
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2017 attributable to shareholders 9210

Property valuation
The different vaivation method levels are defined below

Level 1: Quoted prices funadjusted] in active markets for identical assets or Liabilities

Level 2: inputs ather than quoted prices inctuded within Level 1 that are abservable for the asset or tability, erther directly li e as prices!
or indirectly i e derived from prices)

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or lability that are not based on observable markel data {uncbservable inputs)

These levels are specified in accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  Property valuations are inherently subjechve as they are
made on the basis of assumptions made by the valuer which may riot prove tc be accurate For these reasens, and consistent with EPRAS
guidance, we have classified the valuations of our property portfolio as Level 3 as detinad by IFRS 13 The nputs to the valuations are defined
as ‘'unobservable by IFRS 13 and these are analysed i a table on the following page There were no transfers between levels in the perod

The Group s total property portfolio was valued by external valuers on the basis of fair value, in accordance with the RICS Valuation -
Professional Standards 2014, ninth edition, published by The Royal institution of Chartered Surveyors

The information provided to the valuers, and the assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers, are reviewed by the property
portfolio team, the Head of Offices, the Head of Retail and the Chief Financial Officer {Chief Executive Officer post January 2018] The valuers
meet with the exiernal auditors and also present directly to the Audit Commuittee a1 the interim and year end review of resuils Further details
of the Audit Committee’s responsibiliies i relation to valuations can be found in the Report of the Audit Committee [on pages 69 to 73]

investment properties, excluding propertes held for development, are valued by adopting the investment method of valuahon

This approach wwolves applying capitabisation yields to current and future rental streams net of income voids arising fromvacancies or
rent-free periods and assotiated running costs These capitalisation yields and future rental values are based on comparable property
and leasing transactrons in the market using the vatuers’ professional judgement and market observation Other factors taken into account
in the valuations include the tenure of the property, tenancy details and grouna and structural condtions
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10 Property continucd

Inthe case of ongoing developments, the approach applied 1s the residual method of valuation, whichis the investrnent method of valuation
as described above, with a deduction for atl costs necessary to complete the development, inctuding & notional finance cost, together with

a further allowance for remaiming nisk Properties held for development are generally valued by adopbing the tugher of the residual method
of valuation, allowing for all associated risks, or the investment method of valuation for the existing asset

Copies, of the vatuation certificates of Knight Frank LLP. CBRE. Jones Lang LaSalle and Cushman & Wakefield can be found at
www.britishland.com/reports

Abreakdown of valustions split between the Group and its share of joint ventures and funds is shown below

2018 S

Joint I

ventures vent, ey
Group and funds Total fira ang AT e [N
£m £m £m nrc [ T
Knight Frank LLFP 1,674 2,680 4,354 703 2,883 2914
CBRE 4,511 1,403 5914 2,489 1.380 3.869
Jones Lang LaSalle 561 - 561 - 538 538
Cushman & Wakefield 3,251 19 3,270 - - -
Total property portfolio valuation 9,997 4,102 14,09¢ 9520 4.801 14,321
Non-controtling interests (315) (681 (383) (31 (71) 1381)
Total property pertfolio valuation attributable to shareholders 9,682 4,034 13,716 9,210 4,730 13240

Information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs [Level 3] for the year ended 31 March 2618

Fair value at ERV persqft Equivalent yield Costs to complete per sq ft
31 March 2018 Yaluation Min Max  Average Min Max  Average Min Max  Average
Investment £m technique £ € £ % % % £ £ £
Investrnent
Retail 5,210 methodology 2 84 24 3 ? 5 - 51 2
Investrment
Dffices’ 3,617 methodology 8 17 58 4 5 4 - 323 53
lnvestrment
Canada Water 283 methodology 38 38 38 4 4 4 - 1 1
Investment
Residential 70 methodology 15 29 22 2 & 4 - 2 (34)
Residual
Developments 355 methodology 18 b6 81 2 é 5 - 614 541
Total %,535
Trading properties
atfair valug 462
Group property
portfolio valuation 9,997

R R T R | P

British Land " Annual leport and Accaunt= 7018 121



ial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

1) Property continued
information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs [Level 3} for the year ended 31 March 2017

-

S LW eeragt Famelemiy - I R R g
3TV arce A Val ol NAin Mae Avorens Vi Max  Av.r-au Wh May  Avarage
investment Lo R [ t : P " o 3 ¢ L
Investment
Retail 4,987 methodology 2 77 27 4 " 5 - 48 b
Investment
Otfices - 3,695 methodology 7 " 54 4 7 5 - 150 20
Investment
Canada Water 2717 methodology 15 25 22 2 5 3 - 18 10
Residual
Developments- 150 methodology 8 72 54 2 6 4 - 616 508
Total 7103
Trading properties
at fair value 417
Group property
portfolic valuation 4,320
Couties e e 0l d
1" 0 s e SIS ey b A gy ady APtV - e g BECRE TN |U'1'1§ Jow cran s s wriva o and ot -

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs [Level 3) on the fair value of the Group’s property portfolic for the year
ended 31 March 2018

Fair value at impact on valuations. Impact on valvations Impact on valuations

31 March 2018 +5% ERV -5% ERY -25bps NEY  +25bps NEY 5% costs +5% costs

£m £m £m £m £m £€m £m

Retait 5,218 210 l1e9] 269 {278) n/a nfa

Dttices’ 4,079 167 [181) A 1219} n/a nfa

Canada Water 283 4 ) i il 21 (20]
Residential 70 1 i1 2 12 - -

Developments 355 k] i3 39 135) 13 13)

Group property portfolio valuation 9,997 413 [397] 333 {535] 34 {331

AtwddEs e L e le 2 ut Talva .

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs (Level 3] on the fair value of the Group’s property portfolio for the year
ended 31 March 2017

"l tnoaveddd 9w ~pa onvdlurions I yen PO valuz i =
Faivaue. -

2" Mal b1 <5 ERV S LRV SOk NV shhps NEY ERRRE I Y 487 Laete

o —m Lt ta Tt L- o

Retail 4,987 189 1176} 262 (238} nfa nfa
Otfices 409 174 {149) 2 1208) n/a n/a
Canada Water 271 1 ) 20 17 n/a n/a
Residential 93 4 4] b (6] n/a nfa
Developments 150 8 [12) 1) 12) 3 17)
Group property portfotic valuation 2,520 388 i372) 218 i471) 2 {7)

7o taede s radimg roaerle--at tar ve e

The valuation impact of changes in unohservable inputs for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been restated
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10 Property continuced
All other factors being equal

- Ahigher eguivalent yield or discount rate would lead to a decrease In the valuation of an asset
- Anincrease inthe current or estimated future rental stream would have the eifect of increasing the capital value

- Anincrease Inthe costs to complete would lead to a decrease in the vatuation of an asset

However, there are interrelationships between the uncbservable inputs which are partially determined by market conditions, which would
impact on these changes

Additional property disclosures - including covenant information

At 31 March 2018, the Group property portfolic valuation of £9.997m {2016/17 £9,520m]} comprises freeholds of £5,711m [2016/17 £3,576m,
virtual freeholds of £895m [2016/17 £809m), and long leaseholds of £3,391m [2016/17 £3,135m]) The historical cost of properties was
£6,294m [2016/17 £6,024m)

The property valuation dees not include any investment properties held under operating leases (2016/17 £nul)

Cumulative interast capitatised against investment, development and trading properties amounts to £101m 12016/17 £95ml

Properties valued at £1 202m 12016/17 £1,882m) were subjec! to @ security nterest and ather properties of non-recourse companies

amounted to £1,245m {2016/17 £1.158m], totalling £2.447m [2016/17 £3,040m]

included within the property valuation 1s £00m {2016/17 £62m)in respect of accrued contracted rental uplift ncorme The balance arises
through the IFRS treatment of leases containung such arrangernents, which reguires the recognition of rental income on a straight-line basis

over the tease term, with the difference between this and the cash receipt changing the carrying value of the property against which

revaluations are measyred

11 Joint ventures and funds
Summary movernent for the year of the investments in joint ventures and funds

e Fos Total Ty Total
r £m . - £m
At 1 April 2017 2,575 241 2,764 24612 304 2,766
Additions 72 7 79 78 79
Share of profit on ordinary activities after taxation 149 z 151 (1] - 151
Distributions and dvidends
- Capital (231 N3} (36} i34l - {36)
- Revenue 163] 1ns) (78) 178) - [78)
Hedging and exchange movernents 8 - 8 8 - B
Disposal of Tesco joint venture [68] - 168) [68) - (68)
At 31 March 2018 2,600 222 2,822 2,392 430 2,822
Additional iInvestments jn joint ventures and funds covenant information
At 31 March 2018 the investments in Joint ventures included within the tolal investrnents in joint ventures and funds was £2,82em
12016/17 €£3.299m], being the £2,822m total investment shown above, less the net investrment of [£4m1 [2016/17 £7m) in PREF. a property
fund in Continental Eurgpe
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

i1 Joint ventures and funds continued

The summarnised income staternents and balance sheets below and on the following page show 100% cf the results, assets and habilities
of joint ventures and funds Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group ¢ acceunting policies

Jomnt ventures” and funds’ summary financial staternents for the year ended 31 March 2018

R LOAT

sl
Lhay

MIT Tron

Norges Bank

Euro Bluebell LLP Investment
Pariners 1GIC) Management J Samsbury plc
Crty Offices  Shapping Centres
Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements t [T
Revenue’ 255 02 39
Costs 164) [23) -
9?1 79 39
Adminustrative expenses 1] - -
Net interest payable [82) 133) 6]
Underlying Profit 108 46 23
Net valuation moverent 105 21 (3
Capital financing costs - E [26)
[Loss] protit on disposal of Investment properties and investments 118} ~ 9
Profit [loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 192 &7 3
Taxation - ~ -
Profit {loss] on ordinary activities after taxation 195 &7 3
Other comprehensive income lexpenditure] 3 3
Total comprehensive income 208 70 3
British Land share of total comprehensive income {expense) 144 35 2
British Land share of distributions payable 35 4 31
Summarised balance sheets ton Lr
Investmment and trading propertres 4,868 1,895 323
Cuirent assets 6 [ -
Cash and deposits 291 39 90
Gross assets 4,965 1,940 613
Current liabilities (107} 141 (24
Bank and securiised debt {17441 {6411 1231
Loans from joint venture partners 1463) (3é4) -
Other nen-current labilities 141] (20) -
Gross Lhabibities 2,357} 11,0668) {275)
Net assets 2,608 874 338
British Land share of net assets less sharehotder loans 1,304 437 169
trclod dwerhin e, Braadg 4 RiL ] revs e a0 L2 (072 3rrsb cand snaradway nent oo ewed oy e 2077 e - tre Rayal Ba kol S e tlatd e taansn ot e
s e of g lease al s BRiel apsgets
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ST TE - Totat
Thetogmtlate ne e e CUNONT L R Total Group share
tattn.st e = arad-hil a- and fioos 2018 2018
Uriversities
Aviva Superannuation
Investors Scheme Group PLC
Shopping Sheopping Retail
Centres Centres Parks
50% 30% Various
m ' L N £m £m
18 13 36 6 469 235
i4] (4} [3) (2] 102l (51
14 9 3 4 367 184
] - - - (2] m
1) - 14] - 136] 168)
12 @ 27 4 229 15
10 - (28] - 105 52
- - - - (28] 3)
1 - - z {8 (3
23 g il 6 302 1581
23 ¢ m 6 302 151
- -~ - - 16 8
23 ? 1 & 318 159
1" 5 i 3 159
5 4 14 - 93
el Lo £m £m
275 250 590 - 8,201 4,100
1 1 4 42 &0 )|
9 7 10 8 454 227
285 258 604 50 8,715 4,358
14 [3) n (15) (207) (105}
- - 140 - £2,776) 11,388)
- {2¢} - (6] {861 (430)
128] - A 5 (88) [43]
(32) 131 (155} f16) 13,932) {1,966)
253 227 449 34 4,783 2,392
127 113 226 16 2,392
Tho ot uw os I A LI SR VE ] TR ARV I TR P Uioss AL v tures e T ey I T L =t A T L w Tt e
X phn "4 ' i CoAn s kA AW ks anpr e T, whl 2 1 oprratsdd [ L T O T L T e B I T [
P PR TV TS BTt Pt R e N
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Financial sttenents

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventares and funds continued
The summarised income statements and balance sheets below and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and liabilities
of joint ventures and funds Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group s accounting policies

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

WED -
i Tean ot
Hoe vt Ll
Norges Bank
Euro Bluebell LLP Investment
Partners GIC) Managernent J Sainsbury plc Tesco PLC
City Offices  Shopping Centres
Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores Superstores
Group share 20% 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements um Ha n
Revenue” 245 79 49 19
Costs {521 123) - -
193 74 49 1%
Administrative expenses - - - [2)
Net interest payable 182 133) [21) (9}
Undertying Profit m 41 28 3
Net valuation mevement [1832] ] {46} (23]
Capital financing costs - - {121 -
Profit on dispesal of investrment properties and investments - - 3 13]
fLosstprofit on ordinary actvities before taxation [74) 40 {27} 124}
Taxation - - - 2
[Loss) profit on ordinary activities after taxation {74) 40 i27) {22)
Other comprehensive income 1 ~ - 1
Total comprehensive income (73) 40 127 121)
British Land share of total comprehensive [expensel income {371 20 115} t10)
British Land share of distributions payable 32 17 55 4
Summarised balance sheets P b [Ree!
tnvestment and trading properties 4,478 1.842 769 323
Current assets 2 5 - -
Cash and deposits 290 37 17 2
Gross assets 4,770 1,884 784 327
Current labilities 188} 141) 22] 2}
Bank and securitised debt (1,7941 668] (3671 (185}
Loans from joint venture partners [357) {317 - -
Cther non-current liabibities I50) £23] - 14}
Gross tiabiities {2,295} 1,049} (389} 191}
Net assets 2,475 835 397 136
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans 1,237 417 199 48
Inc adedanchecihs Brosdgats Te 1 etvalt g onncyvers=abisa Vean payra e awvedin Ooennas 2008 from LESA G in e 0.0 = eviiupimei o
cooupadcr of B Rreadgate, ane subsquert v Afior ot U0 Diverpaa Strest, ine iding ¥ 10 Broaggare
- Tew uertvertores b luge 811 ol nigs 2017 Linged 33 3t 21 March 2077
T UST jeintvertuies inzlige ‘ne Eden Walk Stasp ma Cenirs Jnt ust asd the Farenone Property Sarinerahis
- Tue Leadan 3l malun sb owathe sgaryarcal ted probt angloss ror pe penee Dot 2 ransattiorwhich s anged m Mo h 20T e et vestent s thes

vantdi o was eilasalnet us a2 dior sale waset
S cules Uit Trust ot ventdres ard sub-fur ds mstude = 50% ~oi resats of Ces pdale o Owosrshp T oust, Bibra tan b miteg Partiershey ar dVaenting
Fo-Nwnerstup [rastard 4° 25 4of Birat ! Co-Mwrersmip Trual 7Fe balanee sheet shows B0 of the assers of these ;o ntvart 125 and sub foads
g the -alurmn beaaad Thon 0N VIR LeS ana e ds are contnbuhans fram the folaswesg coderar Lnipte ~'a taersheo, The Alagate M 2o et d
2P, Bluen atter Eranerty Matage nent UK U tea, Coyaf London ™ tice Uit Trus® 2nd = lar Retas Esropark =urd 'PRIZF) Tie GGeo. 0 5 owe eosbup
share of PRUF 15 A0%, nowsver 25 the G oup - netarle ta uX@ e isL can e ove synimicant dec wcasal terund, tno Gronoequityatcenrts for it tenest PREF
T Reverne mcludes crass s ata noanme o VI g sbare of 1437 [2010/16 £451]
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[ e i Total
fosucthii e _nu s e Jor Ve s SETEROR B Total Group share
- ur-hip st~ and s bt Cod s 2017 2017
Uriveraities
Superannuation
Aviva Scheme Group Oxford
Investors PLC Properties
Shopping Shopping City Gffices Retail
Centres Centres Leadenhall Parks
50% 50% 30% Various
in o [ £m £m
17 14 43 35 1 522 260
(51 £5] {1a {4] li} {100) {50)
12 9 32 3 - 422 210
1) - - - n {4 (2}
(1 - - (4] - {152) {76}
10 @ 33 27 1) 266 132
1] 7 107 [16] - (183) (931
- - - - - n2) (8)
- ~ - - 34 34 18
4 2 140 1 33 165 51
- ~ - - - 2 1
4 2 140 11 33 107 52
- -~ - - - 2 1
4 2 140 1 33 109 53
2 1 70 5 17 53
1 ~ 5 i4 4 122
s t- 3 [ r £m £m
264 247 - 403 1 8,529 4,265
1 1 a2 64 32
8 7 - i0 28 399 200
273 255 - 616 81 8,992 4,497
[4) (6) - o) {19] (192} 196}
- ~ - [139) - {3,153} 1,577}
- (22] - - (12} (708} (364}
128} - - 4] - (115} (58]
{32) (28) - (153) (31) 14,168} (2,085)
241 227 - 463 50 4,824 2,412
121 114 - 231 25 2,412
DR A R S T T v N RIT ot I ot BN SEN T St S B U B B S At L Lo ymarp afed et e A aee W
The ot me g mge =t TR D oo b b e s W i g e " N T T T T Y R T L T I S R P
FE T L O o L B T B e R T it R B VI SR vara=tsUE e o by
L T T A S B T | U Y R o T T I TG I Y L S PR N WL BTt 1 LI R T L T A 1 O e e T LA I
ot e T e e e A e e e S Ar et T sk A sy dean L Lo < b C=n
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continued

Joint venture held for sale

On 1 March 2017 the Group exchanged conditional contracts on an agreement to sell 1ts interest in Leadenbal! Holding Co [Jersey} Limited,
ajoint venture with Oxford Properties The net investrnent 1n the jont venture was recognised as a held for sale asset from the date of
exchange in the prior pertod On 24 May 2017 the transaction completed and the net1nvestment was de-recoghised

Joint venture held for sale - summarised balance sheet for the year ended 31 March

Investment property

Current assets

Current liabitities

Loans from joint venture partners

Net assets

British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans

Operating cash flaws of joint ventures and funds [Group share]

2018 2

£m _m
Rental income recetved from tenants 199 207
Fees and other income recerved - -
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees 122} 120
Cash generated from operations 177 187
Interest paid 173 (84
Interest received 1 1
UK corporation tax patd 1 i2)
Cash infiow from operating activities 104 102
Cash inflow from operating activities deployed as:
Surptus cash retained within jomnt ventures and funds 26 43
Revenue distributions per consolidated siatement of cash flows 78 52
Revenue distributions split between controlling and non-controlling interests
Attributable to non-controtiing interests 2 4
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 74 ER

12 Other investments

2018 2071
Investment Loans, Property, W~ LDet 3, IR Y,
heldfor recewvables plantand  Intangible ' rece wvables Pt a2 H
trading and other  equipment asgsets Total arog b e A [T ds sl ol
fm £m £m £m £ Sl = e or 3

At 1 Aprit 93 41 11 g 154 1 26 12 3 142
Additions - - 15 4 19 - 14 ) 7 22
Disposats - 2 - - 2) - 2l - - 12}
Revatuation 5 3 - - 8 {8l 3 - - 15)
Depreciation/arnortsation - - 2) (3 {5) - - [2) (1] (3]
At 31 March 98 42 24 18 174 93 41 11 9 154

The investment held for trading comprises interests as a trust beneficiary The trust s assets comprise freehold reversions in a pool of
commercial properties, comprising Sansbury’s superstores The Interest 1s categonised as Level 3n the fair value hierarchy, 1s subject
1o the same inputs as those disclosed n note 10, and its far value was determined by the Directors, supported by an external valuation
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13 Debtors

2018 Ly

£m L'n

Trade and other debtors 28 22
Deposits receved relating to held for sale asset’ - 144
FPrepayments and accrued incame 7 5
35 171

R BT I (O LR T IS E | PR

Tong arE g et quat e L o e e yar 33 3 e -hestoale

R IR

fca L oLzest 7ozl -ehinl Jtwyt W

Trade and other debtors are shown after deducting a prowision for bad and doubtful debts of £14m (2016/17 £14m] Tha charge to the Income
staternent in relation to bad and doubtful debts was £1m [2016/17 €£1m]

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other debtors ts approximate to their fair value Thereisno concentration
of credit risk with respect to trade debtors as the Group has a large number of customers who are paying their rent in advance

As at 31 March, trade and ether debtors outside their payment terms yet not provided tor are as follows

Outside credit terms but net impaired

Within 0-1 1-2 More than

Total crecht terms month months 2 months

£m £m £m £m £m

2018 28 18 [ 4 -

2017 22 7 9 4 2
14 Creditors

208 ST

£m S

Trade creditors 146 127

Deposits recewved relating to held for sale asset’ - 144

Other taxation and sociat secunity 30 32

Accruals 73 83

Delerred incorne 75 72

324 458

SLTTTRm e T Tilvw 1 z T L1 (R L oL BTN QT VB

- =Tpm

Trade creditors are interest-free and have settlement dates w

other creditors 15 approximate to their far vatue

15 Other non-current liabilities

ithin ene year The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and

2018 7

£m SIT

Other creditors - 1
Head leases 62 &4
Net pensicn liabilities - 13
62 78
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Financial stxtements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

16 Deferred tax
The movement on deferred tax s as shown helow

Deferred tax assels year ended 31 March 2018

1 April Credited to Debited  Transferredto 31 March
2017 ncame ta equity joint ventures 2019
€m £m Em £m £m
Interest rate and currency derivative revaluations 4 5 (5) ~ 4
Other timing differences 7 - - - 7
11 5 15) -~ 11
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2018
£m fm £m £m £m
Property and investrnent revaluations {7 - - - (7)
(7] - - - 7
Netdeferred tax assets 4 s {51 - 4
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2017
A CoaneL e el B yMET L
ERIES no.oa- ety ol
Lo " L A% e
Interest rate and currency dervative revatuations 3 il - - 4
Other timing differences [} 1 - - 7
11 - - - 11
Deferred tax Wabilities year ended 31 March 2017
r tn L L
Property and investment revaluations [7) - - - 7
Other timing differences n - - 1 -
18} - - 1 71
Net deferred tax assets 3 - - 1 4

The followtng corporation tax rates have been substantively enacted 12% effective from 1 April 2017 reducing to 17% effectve from 1 Aprid
2020 The deferred tax assets and habilities have heen calculated at the tax rate effectivein the period that the tax 1s expected to crystallise

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset catculated 3t 17% 12016/17 17%} of £E7m 12016/17 £5m]in respect of capital losses from
previous years avatlabie for offset against future capital profit Further unrecognised detferred tax assets in respect of capital losses of
£122m (2016/17 £129m) exist at 31 March 2018

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets on derivative revaluations to the extent that future rmatching taxable profits are expected
to arise

At 31 March 2018, the Group nad an unrecogrised deferred tax asset calculated at 17% [2016/17 17%) of £43m [2016/17 £50m)in respect
of UK revenue tax losses from previous years

Under the REIT regime, development praperties which are sold within three years of cempletion do not benefit from tax exemption

At 31 March 2018, the value of such properties s £176m12016/17 £176m) and if these properties were to be sold and no tax exemption
was avallable, the tax arising would be £13m [2016/17 £13m)
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17 Net debt

2018 At
Fooret- £m _r
Secured on the assets of the Group
2125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2020 11 - 34
5 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 369 377
3 0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 95 99
2 357% First Mortgage Cebenture Bonds 2028 255 348
Bank loans 12 512 475
Loan notes 2z 2
1,232 1.335
Unsecured
5 30% Senior Notes 2027 100 102
3 895% Senior US Dollar Notes 2018 2 27 32
4 635% Sensor US Dollar Notes 2021 2 156 181
4 766% Senior US Dollar Notes 2023 2 97 113
5 003% Semeor US Dollar Notes 2024 2 63 73
2 81% Senior Notes 2026 110 14
3 97% Seruor Notes 2026 112 117
1 2% Convertible Bond 2017 - 406
0% Convertible Bond 2020 337 33
2 375% Sterling Unsecured Bond 2029 298 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 595 477
1,895 1946
Gross debt 3 3,128 3.281
Interest rate and currency derivative hiabilities 138 144
Interest rate and currency derivative assets (115) 1217
Cash and short term deposits 4.3 (105) 114]
Total net debt 3,046 3,094
Net debt altributable to non-controlling interests 1109 03]
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,937 299
I R CRtY . ~L Yo b AE DTNV L
2018 ST
€m
11 8LD Property Holdings Ltd - 34
12 Hercules Unit Trust 512 475
512 509
L L L e e O R P PO R T R T oose x
Voo R A0 CTItrr e aert T MG sl o 0T 200 AMT T ad o s i prncinela bt ae cet it mOW e afn I e
[ T L T R e L Lo T S L R Y B B S PR I TS T
AT I R
[T T Ll N T TS B P T L O R B O S T T T A S T S L B T B B UL L R NN T AUFE LN IToNN ETOT MWL
I‘Z"—:‘ Ajrl'ffz.r.'h B S L TR RN L A N R N R AT I ETA
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Finaneial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

17 Net debt conninued
Maturity analysis of net debt

2018 200

£m [

Repayable within one year and on demand 27 [
Between one and two years 163 ]
Lwor and five years 1194 1,283
flve and tep years 803 783
ten and hiteen year s 305 332
iteen and twenty year s 636 388
3,101 2,817

Gross debt 3,28 3,281
Interest rate and currency derivatives 23 [73}
Cash and short term deposits {105} 4]
Net debt 3,046 3.094

1.5% Convertible bond 2012 {maturity 2017)
On 10 September 2012, British Land [Jersey] Limited {the 2012 lssuer), 2 wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, 1ssued £400 mdlien 1 5%
guaranteed convertible bonds due 2017 [the 2812 bonds) at par On 10 September 2017, the converhible bonds were redeemed at par

0% Convertible bond 2015 [maturity 2020]

On 9 June 2013, British Land [White) 2015 Limited [the 20153 1ssuer), a wholly-ewned subsidiary of the Group. 1ssued £330 miliion zero
¢coupon guaranteed convertible bands due 2020 [the 2015 bonds] at par The 2015 Issuer 15 fully guaranteed by the Company in respect of
the 2015 bonds

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 lssuer which are automatically transferred to the
Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company s election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash
Frorr 20 July 2015 up to and including 29 June 2018, a bondholder may exercise ite conversion right if the share price has traded at a level
exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified period Thereafter, and up to bul excluding the 7th dealing day before @ June 2024
{the maturity datel, 2 bondholder may convert at any time

The inttial exchange price was 1103 32 pence per ordinary share The exchange price Is adjusted based on certain events [such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary share] As at 31 March 2018 the exchange price was 1034 52 pence
per ordinary share

From 30 June 2018 the Company has the option to redeem the 2015 bonds at par if the Company s share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period. or at any time once 85% by norminal vatue of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled The 2015 bonds witl be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 [the matunity datel f they have not already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and ¢ancelled
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17 Net debt continued
Fair value and book value of net debt

2018 7

Fairvatlue Bockvalue  Difference Yoovewe BTosval -oar

£m £m £m tr, ' Sty

Debentures and unsscured bonds 1,783 1,682 10t 1,682 1,590 92
Convertible bonds 337 337 - 737 737 -
Bank debt and other floating rate debt 1,116 1,109 7 963 954 9
Gross debt 3,234 3,128 108 3,382 3,281 101
Interest rate and currency derivative hiabilities 138 138 - 144 144 -
Interest rate and currency derivative assets (115) (115] - {217 1217 -
Cash and short term deposits {105) {105) - i114) (114] -
Net debi 3,154 3,046 108 3.195 3,094 101
Net debt attributable to non-centrolling interests (10) {109 {11 103] 1103 (2]
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 3,044 2,937 107 3,090 2591 29

The fair values of debentures, unsecured bonds and the convertible bond have been established by obiaining quoted market prices from
brokers The bank debt and other floating rate debt nas been valued assuming it could be renegotiated at contracted marqins The derivatives
have been valued by calculating the present value of expected future cash flows, using appropriate market discount rates, by an independent

treasury adviser

Short term debtors and creditors and other investments have been excluded from the disclosures on the basis that the fair value s equivalent
to the book value The fair vaiue hierarchy level of debt hetd at amortised cost s level 2 fas defined in note 10

Group loan to value [LTV)

2018 07
€m
Group loan to value (LTY) 22.1% 22 6%
Princtpal amount of gross debt 3,007 3.06%
Less debt attributabte to non-controlling interests 1191 [112]
Less cash and short term geposits [balance sheet] (105} (114]
Plus cash attributable to non-controlling iterests 10 e
Total net debt for LTV calculation 2,793 2822
Group property portfolio valuatiort {note 18] 9,997 2520
Investrnents injoint ventures and funds (note 11) 2,822 2766
Joint venture held for saie [note 11) - 240
Other investments [note 12) 174 154
Less property and investments attributable to non-controlling interests 366) [264)
Total assets for LTV calculation 12,627 12,616
Praportionally consotidated loan to value ILTVI]

2018 w1y

€m fre

Proportionally consolidated loan to value (LTV) 28.4% 29995
Principal amaount of gross debt 4,399 4 647
Less debt attributable to non-controtling interests [135) 1128]
Less cash and short term deposits 331 1323
Plus cash attributable to non-confrotling interests 10 9
Total net debt for proportional LTV calculation 3,943 4,207
Group property perttolio vatuation [note 10 9,997 9,520
Share of property of jomnt ventures and funds [note 10 4,102 4,801
Cther investrnents [note 12) 174 154
Less other mvestiments attributable to joint ventures and funds {2} (3]
Less property attributable to non-controlting interests (383) [381)
Total assets for proportional LTV calculation 13,888 14,091
British Land | Annual Repar 1 and Acenanis 2018 133



Finaneial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

17 Net debt continued
British Land Unsecured Financial Covenants
The two financial covenants applicable to the Group unsacured debt including convertible bends are shown below

018 PANE

Em En

Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital and Reserves 29% 29%
Principal ameunt of gross debt 3,087 3.069
Less the relevant proportion of borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-centrolling interests {119) in2)
Less cash and deposits [balance sheet] {105} {14]
Plus the relevant proportion of cash and deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-contrelung interests 10 g
Net Borrowings 2,793 2832
Share capital and reserves |batance sheet) 9,506 9476
EPRA deferred tax adjustment [EPRA Table Al 5 3
Trading property surpluses {EPRA Tabie A) 134 83
Exceptional refinancing charges (see belowi 233 274
Fair value adjustments of financial instruments (EPRA Table A] 137 135
Less reserves attributable 1o non-controlling mterests Ibalance sheet) 1254) [235)
Adjusted Capital and Regerves 9,761 9736

in calculating Adjusted Capital and Reserves for the purpose of the unsecured debt financial covenants, there is an adjustment of £233m
[2016/17 £274mitc reflect the cumulative net amortised exceptional itemns relating to the refinancings in the years ended 31 March 2005,
2006 and 2007

2018 E
£m L
Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of Unencumbered Assets 23% 26%
Principat amount of gross debt 3,007 3,069
Less cash and deposits not subject to a security interest [being £91m less the relevant proportion of cash and 84} [96)
deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controliing nterests of £ 7m)
Less principal amount of secured and nen-recourse borrowings (1,159) 11,238)
Net Unsecured Borrowings 1,764 1,735
Group property portfolio valuation [note 10) 9,997 9520
Investrments in joint ventures and tunds Inote 11} 2,822 2,766
Joint venture held for sale [note 11 - 540
Other investrments [note 121 174 124
Less mnvestments in jotnt ventures and jont venture held for sale [note 11) {2,822) 13,2%99]
Less encurmbered assets [note 10} 12,447) [3.040)
Unencumbered Assets 7,724 b,641
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17 Net debt continued
Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2018

Arrangement
Foreign costs
2017 Cash flows Transfers® exchange Fair value amortisation 2018
Short term borrowings L64 {458) 27 - 16 - 27
Long term borrowings 2,817 361 (27 [40) (100 - 3,101
Derivatives! (73} 29 - 40 27 - 23
Total lrabitities from financing activities 3,208 (68} - - " - 3,151
Cash and cash equivalents (114) ? - - - - {1085}
Net debt 3,09 {59} - - 1 - 3,046
Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2017
Toisar E
B Tanntoowes A SXTT () Toowvalie ermnr o mata T
Short term borrowings 74 (74) 464 - - - Lb4
Long tersn borrowings 3,687 [423) |464) 49 i36) 4 2.817
Dervatives i30] 1 - 148] 4 - 173)
Total biabilities from financing activities 3731 14%6) - ¥ 132) 4 3208
Cash and cash equivalents [114] - - - - - in14]
Netdebt 3,617 [496] - 1 132 4 3,094
: L AL I R B UL AT
R T e R R Rt A I AR
arawera Lo Lckoreosemene e s c D - W T-ret - MIUA LW L. - - 1- e 1=
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

17 Net debt concinued

Fair value hierarchy

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value, by the valuation method The fair value heerarchy levels are
defined i note 10

2018 ST
Levet 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total et 1=y s eve Tt
£m £m £m £m n [ o o
Interest rate and currency derivative assets - (115] - {115) - 1217} - [217)
Gther investments - avaiable for sale (14} - - {141 114} - - {14}
Cther investments - held for trading - ~ 98 98 - - (930 193]
Assets {14]) (115) 98 131} i14) 12171 123 (324]
Interest rate and currency denvative
iiabilities - 138 - 138 - 144 - 144
Convertibte bords 337 - - 337 737 - - 737
Liabilities 337 138 - 415 737 144 - 881
Total 323 23 98 44h 723 (73 (23] Ha?
Categories of financial instruments
2018 s
£m I
Financial assets
Fair value through income statement
Dther investments - held for irading 98 92
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships 110 2i5
Derivatives not in designated hedge accounting relationships 5
Loans and receivables
Trade and other debtors 28 166
Cash and short term deposits 105 114
Dther investments - loans and recevables 42 61
388 651
Financial liabilities
Fair value through income statement
Convertible bonds (337} {7371
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relatienships (S) {143]
Derivatives not in designated accounting relationships 133} 1)
Amortised cost
Gross debt (2,791} 12,544}
Head leases payable (62] (64])
Creditors 1237} 1373
13,565) 13,862)
Total {31771 [3.217i

Gains and losses on financial Instrurnents, as classed above, are disclosed in nole 6 inet financing costs], note 13 [debtors), the consclidated
income statement and the consclidated statement of comprehensive income The Girectors consider that the carrying amounts of other
investments and head leases payable are approximate to thair fair value, and that the carrying amounts are recoverable

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity attributable to the equity holders of The British Land Company PLC,
comgrising 1Issued capital, reserves and retained eartings Risks relating to capital structure are addressed within Managing risk mn
delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 51 The Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing debt are set out inthe Financial
policies and principies on pages 45to 47
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17 Net debe continued

Interest rate risk management

The Group uses interest rate swaps and caps to hedge exposure to the variability in cash flows on floating rate debt, such as revolving bank
facilities, caused by movementsin market rates of interest

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of these derivatives is a net liability of £118m Interest rate swaps with a fair value of £5m have been
designated as cash flow hedges under IAS 3%

The inelfectiveness recognised in the income statement on cash flow hedges in the year ended 31 March 2018 was £nit [2016/17 £t}

The cash flows occur and are charged to profit and loss until the maturity of the hedged debt The table belew summarises variable rate debt
hedged at 21 March 2018

Variable rate debt hedged

2018 ¥

£m -

Outstanding at one year 775 775
at two years 600 772

al five yeat - . 250 230

altenyear s 250 220

Fatr value hedged debt
The Group Uses mterest rate swaps to hedge exposure on fixed rate financial abities caused by movements in market rates of interest

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of these derivatives 1s a net asset of £95m Interest rate swaps with a tair value of £110m have been
designated as farr value hedges under 1AS 39 (2016/17 asset of £213m

The cross currency swaps of the 2018/2021/2023/2026 US Private Placements fully hedge the foreign exchange exposure at an average
floating rate of 146 basis points above LIBOR These have been designated as fair value hedges of the US Private Placements

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives

2me )T

£m -

Fixed or capped rate 2,107 1.604
Variable rate [net of cashi 939 1,450
3,046 3,094

All the debt s effectively Sterting denominated except for £3m [2016/17 £11m) of Euro debt of which £3m 15 at a vanable rate [2016/17 £11ml

At 31 March 2018 the weighted average interest rate of the Sterling fixed rate debt s 3 2% [2016/17 3 3%] The weighted average period for
which the rate is fixed 1s 9 1 years [2616/17 8 3 years] The floating rate debt 1s set for periods of the Company s choosing at the relevant
LIBOR {or sirnilar} rate

The proportion of net debt at fixed or capped rates of interest was 80% st 31 March 2018 on a spot basis The proportion of net debt at fixed or
capped rates of interest as an average over the next five-year forecast period, on a proportionally consolidated basis, was 60% at 31 March
2018 Based onthe Group s interest rate profile, at the balance sheet date, a 576 bps increase in interest rates would decrease annual profits
by £39m [2016/17 £87m decrease]l Similarly, a 72 bps reduction weuld mcrease profits by £10m [20146/17 £5m increase based on a 34 bps
reduction} The change ininterest rates used for this sensitivity analysis 15 based on the largest annual change in three-menth Sterling
LIBOR over the last 10 years The impact assumes LIBOR does not fall below 0%

Upward maovements in medium and long term interest rates, associated with higher interest rate expectations, increase the value of the
Group s interest rate swaps and caps that provide protection against such moves The corverse 15 true for downward movernants in the yreld
curve A 204 pps shift represents the largest annual change 1n the seven-year Sterling swap rate over the last 10years At 31 March 2018

a 204 bps parallel upward shift in swap rates would increase the value of cash flow hedges and dervatives that are not hedge accounted

by £68m 12016/17 £82m) A 204 bps downward shift in swap rates would reduce the value of these derivatives by £81m [2016/17 £131m]
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17 Net debt continued

Interest rate profile - including effect of dervatives continued

The 0% 2015 Convertible Bond 1s designated as fair value through profit or loss Principal components of the market value of this bond
include British Land s share price and its volatility, and market interest rates

The fair value of the 0% 2015 Convertible Bond at 31 March 2018 was a £337m Usbility At 3] March 2018 a 204 bps parallel upward shift
in interest rates would reduce the fair value bability by £15m, and a 204 bps downward shift in interest rates would increase the fair value
liability by £15m

Foreign currency risk management

The Greup's poticy is to have no material unhedged néet assets or liabilities denominated inforeign currencies The currency risk on
overseas rwvestments 1s hedged via foreign currency dencminated borrowings and decivatives The Group has adopted net mvestment
hedging in accordance with IAS 32 and therefore the portion of the gain or toss on the hedqing instrument that 15 determined to be an
effective hedge 1s recogmsed directly in eguity The ineffective portion of the gatn or toss on the hedging instrument 1s recognised
immediately in the iIncome statement

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and Liabitiies Provided contingent tax
on overseas investments is not expected to occur it will be ignored for hedging purpeses Based on the 31 March 2018 position a 26%
apprectation (largest annual change over the last ten yearshin the Euro relative to Sterling would result in @ Enil change (2016/17. £rill in
reported profits

Azt ear o
2018 AT 2078 A7
£m L £m T
Euro denomtnated 3 N 3 N

Credit risk management

The Group s approach to credit risk management of counterparties s referred to in the Financial policies and principles on pages 4510 47 and
the risks addressed within Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 51 The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
tinancial statements represents the Greup s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained

Cash and short term deposits at 21 March 2018 amounted to £105m (2014/17 £114m) Depostts and interest rate depostts were placed with
financial institutions with BBB- or better credit ratings

At 31 March 2018, the fair vatue of all interest rate derivative assets was £115m [2016/17 £217m]

At 31 March 2018, prior to taking into accourt any offset arrangements, the largest combined credit exposure to a single counterparty
arising from money market deposits, biguid investments and derwvatives was £49m (2016/17 £120rm) This represents 014% [2016/17 09%)
of gross assets

The deposit exposures are with UK banks and UK branches of international banks

The Group s exposure 1¢ credit risk in respect of Its trade receivables ts analysed tn note 13 Provisions are made taking into account historic
credit losses and the creditworthiness of debtors

Liguidity risk management
The Group s approach to hiquidity risk management is discussed in the Financial pelictes and principles on pages 45 to 47, and the risks
addressed within Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 51

The following table presents a maturity profile of the contracted undiscounted cash flows of financial Labiities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay The table includes both interest and principal flows Where the interest payable is not fixed,
the amount disctosed has been determuned by reference to the projected interest rates implied by yield curves at the reporting date

For derivative fimancial instruments that settle on a net basis le g interest rate swaps) the undiccounted net cash flows are shown and for
derwatives that require gross settlement {e g cross currency swaps! the undiscounted gross cash flows are presented Where paymant
obligations are in foreign currencies, the spot exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date 1s used Trade creditors and amounts owed
to jont ventures, which are repayable within one year, have been excluded from the analysis

The Group expects to meet 1ts financiat labilihes through the various available bquidity sources, including a serure remtal income profite,
asset sales, undrawn compmitted borrowing facilies and, 1n the longer term, debt refinancings
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17 Net debt continued

Liquidity risk management continued

The Group leases cut allits investment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of etght years This secure
income profile 1s generated from upward only rent reviews, long leases and high occupancy rates The future aggregate minimum rentals
recewvable under non-cancellable operating leases are also shown in the table below Income from Joint ventures and funds s not inctuded
below Additional biquidity will arise from letting space i properties under construction as well as from distributions receved from joint
ventures and funds

2018
Three

Within Following te five Qver five
one year year years years Total
£m £m £m £tm £€m
Debt 30 166 1173 1,680 3,049
Interest on debt 92 94 232 475 893
Dervative payments 34 16 182 259 491
Head lease payments 2 2 7 267 278
Total payments 158 278 1,5% 2,681 4,71
Dertvative receipts {(52) (20) (209) [195) 477)
Net payment 106 258 1,385 2,485 4,234
Uperating leases with tenants 424 399 68 1,490 3,281
Liguidity surptus [deficit] 318 141 {617) {995] {953)

Curnutative liguidity surplus ldeficit) 218 459 42 (953)

W ey vl )
e Vel Yoo oa "

_ - : : £
Debt 459 33 1,240 1,420 3,152
Interest on debt 89 86 235 468 878
Derivative payments 12 44 189 263 o08
Head lease payments 2 2 7 254 263
Total payments 562 165 1,671 2,405 4,803
Dervative receipts [26) 161] [253) [251) 593]
Net payment 536 104 1416 2,154 4,210
Operating lteases with tenants 405 382 984 1,750 3.521
Liguidity [deficit]) surplus 131 278 (432 1404) 1689}

Cumulative liquidity [deficit) surplus N3 147 1285) 1689

e Lot L T A T B VNN (S V2L T S - A ScoN KT B IO B R et A 0T T pomtarval -

R I E W I TR
s VRS AR R

Any short term Liguidity gap between the net payments required and the rentals recewvable can be met through other lguidity socurces
available to the Group, such as committed undrawn borrowing facilities The Group currently helds cash and short term deposits of £105m of
which £91m 15 not subject to @ secunity interest [see footnote 3 to net debt table on page 131) Further Liguidity can be achieved through sales
of property assets or invesiments and debt refinancings

The Group s property portfolio 1s valued externally at £9,997m and the share of joint vertures and funds’ property 1s valued at £4,102rn
The committed undrawn borrowing faciliies available to the Group are a further source of iguidity The maturity profile of committed
undrawn borrowing facilities 1s shown below

Maturity of committed undrawn borrowing facilities

2018 P
£tm .

Maturity date  over five years 50 122
between four and five years 70 110

between three and four years 1,010 58

Total faciliies available for more than three years 1,160 1.293
Between two and three years 85 149
Between one and two years 86 -
Within ane year - 2
Total 1,331 1444

The above facilittes are comprised of Britich Land undrawn facilities of £1,245m exctuding the extension of the £735m tacility, plus undrawn
tacilities of Hercules Unit Trust totalling £86m
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18 Leasing

Operating leases with tenants

The Group leases out all of its Investment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease lenath of erght years
[2016/17 eignt years) The future aggregate minimum rentals recewvable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2018 20
€m o
Less than one year 424 405
Between one and two years 399 382
Between three and five years 68 284
Between sixand ten years 06 980
Between eleven and fitteen years 393 460
GBetween sixteen and twenty years 145 181
After twenty years 46 129
Total 3,281 3.521
Operating lease commitments
The tuture aggregate mimimum rentals payable under rion-cancellatle operating leases are as foliows
2018 a7
£m t -
Less than one year 3 3
Between one and two years ) 3
Between three and tive years B 9
Between six and ten years 7 ?
Totat 21 24

The Group's leasehold investment properties are typically under non-renewable leases without significant restrictions Finance tease
liabilities are payable as follows, no contingent rents were payable in either period

2018 a1l
Minimum
lease
payments. Interest Principat il e Froma
£m £m tm e e L-
British Land Group
Less than one year 2 2 - 2z 2 -
Between one and two years 2 2 - 2 2 -
Between two and five years 7 7 - 7 7 -
More than five years 267 205 52 269 205 64
Total 278 216 62 280 216 bh
Less future finance charges 216) (216}
Present value of lease obligations 62 b4
More than five years 62 64
Present value of lease obligations 62 64
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19 Dividend
The fourth quarter interim dividend of 752 pence per share, totalting £74m (2016/17 7 30 pence per share, totalling £73m}, was approved
by the Board on 16 May 2018 and 15 payabte on 3 August 2018 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 29 June 2018

The Board will announce the availability of the Scrip Dividend Alternative, if available, via the Regulatory News Service and onits website
[www.britishtand.com/dividends), nc later than four business days before the ex-devidend date of 28 June 2018 The Board expects to
announce the sphit between Property income Distributions [PID) and nen-PID income at that time Any Scrip Dividend Alternative wall not
be enhanced PID dwdends are paid, as requirad by REIT legislation, after deduction of withholding tax at the basic rate lcurrently 20%),
where appropriate Certain classes of shareholders may be able to elect to recewve dividends gross Please refer to our website
www.britishland.com/dividends for details

e 2018 s
Payment date Dividend abar, £m b
Current year dividends
03082018 2018 4th interim 702
04 05 2018 2018 2rd interim 7 a2
0o 02 2018 2018 2nd interim 732 75
101 2007 2018 1stinterim 732 77
3008
Prior year dividends
04 08 2017 2017 4th interim 730 75
05052017 2017 3rd interim 730 75
1002 2017 2017 2nd interim 730 73
11112016 2017 st interim 730 73
7920
0508 2016 201& 4th interim 709 73
0605 2016 2016 3rd nterim 709 73
Dwvidends in consolidated statement
of changes It equity 302 296
Dividends settled i shares - -
Divigends settled in cash 302 296
Tirung difference relating to payment
of withholding tax 2 i)
Dividends in cash flow staternent 304 295
Cva - that =12 gt onnaml”
20 Share capital and reserves
2018 ra
Number of ordinary shares in 1ssue at 1 April 1,041,035,058 1,040,562 323
Sharessues 429,206 472735
Repurchased and cancelled 167,607,139} -
At 31 March 93,857,126 1. 041,035,058

Of the 1ssued 25p ordinary shares, 7.276 shares were held in the ESOP trust [2016/17 77831, 11,266,245 shares were held as treasury shares
[2016/17 11,266 243) and 982,583,204 shares were In free 1ssue {2016/17 1.029,761.030] No treasury shares were acquired by the ESOP trust
during the year Allissued shares are fully paid inthe year ended 31 March 2018 the Company repurchased and cancelied 47,607,139 ordinary
shares at a weighted average price of 620 pence

Hedging and translation reserve

The hedging and translation reserve comprises the eftective portion of the cumulative net change in the far vatue of cash flow and foreign
currency hedding instrurnents, as well as all foreign exchange differences arising from the transiation of the financial statements of foreign
operations The foreign exchange differences also include the translation of the liabilities that hedge the Company s net investment ina
foreign subsidiary

Revaluation reserve
The revatuation reserve relates to owner-occupied properties and investments in joint ventures and funds

Merger reserve

This comprises the premium on the share placing in March 2013 No share premium s recorded m the Company s financal statements,
through the operation of the merger relief provicions of the Companies Act 2006
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20 Share capital and reserves continued
At 31 March 2018, options over 7,517.263 crdinary shares were outstanding under employse share option plans The options had a weighted
average life of 6 6 years Detalls of outstanding share options and shares awarded to employees including Executive Directors are set out

below and on the following page

%- e da s
A A L LX- 7y At 31 March Xl o
Date of grant 207 Sodrerd B VesleG _apsed 2018 e [re ‘0
Share options Sharesave Scheme
260612 42,698 - {40,403) [2,293] - 392 00 01917 010318 .
1906 13 27 - - 217} - 31100 01916 280217
190613 15,202 - - {332) 14,850 511 00 01918 010319
230614 116,537 - 112.776) 13,781} - 374 00 01%17 010318
2306 14 98,450 - - {15.938) 82,512 574 00 01919 010320
220615 39,205 - - [11,303) 27,900 62700 01918 010319
220615 20,382 - - 15,376 15,006 69700 01920 010321
200616 92101 - 1559) 145.616) 45,926 50800 01919 010320
2006 16 39,300 - - {37,297) 22,003 408 00 gr#2r 010322
210617 - 265,883 - [9.064) 256,81% 508 00 01920 010321
210617 - 98,960 - 12,420) 96,540 508 00 01922 010323
484192 364,843 {153,738)  [133741) 561,554

Long-Term Incentive Plan - options vested, not exercised
2906 09 10,333 - - - 14,333 38700 290612 290619
211209 69716 - (11157 - 58,553 446 00 211212 211210
1106 10 1,207153 - [74 884] - 1,132,249 44700 10613 10620
141210 59933 - [4.800] - 55,133 51000 141213 141220
2806 M 823,252 - [10,434) - 812,819 57500 2806014 2806 21
ez 76,824 - {8,631 - 70,175 45100 191214 9122
140912 1,055,907 - [83,254) {20941 968,557 538 00 140915 140922
201212 77345 - |6,532} 18 616] 62,197 563 00 201213 201222
0506812 333,028 - [27.280) [11,670) 294,078 40100 050816 050823
051213 208.013 - {23.151) [12955] 171,909 600 00 051216 051223

3921503 - 1250,143]  [35.337) 3,634,023
Leng-Term Incentive Plan - unvested options
22414 763,854 - ~  [743.854) - 684 33 230617 230624
1212 14 26,127 - - {26127} - 75783 121217 121224
22615 1.021.853 - - N32731 889122 824 50 220618 220625
22616 1317362 - - [95,742) 1,221,620 730 350 220619 220628
284617 — 1,258,685 - [49,743] 1,208,942 61717 280620 280627

312919 1.258.685 - [1,068.197) 3,319,684
Total 7,534,891 1,623528 (403,881) 11,237275) 7,517,263
Weighted average exercise
price of options [pence) 621 593 - 522 690 60%
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Saec e

AT Apr oxet =i At3TMarch otg ot ida
Date of grant KN [EIETA Vosr-a [T 2018 seme W st date
Performance Shares Long-Term Incentive Plan
23614 1.302.354 - - 1,302,254} - 684 00 23617
121214 4,354 - - {4,334) - 73783 121247
22615 1,151,199 - - 182.741) 1,068,458 824 50 22618
22618 1,273,754 - - 1126704) 1,337,050 73050 224619
28617 - 1548771 - [51,15°] 1,897,612 61717 286 20
3731661 1948771 - [1,377312] 4,103,120
Matching Share Plan
30614 289560 - 11447801 144780} - 702 40 30617
29615 282,179 - - - 282,770 806 00 294618
20616 318,932 - - [5756] 313,176 80700 29619
820 6062 - [144.,780)  N150.536) 595,346
Total 4.622323 1948771 [144,780) (1,727 848] 4,698,466
Weighted average price of shares [pence] 749 617 702 695 716

21 Segment indormation

The Group allocates resources to investment and asset management according to the sectors it expects to perform over the medium term
Its three principal sectors are Offices, Retaill and Canada Water The Retail sector includes {eisure, as this 1s often incorporated into Retail
schemeas Residential properties were included within Offices in the prior year, but have been reclassified within Otherfunallocated in the
current year, with the prior year comparatives represented

The relevant aross rental iIncome, net rental income, operating result and property assets, being the measures of segment revenue, segment
result and segment assets used by the management of the business, are set out below Management reviews the performance of the
business principally on a proportionally consolidated basts, which includes the Group ¢ share of joint ventures and funds on a line-by-tine
basis and axcludes non-controtling interests in the Group s subsidiaries The chief operating decision maker for the purpose of segment
information 1s the Executive Committee

Gross rental income 1s derved from the rental of bulldings Operating result is the net of net rertat income, fee income and administrative
expenses No customer exceeded 10% of the Group s revenues in either year
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21 Segment information continaed
Segment resutt

ARETY Rota, e Wl ied v ] el
2018 [ 2018 2 2018 it 2g18 707 2018 o
£m T £m " £m 4 £m 1 £m ©
Gross rental income
British Lang Group 139 139 273 276 8 9 4 3 424 427
Share of joint ventures ang funds 102 11é 87 100 - - - - 189 216
Total 241 253 360 376 8 9 4 3 533 643
Net rentat income
British Land Group 131 131 254 262 7 8 4 2 396 403
Share of joint ventures and funds 98 112 82 25 - - ~ - 180 207
Total 229 243 334 357 7 8 4 2 576 610
Operating result
British Land Group 126 127 248 252 4 5 [42) 147) 336 337
Share of joint ventures and funds 95 109 79 26 - - 12) 1) 172 204
Total 221 236 327 348 4 5 {44} {481 508 541
2018 A0
Reconciliation to Underlying Profit £m t
Operating result 508 241
Net financing costs 128) {151
Underlying Profit 380 396
Reconciliation to prohit on ordinary activities before taxation
Underlying Profit 380 390
Capitat and other 107 1209)
Underlying Prohit attributable lo non-controtiing interests 14 14
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 501 195
Reconciliation to Group revenue
Gross rental iIncome per operating segment result 613 643
Less share of gross rental income of joint ventures and funds 189 1216)
Plus share of grogs rentalincomea attributable to non-contreiling interests 17 15
Gross rental income [note 3) 441 442
Trading property sales proceeds 78 33
Service charge income 1 62
Management and performance fees lirom jomnt ventures and funds} 6 ?
Dther fees and commissions 48 43
Revenue [Consolidated Income Statement) 639 589

Areconciiation between net financing costs in the consolidated income statement and net financing costs of £128m (2016/17 E£151m)inthe
segmental disclosures above can be found within Table A1n the supplementary disclosuras Of the total revenues above, £ril{2016/17 £nil)

was derived from outside the UK

Segment assets

LY gl Varada W Sterd alooat. o b
2018 s 2018 st 2018 227 2018 At 2018 237
£rm in £m e €m L £m <m £m i
Property assets
British Land Group 4,37 4,069 4,915 4716 283 27 13 154 9,682 2,210
Share of joint ventures and funds 2,334 277 1,681 1,938 - - 19 16 4,034 4,730
Total 6,705 6,845 6,596 4,604 233 271 132 170 13,716 13,240
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21 Segment information continued
Reconciliation to net assets

2018 "t
British Land Group £€m i
Property assets 13,716 13940
Other non-current assets 185 1546
Non-current assets 13,901 14,096
Other net current Liabilities [348) [364]
Adjusted net debt 13,9730 (4223
Other non-current habilittes - n
EPRA net assets [diluted) 9,560 9,498
Non-controlting interests 254 735
EPRA adjustments (308) {277
Netassets 2,506 9,474

22 Capital commitments

The aggregate capital commitments to purchase, construct or develop investment property, for repairs, maintenance or enhancements,

or for the purchase of investments which are contracted for but not provided, are set cut below

2018 2177

£m L

British Land and subsidiaries 239 84
Share of Joint ventures 193 19
Share of funds - 2
432 107

23 Related party transactions

Details of transactions with joint ventures and funds are given in notes 3, 6 and 11 Duning the year the Group recogrised joint venture
management fees of £om [2016/17 £9m] Details of Directors remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91
Detaits of transactions with key rmanagement personnel are provided in note 8 Detaits of transactions with The British Land Group of
Companies Pension Scheme, and other smaller pension schemes, are given in note 7

24 Contingent liabilities

Group, joint ventures and funds

The Group, joint ventures and funds have contingent Liabiities in respect of tegal claims, guarantees and warranties arising i the ordinary
course of business Itis not anticipated that any material labilities will arise from contingent Labilities
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25 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below s summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interestis that are material 1o the Group
The information below is the amount before intercompany ebminations, and represents the consolidated results of the Herculas Unit
Trust group

Summarised income statement for the year ended 31 March
il U

2018 A7

£m LT

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation B3 i0

Attributable to non-controlling interests 14 3

Attributable to the shareholders of the Company 39 7
Summarised balance sheet as at 31 March

Aot g = Jw Tiuse

2018 257

£m o

Total assets 1,548 1,309

Total labilities (565) {331

Net assets 983 978

Non-controlling interests 1254) [255)

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 729 723

Summarised cash flows
et =T b T

2018 i

£m "

Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents 3 10

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 40 30

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 43 40

The Hercules Unit Trust 1s a closed-ended property Urit Trust The urit price at 31 March 201815 £684 [2016/17 £684) Non-controlling
interests collectively own 23 0% of units inissue The British Land Company PLC owns 77 0% of urits inissue, each of which confer equal
voting rights, and therefore is deemed to exercise control over the trust

26 Subsequernt cvents
There have been no significant events since year end
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27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiarics

The following subsidiaries are exempt from the requiremients of the Compantes Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue

of Section 479A of that Act

Mozrio

|52 MR M

cam ot

Jom

Na

PR el

LIeL L

20 Brock Street Limited

39 Victoria Street Limited

Adamant Investment Corporation Limited
Apartpower Limited

Bayeast Property Co Lirmted

Bl Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited

BL Breadgate Fragment 2 Limited

Bl Brozdgate Fragment 2 Lirmted

BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited

BL Broadgate Fragment 5 Limited

Bl Broadgate Fragment é Limited

BL Cufton Moor Limited

BL CW Developments Lirmiuted

Bl CwW Davelopments Plot A1 Ltd

BL CW Developments Plot AZ Ltd

BL CW Developments Plot G1 Ltd

BL CW Lower GF Company Limited

BL CW Lower LP Company Lirited

BL CW Holdings Plot A1 Company Limited
BL Cw Holdings Piot A2 Company Limited
BL CW Holdings Piot G1 Company Limited
BL Cwmbran Limited

Bl Eden Walk Limited

EL HC Property Holdings Lirnited

BL Heaith Ciubs PH Ne 1 Lirnited

BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited

BL Lancaster Investments Ltd

BL Osnaburgh St Residential Ltd

BL Residential No 1 Limited

BL Residential No 2 Lirmited

BLD [Ebury Gate] Limited

BLD Properties Limited

07401497
07037133
00225149
02832059
00435800
09400407
09400541
094004711
09400409
094004132
09400414
07508019
10464198
10782150
10782335
10782458
10063292
10663474
10781493
10781503
10781471
07780231
10620935
06894046
02643248
05643261
10563072
06874523
05291237
05291956
03863852
00732787

Bl Holdings 2010 Ltd

Boldswitch Limited

British Land In Town Retail Linnited

British Land Property Advisers Limited

Cavendish Geared Lirmted

Exchange House Holdings Lirmited

Hempel Holdings Limited

Hilden Properties Limited

Hyfleet Lirmited

Ivoryhill Limited

Lancaster General Partner Limited

Longford Street Residentiai Limited

Moorage |Property Developments) Limited

Osnaburgh Street Limited

Paddington Central | [GP] Lirmited

Parwick tnvestments Limited

Piccadilly Residential Limited

Piltar Nugent Limited

Pillarman Limited

PiltarStore No 3 Limited

Shopping Centres Limited

Surrey Guays Limited

TBL [Bursledonl Limited

TBL [Lisnagelvin) Limited

TBL {Maidstonel Lirmied

TBL Hoidings Limsted

Teesside Letsure Park Limited

United Kingdom Property Company Limited

Vintners' Place Limnsted

Wates City of London Properties Limited
y Wates Uity Point Limited

07353%66
02307096
0233230606
02793828
02779045
02037407
05341380
NI062887
02835919
02307407
05452195
08700158
01185513
05886735
03891376
00454239
10525%84
02567031
02713307
03389118
02230036
05294243
73854557
03853983
03854415
0383731
02672136
00266486
02149495
01788526
02973114

The following partnershups are exempt from the requirements to prepare, publish and have audited mdividual accounts by virtue of regulation
7 of The Partnershups [Accounts) Regulations 2008 The results of these partnerships are consehdated within these Group accounts

Nane,

N -

BL Shoreditich Limited Partnership

BL Chess No 1 Limited Parinership

BL CW Lower Limited Partnership

BL CW Upper Limited Partnership

BL Lancaster Limited Partnership

Hereford Shepping Centre Limited Partnership

Paddington Block ALP

Paddington Block B LP

Paddington CentraliLP

Paddmgton Central il LP

Paddington Kiosk Lp

Power Court Luton Limited Partnership
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Finoacial statenrcits

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
PREPARED N ACCORDANCE WITH FRS 101 AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018 wy

Fixed assets

Investments and ioans Lo subsidiaries D 28,148 27518
tnvestments in joint ventures o avée 431
Dther investments D 34 33
interast rate derwative assets C 115 27

Deferred tax assets _wv o -

28,683 26,201

Current assets
Debtors G ] 7
Cash and short term depesits £ 32 49
a8 54
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafis E 27 163
Credifors H 198} (10%)
Amounts due to subsidiaries (29,645) 119,410}
120,760 [19578)
Net current tiabitities i20,722] 119.522)
Total assets less corrent liabilities 7,961 B 479
Naon-current liahilities
Debentures and tpans E [2,250) {1.978)
Interest rate derivative Liabilitres E 133 (134}
Amounts due to subsidraries - 331
Deferred 1ax and other non-current liabitties - 3]

{2,383} [2 446}

Net assets 5,678 6,233
Equity

Called up share capital H 248 260
Share premium 1,300 1,298
Other reserves 7 {134]
Merger reserve 213 213
Retamned earnings 3,810 4 ,59%6
Total equity 5578 6,233

The toss after taxation for the year ending 31 March 2018 for the Company was £192m year ending 31 March 2017 £121m profit}

Ch%

John Gildersleeve
Chairman Chiaf Executive Officer

Approved by the Board on 16 May 2018

Company number 621920
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

R R vrh e Mgt [GES Total
catal Fr.owT R Carive Aot equity
L £ L I [ £m
Balance at 1 April 2017 2560 1,298 {134) 213 4,596 4,233
Share issues - 2 - - - 2
Purchase of own shares (12} - - - (289) (3011
Dividend patd - - - - (302) {302)
Net actuarial gan on pension schemes - - - - 9 g
Loss for the year after taxation - - - - 1ne2j 1192
Transferred to the income staternent lcash flow hedges) - - 12¢ - - 129
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,380 |5) 213 3,822 5,578
Balance at 1 April 2016 260 1,295 11203 213 4,789 6,437
Share 1ssues - 3 - - - 3
Dwidend paid - - - - 1296) {296]
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - 2 2
Purchase of own shares - - - - 8] {8
Net actuarial loss on pension schemes - - - - (12} (12)
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - 121 121
Dervative valuation movernant - - [14) - - {14)
Balance at 31 March 2017 260 1,298 1134] 213 4.0%6 6,233

The value of distributable reserves within the profit and toss account 1s £2,074m (2016/17 £2911m1)
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Financigl statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(A) Accounting policies

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 have
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation
of derivatives These financial statements have also been prepared
inaccordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework 'FRS 101) The amendments te FRS 101
{2015/16 Cyclelissued in July 2016 and effective immediately have
been applied

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the
recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
{Adopted IFRSs }, but makes amendments where necessary n order
to comply with the Compantes Act 2004 and has set out below where
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been laken

The Company has taken advantage of the foliowing disclosure
exemptions under FRS 101

[al the requirements of IAS 1 to provide a batance sheet af the
begmning of the perad 0 the event of a prior period adjustment,
the requiements of lAS 1 ta provide a statement of cash flows
for the period,

the reguirements of IAS 1 to provide a statement of compliance
with IFRS,

the requirements of IAS 1 1o disclose information on the
rmanagement of capitat,

the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of [AS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to disclose
new IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective,

the requirements in |1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures fo disclose
related party transactions entered inte between two or more
members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which s a
party to the transaction 1s wholty-owned by such @ member,

the requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 Related Party
Disclosures to disclose key management personnel
compensation,

the requirements of IFRS 7 to disclose ftnancral instruments, and
the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement to disclose information of fair vatue valuation
techmgues and inputs

ib)
le)
i)

ial

i)

lg

{h
1)

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared onthe going concern basis
as explained in the corporate gavernance section on page 51

150 British Land . Annual Repor t and Accounts 2018

Investments and loans
investments and Leans 1o subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated
at cost less provision for impairment

. Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The key source of eshmation uncertainty relates to the Company s

_investrments in subsidiaries and Joint ventures In estimating the

requirement for impairment of these investments, management
make assumptions and judgerents on the value of these
investments using inherently subjective underlying asset valuations,
supported by independent valuers

(B) Dividends
Details of dimdends pad and proposed are included in note 19 of the
consolidated financiat statements

(C) Employee information
Employee costs include wages and salaries of £2%9m [2016/17 £37m.

" social security casts of £5m [2016/17 £3ml and pension costs of £5m

{2016/17 £5mj Oetals of the Executive Dhrectors remuneration are
disclosed inthe Remuneration Report

Audit feesin relation to the parent Company only were £0 3m
2016/17 £0 Zm)



(D) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures. loans to subsidiaries and other investments

2Mare . > Lan o \hm :n : I
el anes = b ve qTal- - rys -l - nfs Total
s " i tn £m
On 1 Apri 2017 19,766 7.812 437 35 27,984
Additions - 1852 32 3 1,889
Disposals - {1.071] 87 (2] (1,160)
Depreciation/ameortisation - - - t4) {4]
Provisior: for impairment i3 1148 - - 151)
As at 31 March 2018 19703 8445 376 34 28,558

The historical cost of shares in subsicharies 15 £20,025m 12016/17 £20,025mi Investments in joint ventures of £376rm 12016/17 £431m]
includes £182m [2016/17 £245m] of leans to joint ventures by the Company Results of the jomt ventures are set out in note 11 of the
consolidsted financial statements The historical cost of other investments s £30m [2016/17 £48m

(E) Net debt

2018 23'7
£m [
Secured on the assets of the Company
3 764% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 369 377
3 0095% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 5 99
5 257% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 255 348
719 824
Unsecured
2 20% Senior Notes 2027 100 102
3 895% Senior US Dollar Notes 2018 27 32
4 633% Semior US Dollar Notes 2021 156 181
4 766% Senior US Dollar Notes 2023 97 113
5 003% Sentor US Dollar Notes 2026 63 73
3 81% Semor Notes 2026 110 14
2 97% Semior Notes 2025 12 17
Fair valus of options to1ssue under 1 3% convertible bond 2017 - 5
Fair value of aptions te 1ssue under 0% convertible bond 2020 - 3
2 375% Firot Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2029 298 ~
Bank loans and overdrafts 595 477
1,558 1,217
Gross debt 2,277 2,041
Interest rate and currency derivative Liabilities 133 134
Interest rate and currency derivative assets 1115) 217
Cash and short term deposits (32) [49]
Net debt 2,263 1909
IS e an et e w1 by gdgee g =ter e Toa rn cte at The B n e e

1.5% Convertible bond 2012 (maturity 2017)
On 10 September 2012, British Land [Jersey) Lirmited (the 2012 Issuer], a wholly-owned subsidrary of the Company, 1ssued £400 milion 1 5%
guaranteed convertible bonds due 2017 (the 2012 bonds] at par On 10 Septernber 2017, the convertible bonds were redeemed at par
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

(E) Net debt continued

0% Convertible bond 2015 {maturity 2020]

On 7 June 2015, British Land (White] 2015 Limited {the 2015 Issuerl, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 1ssued £350 mithon zero
coupon guaranieed convertible bonds due 2020 [the 2013 bonds) at par The 2013 Issuer s fully guaranteed by the Company in respect
ot the 2015 bonds

Subject to their terms, the 2013 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer whuch are autormnatically transferred to
the Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company s &lection, any combinatton of ordinary shares and cash
From 20 July 2015 up to and including 2% June 2018, a bondholder may exercise its conversion right if the share price has traded at a tevel
exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified peried Thereafter and up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before 9 June 2020
lthe maturity datel, a bondholder may convert at any time

The irtial exchange price was 1103 32 pence per ordinary share The exchange price 15 adjusted based on certain events Isuch as the
Company paying dnidends in any guarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary sharel As at 31 March 2018 the exchange price was 1036 52 pence
per ordinary share

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the option to redeem the 2015 bonds at par if the Company’s share price has traded above 130% of

the exchatige price for a specified pertod, or at any time once 85% by norminal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled The 2015 bongs will be redeemed at par on 2 June 2020 lthe matunty date) if they bave not already been converied,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled

The intercompany loan between the Issuer and the Company arising from the transfer of the loan proceeds was intially recognised at fair
value, net of capitalised 1ssue costs, and 1s accounted for using the amortised cost method in addition to the intercompany loan, the Company
has entered into a derivative contract relating to its guarantee of the abligations of the lssuer in respect of the bonds and the commitment to
provige shares or a combination of shares ang cash on conversion of the bonds This dervative contract 15 inciuded within the balance sheet
as a biability carried at tair value through profit and loss

Maturity analysis of nat debt

2018 N

£m tia
Repayable within one year and on demand 27 o3
between one and {wo years - 33
two and five years 506 4472

five and ten years 804 782

ten and fifteen years 3058 337

fifteen and twenty years 635 389

2,250 1,978

Gross debt 2,277 2,041
Interest rate dervatives 18 (83
Cash and short term deposis {32} 149)
Net debt 2,263 1,909

(F) Pension
The Brihsh Land Group of Companies Pension Scheme and the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme are the principat penston schemes
of the Company and details are set out in note 9 of the consolidated financial statements
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(G) Debtors

2018 AT
£m 1o
Trade and other debtors L
Prepayments and accrued Income -
6
(H) Creditors
2018 T
£m [
Trade creditors 12 12
Corporation tax 21 29
Other taxation and social secunity 21 32
Accruals and deferred income 34 32
88 105
(I} Sharc capitai
[ED NS RTIPLIPS S
“n [ '

Issued, catled and fully paid

At 1 April 2017 260 1.041.035 008
Share 1ssues - 426206
Repurchased and cancelled (12] (47,607 139)
At 31 March 2018 248 993,857,125
AR
Issued, called and fully paid
At April 2018 260 1,040,562,322
Share issues - 472,735
At 31 March 2017 260 1,.041,035,058

() Contingent liabilities. capital commitments and related party transaetions
The Company has contingent Liabilities in respect of legal claims, guarantees and warranties arising in the ordinary course of business
It 15 not anticipated that any material iabilities witt arise from the contingent Liabilities

At 31 March 2018, the Company has £nil of caprtal commitrments 12016/17 £1m]

Retated party transactions are the same for the Company as for the Group For details refer to note 273 of the consotidated financial staterments
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Finameinl statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

(K) Related undertakings

Disclosures retating to subsidiary undertakings

The Company s subsidianes and other retated undertakings at

31 March 2018 are listed below Companies which have been
dissolved since 31 March 2018 are marked with an asterisk [*]

All Group entities are included in the consolidated financial results

Untess otherwise stated, the Company holds 100% of the voting
rights and beneficial interests in the shares of the following
subsidiaries, partnerships, associates and joint ventures Unless
otherwise stated, the subsidiaries and related undertakings are

registered in the United Kingdom

The share capital of each of the companies, where applicable,

comprises ordinary shares unless otherwise stated

The Company holds the majority of its assets in UK cempanies,
although some are held in overseas companies Inrecent years
we have reduced the number of overseas comparies in the Group

Unless noted otherwise as per the following key, the registered
address of each company 1s York House, 45 Ssyrnour Street,

London W1H 7LX

RSt urae -5t U0 gos MTTA L Se o ML
S A Eap S0 s, sy F1oe
Herra S bwer gt Way, - en s Bua e
RS PR
A N A I
e B R N A A"
S R L SO0 B B
hm Lty s ot e R R

Tt Clrpa an e T Conpaty, TeleSrap s St

DLt 1 A
Direct holdings

Company Name

S o ST [ R TR

niect o

UK /Overseas Tax

UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status
Linestair Limited UK Tax Resident

Lendon and Henley Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

: tMeadowhall Pensions Scheme
Trustee Lirmated

UK Tax Resident

MSC Property Intermediate Holdings
Limited [50% interest)

UK Tax Resident

Flantation House Limited

UK Tax Restdent

Priory Park Merton Limited

UK Tax Resident

Regis Property Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

The British Land Corporation Limited UK Tax Resident
Vitalcreate UK Tax Resident
Indirect holdings

UK/Overseas Tax

Company Name

Restdent Status

1 &4 & 7 Triton Limited

UK Tax Resident

10 Brock Street Limiied

UK Tax Resident

10 Portman Square Unit Trust [Jersey)
Units)

Overseas Tax Resident

10 Triton Street Limnited

UK Tax Resident

17-19 Bedford Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

! 18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limited

UK Tax Resident

20 Brock Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

20 Triton Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

338 Fuston Road bimited

UK Tax Resident

" 350 Eusten Road Limited

UK Tax Resident

39 Victoria Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

8-10 Throgmorton Avenue Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Adamant Investment Corporation Limited

UK Tax Resident

* Adshilta Limitad

Resident Status |

UK Tax Resident

Aldgate Place [BP) Limited (50% interest]

UK Tax Resident

Apartpower Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Bluebutton 2014 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ashband Linited

UK Tax Resident

BL Davidson Limited

UK Tax Resident

B L Unit Trust [Jersey] [Units)

Overseas Tax Resident

BL ESOP Limited (Isle of Man)
in {iguidation]’

DOverseas Tax Resident

BL European Fund Management LLP

UK Tax Resident

BL Exempt Insurance Services Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Guaranteeco Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Intermediate Holding Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLSSP [Funding) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Bluebutton Property Management UK
Lirnited {50% interest]

UK Tax Resident

Boldswitch [No 1) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Boldswitch Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land [Jersey) Limited [Jersey]
[Founder Shares)

UK Tax Resident '

8riish Land (Whitef 2015 Limuted [Jercey)
[Founder Shares)

UK Tax Rewident

B L Holdings Limited

UK Tax Restdent

B L CT 12697) Limited [Jerseyl-

UK Tax Resident

BLCT {21500] Lirmited lJersey!

UK Tax Resident

B LU 11193 Lirited |Jerseyl

UK Tax Resident

Balsena Limited*®

UK Tax Resident

Barnclass Limited

UK Tax Resident

Barndnll Limited

UK Tax Resident

Bayeast Property Co Limited

UK Tax Resident

Bexile Limited

UK Tax Resident

BF Propco INo 1) Linited

UK Tax Resident

BF Propco [No 13) Limnited

UK Tax Resident

BF Propro [No 19) Limited

UK Tax Resident

BF Propco INo 3) Lirited

UK Tax Resident

BF Propco [No 4] Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land City

UK Tax Resident

BF Prepeo (No 5) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Sritish Land City 2005 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BF Properties (No 41 Limited

UK Tax Residert

British Land Company Secretarial Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

BF Properties {No 5] Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Financing Lirmited UK Tax Resident
British Land Properties Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Real Estate Limited UK Tax Resident
Briish Land Securities Limited UK Tax Residert
British Land Securitisation 1999 UK Tax Resident

Broadgate [Funding) PLC

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Estates Insurance Mediation
Services Limited

UK Tax Resident

Birstatl Co-Ownership Trust
[Member interest] {41 25% mnterest]

UK Tax Resident

BL [Maidenhead) Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL [SP) Cannon Street Limited

UK Tax Restdent

Bl (5F] investment {11 Limifed UK Tax Resident
BL {5P) investment (2} Limited UK Tax Resident
BL ISP) Investrinent [3) Limited UK Tax Resident

BL ISP} Investrnent (4] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hyfleet Limited

UK Tax Resident |

BL Bradford Forster Limited

UK Tax Resident

Kingsmere Productions Limited

UK Tax Kesident

BL Brislington Limited

UK Tax Resident
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UK /Overseas Tax UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status  Company Name Resident $tatus
BL Broadgate Fragment 1 Limnited UK Tax Resident . BL HC Health And Fitness Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident | BL HC Invic Leisure Limited UK Tax Resident

BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limuied

BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC PH CREG LLP {Member interest)

UK Tax Resident

|
BL Rroadgate Fragment 4 Limited UK Tax Resident ’ BL HC PH LLP [Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 5 Limited UK Tax Resident \ BL HC PH No 1 LLP IMember mterest) UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 6 Limited UK Tax Resident + BLHC PH No 2 LLP [(Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Broadway Investment Limited UK Tax Resident  BL HC PH No 3 LLP {Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Chess Limited UK Tax Residenit  BL HC Property Holdings Lirnited UK Tax Resident
BL Chess No 1 Limited Partnership UK TaxResident  BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
[Partnership interestl BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident

EL City Offices Holding Cernpany Limited

U Tax Resident

BL High Street and Shopping Centres

UK Tax Resident

BL Clifiton Moor Limited UK Tax Resident  Holding Company Lirmifed

BL CW Developments Limited UK Tax Resident  BL Holdings 2010 Lirmuted 150% mterest) UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot Al Limited UK Tax Resident  BL Lancaster Investments Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot AZ Limited UK Tax Resident  BL Lancaster Limited Partnership "UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plat D1/2 UK Tax Residert  [Dartnership interest)

Company Lirnited

BL Leadenhall Uersey] Ltd [Jersey)

Overseas Tax Resident

EL CW Developments Plot 61 Lirmiied

DK Tax Resident

EL CW Devetoprments Plot K1
Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Holdings Plot Al Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Holdings Plot AZ Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Holdings Plot D1/2 Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Holdings Plot G1 Company Limited

UK Tax Residert

BL CW Holdings Plot K1 Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Lower GP Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Lower Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest]

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Lower LP Company Limited

UK Tzx Resident

BL CW Upper GP Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Cw Upper Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest)

Bi Leadenhall Holding Co llersey) Ltd
[Jersey)-

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Lersure and Industnial Holding
Cempany Limited

UK Tax Residenit

BL Marble Arch House Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

. BL Maytfair Offices Lirnited

UK Tax Resident .

BL CW Upper LP Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Cwmbran Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Debs Limited [Jerseyl-

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Departrnent Steres Holding
Cornpany Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Doncaster Wheatley Limited

UK Tax Hesident

BL Ealing Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Eden Walk J2012 Lirnited [Jersey)

Dverseas Tax Recident

BL Eden Walk Lirnited UK Tax Resident
BL European Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Fixed Uplft Fund Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident

Partnership interest]

BL Fixed Uphft Fund Norminee No 1 Limited
Verseyl

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Nominee No 2 Limited
(ersey)

Overaeas Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift General Partner Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift Nominee 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift Nominee 2 Lirnted

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

BL Meadowhall Heldings Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

BL Meadowhall Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Meadowhall No 4 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Newport Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Office [Non-City] Holding
Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Office Holding Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Osnaburgh 5t Residential Ltd

UK Tax Resident

BL Piccadilly Residential Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Piccadilly Residential Management
Co Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Piccadilly Residential Retail Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

BL Residential No 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Residential Na 2 Limiled

UK Tax Resident

BL Residual Holding Cormpany Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

BL Retail Holding Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Retal Investments Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Retail Warehousing Holding
Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Sainsbury Superstores Limited
[50% interest)

UK Tax Resigent

BL Shoreditch General Partner Limited

UK Tax Resident

. BL Shoreditch Limited Partnership

|[Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

8L Shoreditch No 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Shoreditch No 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Superstores Holding Company Limited

UK Tax Resxlent

BL Triton Buillding Residential Limited

UK Tax Resident

8L Tunbridge Wells Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Uritholder No 1 [J] Lirmited [Jersey]

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Goodman {General Partner) Lirnited UK Tax Resident

(50% :nterest) BL Unitholder No 2 (J] Limited | Jersey]- Overseas Tax Resident

BL Goodman [LP] Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Universal Limited UK Tax Reszident
UK Tax Resident | BL Wardrobe Court Holdings Lirnited UK Tax Resident

BL GP Chess Ne 1 Limited

BL KB Investments Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL West Watling Housel Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC [DSCH] Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Whiteley Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC IDSCLI Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Woolwich Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC Dollview Limited

UK Tax Rezident

BL Woolwich Nominee 1 Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC Hampshire PH LLP [Member interest}

UK Tax Resident

BL Woolwich Nominee 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

UK/Overseas Tax UK/Qverseas Tax
Campany Name Resident Status  Company Name Resrdent Status
Blackglen Limited UK Tax Resident  Casegood Enterprises UK Tax Resident
Btackwall {1) UK Tax Resident | Caseplane Limited UK Tax Resident
Blaxrmuill [Twenty-nine] Limited UK Tax Resident | Cavendish Geared Il Limited UK Tax Resident

Blaxmill [Thirtyl Limied

Uk Tax Recident

Cavendish Geared Lirmited

BLD (Al Limited

UK Tax Reardent .

UK Tax Resident

Caymall Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

BLD (Ebury Gatel Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLD [S)) Investments Lirited

Ut Tax Resident

|

Chantway Limited

UK Tax Resident

Cheshine Properties Limited

BLD {SJ} Limited
BLD Lang Limited

UK Tax Resident

Chrisilu Nominees Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

BLD Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident :

BLD Property Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resigent L o Limmted

BLU Estates Lirmited

UK Tax Residemt

BLU Property Management Limited UK Tax Resident
B8LU Securtties Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land [Joint Ventures] Limited UK Tax Resident
Brinsh Land Acquisitions Limited UK Tax Resident

City of London Office Unit Trust (Jersey]
[Uruts] 135 94% interest]

Overseas Tax Resident

Clarges Estate Property Management

UK Tax Resident

Comgenic Limited

UK Tax Resident

Cornish Residentiat Properties
Trading Limited

Cornish Residential Property
Investments Limited

8ritish Lang Agua Partnership (2] Linuted

British L_and Aqua Partnership Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Crescent West Properties

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Recident ;

British L and City Offices Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Censtruction Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Department Stores Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Developments Lirmnited UK Tax Resident
British Land Fund Management Limited UK Tax Resident

British Land Hercules Lirmited

UK Tax Resident .

Britich Land In Town Retall Limited

UK Tax Resident

British L and Industrial bimited

Britich Land Investrnent
Managerment Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Investments NV [Netherlands)

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

British Land Leisure Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Difices INon-City] Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Offices [Non-City)
No ZLimited

British Land Offices Limited

Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust
{37 646% interest]

UK Tax Resident

Derby Investment Hoidings Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Dinwell Limited

UK Tax Resident

Drake Circus Centre Limited

UK Tax Resident

Drake Circus GP. L L C in Liguidation)
{United States]

Overseas Tax Resident

Drake Circus Lelsure Limited

UK Tax Resident

Drake Circus Limited Partnership

. Iin iquidation] [Partnershup interest)

[Uiited States)

Owverseas Tax Resident

Drake Property Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Drake Property Nominee [No 1l Lirmted

UK Tax Resident

. Drake Property Nominege [No 2] Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Eden Waik Shopping Centre General
Partner Lirmited [50% interest}

UK Tax Resident

Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust’
[30% interest} Jersey [Urits)

Overseas Tax Resident

British Land Offices No 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Elementvirtue Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Property Advisers Limited UK Tax Resident | Elk Mill Otdham Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Briish Land Property Management Limited UK Tax Resident | Euston Tower Limited UK Tax Resident
8ritish Land Regeneration Lirmited UK Tax Resident | Exchange House Holdings Lirnited UK Tax Resident
British Land Retail Warehouses Limited UK Tax Resident | Finsbury Avenue Estates Lirmited” UK Tax Resident

lin liguidation)

British Land Superstores {Non Secunticed)

Number 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate [PHC 8] Limred UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Adjorrsng Properties Lirited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Business Centre Limited UK Tax Resident

Broadgate City Limited

UK Tax Resident |

Broadgate Court Investments Limsted

- Four Broadgate Lirited

UK Tax Resident

FRP Group Limited

UK Tax Resident

. Garamead Properties Linnited

UK Tax Resident

Gardenray Linited

UK Tax Resident

" Gibraltar General Partner Limited
|38 48% mnterest)

UK Tax Resident -

UK Tax Resident

Gibraltar Nominees Limited
{38 48% interest}

UK Tax Re<ident

Broadgate Estates Limited

UK Tax Resident

Giltbrook Retail Park Nottingham Limited

Uk Tax Resident

Broadgate Estates People Management
Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Exchange Square

UK Tax Resident |

Broadgate Investment Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate REIT Limited {50% interesi)

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Square Limited

UK Tax Resident

|

Glenway Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hempel Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hempel Hotels Limnited

UK Tax Resident

Hercules Property UK Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hercules Property UK Limited

Hercules Urnut Trust [76.96% interest)
{Jersey] (Units)-

UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Broughten Retail Park Limnied Jersey
{Umits] [76 96% interest)”

Broughton Unit Trust [76 96% interest]’

Owerseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Brunswick Park Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Old Market Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Shopping Centre GP Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Shopping Centre Limited
Partnership

UK Tax Resident

BVP Developments Limited

UK Tax Resident

|

Hilden Properties Linmted

UK Tax Resident

Canada Water Difices Limited

UK Tax Resident ,
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Horndnift Limited

UK Tax Resident




Coempatty Name

UK /Overseas Tax
Resident Status

; Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

HUT Investrients Limited | Jersey}
|76 96% Interest)

Dverseas Tax Resident

Paddington Central | Urit Trust |Jerseyl
[Uruts)

Overseas Tax Resident

HUT Retail Invectments GP Limited UK Tax Resident  Paddington Central Il [GP] Limited UK Tax Resident
HUT Retait Investments Limited UK Tax Resident | Paddington Central H LP [Partnership UK Tax Resident
Parfnership (Partmersh\p interest] interest]

HUT Retatl lrvestments Nominee Lirmited UK Tax Resident | ruad?:?gton Central {l Unit Trust [ersey] Overseas Tax Resident
Industrial Real Estate Limited UK Tax Resident | SMISE

Insrstmetal 2 Lmited UK Tax Resident : ﬁ?l;j‘ztj:?gton Centrat IV Urut Trust [Jersey] Overseas Tax Resident
:Vofygei: ;'”;"e" : UK Tax Resident | 6,1 dington Krosk 1GP) Ltd UK Tax Resident
‘mehe“ 3 Uosidiary Limited UK Tax Resident { Paddington Kiosk LP {Partnership interest) UK Tax Resident
voryhil Limited UK Tax Resident | PaddingtonCentral Management Company UK Tax Resident
Jetbloom Limited UK Tax Resident | | jruted |87 5% mterest]

L & H Developments Limited UK Tax Resident | pardev [Luton] Limited UK Tax Resident
Lancaster General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident UK Tax Resident

Liverpooi One Management Company
Limited 150% interest)

UK Tax Resident

Liverpool One Management
Services Limited

UK Tax Resident

London and Henley (UK Limited

UK Tax Resident

London and Henley Limited

UK Tax Resident

Lonebridge UK Limited

UK Tax Resident

Longford Street Reswdential Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ludgate Investment Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ludgate West Limited

UK Tax Resident

Manbrig Properties

UK Tax Resident

Marble Arch House Unit Trust [Jersey)
[Unite]

Overseas Tax Resident

Mayfair Properties

UK Tax Resident

Parwick Holdings Limited

Parwick Investrents Limited

UK Tax Resident

PC Battic Wharf Limited

UK Tax Recident

PC Canal Linmited

UK Tax Resident

PC Lease Nominee Ltd

UK Tax Resident

PC Partnership Nominee Lid

UK Tax Resident

Piccadilly Residentiat Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar [Beckion) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar [Cricklewood) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar [Dartford] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar [Fulharn) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar Auchinlea Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar Broadway Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar City Plc

UK Tax Recident

Pilar Dartford No 1 Linited

UK Tax Fesident

Mayflower Retail Park Bastiden Limited UK Tax Resident |

Meadowbank Retail Park Edinburgh Limited UK Tax Resident | Piliar Denton Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Centre (19991 Limited UK Tax Resideni | Pilar Developments Limited UK Tex Recident
Meadowhall Centre Limited UK Tax Readent | Ditlar Estates Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Centre Pension Scheme UK Tax Resident ! Pillar Estates No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Trustees Limited , Pilar Europe Management Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Estates {UK] Lirmited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Farnborough Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Group [MLP) Limited UK Tax Resident | Pilar Fort Lirited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Holdings Linmited UK Tax Resident ! Pillar Futham No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Dpportunities UK Tax Resident | Pillar Gallons Reach Limited UK Tax Resident
Nominee 1 Lirmted | Pitlar Glasgow 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Opporturities UK Tax Resident i Pillar Glasgow 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Nominee 2 Limited | Piilar Glasgow 3 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Training Limited UK Tax Resident i Pitlar Hercules No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Mercan UK Tax Resident | pyjar Kinnaird Limited UK Tax Resident
Mercan Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident | pyjlar Mugent Lmited UK Tax Resident
Minhill Investments Limited UK Tax Resident | pylar Projects Lirmuted UK Tax Resident
Mosrage [Property Devetopments] Limited UK Tax Residert | Pyiar Property Group Limited UK Tax Resident
Nugent Shopping Park Limited UK Tax Resident | pPrllarCaisce Management Limited UK Tax Recident

I

One Hundred Ludgate Hill

UK Tax Resident

[50% interest)

One Sheldon Square Limited [Jersey)

Overseas Tax Resident

Piliarman Lirmited (50% interest]

UK Tax Resident

Orintal Shopping Park Swindon Linmited

UK Tax Recident

PillarStore Limited

UK Tax Resident

Osnaburgh Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

PillarStore No 3 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddmngton Block A [GP} Ltd

UK Tax Resident

Plymouth Retail Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Block A LP [Partnership
interest)

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Block B {GP] Ltd

Uk Tax Resident

Paddington Block B LP [Partrerstup
imerest)

UK Tax Recident

Power Court GP Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Power Court Luten Lirited Partnership
[Partnership interest}

UK Tax Re=sdent

Power Court Nommee Limmited

UK Tax Resident

Power Court Nominees No 7 Limited

UK Tax Recident

Paddington Central | [GP] Limited

UK Tax Residert

Paddington Centrat | LP [Partnership
interest]

UK Tax Resident

PREF Management Company 54
|Luxembourgi

Overseas Tax Recident

Project Sunrise Investrnents Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central | Nominee Limnted

UK Tax Resident ‘| Project Sunnise Limited

UK Tax Resident
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Financiaf statements

NGOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

' Company Name

UK /Overseas Tax
Resident Status

Project Sunrise Properties Lirnited

LK Tax Resident {

Toligate Centre Colchester Limited

UK Tax Recident

Reboline Limited

UK Tax Resident

TPP Investments Limited

Regent s Piace Holding Company Limited

Regents Place Management Company
Lirnited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Regents Place Residential Limited

UK Tax Resident

Renash”

UK Tax Resident

Rigghone Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ritesol*
Rohawk Properties Limited
Salmax Properties

1K Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Seymour Street Homes Limited UK Tax Resident
Shopping Centres Limited UK Tax Resident
Six Broadgate Limited UK Tax Resident

Southgate General Partner Limited
[50% interest}

UK Tax Resident

Tweed Prermier 1 Limited”
Tweed Premier 2 Limited”

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigant
UK Tax Recident

Tweed Prernier 4 Limited
Union Property Corporation Limitted

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Union Property Holdings ILondon} Limited

UK Tax Resident

Umted Kingdom Property Company Lirnited UK Tax Resident
. Valentine Co-ownership Trust
UK Tax Resident

[Member interect] 38 48% interest]

Valentine Unit Trost ersey! iUnis)
(76 96% nterest]

Viciitee Limited

UK Tax Resident

Dverseas Tax Resident

LUK Tax Resident

Vintners’ Place Limited

UK Tax Resident

Wardrobe Court Limited
Wardrobe Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident

Southgate Property Unit Trust [Jersey)
[Urnts] i50% interest)

Overseas Tax Resident

Speke Unit Trust (67 34% interest) [ Jersey)
Units]

Dverseas Tax Resident

Sprint 1118 Limited
St James Parade [43) Limited
St Jarnes Retal Park Northampton Lirnited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

St Stephens Shopping Centre Limited

UK Tax Resident .

Stockton Retaill Park Limited

UK Tax Resident

Storey Spaces Limited

UK Tax Resident

Surrey Quays Limited

UK Tax Resident

Wardrobe Place Limited

UK Tax Resident

Wates City of London Properties Limited UK Tax Resident

Wates City Point Limited

UK Tax Resident

Wates City Property Management Limited

UK Tax Resident

Westbourne Terrace Partnership
[Partnership interest]

UK Tax Resident

Westsida Leeds Limited
Whiteley Norminee 1 Lirmted

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Whitetey Nominee 2 Limited

UK Tax Resigent

whiteley Shopping Centre Unit Trust
{Jersey} {Units]-

Overseas Tax Resident

Sydale UK Tax Resident

T IPartnershipl Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Wit Heldings Lirnited
York House W1 Lirmited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Tailress Limited

UK Tax Resident !

TBL {Brent Park] Limited
TBL [Bromleyl Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Rezident

TBL (Bursiedon] Limited

UK Tax Resident

T8L [Buryl Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL IFerndown) Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL lLisnagelvin) Limited
TBL {Maidstonel Limuted
TBL [Milton Keynes) Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

TBL |Peterborough) Limited

UK Tax Resident

T8L Heldings Liruted UK Tax Re<ident
TBL Properties Limited UK Tax Resident
Teeccude Leisure Park Limuted UK Tax Re=ident
[51% wterest)

The Aldgate Place Limmited Partnership UK Tax Reaident
{Partnership interest] (50% interest)

The Dartiord Partnership IMember interest) UK Tax Resident
{50% interest)

The Gibraltar Limited Parinership UK Tax Resident
[Partnership interest} (38 48% interest)

The Hercules Property Limited Parthership UK Tax Resident
|Partnership interest} 140 68% interest

The Leadenhall Development Company UK Tax Resigent
Limited [50% interaest)

The Liverpool Exchange Company Limited UK Tax Resident
The Mary Sireet Estate L imned UK Tax Resident

The Meadownhall Education Centre [Limited
by guarantee) 150% wnterest)

UK Tax Resident

The Retail and Warehouse Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

The TBL Property Partnership
[Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

The Whiteley Co-Ownership
[Member interest) [50% interest]

UK Tax Resigent
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SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES

UNAUDITED UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED

[able A: Summary incoine statement and balance sheet (Inaudited)

Summary income statement based on proportional consolidation for the year ended 31 March 2018
The following pro forma infermation 1s unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto
It presents the results of the Group, with its share of the results of jomnt ventures and funds included on a Uine-by-line basis and excluding

non-controlling nterests

Year ended 31 March 2018

Joint

Less

ventures non-controlling Preportionally

Group  andfunds interests  consolidated el (L
£m £m £m E£€m T [N
Grossrentatincome 441 193 (21) 613 442 643
Property operating expenses [29) (9] 1 (a7 [25) [10] ? [33)
Net rentalincome 412 184 (20} 575 417 210 [17) 410
Administrative expenses {82) i) - (283) (84) 2 - 86
Net fees and other income 13 - 2 15 17 - - 17
Ungeared income return 343 183 {18) 508 350 208 (17} 341
Net financing costs (64} {68] [ (128) {78 [76) 3 1131)
Underlying Profit 279 115 {14) 380 272 132 [14) 390
Underlying taxation - - - - - - ~ -
Underlying Profit after taxation 279 115 (14 380 272 132 [14) 390
Valuation movermnent 254 12271
Other capital and taxation [net) 3 1433)
Capital and other 285 (670)
Total return 645 [280)
o R 4z R R A -eex _ VANAY
Summary balance sheet based on proportionat consolidation as at 31 March 2018
The following pro forma information 1< unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto
it presents the composition of the EPRA net acsets of the Group, with its share of the net assets of the joint venture and fund assets and
Lisbilities included on @ Line-by-line basis, and excluding non-controlling mterests, and assuming full dilution
Mark
S S
Shet o LErally s EPRA Net EFAN -
[N Pl L O assets R
Yoot (IS ] ~ha = e - RIS [ 31 March L7 Marot
~la B ET pooos B le 2 2018 27
Lo tr 1 o £m r.
Retaii properties 5,262 1,759 (383} - - - 142) - 6,596 6,604
Office properties 4,265 2,334 - - - - f15] 121 6,705 7.015
Canada Water praperties 298 - - - - - 115) - 283 271
Other properties 100 19 - - - - - 13 132 -
Total properties 9,925 4,112 (383) - - - {72) 134 13,716 13,940
Investrnents in joint ventures
and funds 2,822  (2,822) - - - - - - - -
Other investments 174 t2} - - - - - - 172 131
Other net (Labilities) assets [369] (99 4 32 5 - 72 - {355] 1370}
Net debt {3,046) (1,189 125 - - 137 - - [3,973) [4,222]
Net assets 7,506 - (254) 32 5 137 - 134 .560 G498
EPRA NAV per share Inote 2J 9467p 715p
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Financial statements

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

UNAUDITED

Table A continued

EPRA Net assets movement

Year ended
31 March 2018
Pence per F- nat
£m share {1 e
Opening EPRA NAV 9,498 915 10.074 919
Income return 380 37 390 36
Capital return 285 29 [670) N3l
Dividend paid (302) (29) {296} {271
Purchase of own shares {301 15 - -
Closing EPRA NAV 9,560 967 9498 915
Table B: EPRA Performance measures
EPRA Performance measures summary table
2018 v
Pence per -
£m share I ~itel
EPRAEarmings - basic 380 375 3°0 379
- diluted 380 37.4 390 378
EPRA Net Initial Yield 4.3% 4 3%
EPRA topped-up Netinitial Yield 4.6% 4 5%
EPRAVacancy Rate 3.2% 4 8%
2018 L7
Net asset IR
value per [ N
Net assets share pence N Y .
EPRA NAV 9,660 367 9 498 915
EPRA NNNAV 9,044 P14 8.°38 841
Calculation and reconcitiation of EPRA/IFRS earnings and EPRA/IFRS earnings per share
(Audited) 22:1:: i
Profit sttributable to the shareholders of the Company 493 193
Exclude
Group - current taxation 1) 11
Group - deferred taxation {5} -
Joint ventures and tunds - deferred taxation - 0!
Group - valuation movement (202) 144
Group - [profiti loss on disposal of investrment properties and investments {18 5
Group - profit on disposal of trading properties 1144 1
Jont ventures and funds - net valuahon mavement (including result op disposalsl 149) 75
Jomnt ventures and funds - capital financing costs 13 4
Changes in farr value of financial instruments and associated close-out costs 163 13
Non-controlling interests in respect of the abave - f11]
Underlying Profit 380 390
Group - underlying current taxation - -
EPRA earnings - basic 380 390
Dilutive eftect of 2012 convertible bonid - -
EPRA earnings — diluted 380 390
Profit attributable to the sharehotders of the Company 493 193
Ditutive effect of 2612 convertble bond - 133)
IFRS earnings - diluted 493 160
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Table B} continued

2018 2007
Number Nonpe
million It
Weighted average number of shares 1,024 1,040
Adjustment for treasury shares {11 i1
IFRS/EPRA Weighted average number of shares (basic) 1,013 1.029
Dilutive effect of share options 1 1
Ditutive effect of ESOP shares 2 3
Dilutrve effect of 2012 convertible bond - 58
{FRS Weighted average number of shares [diluted) 1,016 109
Dilutve etfect of 2012 convertibie bond - (58]
EPRA Weighted average number of shares [diluted] 1,016 1,033
Net assets per share (Audited]
2018 2N
Pence [
£m  pershare L Lo oshe £
Balance sheet net assets 9,504 9,476
Deferred tax arising onrevaluation moverments 5 3
Mark-to-rarket on derivatives and related debt adjustments 137 55
Dilution etfect of share options 32 36
Surptus on trading properties 134 83
Less non-controlling interests (254} {255}
EPRA NAV 9,560 $67 9,498 215
Deferred tax arising on revalustion movernents (31) (19}
Mark-to-market on derivatives and related debl adjustments (137 53]
Mark-to-market an debt {348) {386
EPRA NNNAY 9,044 914 8,938 861

EPRANNNAY 15 the EPRA NAV adjusted to reflect the fair value of the debt and derivalives and to include the deferred taxation on

revaluations and dernvatives

2018 e

Number A

nlieon o

Number of shares at year end 9% 1,040
Adjustrnent for treasury shares M 1
IFRS/EPRA number of shares [basic) 983 1,029
Gilutive effect of share options 1 3
Dilutive effect of ESQP shares 5 &
Cilutive affect of 2012 convertible band - o8
IFRS nurnber of shares [diluted) 989 1,0%
Dilutive affect of 2012 corvertible bond - 58]
EPRA number of shares [diluted) 98¢ 1,038
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Financial statements

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
UNAUDITED

Table B continued

EPRA Net Initial Yield and topped-up’ Net Initial Yield {Unaudited)

2018 AL

&m v

fnvestment property - wholly-owned 7,682 2210
investment property - share of joint ventures and funds 4,034 4730
Less developments, residential and land {1,315) {798)
Completed property pertfolio 12,401 13142
Allowance for estimated purchasers costs 799 897
Gross up completed property portfolio valuation {A} 13,200 14,03¢
Annualised cash passing rental income 584 607
Property oulgoings 11 (9
Annualised net rents (8] 573 398
Rent expiration of rent-free periods and fixed uplifts 28 30
‘Topped-up’ net annualised rent {C) 501 628
EPRA Net Initial Yield (B/A} 4.3% 4 3%
EPRA ‘topped-up’ Net Initjal Yield (C/A) 4.6% 4 3%
Including fixed/mimmum uptifts recewed in lieu of rental growth 11 Il
Total ‘topped-up’ netrents [D} 612 £39
Gverall ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield (D/A} 4.6% 4 6%
Topped-up net annualised rent 601 628
ERVvacant space 21 34
Reversions 32 38
Total ERV (E] 654 700
Net Reversionary Yield [E/A] 5.0% 50%

Tr=wr 3t Ay L e T v W et e et gt Ty o TATT T ar

EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) basis of calculation

EPRANIY 5 calculated as the annualised net rent [on a cash flow basis], divided by the gross value of the completed property portfolio

The valuation of our completed property portfokio 1s determined by our external valuers as at 31 March 2018, plus an allowance for estimated
purchaser's costs Estimated purchaser s costs are determined by the relevant stamp duty bability, plus an estimate by our valuers of agent

and legal fees on notional acquisition The net rent deduction atlowed for property outgoings is based on our vatuers’ assumptions on future

recurring non-recoverabie revenue expenditure

In calculating the EPRA topped-up’ NIY, the annualised net rent 15 increased by the lotal contracted rent from expiry of rent-free periods and
future contracted rental uplifts where defined as not in beu of growth Overall topped-up NIY s calculated by adding any other contracted
future uplift to the ‘topped-up net annualised rent

The net reversionary yield s caiculated by diwiding the total estimated rental value [ERV] for the completed property portfolio, as determined
by our external valuers, by the gross completed property portfolio valuation

The EPRAvacancy rate 1s calculated as the ERV of the unrented, lettable space as a proportion of the totat rental value of the completed
property portfolio

EPRA Vacancy Rate
2018 2017
£m L
Annualised potential rental value of vacant premises 21 34
Annuabised potential rental value for the completed property portfolio 664 710
EPRAVacancy Rate 3.2% 4 8%

The above Is stated for the UK portiolio only A discussion of significant factors affecting vacancy rates 1s included within the Strategic Report
{pages 32 10 34)
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Table B continued

EPRA Cost Ratios [Unaudited])

2018 7
£m L
Property operating expenses 28 23
Adrministrative expenses 82 B4
Share of joint ventures and funds expenses 10 12
Less Performance and management fees [from joint ventures and funds) (8} %]
Net other fees and commissions (7) {8)
___ Grourd rent cosis {2} 12)
EPRA Costs {including direct vacancy costs) (A) 103 100
Direct vacancy costs {12} 2]
EPRA Costs (excluding direct vacancy costs) (B) M 88
Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs 422 412
Share of joint ventures and funds IGRI less ground rent costs) 189 229
Totai Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs {C) &M 641
EPRA Cost Ratio {including direct vacancy costs) {A/C) 16.9% 15 6%
EPRA Cost Ratio {excluding direct vacancy costs} [B/C) 14.9% 13 7%
Overhesd and operating expenses capitalised including share of joint ventures and funds| 5 3

inthe current year, employee costs in relation to statf time on development projects have been capitalised into the base cost of relevant
development assets

Table C: Gross rental income

2018 I

£m soer

Rent recevable 604 633
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases {12}
Surrender premia 21

Gross rentalincome 413 643

The current and prior year information is presented on a propor tionatly consclidated basis, excluding non-controlling interests

Table D: Property related capital expenditure

2018 TRL]

Joint [

vehtufes vy es
Group  andfunds Total AT o outu s Tral
Acquisitions 250 - 250 88 - 88
Development 132 52 184 131 14 145
Like-for-tike portiolio 23 27 50 &7 47 114
Other 17 5 22 20 2 72
Total property related capex 422 B4 504 306 63 3469

The above 15 presented on a proportionally consolidated basis, excluding non-controlling interests and business combinations The Other’
calegory contains amounts owng to tenant incentives of £10m {2016/17 £10m), capitalised staff costs of £3m (2016/17 £3rm)and capitalised

interest of £7m {2016/17 £7mi)
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Other information

Other information (unaudited)
Acquisitions and Disposals
Portfolio valuation by sector
Gross rental itncome
Portfolio yield and ERV movements
Retail portfolio valuation - previous classification basis
Portfolio net yields
Total property return (as calculated by IPG}
Occupiers representing over 0 5% of total contracted rent
Major holdings
Lease length and occupancy
Portfolio werghting
Annualised rent and estimated rental value IERV)
Rent subyect to open market rent review
Rent subject to lease break or expiry
Recently comptleted and commutted developrnents
Near term development pipeline
Medium term devetopment pipeline
Sustainability performance measures
Ten year record
Shareholder information
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A Nordic forest was created at Broadgate this winter,
with an artisan market, a tepee cinema and The Hideaway,
a specialist dining experience.
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Other informs

UNAUDITED

Acquisitions

- A N
R T
Since 1 April 2017 = [ ) tr
Completed
Tesco, Brislington - Tesco exchange transaction Retail 46 23 2
Harlech, Newport - Tesco exchange transaction’ Retail 41 20 1
10 - 480 The Broadway, Ealing Retail 49 49 z
Hercules Umit Trust units Retail 4 4 -
The Woolwich Estate Retail 163 103 4
Rotherhithe Police Station Canada Water 7 7 -
Total 250 206 9
Partete Tesns Strorsz rap ety rgamt anst 1723y danzs stoupr s a3t -
- Boamare of 1or ge tap o froen
B R RECTIREETAY
Disposals
Ans
T [N
VIS 51 R
Since 1 April 2017 SIS LN £
Completed
The Leadenhall Building Ottices 1150 575 17
Superstores- Retail 245 302 18
B&Q, Bury and Grimsby Retail 58 56 4
Virgin Active, Sunderland and Coventry Retail 8 8 i
Richrmond Homebase Retail 45 43 1
Other Retait/Offices 10 e 1
The Hempel Collection Residential 52 52 -
Clarges, Mayfair: Residential $923 193 -
Aldgate Place Residential 2 1 -
Exchanged
Clarges, Mayfarr Residential 66 bé -
Totatl 2,127 1,308 42

dar g b yeere 2ot My 20T
T L ~hare ce G W SWan o ca lonees L g 1= AT dmposs o -y

sy
Fxzrang .
Txebienged o ot b YR 0wl b A st 0 posT periy ng
3L snare atarnuans~die 9t cpace pre s f e 3

o= an g o poste

166 British Land  Annuai Repoit and Actounts 2018

RIS R



Portiolio valuation by scetor

o

Lo \:'le : wt !
At 31 March 2018 L L n I” [ -y
Regional 1132 1.898 3,030 01 02 0z
l.ocal 1,840 458 2,298 (09} {0 6 1 5]
Multi-let 2,972 2,356 5,328 (0.4) (0.2) (0.5)
Department stores and leisure 393 1 39 24 26 31
Superstores 99 261 360 08 15 1031
Solus and other 314 - 314 58 c7 65
Retail 3,978 2,618 6,596 0.3 - 0.3
West End 4,255 - 4,255 32 26 58
City 16 2,334 7,450 17 13 28
Offices 4,371 2,334 6,705 2.6 2.1 4.5
Residential® 113 19 132 3.6 [2.6) 1.6
Canada Water 283 - 283 [4.5) 13.00 (7.0)
Total 8,745 4,971 13,716 1.4 0.9 2.2
Standing investments 8,349 4,583 12,932 1.2 0.4 1.6
Developments 396 388 784 3.3 6.4 9.6
Vota o iyt e e g lek T2 T S T N T T IR L Fo U A coa o du
- a4 . , toae -
Tuoanr = -
Gross rental income!
P RV R NP el Ve -
v v ,
oo F r LS ot
Accounting Basis - _ - _ -
Regional 62 8% 151 13 88 149
Local g2 29 121 20 26 116
Multi-let 154 118 272 151 114 265
Department stores and leisure 43 - 43 40 - 40
Superstores 4 22 26 4 18 22
Solus and other 19 - 19 17 - 17
Retail 220 140 340 212 132 344
West End 133 - 133 134 - 134
Lty 102 168 3 80 85
Dffices 139 102 247 139 80 219
Residential? 4 - 4 5 - 5
Canada Water® 8 - 8 8 - 8
Total 371 242 813 364 212 576
3 t ! [ O A £ tA 5= =t 1 gl SaTE X ronaT g - Ty "
~1 oL e
Tt el e sy e
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Portiolio vicld and ERY movemments!

hv Y ewih AT S TETRAY AL & (8

At131March 2018 Y [ “y P : =1 -
Regional 510 12 " 23 4 3 7
lLocal 35 11 01 12 i 2 13
Muiti-let 5.2 1.1 a4.7 1.9 7 2 9
Department stores and leisure 37 5% 03 67 {1 & i
Superstores 54 na iy 1231 7 {3) 1%
Solus and other 52 58] {00) 58l 16 el 7
Retail 5.3 1.0 0.8 1.6 5 2 [
West End 43 i0 15 23 1 i 113}
City 45 13 0z 15 1 ] 2
Offices b4 1.2 1.0 24 {6) {1 [7)
Canada Water® 3.9 11 0.0 .13 1" 26 37
Total 4.8 1.0 0.7 1.8 {0} 1 1

Lx g g fev=lane EER I NE LAEIT I SR S A TS (e S e DU LTS R R -

As arpu' v-d by 7

I P B PR ) s [ N

Fxl B UL Sr1s AN ES VP U L S S IR I BT SV o Al ot IO T B B I I I IR L ALY TIPS

R
Retail portfolio valuation — previous classification basis

AT St e sV Giewen s SoMMe Moy ! hyrat

At31March 2018 [n [ kg tw -3 ’ LY A bis =Y
Shopping Parks 3180 on 03 02 0g 02 09 n [0) 10
Shopping Centres 2,339 0z 03] 03] 67 14 21 3 4 7
Superstores 360 08 i1 5 03] {12 n 123 I 13) 19}
Department Stores 269 21 16 8} 05 00} 14 14 10 8 121
Leisure 428 23 33 62 77 00 77 113) 2 19)
Retail 0.3 1.0 0.5 1.6 -] 2 -]

I N B S A =N .

Vaooa-hoar e b dar g oy B S P TS VTN IO P R P P T BT AT ol s TN DR PR TP Il B

R S T N L e
Aw o feed iy IR

R ATL 0200 g B0 au=fl ~ “CelE
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Portiolio net yields'?

Bl cped Jvl uocp e Ne et
_TRA -t AR | ur s ot [ ey F=wor o ary
nd e Y yie Vie 1 vole
At 31 March 2018 . .
Regional 45 47 47 20 50
Local 30 51 52 33 53
Multi-let 4.7 4.9 49 5.2 5.3
Department stores and leisure 37 57 68 57 45
Superstores 57 57 57 34 22
Solus and other 31 51 51 3 42
Retail 4.9 5.0 5.2 5.3 5.1
West End 35 40 40 43 47
City 47 47 42 45 49
Offices 3.8 4.1 4.1 4.4 4.8
Canada Water® 33 3.2 3.2 3.9 1.9
Total 4,3 4.6 4.6 4.8 5.0
T L T e Al B T B
. R AT BT - e
S N SXPy B Leor AR oo g e
3ot nsm o minn s -x U=l o B RA L T
Tt aasl L 3 e st e v
Total property retarn (as caleulated by IPD)
Ky - -0 A 7 Sy =2
Full Year to 31 March 2018 :
Capital Returp 04 1M 52 42 22 53
- ERV Growth 146 09 21 1 18 20
- Yield Expansion 6 bps -1% bps -7 bps -21 bps 1 bps -26 bps
Income Return 53 50 36 39 44 46
Total Property Return 5.7 5.2 2.0 8.3 7.0 10.1
L B e M e AL TU RS A T T e S A AT a0 d ulGs
R B A AT
British Land  Annual Repait and Account= 2018 169



UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Occeupiers representing over (.3% of total contracted rent

At 31 March 2018 teotg o ctotar
Tesco! 473 Asda Group 10
JSansbury 38 Microsoft 10
Debenhams 23 JO Sports 10
UBS AG 33 Sports Direct 09
HM Government 28 Virgin Active ae
Next 25 Deutsche Bank 08
Kinghsher 25 Reed Smith 0e
Facebook 19 Stemnhoff a7
Dentsu Aegis’ 18 Mayer Brown 07
Marks & Spencer 18 H&M 07
Spirtt Group 17 TG! Fridays 07
Westarmers [Homebase/Bunmings) 17 River island 07
Visa Inc 16 Mothercare 06
Alltance Boots 14 NEX Group 0.6
Dixons Carphona 13 Primark 0o
Arcadia Group T4 Credit Agricele 06
Herbert Smith 13 Pets at Home 06
TK Maxx 12 Henderson 03
Gazprom M Hutchison 05
Vodafone 10 Aramco 05
Dawid Llovd 10 Misys 03
New ook 10

I cdd=at 2T 2t A oy aws SE oy e

RTINS N [ARSE: IR TR B (U N U T U e Sl ST 410 RS T AN I [T S RV R RN R TSI LN Bt IPURS BT B [T A PG SRSV B |
[RRLENYI IR SR £+ B A NTE AL IE R P L AL AT Y S Aot et Tex o g U G S et 200 b O X s et
St A0 L 1t TS B N L ALt T PR Yo M R L I K S T T TR
AR e tha Duc el sl ast o Pl e LV
Major holdings
TroznLana Lourainy [
ahe o st ECIN Cate gt
At 31 March 2018 N My (BN te v
Broadagate 30 4,850 176 972 79
Regent’s Place o 1740 75 981 T4
Paddington Central 100 958 L 970 62
Meadowhall, Sheffield a0 1,500 89 979 63
Teesside, Stockton 100 569 17 954 51
Orake's Circus, Plymouth 160 1.082 21 985 71
Ealing Broadway 100 540 15 952 32
Glasgow Fori 77 310 2 291 60
Sainsbury's Superstores’ 21 1,457 34 1000 88
10 Portrnan Sgquare 100 134 10 Moo 71

At gai=sdor A garoc d rert i Ly U
S rcbd rg e carmmedator o aer olter o sunp L
We ghted ave 3701 f10 s Preag
- Frovsdesconenrteg acdrear oy develapients
Tolarmpr s s sland-atoniz stores

S owenfgtisasdiurds

B B AN e R IR 1
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Lease length and oceupancy

Aeerage | ose ong e ars Tooapanryn
At 31 March 2018 Troxpy T tirax FRA S pa~y oy
Regional 77 66 %68 97
Local 74 63 974 °81
Multi-tet 7.6 6.5 971 77.6
Department stgres and leisure 164 16 4 9298 298
Superstores 94 Q4 o0 1000
Solus and other e e 1006 1000
Retail 8.8 7.9 27.6 98.0
West End 86 70 962 ek &
City 89 79 271 971
Offices 8.7 7.3 96.5 96.7
Canada Water? 6.1 6.0 97.4 98.0
Total 8.7 77 971 7.4
SParn e sl astaroyia s cw camnoapoawt rthe - s Stereyiena ool Lot P TR Y R b B N B e T o A L PN
AT and g B A T T T AL DU D R A s R T
| 2 At thnes o R A S L B R e S L
A [ B e AR
N [ T T T e A R L “ra Sat— s yaEtIr e oo ra oy e rRe Sowon o oL L o D davsLt
TN YT STyl oz ol L Tae eyl
Portfolio weighting
L I <
At31 March o 5 n B
Regional 213 22 3.030 213
Local 154 167 2,298 159
Multi-let 367 38.8 5,328 37.2
Department stores and leisure 41 43 294 41
Superstores 45 26 360 25
Solus and other 23 23 314 27
Retail 47.8 48.0 6,596 46.0
West End 284 310 4,235 e
City 207 179 2400 125
Offices 49.1 48.9 6,705 51.1
Residential? 1.2 1.0 132 0.9
Canada Water 1% 2.1 283 2.0
Total 100.0 160.0 13,716 100.0
London weighting 58% 59% 8,037 68%
SR I B O T T o s ECE IR I ol IS I L SRV I S 1
' Shera v e [[RSET Bi+t-1 BT woEte= s L dve e v deteer e b (o s 2N L Ve e -
St d-d o= ligm=t
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Orther informuation

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Annualised rent and estimated rental valee (ERV)

L2V o Avorage o Loost
oo
At31March 2018 Srovh Frongs it utal Conran e L=V
Regienal 53 88 151 168 322 342
Local 98 26 124 137 240 259
Mutti-let 161 M4 275 305 280 299
Department steres and leisure 36 - 36 29 16 4 130
Superstores 5 16 21 19 227 206
Solus and other 17 - 17 14 209 171
Retail 219 130 349 367 254 259
West £nd”’ 133 - 133 179 38 2 671
City* 5 88 23 108 511 571
Offices? 138 88 226 287 552 629
Residential® 5 - 5 4 - -
Canada Water® 8 - 8 10 172 217
Total 370 218 588 668 214 339
Moe cnpdoaecaly 2ol dy=dbas s heng e ctessta CEe v -s ot s
[T PSR EE T S S SIVRSLP RSP SR IT o I TINRT VIR I SIC NP ) P78 (TN I AR B S L SR o X'-end T et YO e e PAY UL 1 ac
R R I AT IR AT B R U R T N [

AT gas d ol s e s Pt

LA I U B RS A ) O I I S T B SRR

F;:FH‘L‘: u— : i r oy
Rent subject to open market rent review
For period to 31 March )

P s P ER PN I T Wl

At 31 March 2018 ' [ . [ ' b
Regional 19 " 18 14 11 48 73
Local 18 " 12 & 18 41 65
Multi-let 37 22 an 20 29 89 138
Gepartment stores and leisure 7 - - - - 7 7
Superstores 3 8 6 1 1 17 19
Solus and other - - - - - - -
Retait 47 30 k) 21 30 113 164
West End 27 13 10 9 13 52 74
City 12 4 @ - - 28 28
Difices 42 19 19 9 13 80 102
Canada Water’ 1 - - - - 1 1
Total 90 4% 55 30 43 194 267

e praperionalivonn e datezbass rolasng b Cran e wre et e v oant 1

Frolll s smand r ginvesrmenl ooy
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Reut subject to lease break or expiry

For period to 31 March

NI FuIX v AP 9 FRRY AP
At 31 March 2018 ] L S - Lr )l
Regional 14 14 @ 14 20 37 71
Local 12 10 10 12 13 32 57
Multi-let 26 24 19 26 33 &9 128
Department Stores and Leisure - - - - - - -
Superstores - - - - ? - 2
Solus and other - - i - - i 1
Retail 26 24 20 26 35 70 131
West End 5 4 18 21 25 27 73
City 10 14 8 2 28 33
Otfices 15 14 26 23 28 55 106
Canada Water’ 1 0 1 0 i 2 3
Total 42 38 47 49 b4 127 240
% of contracted rent 5.9% 6.2% 7.8% 8.0% 10.3% 20.9% 39.2%
[EE TaTa oL 0Lt e TS B T e A R Bt VA
R T A O A (R
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Recently completed and committed developments

Fhoan e [N rr L uTrEr (DI
stz B A RS TS Pt E3V
At 31 March 2018 = b o [ e Al [ o tr
Clarges Mayfair - retail and residential Mixed Use 100 1064 Q42017 473 14 07 -
Speke [Leisure] Retail 67 66 012018 15 3 11 09
Total Completed in Year 170 488 17 1.8 0.5
100 Liverpeol Street Otfice 30 322 Q12020 166 n7 187 30
1 Triton Square* Dffice 100 366 Q42020 210 185 231 218
1 Finsbury Avenue Office 50 29 Q12019 103 26 51 24
|33 Bishopsgate Office 50 328 Q22019 87 61 95 47
Plymouth [Leisure] Retail 100 107 Q42019 4 38 a3 12
Total Committed 1,614 572 427 62,5 34.6
Retail Capex’ 69
Frem TAp Lzl ™s 15t Coxludes et oal b esba s st~ ap o e ey ea b doveop cert gt our o fal saner mal.
Lwoorated b —acd e ot atoayn e g bt ez Cedox oo ratena b L ves]
CLerertva v ST S PTR et o ddt ot an rlotigas At AITMOe o e Syt e o LTARAmM oy Y cope . ot et
AV L frore s Boarepe- td = taker by e e Aerne Acporin tho = lettr ) T o ntauA-g s e ot Lnt ot o Lo B =Xs e spa e T e
Streetir 2oz vaophiat st s-n thEre o G sl o ter b rmeperod rsspet g thie B g a S Trtnnsguar-to ar o CHats o a o
Lasex ot ceant ad=rwayw b G St ace porttehs St o fastg 2t d as o ranag=rae e
Near term development pipeline
Hrshyand Exiecied AT D PSR “lena
~g - S VAl - PRV o dure der a1
At31 March 2018 ~= tar [ N e o - ~rat -
Gateway Building Leisure 100 105 Q32018 7 123 60 - Consented
Blossom Street, Office 100 340 Q22019 17 250 186 -
Shoreditch Consented
Bradford {Leisure! Retan 100 49 Q12019 1 fo ik - Pre-subrmission
Teesside {Leisure} Retail 100 84 Q12019 30 47 47 - Res to Grant
Total near teym 578 55 436 30.2 -
Retail capex i1

Fearn TApnt 207¢ Costto .o oxeond 2
Lot rales-ant e

Foreie-l cnita

PILrEr Tt oSt d~ At - s
L TR T
1

Loaer sad | ases

DRI g T TSP pan e s v,

Cdaavaiger—tof rw payonle

P next

Medium term development pipeline

ooent

Pemanta-relat 3ty

an tals=1 9w Juo iy L =3 1 v lag T

LAY

Lirpnat

=AML T 35

et

e

noa e dptllisat 2 ate

Vi i
At 31 March 2018 S lne ' oLl Flentngsta -
2-3 Finsbury Avenvue Office a0 563 Consented
1-2 Broadgate Office 50 307 Pre-subrmussion
5 Kingdom Street! Otfice 100 332 Consented
Meadowhall [Leisure) Retail 50 330 Resclution to Grant
Peterboreugh [Lersurel Retail 100 208 Submitted
Ealing - 10-40 The Broadway Retart 100 298 Pre-submission
Aldgate Place Phase 2 Residential 50 145 Consented
Eden Walk retail and residential Mixed Use 56 533 Consented
Chester Masterplan Retail 77 45 Pre-submission
Plymouth. George Street Retail 100 3i Pre-submission
Total medium term excluding Canada Water 2,992
Canada Water - Phase 1- Mixed Use 100 1.848 Submitted outline

Plarrrg conse s for previcas 240,000 s ft s Rame
Canada Watersde covera S ant Litcla nased or ne” of .4 (0Fo- - arez of 7m sg4r
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Sustainability performance measures

We report on all assets where we have day-to-day operational or management influence {our managed portfotio] and all developments over
£300,000with planning perrmission, en-site or completed i the year The exception s EPC and flood risk data, where we report on all assets
under management Asat 31 March 2018, our managed portfolio comprised 73% of our assets under management Please see the scope
column for indicator specific reporting coverage

Selected data has been independently assured since 2007 Setected data for 2018 has been independently assured by PwC 10 accordance with
ISAE 3000 [Revised) and ISAE 3410 For the 2018 PwC assurance statement and more detailed data, please see our Sustainability Accounts
2018 www.britishland.com/data British Land has been a signatory to the United Nations Global Compact since 2009 For our 2018
Commurnication on Progress, visit www.britishland.com/sustainabilityreport

Forior A - = oone
d~2=aCr
2018 A
Continued inclusion in three out of four sustainability indices DJSI Europe, DJSI World, Lfé 44 -
FTSE4Gocd and GRESR
Progress implermenting Sustainability Action Plans at strategic assets 72% nr 447
Progress implementing Sustainability Brief for Developments at sil projects over £3m 100% nr 17/17
2020
< Wellbeing [Custormer Orientation) target'
Deliver a WELL certified commercial office to shell and core, and set corporate policy Deliver Ontrack Ontrack -
for future developrnents
Develop and pilot retail wellbeing specification Deliver Inprogress Ontrack -
Increass the sense of wellbemng for shoppers, retarlers and occupiers at cur places Increase Ontrack Ontrack -
Define and triat 3 methodology for measuring productivity i offices Deliver Completed On track -
Research and publish on how development design impacts public health cutcomes Deliver Ontrack Ontrack -
Piotinterventions toimprove local ar quality 3 Target n/a -
established
Inury Incidence Rate [RIDDOR] Ottices 12.88 2351 43/43
Retall 0.01 D o1 58/58
imury Frequency Rate [RIDDCR] Developments, 0.13 008 28/38
& Community {Right Places)
Implement cur Local Charter at all key assels and major developments 100% Charter nr -
updated
Briush Land employee skills-based volunteering 20% 16% 16% -
British Land employee volunteering 0% 79% 0% -
Community programme beneficiaries 39,798 35,600 -
¢ Futureproofing [Capital Efficiency)
Developments on track to achieve BREEAM Excellent for offices and Excellent 100% 2% 100% 16/16
or Very Good for retail
Carbon [Scope | and 2} intensity reduction versus 2009 index scoredj 53% 54% 445 70/73
Landlord energy intensity reduction versus 2009 findex scored] 35% 40% 35% 70/73
Electricity purchased from renewable sources' 100% 7% 23% 94/105
Average reduction in embodied carbon emissions versus concept design on major developments 15% ar nr -
Waste diverted from landfill managed properties and developments 100% 9% 98% 105/123
Portfolio wath green building ratings [% by floor areal 18% 6% 2341234
Energy Performance Certificates rated F or G (% by fioor areal 5% 4% 2558/2660
Partiolic at hugh risk of flood [% by vatue] 3% 3% 230/234
High flood r1sk assets with floed management plans [% by vaiuel 100% nr 13/15
& skilts and opportunity [Expert People)
People supperted into employment [curnulativel 1.700 770 342 -
Strategic suppliers agreed with terms of our Supplier Code of Conduct 100% Code Launched n/a -
Prioritised supplier workforce whe are apprentices, 3% 1.2% nr 209/232
Pilot a Living Wage Zone at 2 London campus’ Deliver - - -
Workforce paid at feast Living Wage Group employees 100% 100%: -
Foundation rate Supplier workforce at managed properties 70% 72% 22/101
Developments supply chain spend within 25 mites 1% 60% /12
rle R T [T T B T SRR Y Y R T TR+ TC R IR R P UL e N CIER BT) LR t AN 1 ' W e Tl S e b et - P
AR R VR fel ot At TS T L R T T B L -=— www britishland.com/sustainability/performance/targets

T80 pyng - 1

|
.
/
Aot Gt g L [ B T S B T I A
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Sustainability performance measures continued

EPRA best practice recommendations on sustainability reporting

British Land has received EPRA Gold Awards for sustainability reporting six years running This year, EPRA expanded best
practice recommendations for sustamabiity reperting te mnclude sccial and governance performance measures, as well as
environmental We are pleased to have reported on the majority of environmental and sociat measures in our summary below
Forinfermation on governanca measures, piease see pages 56 to 75 For cur fult methodology and more detailed data on all
these indicators and additional indicators, please see our Sustainability Accounts 2018 www.britishland.com/data

R |

2018 W 14
Environmentat performance’
Total etectricity consumption [MWhi 162,833 172127 172,238 944105
Total district heating and cocling consumption IMWh) 0 0 0 0/0
Total fuel censumption IMWh) 37,500 32319 38234 46/52
Building energy intensity [kWh) Offices [perm } 145.71 13870 155 64 28/29
Retall - enclosed |per m-] 166.48 16189 126 97 &/7
Retail - open air [per car parking space]  168.13 150 01 1332 66 36/37
Total direct [Scope 1] greenhouse gas emissions [tonnes CO e] 6,967 7,609 7927 162/113
Totat indirect {Scope 2) greenhouse gas ermissions Location based 27,301 34,149 38,710 102/13
ftonnes CO e} Market based 1,875 6,630 36734 102/113
Greenhouse gas Intensity from building energy Offices [per m?) 0.055 0 0e% 0075 28/29
consumpton flonnes CO el Retail - gnclosed lper m | 0.056 0067 0073 617
Retail - open air
[per car parking space) 0.062 0 044 0043 36/37
Total water consumption lm’} 414,221 663,541 633,490 41/70
Building water intensity fm?) Dffices lper FTE] 15.56 14 59 15 08 26/28
Retail - enclosed per 10,000 visitors) nr 947 10 29 -
Retall - open arr |per 10,0060 visitors) or 286 179 -
Total non-hazardous waste by disposal route Re-used and recycled 11,207 12,166 12.899 £7/87
{tonnes and %) (56%) {57%] 161%)
incinerated 8,887 9,236 8132 &7/87
7 144%} 143%]) 138%]
Landfiliad & 35 184 67/87
{0%)] 10%]) 1%
Total hazardous waste [tonnesg) 4 nr nr 28/67
Sustanably certifies assets - AipB 23% 25% nr 2538/2660
Energy Performance Certificates - CtoE 72% 71% nr 2358/2660
% by floor areal FloG 5% 4% nr_ 255812660
Social performance?
Ermployee diversity — gender Male 51% 53% 32% -
Female 4£9% 47% 48% -
Emplovee gender pay ratio Executive Directors 8% B6% 165% -
[median remuneration, female to male) Senior managernent 116% 92 ne -
Middle and non-rmanagement B7% 89% nr -
Employee training - average hours 14.2 132 160 -
Employee annual performance review 100% nr nr -
Employee new hires rate 20% 6% 36% -
Employee turnover - departures rate 15% 15% 17% -
Employee health and safety Absentee rate 1% 1%, 1% -
Injury frequency rate 0 nr nr -
Lost day rate Q% nr nr -
Work-related fatalibies g 0 0 -
Asset health and safety Propertion subject to health and
safety review (%] 100% 100% 100% 113/113
[ncidents of non-compliance a nr nr 113/113
Progress implementing our Local Charter at key Charter Target
assets and rajor developments updated established - -

Awper FPRA past practc= rec s ndanicna, total cperay ardwea e data covers crergy and watar a0 gred by Brinsh L end E-orgyand carton mtensny aata covers
oo parts and shar co = vices 1ar Gitcos aodegry ned parts for Refonr Wa onint=nsiby Jata coverswag o soldiegs1oi O ~os ard s eminon paris =7 Retel
Tar o Lmpr s Db inter ral arans far Dfhas g d Lo tnen per s b Retal

S owrsalperarmante data < Ior Brteh Land Sroup overal

SO R TepoTingG -ape
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TEN YEAR RECORD

The table below summarises the last ten years results, cash flows and balance sheets

2018 N P FLN 2L £ 2J N R RIS
€m tn tn 1 - [ trn £ e Lr
Income’
Gross rental Income 613 643 654 618 997 367 572 541 581 630
Net rental income 576 610 620 585 562 241 546 518 545 598
Net fees and other incorme 15 17 17 17 15 15 17 18 12 20
Interest expense fnet) (128) [151) {180 [201] (202} [206} [218] [212) [246) (292
Administrative expense (83) 186] [94] 138) (78] [76) [76] 1681 163 (58]
Underlying Profit 380 390 363 313 297 274 269 256 249 268
Exceptional costs
[not included in Underiying Profit)- - - - - - - - - - {119
Dividends declared 302 296 287 277 266 234 231 231 223 198
Summarised balance sheets
Total properties at valuation 13,716 13940 14,648 13,677 12,040 10499 10337 9,572 8.539 8.625
Net debt (3,9731 (4,223} (4,763) [4.918] (48901 (4,266 16,0900 [4173] [4,081  [4941)
Other assets and Labilities (183} [219] 191 276 (123} (266) [266] 1298} 151) 1297
EPRA NAV/Fully diluted adjusted
net assets 9,560 9498 10,074 2,035 7027 3.267 5381 5,101 4 407 3,387
Cash flow movement - Group only
Cash generated from operations 351 379 341 318 243 197 2n 182 2485 406
Other cash flows from operations 2 [16)] 147 133) 124]) 171 15} 2B (112) {201)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 353 363 294 285 219 190 206 210 136 205
Cash inflow (outflow) from capital
expenditure, investments, acquisttions
and disposals 346 470 220 [131] {660) (202 [347) [240) 1393 418
Equity dividends paid (304) [223] [235] [228) {129] 1203] [212) {139) (154 1188)
Cash joutflowl inflow from management
of liguid rescurces and financing [404] [538) [283) 20 607 213 4630 157 [485] (58]
[Decreaselincrease in cash 9} - & {34] 7 (2] 77 21 1542] 377
Capital returns
Growtih [reduction] in net assets 0.7% (37%] M3% 288% 178% 109% 33%  157% 3016 [511%]
Total return 8.9% 27% 142% Z45%  200% 4 5% 9 5% 177%  335%  1616%)
Tolal return - pre-exceptional 8.9% 27%  142%  245%  200% 4 5% % 5% 177%  235% {60 3%)
Per share infermation®
EPRA net asset vatue per share F67p 215p 919p 829p 4688p 596p 595p a267p S504p 398p
Memorandum
Dividends dectared i the year 30.1p ?92p 28 4p 2770 27 0p 26 4p 26 1p 26 0p 26 0p 298p
Dividends patd in the year 2%.6p 28 8p 28 0p 273p 267p 26 3p 26 Op 26 0p 273p 30 0p
Diiuted earnings
Underlying EFRA earnings per share 37.4p 378p 34 1p 30 6p 2% 4p 30 23p 29 7p 28 5p 28 4p 41 0p
|IFRS earmings lloss) per share- 48.5p 147 M°7p  1673p N0 2p 31 op 53 8p 95 2p  1326p 1614 1p)
oyarer Ll sa a2t oros
T eenberoa g o b HRANAY
TR o] B " P T RN o ST IR I TS TN I LA S AR B
ua e T N I N R T R R N I N L SR R TR
TR R T U o e vy b e e s v e g har e T LAA-
e TR T | S B B N FE NI B ¥ P I Y
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Other information

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Financial calendar

2016/1%

Fourth quarter ex-dividend date
Fourth quarter divdend payment date
First quarter ex-dividend date

First quarter dividend payment date

28 June 2018

3 August 2018

4 October 2018

2 Novernber 2018

Half year results November 2018
Second quarter ex-dividend date January 2019
Second guarter dividend payment date February 2019
Third quarter ex-dividend date March 2019
Third quarter dividend payment date May 2019
Fuli year results May 2019
Fourth quarter ex-dwidend date June 2019

Fourth guarter dividend payrnent date

August 2019

If offered, the Board will announce the avaitability of a Scrip dividend alternative via the Regulatory News Service no later than four business
days before each ex-dividend date Scrip dividend alternatives will not be enhanced The split between PID and non-P1D income for each
dividend will be announced at the same time

Analysis of sharcholders — 31 March 2018

Nur ke e L es 3t
Range o hadeer gs - SIMar a1k
1-1,000 5,596 54 28 2434863 024
1,005,620 31725 30 31 6968 46 070
5,001-20 000 4692 & 71 6,654,277 047
20,001-50,000 249 247 7.939.791 080
50,001-Highest 647 b 28 969,859 733 97 39
Total 10,309 100 00 993,857,125 100 00
Nt [RETNMEREIVENTY
Holder type oL ¢ RN " M bt
Individuals 6,134 5930 10,999,208 TN
Nominee and institutional investors 4173 4050 982,857,917 98 89
Total 10,309 100 GO 993 857125 100 00
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Registrars
British Land has appointed Equimti Limited {[Equiiti] to admimister
its shareholder register Eguiniti can be contacted at

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing, West Sussex BN%9 6DA

Tel 0371 384 2143 [UK callers)

Tel «44 [01121 415 7047 |Overseas callers)

Lmnes are open frem 8 30arm te 5 30pm Monday to Friday
exciuding public holidays

Website www.shareview.co.uk

By registering with Shareview, shareholders can
~ View your British Land shareholding online

- Update your details
- Electtoreceve shareholder mallings electronicatly

Equiniti s also the Registrar for the BLD Property Holdings
Limited Stock :

Share dealing facilities

By registering with Shareview, Equintti aiso provides existing and
prospective UK shareholders with a share dealing facility for buying
and seliing British Land shares online or by phone

For more information, comact Equiniti 2t www.shareview.co.uk/
dealing or call 0843 603 7037 {Menday to Friday excluding public
holidays from 8 30am to 4 30pm] Existing British Land shareholders
will need the reterence number given on your share certificate

te register Simular share dealing facilities are provided by other
brokers, banks and financial services

Website and shareholder communications

The British Land corporate website contains a wealth of material !
for shareholders, including the current share price, press releases
and information dividends The website can be accessed at
www.britishland.com

British Land encourages its shareholders to receive shareholder
communications electromically This enables shareholders to
receive information quickly and securely as well as 1n a more
environmentalty friendly and cost-effective manner Further
information can be ebtained from Shareview or the

Sharehalder Helpline

ShareGift

Shareholders with a smnatl number of shares, the value of which
makes it uneconomic o sell them, may wish to consider donating
their shares to charity ShareGift is a registered chanty [No 1052684}
which collects and sells unwanted shares and uses the proceeds

to support a wide range of UK charities A ShareGift donation form
can be obtamned from Equinit

Further mformation about ShareGift can be obtained from their
website 3t www sharegift.org

Registered office

The British Land Company PLC

York House

43 Seymour Street, London WIH 7LX
Telephone 44 {0120 7486 4466
Website www.britishland.com

Dividends

As a REIT, British Land pays Property Income Distribution (PID)
and non-Property Income Distribution [non-PID) dvidends Maore
information on REITs and PiDs can be tound in the Investors section
of our website a3t www.britishland com/dividends

British Land dividends can be pard directly inte your bank or building
society account instead of being despatched to you by cheque More
information about the benefits of having dividends paid directly into
your bank or building society account, and the mandate form to set
this up, can be found in the Investors section of our website at
www.britishland.com/investors/dividends/
dividends-direct-to-your-bank

Scrip Dividend Scheme

British Land may offer sharehslders the opportunity to participate

in the Scrip Dividend Scheme by offering 2 Scrip Alternative to a
particular dividend frorn time to tirne The Scrip Dividend Scheme
altows participating sharehotders to receive addittonal shares
instead of a cash dividend For more information please visit the
Investors section of our website at www.britishland.com/dividends/
scrip-dividend-scheme

Unsolicited mail

British Land 15 reguired by law to make its share register availabie
on request to other organisatiens This may resultin the receipt of
unsolicited mail To limit this, sharehoelders may regrster with the
Mailing Preference Service For more information, or to register,
visit www.mpsonline.org.uk

Shareholders are also advised to be vigilant of share fraud which
inctudes telephone calls offering free investment advice or offers
1o buy and sell shares at discounted or hughly inflated prices

"t sounds too good to be true, it often s Further information

can be found on the Financial Conduct Authority s website
www.fca.org.uk/scams or by cailing the FCA Consumer
Helpline on 0800 111 6768

Tax

The Group elected for REIT status on 1 January 2007, paying a £308m)
conversion charge to HMRC n the same year As a consequence of
the Group s REIT status, tax 1s not levied within the corporate group
on the qualifying property rental business but 1s instead deducted
from distributions of suchincome as Property Income Distributions
to shareholders Any income which does not fall within the REIT
regime s subject to tax within the Group in the usual way This
inctudes profits on property trading activity, property related tee
income and Interest income We continue to comfortably pass all

REIT tests ensuring that our REIT status 1s mamtained

., We work proactively and openly to maintam a constructive

Honorary President

In recegrition of his work building British Land into the ingustry
leading company it 1s today, Sir John Ritblat was appormnted as
Honorary President on his retirermnent from the Board in
December 2006

relationshup with HMRC We discuss matters in real-time with HMRC
and disclose alt relevant facts and circumestances, particularly where
there rnay be tax uncertainty or the lawis unclear HMRC assigns
risk ratings to atl large companies We have a low appetite for tax

" risk and HMRC considers us to be Low Risk |a status we have held

since 2007 when the rating was first introduced by HMRC)

Further iformation can be found in our Tax Strategy &t
www.britishland.com/governance
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Forward-looking statements

Thes Annuat Report cottamns cettam foi ward luoking statements Such
slatements reflecl current views on, amwng other things, o miarkets,
activilies, projections, obpctives and prospecls Such forward-looking
staternents can sotetirmes Bat nal always, b wegitdred by their reference
to adate o poinl i the future or the use of lorwnrd-looking terminology,
ll)(,ludln() terims such a5 hebeves | eshmates, ‘anin pates, expecdy,
forecaste, intends . due plans, prowcts’ goal. outlook’, schedule’,
target . amm, may, bkely o, wil would , coutd, should” or simlan
X CSSINNG 01 11 230 i Case therr negative or other varations or compar able
lermunnlogy By ther natme forward looking slaterments involve inher ent
risks, assuriptions and uncet lamties because they felate (o future events
and depend oncncamslances whnc b roay or may nat oceur and may be
beyond our atslity to control or predict Fotward looking statements
should be regarded with caution as actuat tesults may differ patenatly
from those expressed inorimphed by such slatermens

Irnpoitant iactor < that could cause actual results, perlorinance or
achievements of Bntsh Land to ditfer matenially from any outcomes, or
restils expresoed o imiphed by cuch forwasid feoking statermnenis inclode,
among other tungs (Al general business and pohtical, sooal and
ecanomic conditions globally, (b the conseguences of the 1eferendum

ot Betdan beaving the LU el indun oy and nan ket tretisds including
demand incthe property investinent inarket and property price volatiliy]
fd) compention el the behaviowr of other tatket pactiopants, il changes
s govermment policies or laws and regutation which aliect Brash U and,
ncluding o elation to the ebvironment, lealth and salety and laxation

s par icutar, mtespect of Biiish band s <tatus as a Real Elate
lavestrnent Trast], lgl inllation and consumer confidend e, hi labow
refations and work <toppages, i natural disasten s and adver weoweathe
condmans, ) terrorsm and acts ol wag [kl Dotich | and < overall busimess,
Sl Ategy, ek appetite and tvestiment « hotces i its porollo manageinent,
{tHegat or ollier proceedings agaost o1 affecting Briish | and,

Iini detenoraton ot rebatalny and secuoty ol e b infrastructure,

) e hanges i occapien demand and tenant defautt, lof changesn hionanoal
and equity 1iatkels induding inler est and exchange tate fluc tuations,
[plchanges maccounting practices and the mler pretanion gl accounting
standards and (g) the aval3behity and costof lmance The Campany «
prmaipal niske are descniboed mgrester deta i the section of this Antisl
Repott headed Managing nisk i deliverng oun strategy and poncipal rnioks
Forward-looking stalemenls e dus Avmal Repor, or e Bl Land
website or miade cubsequently which are atinbutable to Bonish Land or
persons acting onts betialt should therelore be construed in bght of ll
suchbaclors

infor mation contated mthis Annual Reportelating to Brilish Land or s,
shate poe e or the vield onits shares are not guarantees of, and should not
be relied upon as an mdicator of, future performance and nothing in thas
Annual Report should be construed asa profit forecast on prohit estimate
Any lorward loclung statements made by o en behalf ot Botsh Land
speak only as of the date they arvanade Suc lorward-looking statemiets
are expresaly quabilied m their entitety by the tactors referred to above and
no tepresentalion, assurance, guarantes or Warianly s givenin relalion 1o
thermn fwhether by Brooch Land or any of Its asoooates, Dileciors, officers,
erployees or adviseral mciuding ns o then compleleness accurary ol
the basts oit which they wer e prepared

Diher than inacsordance wath our iegasl and cegulatony obhigations

[ badmg under the UK Dinanceal Conducl Authordy < 1 isthing Hules,
Disclusure and Iransparent y Rutes and the Market Abuse Requiativne),
Britizh Land does notintend o vadertake to update or tevise fotward
iooking statements o teliect any ¢hanges i Bribsh Land o expectations
with regard thereto or amy Changesonntormation, events, conditions or
crrcumstances on which any cuch statement 1z based This document shall
not, under any crcum=tanc es, create any unplicstiion that thes e lias been
no change i the business or affars of Briish Land since the date of this
document or that the iInfonmation contaimed heremns colrectas at any
time subseqgnent to this date
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Head office and registered office

York House

45 Seymour Street

London

WIR 7LX

Telephone +44 (D120 7486 4446

Fax +44 (0120 7935 5552

www.britishland.com

infof@britishland.com
@BritishLandPLC
British Land PLC
@BritishLandPLC

@BritishLandPLC



